## Examining the role of the barley sucrose transporter *HvSUT1* in increasing grain nutrients in rice (*Oryza sativa*).

My-my Huynh

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The School of Biological Sciences Flinders University South Australia

December 2014

## Contents

Cont	ents		Ι
List	of figure	S	VI
List	of tables		VIII
Abst	ract		IX
Decla	aration		XI
Ackn	owledg	ments	XII
Liter	ature re	eview	
1.1	Introd	luction	1
	1.1.1	Sucrose transport in higher plants	3
	1.1.2	Phloem sap composition	3
	1.1.3	Cereal grain morphology and grain filling	4
	1.1.4	Cellular transport of nutrients	7
	1.1.5	Evidence of sucrose uptake via an active transporter	9
1.2	Sucro	se Transporters (SUTs)	10
	1.2.1	Plant SUT classification	10
	1.2.2	SUT structure, function and activity	13
	1.2.3	SUT expression and localization in plant tissues	16
	1.2.4	Role of monocot SUTs	17
	1.2.5	SUT overexpression in sink tissues	20
1.3	Carbo	n and nutrient partitioning	21
	1.3.1	Sink organs and cereal grains as strong storage sinks	22
	1.3.2	Evidence for endosperm regulation of nutrient uptake	24
	1.3.3	Apoplastic regulation of sucrose uptake	25
	1.3.4	Sucrose signalling and gene expression	26
	1.3.5	Starch and storage product synthesis in cereal grains	28

## Contents

1.4	Plant r	nineral nutrition and biofortification	30
	1.4.1	Importance of minerals in human health	31
	1.4.2	Mineral transport in plants and distribution in cereal	
		grain	31
	1.4.3	Remobilization from source to sink	36
	1.4.4	Effect of nitrogen status on mineral transport	38
	1.4.5	General strategies for GM biofortification of cereals	39
1.5	Aims o	f this work	41
	formati F1 trans	on and characterisation of rice plants overexpressing gene	
2.1	Introd	uction	44
2.2	Materi	als and Methods	50
	2.2.1	Preparation of overexpression plasmids	50
	2.2.2	Amplification of <i>Glb-1</i> promoter from rice gDNA and ligation	
		into pIPKb001	50
	2.2.3	Amplification of <i>HvSUT1</i> cDNA and Gateway® cloning	51
	2.2.4	Agrobacterium rice transformation	52
	2.2.5	Rice callus induction, infection and selection	53
	2.2.6	Plantlet regeneration and growth conditions	53
	2.2.7	Histochemical GUS staining of transformed rice tissue	54
	2.2.8	Southern blotting	54
	2.2.9	Segregation analysis and leaf assay	55
	2.2.10	Semi quantitative RT-PCR	56
	2.2.11	Production of anti-HvSUT1 antibody and immunoblotting	57
2.3	Result	S	59
	2.3.1	Construction and verification of SUT-OE vectors for rice	
		transformation	59
	2.3.2	Gateway® cloning of HvSUT1 coding sequence into pIPKb	
		expression vectors	62
	2.3.3	Transgenic plants regenerated with overexpression constructs	66

#### CONTENTS

	2.3.4	Specificity of promoters examined by GUS expression	69
	2.3.5	<i>HvSUT1</i> transgene inheritance in $T_1$ and copy number of plant	
		Lines	72
	2.3.6	<i>HvSUT1</i> transcript and protein expression in transgenic plants	79
2.4	Discus	ssion	85
Temp	oral an	d spatial changes in mineral nutrients in rice grains	
overe	xpressi	ing HvSUT1	
3.1.	Introd	luction	92
3.2	Mater	ials and Methods	95
	3.2.1	Plant material and growth conditions	95
	3.2.2	[14C]-sucrose uptake in grain slices and detached rice grains	96
	3.2.3	Micronutrient and crude protein analysis	97
	3.2.4	Sugar and starch analysis of polished rice	97
	3.2.5	LA-ICP-MS imaging of elemental distribution	99
3.3	Result	S	100
	3.3.1	Analysis of mineral nutrients in <i>HvSUT1</i> overexpressing lines	100
	3.3.2	[ <sup>14</sup> C]-sucrose uptake in grain slices	103
	3.3.3	Grain composition and mineral nutrient retention in mature	
		rice grain	107
	3.3.4	[14C]-sucrose uptake in detached rice grains	107
	3.3.5	Accumulation of mineral elements in developing grains	112
	3.3.6	Distribution of elements analysed by LA-ICP-MS	112
3.4	Discus	ssion	122
	3.4.1	Changes in grain composition in rice grains overexpressing	
		HvSUT1 protein	124
	3.4.2	HvSUT1 overexpression modifies grain filling behaviour in rice	
		grains	125
	3.4.3	Significance of K in plasma membrane transport processes to	
		explain lowered retention in endosperm	128

	3.4.4	Mineral distribution in rice grains in response to endosperm	
		overexpression of <i>HvSUT1</i>	130
3.5	Concl	usions	134
	iges in n express	utritional quality, growth and yield impact of HvSUT1 ing rice	
4.1	Introc	luction	136
4.2	Mater	ials and Methods	140
	4.2.1	Storage protein fractions	140
	4.2.2	Amino acid quantification by LC-MS	140
	4.2.3	Lipid and fatty acid composition	141
	4.2.4	Phytate extraction and quantification	141
	4.2.5	Growth and grain yield	142
4.3	Result	ts	142
	4.3.1	Storage protein fractions in polished rice	142
	4.3.2	Identification of protein bands by MALDI-TOF/TOF	144
	4.3.3	Amino acid content and composition	148
	4.3.4	Lipid fractions and fatty acid composition	148
	4.3.5	Correlations between storage sinks and minerals in polished	
		rice grains	151
	4.3.6	Phytate and mineral bioavailability	154
	4.3.7	Growth and yield comparisons	154
4.4	Discus	ssion	158
	4.4.1	Differential changes in storage protein fractions in rice	
		endosperm	160
	4.4.2	Stimulatory effects of sucrose on amino acid metabolism or	
		transport	162
	4.4.3	Lipid and fatty acid distribution and oils bodies in <i>HvSUT1</i>	
		overexpressing rice	164
	4.4.4	Speciation of Fe and Zn in HvSUT1 overexpressing rice	166
	4.4.5	Bioavailability is unchanged in rice transformed with <i>HvSUT1</i>	168

## Contents

	4.4.6	Nutrient changes in grains changes yield parameters in	
		transgenic rice plants	169
4.5	Conclu	sions	171
Genera	al discu	ssion	
5.1	Summa	ary and main findings	173
5.2	Propos	ed mechanisms to explain the main outcomes of <i>HvSUT1</i>	
	overex	pression in rice endosperm	175
5.3	Recom	mendations for future work	182
Appen	dix		185
Bibliog	graphy		202

1.1 1.2	Proposed pathway for the movement of nutrients in rice grain Symplastic and apoplastic pathway of sucrose from the phloem into cereal	6 8
1.3	grains Protein sequence alignment of SUT1 from important monocot crop species	14
1.4	Old and new perspectives of the model of SUT structure	15
1.5	Combined models for Fe and Zn transport into barley grains	34
2.1	Amplification and gel purification of <i>Glb-1</i> promoter sequence from rice gDNA	60
2.2	Analytical restriction digests of destination plasmids used in <i>Agrobacterium</i> transformation of rice	61
2.3	Plasmid template and PCR optimisation to amplify <i>HvSUT1</i> coding sequence.	64
2.4	PCR analyses of <i>E. coli</i> colonies growing on selection media after electroporation with Gateway® cloning products	65
2.5	PCR and digests to confirm identity of cloned destination plasmids used in rice transformation	67
2.6	Steps in rice callus induction, tissue culture and regeneration of transgenic plants	68
2.7	GUS expression in various rice tissues driven by the <i>Glb-1</i> endosperm specific and <i>Act-1</i> constitutive promoters	71
2.8	GUS expression directed by <i>Glb-1</i> in developing rice grains from putative independently transformed plants	73
2.9	Southern blots to determine <i>HvSUT1</i> transgene copy number in independent transgenic lines and putative clones	74
2.10	Segregation of rice seedlings on hygromycin selection media and leaf assays of $T_1$ transgenic plants	76
2.11	Phenotypes of rice plants transformed with SUT-OE vectors	78
2.12	Endogenous and transgenic <i>SUT1</i> transcript expression in grain and leaf	80
2.13	Immunoblots of grain and leaf proteins probed with anti-HvSUT1 antibody	82
2.14	Immunoblots of grain and leaf proteins probed with H+-ATPase commercial antibody	83
2.15	HvSUT1 expression in independent $Glb_{pro}$ SUT-OE lines and changes in protein expression during grain filling	84
3.1	Macronutrient concentration of $T_1$ grains from SUT-OE $T_0$ lines compared with WT	101
3.2	Micronutrient concentration of $T_1$ grains from SUT-OE $T_0$ lines compared with WT	102
3.3	Comparison of sucrose uptake response to DEPC in NT, G1.4 and A2.3 plant lines at 13, 15 and 20 DAA	106
3.4	Sugar, starch and protein content in mature T <sub>3</sub> polished rice	108
3.5	Mineral nutrient concentration in mature $T_3$ rice grains analysed by ICP- OES	109
3.6	Mineral nutrient retention in mature T <sub>3</sub> rice grains	110
3.7	Sucrose uptake in immature detached rice grains from 5 to 15 DAA	111

3.8	Macronutrient content in developing rice grains between 5 and 25 DAA	113
3.9	Micronutrient content in developing rice grains between 5 and 25 DAA	114
3.10	LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of macronutrients in transverse sections of rice grain	116
3.11	LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of micronutrients in transverse sections of rice grain	117
3.12	Tri-colour elemental maps of longitudinal sections of rice grain	118
3.13	LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of macronutrients in rice embryos	120
3.14	LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of micronutrients in rice embryos	121
3.15	Tri-colour elemental maps of rice embryos	123
4.1	Storage proteins in rice endosperm	143
4.2	Relative quantification of unidentified protein bands and glutelin subunits	145
4.3	Relative quantification of prolamin polypeptides and 26kDa globulin	146
4.4	Comparison of broad classes of fatty acids distributed into each lipid fraction	150
4.5	Correlations between phytate, P, Fe and Zn concentrations in polished rice	153
4.6	Correlations between protein content and S, Fe and Zn concentrations in polished rice	155
4.7	Growth parameters of transgenic seedlings and non-transgenic controls	157
5.1	Proposed explanation for redistribution of Zn and Fe in the endosperm of HvSUT1 overexpressing rice grains	176
5.2	Proposed roles of K in the membrane and vacuole of rice grains	178
5.3	Summary of storage product biosynthetic pathways in rice endosperm cells	180

1.1	Classification of SUTs from important plant species	12
2.1		63
2.1	Analysis of sequence matches between <i>Glb-1</i> gene promoter and the rice genome ( <i>Oryza sativa</i> L. ssp. japonica)	03
2.2	Transformation efficiency of rice regenerated after <i>Agrobacterium</i>	70
	transformation with overexpression constructs	
2.3	Summary of copy number in rice lines transformed with SUT-OE constructs chosen for analysis	77
3.1	Comparison of sucrose uptake rate in $T_2$ grain slices from $T_1$ rice measured by [ <sup>14</sup> C]-sucrose label incorporation and scintillation counting	104
3.2	Comparison of sucrose uptake rate in $T_3$ grain slices from $T_2$ rice measured by [ <sup>14</sup> C]-sucrose label incorporation and scintillation counting	105
4.1	Protein identification by analysis of peptide sequences obtained by MALDI-TOF/TOF MS	147
4.2	Free amino acid content in polished rice flour analysed by LC-MS	149
4.3	Fatty acid composition of lipid classes TAG, PL and FFA	152
4.4	Nutrient content and bioavailability estimated by phytate:mineral ratios	156
4.5	Comparison of growth and yield parameters of plants transformed with HvSUT1 and non-transgenic controls	159

Rice is an important food staple and is the main source of nutrients that sustains a large proportion of the world's population. Rice is rich in carbohydrates but otherwise regarded as a relatively nutrient poor cereal staple, especially after processing by polishing to remove the outer grain layers. Polishing removes a range of nutrients that are concentrated in the bran, such as iron (Fe), zinc (Zn), protein and lipids. In addition, nutrient bioavailability can be compromised by the presence of antinutrients, such as phytate, which binds tightly to mineral ions. Nutrient poor diets can contribute to a range of illnesses that are most severe in vulnerable populations in the developing world.

Sucrose, produced by the plant through photosynthesis, is the major assimilate transported in the phloem of rice plants. The phloem is also the long distance transport pathway for other assimilates. At maturity, sucrose transported into the grain is converted into various storage products as future nutrient reserves for the growing embryo. In the rice endosperm, sucrose is mainly converted to starch, however it is also involved in the biosynthesis of other nutrients such as proteins and fatty acids. In addition, minerals such as Fe and Zn, that are taken up from the soil are also transported via similar pathways as sucrose and deposited along with storage compounds in the grain. Therefore, nutrient loading into the seed is a crucial phase in plant growth and the seed becomes a strong sink competing for available nutrients. Sucrose transport in plants is facilitated by sucrose transporter proteins, SUTs, which are highly expressed in the grain aleurone layer and have important roles in assimilate uploading during grain filling.

This study investigated the hypothesis that increasing assimilate uptake into rice grains through overexpression of the barley sucrose transporter *HvSUT1* could change the nutrients in rice. To test this hypothesis, transgenic rice plants (Oryza sativa L. cv. Nipponbare) overexpressing *HvSUT1*, driven either by the constitutive rice *Actin-1* (Act<sub>pro</sub>) or endosperm specific rice *Globulin-1* (Glb<sub>pro</sub>) promoter, were generated using Agrobacterum-mediated-transformation. These constructs were designated as Act<sub>pro</sub>::HvSUT1 and Glb<sub>pro</sub>::HvSUT1 respectively. A number of independent stably transformed plant lines were confirmed by molecular and biochemical assays. Transgene expression was verified by RT-PCR and immunoblotting, which showed that the  $Glb1_{pro}$ drove stronger HvSUT1 expression in the grain, compared to Act<sub>pro</sub>. Transgene function was analysed by [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake assays which suggests that transgenic rice grains driven by both promoters had prolonged active sucrose uptake at later stages of grain filling, compared with non-transgenic (NT) grains. Furthermore, grains expressing HvSUT1 specifically in the endosperm had increased sucrose uptake significantly at 7 days after anthesis (DAA), a crucial time point in grain development.

Grain nutrient composition and distribution was altered in rice grains expressing HvSUT1, compared to the non-transgenic (NT) line, with more significant differences observed in the composition of grains transformed with Glb<sub>pro</sub>::HvSUT1 compared to Act<sub>pro</sub>::HvSUT1. Elemental analysis by Inductively Coupled Plasma Spectrometry (ICP-OES) revealed that transgenic rice grains expressing HvSUT1 had a greater retention of Fe and Zn in the endosperm compared to NT grains. LA-ICP-MS imaging confirmed that elements in the transgenic grains had been redistributed in transgenic rice, with higher counts and greater distribution of micronutrients in the endosperm. Sucrose content increased but uniquely, potassium (K) retention decreased in the endosperm of transgenic grains, which could be explained if the transport processes for these two grain nutrients were linked, possibly as osmotic species involved in cell membrane polarity and/or maintaining cell turgor. A decrease in the soluble starch content, but increases in amino acids and phytate suggested that HvSUT1 overexpression had affected metabolic processes within the grain, leading to changes in the relative proportions of storage products. In addition, the composition of storage proteins and lipids that are also downstream products of sugar metabolism, were modified in rice grains overexpressing HvSUT1.

Overall, the changes in nutrients in the transgenic rice grains support the proposal that increasing sucrose transport can change the nutrient composition of rice and can modify metabolic processes that are responsive to carbon supply. Significantly, in the present study, transgenic grains retained more of the important micronutrients Fe and Zn, in the starchy endosperm. Furthermore, other changes in grain composition suggest that SUT overexpression could be a strategy to improve the nutritional quality of rice. The mechanisms for the changes are yet to be investigated, however, the findings from this study contribute to the understanding of the complex interactions between assimilate partitioning and nutrient deposition in cereal grains. This can aid in future efforts to breed more nutritious staple crops to alleviate nutrient deficiencies in developing countries.

I certify this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgement any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university; and that to the best of my knowledge and belief it does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text

My-my Huynh

First and foremost, I would like to express my thanks and gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Peter Anderson for his guidance throughout the entire PhD process. As well as providing advice on the technical aspects of my work, he has also continually encouraged and supported me. I am grateful for his eternal optimism and insightful advice.

I would also like to acknowledge the help of my other supervisors Assoc. prof. James Stangoulis and Assoc. prof. Colin Jenkins. James was instrumental in formulating the idea for this project and Colin offered his advice and knowledge in various aspects of the work. I would like to thank all the current and former members of the combined plant research labs in the School of Biology who made my PhD years not only rewarding, but fun. In particular, many conversations over coffee were had with Georgia Guild, Lachlan Palmer, Nick Warnock, Emma deCourcy-Ireland and Hayden Burdett. I am also grateful to them for contributing their time and expertise to various experiments and analyses.

I must thank Flinders University of SA and the Grains Research and Development Corporation for providing financial support in the form of the AJ and IM Naylon Scholarship and the Grains Research Scholarship, that have allowed me to undertake a PhD and to be able to carry out this research.

Thank you to Dr. Hans Weber and Dr. Jochen Kumlehn (IPK) for providing the plasmid DNA and Russell Reinke (IRRI) for his generous advice on rice growing.

Last but not least I have to thank all my friends and family for their tolerance and encouragement. Thank you to my parents for undertaking that dangerous and uncertain journey to give me a better future. Special thanks go to Monica and Tony for their incredible support with everything. Finally, a huge thank you goes to Jason, who has shared this journey with me with his typical, but exceptional, patience, love and support.

XII

#### CHAPTER 1

#### **Literature Review**

#### 1.1 Introduction

Rice, Oryza sativa (L.) is a major dietary staple for a large proportion of the world's population. Rice grains mainly contain carbohydrates in the form of sugars and starches, but also minor amounts of proteins, lipids and amino acids. They are also a source of vital micronutrients such as zinc (Zn) and iron (Fe), although these minerals are usually present in very low quantities. Therefore, rice provides dietary calories but is a relatively nutrient poor food source. In poor developing countries where dietary limitations restricts the intake of more nutrient rich foods, rice can comprise the majority of the daily calorie intake. This reliance on rice leads to high rates of disease and illness due to micronutrient malnutrition (Welch and Graham, 2002). The current trends in world food production are not expected to produce enough food for the projected increase in human population over the coming decades (Parry et al., 2004) and before long food shortages are predicted to affect a greater number of people worldwide. On top of this, projected outcomes of elevated carbon dioxide levels predict a decline in seed micronutrients (Seneweera and Conroy 1997) and malnutrition will become an issue that cannot be ignored. It is therefore imperative to research novel approaches to 'biofortify' cereal crops, such as rice, to enhance essential nutrients for future food production.

Strategies to increase grain yield and nutrient levels in edible tissues include conventional breeding which is aided by advances in genetic approaches now that the sequencing of the genomes of important crops such as rice and barley have been completed. However, breeding new crop varieties through successive rounds of crossing and selection is both laborious and lengthy. A more targeted and rapid approach for crop improvement is the use of molecular genetic strategies to manipulate and enhance plant processes to promote desirable characteristics in cereals. This will help to alleviate some of the problems associated with limited diets in poorer nations leading to greater food security for these regions.

Rice is important from a human nutrition perspective and it is also a valuable experimental system for investigating the fundamental processes of nutrient movement and uptake into the grain, with these findings also translating to other important cereal crops (i.e. wheat and barley). When considering rice as a staple food, it is important to understand the processes which govern the transport of nutrients into the edible part of the grain. It is well understood that sugars and minerals that enter the seed endosperm are synthesized and/or transported from tissues elsewhere

1

in the plant. While sucrose is synthesized in photosynthetic tissues of the rice plant, minerals must be taken up from the soil through the roots and subsequently enter seeds through the long-distance vascular pathway (phloem). Therefore, the phloem plays a major role in coordinating the transport of photoassimilates and nutrients from their respective source tissues into growing and developing sinks (i.e. seeds). Better understanding of the regulation of these processes could enable us to increase nutrient content in the edible grain.

Research into sucrose transport in plants has received a great deal of attention in the past decade in light of the discovery and characterization of sucrose transporter proteins (SUTs). Plasma membrane localized SUTs were identified as a fundamental protein facilitating active sucrose transport between tissue compartments for carbon partitioning. Sucrose is the major photoassimilate transported in the phloem and is therefore likely to exert an influence on the movement of a range of other less abundant solutes. Understanding nutrient import into grains is also relevant in terms of human nutrition. Sucrose transported into cereal grains is primarily channelled into starch production, but it is also involved in the metabolic pathways for protein and fatty acid synthesis. Additionally, micronutrients are transported via similar pathways as sucrose and are associated with storage compounds in the grain.

Sucrose transport in plants, especially cereals, and the influence of sucrose on the deposition of other grain nutrients, is the focus of this review. Important components of the transport pathway will be covered such as the other important solutes that are transported in the phloem and the cellular and physical factors that influence the movement of nutrients into seeds. The section on SUTs will encompass their discovery, classification, localization in plant tissues and functional characterisation of their role in sucrose transport, particularly for the important cereal monocot species rice, barley and wheat. Carbon metabolism and assimilate partitioning during grain development will be covered in detail to highlight the importance of sucrose in the production of grain storage products such as starch, proteins and fatty acids. Finally this review will cover the issue of biofortification and the transport and uptake limitations of mineral nutrients into cereal grains. Examples of cereal biofortification strategies through genetic modification of genes for mineral transport will be presented, with an emphasis on Zn and Fe. The literature covered in this review will provide a framework for the aims and hypotheses of this thesis and a context for this research.

#### **1.1.1** Sucrose transport in higher plants

It has been determined that most higher plants use sucrose as their primary assimilate. This preference for sucrose is thought to have evolved because of its low viscosity, stability and non-reactivity under the conditions that are generally found in phloem sap (Ward *et al.*, 1998). Sucrose is transported from where it is synthesized in photosynthetic tissue, to other organs in the plant, where it is used to maintain cellular processes, utilized in cell growth or deposited and converted into storage compounds. This export of carbohydrates from source tissues (where sucrose is synthesized) and import to sink tissues (where sucrose is utilized in growth, maintenance of metabolic processes and storage) is tightly regulated genetically and metabolically. To ensure an efficient and accurate transport and delivery of sucrose along with other assimilates such as amino acids, organic acids, growth regulators, nucleic acids and micronutrients, plants have developed a sophisticated transport pathway through the phloem that encompasses structural components of the plant anatomy as well as various proteins that serve as carriers or transporters to import various molecules into cells.

The mechanism by which phloem sap moves from source to sink was initially proposed to follow the mass flow model, or the Munch Pressure Flow hypothesis (Munch, 1930). In this model, a pressure gradient between the loading of sucrose into sieve elements through companion cells (widely referred to as sieve element companion cell complex SE-CC) at source tissue and the final step of sucrose unloading at sinks drives long distance movement of sucrose between the source (high pressure) and sink (low pressure). This model is good for explaining long distance transport of nutrients in phloem however it implies this is a passive process. In fact, this process is extremely dynamic and involves a range of specific proteins that work as pumps and transporters to maintain the pressure in sieve elements. The action of these proteins facilitates the movement of sucrose and helps supply nutrients to various sink organs in the sucrose transport pathway. Mechanisms of phloem loading at photosynthetic source tissue and long distance transport of sucrose has been discussed thoroughly in many reviews (e.g. Aoki *et al.*, 2012 and references therein) and will only be covered briefly to explain the role of SUTs in this process.

#### **1.1.2 Phloem sap composition**

Sucrose constitutes a high proportion of the phloem sap (for example, 25% w/v in rice) in most higher plants including cereals (Fukumorita and Chino, 1982; Winter *et al.*, 1992). The ability to obtain pure phloem sap through aphid stylectomy (Kennedy

and Mittler, 1953; Calatayud *et al.*, 1996) has enabled the components in phloem sap to be measured more accurately leading to a much better understanding of phloem composition. This technique has been especially useful in the analysis of graminaceous species such as rice through the use of laser stylectomy (Kawabe *et al.*, 1980) as other techniques for collecting phloem sap by cutting and bleeding are ineffective, and yields sap with high concentrations of cellular contaminants (Fukumorita and Chino, 1982). Graminaceous phloem sap retrieved through this technique can also be used to examine important mRNA species that are transported within the phloem (Sasaki *et al.*, 1998) including SUT mRNA (Doering-Saad *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, the ability to analyse "pure phloem" has the potential to improve understanding of the role of compounds that are trafficked through the phloem. Compounds including nutrients, macromolecules such as RNA and proteins are thought to have roles in systemic signalling that may affect the development and function of the whole plant or specific organs (Atkins *et al.*, 2011).

As well as sucrose, other major nutrient species are present in cereal phloem including amino acids (up to 8%) and inorganic ions (Fukumorita and Chino, 1982). Sulphur is incorporated into disulphide bonds and is an essential nutrient integral to the correct conformations of enzymes and proteins, and is also translocated in rice phloem. Sulphur is taken up from the soil in the form of sulphate  $(SO_4^{2-})$  and is converted into organic forms for translocation, such as Glutathione (GSH) and very low concentrations of amino acids such as cysteine and methionine (Kuzuhara et al., 1999). GSH in plants is important in reducing oxidative damage and may also have a role in regulating sucrose transporter activity (Krugel et al., 2008 cf. Sun et al., 2010). The dominant inorganic ion in rice phloem sap is potassium (K<sup>+</sup>) (150mM) (Fukumorita and Chino, 1982), followed by Chloride (Cl<sup>-</sup>) (52mM) (Hayashi and Chino, 1985). Various other ions have been measured in sap at much lower concentrations. These ions buffer the pH of rice sap to approximately 8, allowing a high concentration of organic acids to be transported through the phloem. These organic acids can chelate  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Fe^{3+}$  and  $Zn^{2+}$ , allowing the translocation of these insoluble metal ions (Hayashi and Chino, 1985). Thus, phloem sap is composed of a mixture of compounds and assimilates produced by the plant and also essential minerals and nutrients taken up into the plant from the soil.

#### **1.1.3** Cereal grain morphology and grain filling

In cereals, the starchy endosperm constitutes the majority of the grain mass (~90%) (Del Rosario *et al.*, 1968). The endosperm is heterogeneous and the various cell layers develop in phases after fertilization. Formation of the undifferentiated

endosperm syncytium is followed by cellularisation and differentiation of the main cell types including the aleurone and starchy endosperm (Fig. 1.1) (Sabelli and Larkins, 2009). Intensive research into cereal grain structure has now identified the sites of post-phloem movement of solutes from phloem to grain through the use of histochemical staining and movement of radioactive dyes (Zee 1971; Oparka and Gates, 1981; Wang *et al.*, 1994). While distribution of the cell types varies between cereal grains, a general pattern of sucrose uptake during grain filling appears to be consistent among different species (Patrick and Offler, 1995). Solutes moving into developing grains are known to deposit into tissues of the bran layers, embryo and the endosperm. However, per weight and volume the endosperm constitutes the bulk of the cereal grain and consequently is the main sink for storage products. Hence, this discussion will focus on the morphology and the path of solute uptake into endosperm storage cells during grain filling.

Zee (1971) and Oparka and Gates (1981; 1982 and 1984) have examined the rice spikelet and grain in great detail and a summary of their relevant findings follows. The xylem and phloem in rice are continuous with the vascular bundle (VB) unlike other temperate cereals such as wheat and barley. As shown in Fig. 1.1, this conduit for solutes enters the caryopsis through the base and continues around the longitudinal axis of the grain. The close up of the vascular region of the grain indicates that solutes move symplastically out of the long distance pathway (SE-CC) through the maternal layers of the developing grain (PS-N) until they reach the apoplastically isolated filial tissue layer, the aleurone (Oparka and Gates, 1984). An apoplastic efflux and loading step must then occur to enable the transport of solutes into the aleurone cells (apoplastic loading will be discussed in more detail in section 1.4.3). After being taken up into the outer layers of endosperm cells, solutes can move symplastically through the numerous plasmodesmata (PD) that connect these tissues. This process is thought to be primarily passive as endosperm cells have few associated transporter proteins. However, many nutrient transporters are found associated with storage cell vacuole membranes, therefore active storage and efflux of nutrients into vacuoles may also play a part in driving solute movement into endosperm cells.

It has been shown with solute tracers (both radio- and fluorescently labelled) that in rice the solutes are transported in a circumferential pattern from the VB, through the PS and into the N (Oparka and Gates, 1981). However, the lack of tracer directly below the VB and PS further proves the existence of a discontinuity between these tissues (Oparka and Gates, 1981). However, solutes must pass through the



#### Figure 1.1 Proposed pathway for the movement of nutrients in rice grain

A cut away of the rice grain showing the position of tissue layers in 3 dimensions (Furbank *et al.*, 2001) and a close up of the vascular bundle region where arrows depict the movement of solutes into the endosperm (Oparka and Gates, 1981). Note the multiple connections between adjacent cells in the aleurone and endosperm and between cells in the nucellus, but none between the nucellus and aleurone. Sucrose transporter proteins (SUT) in red actively transports sucrose between the nucellus and aleurone layers. E, endosperm; A, aleurone; N, nucellus; VB, vascular bundle; PS, pigment strand; G, glumes, PE, pericarp; SE, sieve elements, CC, companion cells, VP, vascular parenchyma, X, xylem, C, cuticular layer. The dashed lines and question marks in Oparka and Gates (1981) indicate the proposed pathway for water entering and exiting the grain.

apoplast into rice filial tissue in order to be stored in endosperm cells. Thus the rice aleurone, although lacking typical transfer cell morphology, is significant in controlling the rate of solute translocation during grain filling, and is proposed as the site for sucrose import into storage endosperm tissue.

#### **1.1.4** Cellular transport of nutrients

Plant cells transfer solutes and communicate with neighbouring cells through plasmodesmata (PD). The number of PD varies greatly between species, therefore Gamalei (1989) proposed that plants containing few PD connections are apoplastic loaders and plants that have numerous PD are symplastic loaders. The study of symplastic and apoplastic routes of sucrose movement have mostly been investigated in source leaves due to their accessibility and their importance as photosynthetic organs. The importance of symplastic loading was shown in a maize mutant (*sxd-1*) that displayed leaves with high levels of starch build up due to blockage of PD with callose, a polysaccharide (Botha et al., 2000). Scofield et al. (2007a) also found evidence to support the symplastic movement of solutes in rice leaves. However, PD connectivity gives no indication of the rate at which sucrose transport moves symplastically and does not preclude the concurrent movement of sucrose via the apoplastic route (Botha et al., 2008). Sucrose pathways in barley and wheat leaves may differ because they have fewer PD than rice (Botha and Cross, 1997; Aoki et al., 2005). Despite these differences in the ultrastructure of leaf and phloem anatomy among the grasses, evidence now supports that most species utilise both apoplastic and symplastic loading mechanisms for solute transfer between cells (Ayre, 2011).

Apoplastic loading is especially relevant in developing cereal grains where there is a distinct discontinuity between the outer coat and the inner tissues. There are no PD linking these tissues because of the origin of the outer and inner layers from maternal and filial tissues respectively. Therefore the uptake of nutrients into the inner grain layers occurs in two stages: efflux of sucrose into the apoplastic space from the maternal tissue, then energy dependent uptake into filial tissue through transmembrane proteins (Fig. 1.2). Sucrose efflux from cells is thought to be a similar process regardless of where along the long distance transport pathway it occurs, from phloem loading at the source to uploading at the sink tissues (Ayre, 2011).

Sucrose efflux into the apoplast has been demonstrated and measured (Laloi, *et al.*, 1993) and various theories have been put forward as to how cells release sucrose into this space (Patrick and Offler, 1995; Wang *et al.*, 1994), but until recently the candidate for these putative efflux proteins remained a mystery. Some researchers



# Figure 1.2 Symplastic and apoplastic pathway of sucrose from the phloem into cereal grains

Sucrose is synthesized in photosynthetic tissues then is transported via the phloem (SE, sieve element; CC, companion cells, VP, vascular parenchyma) then flows into the nucellus via a symplastic pathway. The proposed location of the sugar efflux SWEET protein is shown by a blue circle. Evidence supports a uniport mechanism for sucrose efflux into the apoplast (Chen *et al.*, 2012). Sucrose transporter proteins (SUT) in red actively take up 1:1 suc/H<sup>+</sup> from the apoplastic space into the aleurone which is connected to endosperm cells via multiple plasmodesmata (PD). In early grain development, Invertase (INV) breaks down sucrose in the apoplast which is taken up into the filial cells via hexose transporters (black) and utilised mainly for cell growth and elongation. The hexose pool is increased by the breakdown of sucrose by Sucrose synthase (Susy) within aleurone/endosperm. The hexoses formed after the period of cell elongation are utilised in the synthesis of storage products such as starch, protein and oils. This diagram is modified from Aoki *et al.* (2012).

hypothesized that the proteins involved in uptake into cells could reverse their polarity and act as effluxers and this was shown to be possible when the maize ZmSUT1 could reverse its activity from uptake to efflux mode in oocytes when membrane potentials were reversed (Carpaneto et al., 2005). This bi-directional activity of transporters was not demonstrated in any other SUTs. However, in the absence of better evidence, this was an attractive theory to pursue. Chen *et al.* (2012) finally identified novel members from the SWEET family of sugar transporters, characterised as glucose transporters, in Arabidopsis and rice that could mediate sucrose efflux. Specifically AtSWEET11 and 12 and OsSWEET 11 and 14 were shown to transport sucrose in heterologous systems. In addition to normal transport processes in plants, SWEET protein members have also been proposed to play roles in responses to pathogen infection (Baker et al., 2012) along with growth and development (Zhou et al., 2014). Although this identified one of the most crucial missing links in the sucrose transport pathway between plant cells, the localization and function of these SWEET proteins in cereal grains has not been determined. Unlike sucrose efflux, the mechanism for energy dependent sucrose uptake into cells through sucrose transporters (SUTs) has been intensively researched and good progress has been made towards understanding this complex process.

#### **1.1.5** Evidence of sucrose uptake via an active transporter

Giaquinta (1977) proposed a model outlining a pH gradient across the plasma membrane as the driving force for trans-membrane movement of sucrose through a proton coupled symport. Evidence supporting this model of sugar transport was provided by experiments using plasma membrane vesicles (PMV) from sugar beet leaves (Bush, 1989). Further investigations into the biochemical properties of this proton-sucrose symporter determined that the movement of sucrose across the plasma membrane was indeed electrogenic, reliant on the membrane potential that was generated by the 1:1 stoichiometric transport of protons and sucrose into the cell (Bush, 1990).

Movement of sucrose across the plasma membrane involves the coupling of two transport systems. Firstly the active transport of protons through a proton pump that utilizes the energy from the hydrolysis of ATP to ADP to pump H<sup>+</sup> from the cytoplasm to the cytosol. This creates an electrochemical gradient across the membrane which drives sucrose molecules into the cell against a concentration gradient, along with H<sup>+</sup>, through a transporter protein (Bush, 1993). The high transport activity of this putative symporter means that sucrose is able to be transported against a considerable concentration gradient into PMV (Bush, 1989). In solutions containing a range of other plant transport sugars, there is no change to the sucrose transport activity of the PMV, indicating this transporter has a high specificity for sucrose (Bush, 1989).

#### **1.2** Sucrose Transporters (SUTs)

The isolation, cloning and functional analysis of the first plant SUT from spinach *Spinacia oleracea* by Riesmeier *et al.* (1992) opened the floodgates to molecular studies of these important plant proteins. Multigene families of SUTs have been classified in most plant species studied to date. In dicots, SUT genes have been identified and studied in carrot (Shakya and Sturm, 1998), peas (Tegeder *et al.*, 1999), grapevine (Davies *et al.*, 1999), citrus (Li *et al.*, 2003), solanaceous species (Schmitt *et al.*, 2008) such as potato (Kuhn *et al.*, 1996, 2003; Krugel, 2008) and tomato (Hackel *et al.*, 2006) and ornamentals (Knop *et al.*, 2004). SUTs have been most widely studied in the model plant species *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Baud *et al.*, 2005), of which there are nine members of the gene family. The first monocot transporter cDNA was isolated from rice by Hirose *et al.* (1997) and a further four rice SUT genes have since been identified (Aoki *et al.*, 2003). However, the understanding of SUTs in monocots has trailed behind that of dicots despite this group containing all of the cereal crops most widely consumed worldwide.

#### **1.2.1** Plant SUT classification

SUTs are members of the Major Facilitator Superfamily (MFS) of cell membrane proteins that have roles in the transport of a range of solutes essential for cellular function. Members of the MFS are found in all living organisms. For a comprehensive review of this diverse and ubiquitous family of proteins, see Pao *et al.* (1998). Although sugars are essential for all living organisms and different organisms have homologous sugar transport proteins, SUTs of higher plants are unique because unlike other organisms, they utilize sucrose as their main form of transport sugar (Williams *et al.*, 2000).

Understanding the relationship between different plant SUTs (also called SUCs or sucrose carriers) is confused by the different naming conventions authors have used. Moreover, SUT genes were named chronologically as they were identified, rather than on their relatedness or similarity in gene or protein structure or function (Braun and Slewinski, 2009). For example, SUT1 from spinach, the first sucrose transporter to be identified in plants has very little sequence similarity to the SUT1 from rice.

With the increasing number of SUT genes being discovered, there has been a confusing evolution of SUT assemblages as the number of group members has

expanded. Phylogenetic trees of current SUT members from plants using gene and protein sequences have been assembled by Williams et al. (2000), Sauer (2007), Shiratake (2007), Braun and Slewinski (2009), Kuhn and Grof (2010) and Aoki et al. (2012), all of whom used different names for the various groups/types/clades that arise from their analyses. For example, Kuhn and Grof (2010) group the various SUTs into five clades, however their classification does not appear to match the five groups reported in Braun and Slewinski (2009). Clarification of SUT relatedness between plant species is further complicated by the use of different outgroups and the addition or omission of various SUT members from each analysis. For example, while ZmSUT2 and LeSUT2 cluster into the same clade in Kuhn and Grof (2010), however in Braun and Slewinski's (2009) analyses, they are only distantly related. These examples demonstrate there is still no consensus on how the groups should be classified. However, to summarise the major findings from these publications, the general phylogenetic grouping reveals five distinct clusters divided into three types. Type I contains only dicot SUTs, whereas types II and III are comprised of both dicots and monocots. It has been speculated that monocot SUTs have resulted from gene duplication events prior to the divergent evolution of dicots and monocots (Aoki et al., 2003).

Braun and Slewinski (2009) present an excellent review of grass SUTs, with a discussion of the roles and functions of SUTs in the most agriculturally important cereal species. They attempt to standardise the classification of grass SUTs by renaming and grouping several SUT genes according to their homology to the five rice SUTs. As the focus of this review is on monocot SUTs, from this point onwards the naming convention and classification of the groups proposed by Braun and Slewinski (2009) (Table 1.1) will be employed.

Numerous comprehensive reviews, including those written by Ward *et al.* (1998), Kuhn *et al.* (1997), Lemoine (2000), Williams *et al.* (2000), Truernit (2001), Eckardt (2003), Lalonde *et al.* (2004), Sauer (2007), Shiratake (2007), Braun and Slewinski (2009), Geiger (2011) and Ayre (2011) and Aoki *et al.* (2012) together have covered all aspects of sucrose transport and SUTs in plants. Some focus exclusively on SUTs involved in phloem loading in dicots (Ward *et al.*, 1997; Kuhn *et al.*, 1999; Lemoine *et al.*, 2000). Others focus on the phylogenetic classification of the various SUT groups and their physiological roles in phloem loading and carbon partitioning in leaf tissue (Shiratake, 2007; Braun and Slewinski, 2009). The most current reviews combine the growing wealth of knowledge about SUTs into specific discussions regarding processes at plant membranes (Geiger, 2011) or the effects on whole plant

#### Table 1.1 Classification of SUTs from important plant species

SUT Groups from monocot and dicot species according to phylogenetic relationships based on amino acid sequence alignments by Braun and Slewinski (2009).

Group	Monocot/Dicot	Plant Species	Gene	Reference
1	Monocots	Oryza sativa rice	OsSUT1	Hirose et al. (1997)
			OsSUT3	Aoki <i>et al.</i> (2003)
		Hordeum vulgare barley	HvSUT1	Weschke et al. (2001)
		Zea maize maize	ZmSUT1	Aoki <i>et al.</i> (1999)
			ZmSUT3	
		Triticum aestivum wheat	TaSUT1D	Aoki <i>et al.</i> (2002)
2	Dicots	Arabidopsis thaliana	AtSUC1	
			AtSUC2	
			AtSUC5	
			AtSCU9	
		Lycopersicum esculentum tomato	LeSUT1	
		Plantago Major potato	PmSUC1	Riesmeier et al. (1994)
			PmSUC2	
3	Monocots	Oryza sativa rice	OsSUT4	Aoki <i>et al.</i> (2003)
		Zea maize maize	ZmSUT4	
	Dicots	Arabidopsis thaliana	AtSUC3	
			(AtSUT2)	
		Lycopersicum esculentum tomato	LeSUT2	
		Plantago Major potato	PmSUC3	
4	Monocots	Oryza sativa rice	OsSUT2	Aoki <i>et al.</i> (2003)
		Hordeum vulgare barley	HvSUT2	Weschke et al. (2001)
		Zea maize maize	ZmSUT2	
	Dicots	Arabidopsis thaliana	AtSUT4	
			(AtSUC4)	
5	Monocots	Oryza sativa rice	OsSUT5	Aoki <i>et al.</i> (2003)
		Zea maize maize	ZmSUT5	
			ZmSUT6	

assimilate partitioning (Ayre, 2011). The plethora of reviews written in the last few years along with the number of intensive studies into all aspects of how plant sucrose transporters work and function reflect the interest in these transporters

#### **1.2.2 SUT structure, function and activity**

Sucrose transporters are trans-membrane proteins composed of 12 conserved helical membrane spanning regions separated by loops that intrude into the cytoplasm and extracellular space. The helices are thought to be arranged so that a pore is formed in the plasma membrane through which sucrose molecules are actively transported along with  $H^+$  (Sauer, 2007). The N and C-termini, as well as the central loop between helices 6 and 7 are thought to be located inside the cell. Transporter activity can be inhibited by the use of several protein modifiers that modify specific amino acid residues, such as *p*-CMBS and DEPC (Bush, 1993b).

The functions of the N and C-termini and the central loop of SUTs have long been debated. A low affinity transporter from *A. thaliana*, AtSUT2, was modified by exchanging its N terminal region with that from a high affinity transporter StSUT1 from *Solanum tuberosum*. This chimeric protein exhibited a higher affinity for sucrose when expressed in a heterologous system (Schulze *et al.*, 2000). Schulze *et al.* (2000) also exchanged the central loop regions between a low and high affinity transporter, however they observed no change in transporter activity. This evidence suggests that the N-termini may be involved in sucrose recognition but based on this data no role for the central loop can be determined.

An alignment of the SUT1 proteins of a number of important monocot species shows the high degree of similarity of amino acid residues between related plants (Fig. 1.3). The most conserved regions appear to be in the putative transmembrane spanning helices, while the loops can be quite variable between plant SUTs. Amongst some of the recognised conserved residues are His-65 from AtSUC1 which was identified by Lu and Bush (1998) as a DEPC sensitive residue and Arg-188 which is 100% conserved in all plant SUTs. Sun and Ward (2012) generated an Arg188LysSUT1 mutant which showed loss of function in yeast and in transgenic *A. thaliana* plants. Sun *et al.* (2012) modelled the 3D structure of OsSUT1, based on its similarities to other extensively studied MFS proteins, such as LacY (lactose:H<sup>+</sup> symporter). Their model shows His-85 in OsSUT1 in the extracellular loop between helices 1 and 2, which agrees with the location of the equivalent His-65 in AtSUC1 modelled by Lu and Bush (1998) (Fig. 1.4 A, B). However, unlike previous models of SUT1, the predicted position of a number of charged residues was within the membrane spanning helices rather than the

#### CHAPTER 1



# Figure 1.3 Protein sequence alignment of SUT1 from important monocot crop species

A high level of conservation between residues shows shared amino acid identity is 82% in maize ZmSUT1, 80% in barley HvSUT1 and 79% in wheat TaSUT1D compared with rice OsSUT1. Putative transmembrane helices according to Hirose *et al.* (1997) are underlined and numbered (compared with predicted 3D model by Sun *et al.* (2012) which shows a slight change in the putative positions of transmembrane helices Fig 1.4 B). Note the extended N-terminus in OsSUT1 not present in any of the other aligned SUT1 proteins, however there has not been any explanation for the function for this long stretch of mostly G (glycine). Sequences aligned using ClustalX2 (Larkin et al., 2007)..

#### CHAPTER 1



#### Figure 1.4 Old and new perspectives of the model of SUT structure.

Topological model of AtSUT1 (A) and 3D ribbon model of OsSUT1 (B) showing the position of the transmembrane spanning helices, intra (cytoplasm) and extracellular (apoplast) loops and the position of the N- and C-termini in the cytoplasm. The square outlined in the centre of the barrel structure of the 3D model shows the position of residues mutated in Sun *et al.* (2012). Position of the conserved His-65 (AtSUT1) and His-85 (OsSUT1) are shown on each model. The alignment of transmembrane spanning helices based on the 3D model versus traditional models based on span prediction programs (TmConsens) shows that the 12 transmembrane helices are longer in the 3D model than previously estimated. Note that the N-terminus shown in (B) has been positioned arbitrarily based on stereochemical restraints as there was no template (e.g. LacY) to predict its' placement (Sun *et al.*, 2012).

loops. Mutagenesis of five out of six charged residues in these transmembrane spanning regions significantly affected sucrose transport. Results from the mutagenesis of charged residues in the C-termini of OsSUT1 led the authors to hypothesise that this region of the protein may be important for H<sup>+</sup> translocation. Based on the evidence above, roles for the N and C-termini of SUT proteins have been put forward, however no studies have determined the importance, if any, of the central loop. Like previous models, the 3D model by Sun *et al.* (2012) places the central loop in the cytoplasm and it is speculated to have a role in sensing intracellular sugar levels for signal transduction (Lalonde *et al.*, 1999). The sugar sensing role of the central loop is further supported by looking at another member of the rice SUT family, OsSUT4. Like Group 3 dicot SUTs AtSUT2 and PmSUC3, this protein is predicted to have an extended central loop which is structurally similar to yeast sugar sensors (Aoki et al., 2003). However Eckardt (2003) references numerous studies that do not support the role of Group 3 proteins as sugar sensors, despite their unique central loop structure. Hence, the function of the central loop in SUT proteins remains obscure.

Functional analysis of SUTs has largely come about from expression of these proteins in heterologous systems. The Group 2 SUTs, made up of only dicots containing many members from *A. thaliana*, have been well characterized in yeast as high affinity sucrose transporters with Km values less than 1.5 mM (Kuhn, 2003). In contrast with Group 2, relevant monocot SUTs have been classified as low to moderate affinity transporters (e.g. OsSUT1 has a K<sub>0.5</sub> value of 7.5 mM) with a high specificity for sucrose (Hirose *et al.*, 1997; Weschke *et al.*, 2000; Sivitz *et al.*, 2005 cf. Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Sun *et al.*, 2010). However, the difficulty encountered by many researchers in expressing monocot transporters in yeast means that functional expression studies have mostly been conducted in oocytes (Aoki *et al.*, 2012). Therefore direct comparisons between these two expression systems could explain these differences measured in SUT activity between monocots and dicots or could reflect the different roles that these transporters have within plants.

#### **1.2.3** SUT expression and localization in plant tissues

The potential function of dicot Group 2 SUTs as phloem loaders is to date the only functional classification of any of the plant SUTs identified. Although SUTs have been found to be localized to organs that support this function as phloem loaders, they have also been found to be expressed in a wide variety of tissues in the plant and also in plants that utilize other sugars as their main carbon transport molecule.

In *A. thaliana*, SUT genes are expressed in rosette leaves specifically in phloem and surrounding cells as well as in floral tissue (Sauer and Stolz, 1994; Truernit, 2001). In carrot, sucrose transporter transcripts have also been detected in storage cells in the tap root (Shakya and Sturm, 1998). The high expression of SUTs in germinating seeds of cereals also suggests they play an important role in remobilization of sucrose from starch reserves in the endosperm to feed the growing embryo, although the mechanisms for this remains unclear (Aoki *et al.*, 2012). More recently, a number of SUTs have been found to be localized to the tonoplast in cereals and their function as potential vacuolar transporters has been implicated (Endler *et al.* 2006; Eom *et al.*, 2011). The wide variety of plant SUT expression patterns in diverse plant tissues indicates that they are functionally specific in tissue types amongst plant species.

#### 1.2.4 Role of monocot SUTs

The antisense knockdown of *SUT1* in tomato (Hackel *et al.*, 2006) and potato (Riesmeier *et al.*, 1994; Kuhn *et al.*, 2003) has demonstrated an essential role for this transporter in phloem loading, however to date there have been no similar conclusions drawn from similar experiments with monocot SUTs (Ishimaru *et al.*, 2001; Scofield *et al.*, 2002).

The role of SUTs in phloem loading in monocots is not clear and results derived from various cereal species give conflicting clues as to what role these proteins play in this process. Interestingly, none of the monocot SUTs align with any Group 2 dicot SUT. This could indicate that functional conservation is not paralleled by structural conservation, probably due to the long evolutionary divergence between these two plant classes. However, another explanation could be that monocots may not employ SUTs for phloem loading or a member from one of the other sugar transporter groups takes up this role. As monocots are thought to employ an apoplastic step in phloem loading thus requiring a SUT for sucrose loading, it is likely that structurally distinct SUT members exist between monocots and dicots with similar functions, but are yet to be identified or fully characterised.

While the presence of *SUT* mRNA has been recorded in the leaves of several agriculturally important species of monocots, such as rice, maize, barley and wheat (Hirose *et al.*, 1997; Aoki *et al.*, 2002; Aoki *et al.*, 2003; Weschke *et al.*, 2000), their function in this tissue has not yet been elucidated. Slewinski *et al.* (2009) showed that a stunted phenotype displayed by *sut1* mutant maize plants, accumulated high levels of carbohydrate in leaves similar to plants that were cold girdled to inhibit sucrose transport from leaves. These mutant plants were also not able to transport labelled

sucrose as readily as control plants. These findings suggest that *ZmSUT1* plays an important role in sucrose loading in maize. However, this is the only evidence in the literature to date to suggest that monocot SUTs are involved in phloem loading in leaves.

The wheat genes, *TaSUT1A*, *1B* and *1D* are expressed in many tissues including developing grain, stems and leaves (Aoki et al., 2002). However it is proposed that *TaSUT1* may also be involved in phloem loading as SUT1 protein localizes to sieve elements in flag leaf blades and sheath before and after heading (Aoki et al., 2004). Presence of *SUT1* in wheat leaf sheaths and internodes also points to a possible role in sucrose uptake into these tissues for temporary storage as soluble carbohydrates (e.g. fructans) (Aoki *et al.*, 2004). Similarly in barley, temporal and spatial expression of the two barley SUT genes led Weschke et al. (2000) to suggest that HvSUT1 may be involved in grain development while HvSUT2 is likely to have a more general housekeeping role. Rapid induction of *HvSUT1* expression in the grain coincided with an increase in sucrose and sucrose synthase mRNA levels, immediately before starch accumulation in grain. Moreover, *HvSUT1* was detected in only very small amounts in source and sink leaves and in the roots. In contrast, *HvSUT2* was expressed constitutively in all organs (Weschke *et al.*, 2000) and is now thought to be active in the tonoplast to remobilize sugars from the vacuole (Endler *et al.*, 2006). The high degree of homology between *HvSUT1* and the much better characterised and studied *OsSUT1* (82.9%) lends more support for an essential role for HvSUT1 in barley grain development and grain filling.

*OsSUT1* is the first cloned monocot sucrose transporter to be identified and functionally expressed in yeast (Hirose *et al.*, 1997) and is the most well studied rice SUT. The transport activity of OsSUT1 has also been well characterized with this transporter showing similar activity to other cloned monocot SUT1 transporters demonstrating a low affinity, but high specificity for sucrose (Sun *et al.*, 2010). Even though four more SUT genes from the rice genome have since been identified, classified and functionally expressed by Aoki *et al.* (2003), there has been very little progress made towards understanding their different roles in rice plants. The different but overlapping temporal and spatial expression patterns of the genes suggest diverse roles in source and sink tissue.

Northern blots and expression studies of *OsSUT1* mRNA found highest transcripts in the filling grain, leaf sheath and stem (Furbank *et al.*, 2001) especially after heading (Hirose *et al.*, 1997). In situ hybridization of a *OsSUT1* probe (Matsukura *et al.*, 2000) and *GUS* expression of *OsSUT1* promoter::GUS expressing plant lines

(Scofield *et al.*, 2007) indicates that *OsSUT1* expresses specifically in the plasma membranes of companion cells (CC) in phloem. In addition, OsSUT1 protein was found to localize to the aleurone, sub aleurone and nucellus of developing rice grains (Furbank *et al.*, 2001). Unexpectedly, given the patterns of *OsSUT1* expression, constitutive knockdown of *SUT1* in rice plants did not affect leaf sucrose, starch or photosynthesis (Ishimaru *et al.*, 2001). However, grain filling and grain weight decreased in anti-sense plants where *SUT1* transcripts in the panicle were significantly reduced compared to WT (Scofield *et al.*, 2002). These findings point to the involvement of *OsSUT1* in active energy dependent transport of sucrose into filial tissues in rice grain.

SUT1 is also implicated as an important transporter in germinating rice seed. OsSUT1 transcription was detected in the scutellar vascular bundle, 2 -3 days after imbibition (Matsukura *et al.*, 2000; Scofield *et al.*, 2007b). This is not surprising as this conduit supplies remobilized sugars from the endosperm to the embryo. SUT1 mRNA levels in germinating seeds were increased by endogenous sucrose and light, but repressed when starved of sucrose (Matsukura et al., 2000). From results of glucose feeding experiments on seeds, Chen et al. (2010) suggested that various signalling pathways involving sugars, ABA and SUT1 regulate processes that promote or delay germination. These studies suggest that SUT1 is also involved in retrieval of apoplastic sugars to the embryo in germinating seed. Like seeds, pollen grains, are symplastically isolated from maternal tissue. OsSUT1 and OsSUT3 are preferentially expressed in pollen during flowering however their temporal patterns of expression are distinct (Hirose et al., 2010). SUT1 mutants produce pollen that matures normally with normal accumulation of starch, but are impaired in germination possibly due to another role for SUTs in pollen tube elongation. Unfortunately, SUT3 mutants have not been successfully generated, therefore significance of SUT3 in pollen cannot be determined. It is possible that these two transporters act in tandem with differing roles for normal pollen development.

There is scant evidence for the role or function of the other four rice SUTs compared to what is known about OsSUT1. Various studies have found that *OsSUT2* and *OsSUT3* transcripts are localized to the internode tissue (Scofield *et al.*, 2007a) and to developing pollen grains and panicles before pollination (Takeda *et al.*, 2001). However, work by Eom *et al.* (2011) has characterized OsSUT2 as a tonoplast symporter through localization studies and functional expression in yeast. This overturns previous hypotheses that suggested sucrose transporters in the vacuolar membrane are antiporters. Eom *et al.* (2011) studied rice plants where a mutation

resulted in complete knockout of *SUT2* transcripts. They found that plants were retarded in all growth measurements for both vegetative and reproductive parameters. This research was the first to highlight the crucial role of OsSUT2 in rice. *OsSUT5* is expressed more highly in sink and source leaves rather than the panicle (Aoki *et al.*, 2003). Scofield *et al.* (2007a) also detected SUT protein in guard cells in the pedicel through epitope labelling, however they were not able to identify exactly which SUT was present. Therefore, despite numerous studies undertaken to understand the importance of SUTs in rice sucrose transport, there are many gaps in our knowledge that remain to be explored.

All the evidence presented above, specifically the similarities in protein sequence and high expression of *OsSUT1*, *HvSUT1* and all the *TaSUT1* genes in grains of rice, barley and wheat respectively, indicates that they play similar roles in sucrose transport into the grain. This does not however discount the role of other *SUT* genes in grain filling or additional roles of SUT1 in long distance sucrose transport in the phloem and carbon partitioning.

#### **1.2.5 SUT overexpression in sink tissues**

To date, there have been few reports on the effect of overexpressing sucrose transporters to investigate the effects of increased sucrose transport in sink tissues. A study by Rosche et al. (2002) introduced StSUT1 from potato into the developing cotyledons of pea seeds to enhance the activity of the endogenous SUTs. They found that selective expression of *StSUT1* in cells that normally do not show high levels of *SUT* expression allowed a greater capacity for sucrose transport from the apoplast than would normally occur, thereby producing a stronger sink for sucrose influx. Sun et al. (2011) transformed potato plants by overexpressing two SUTs from rice under the control of the tuber specific patatin 1 promoter. Interestingly, plants overexpressing *OsSUT5Z* gave higher average tuber yields and had significantly higher levels of sugars and starch, while tuber yield of plants overexpressing OsSUT2M were lower than controls and tubers did not show significantly different levels in sugars or starch content. This unexpected result might be explained by the different functions that these proteins normally have in rice. For example these two rice genes have been previously identified and studied in planta by Aoki et al. (2003) and show differences in their temporal and spatial expression patterns, which implies that they may have different functions in sucrose transport.

The only study that has applied this strategy of overexpressing SUT protein to upregulate sucrose import into cereal grains was conducted by Weichert *et al.* (2010).

They fused the HvSUT1 cDNA to a Hordein B1 promoter, both from barley, and transformed wheat with Agrobacterium to direct expression of the sucrose transporter specifically in endosperm cells. This strategy was designed to increase the capacity of wheat grains to uptake sucrose. Similar to the study by Rosche et al. (2002), they chose to express this protein in cells that were not normally involved in sucrose uptake to create a driving force to pull more sucrose into the targeted cells, thereby creating a stronger sink for assimilate uptake. Interestingly, no difference in sucrose levels was observed in transgenic grains compared to controls during the entire monitoring period of grain development. However, there was a significant increase in both dry and fresh weight accumulation in the transgenic plants towards the end of grain maturation. Their findings indicated that the increase in sugar supply stimulated expression of genes for storage proteins and other genes that controlled metabolic processes, hormones and other signals. Their results were a substantial breakthrough to our understanding of how sucrose uptake could affect assimilate partitioning in cereals. Most significantly they appeared to be able to overcome the persistent drawback of a negative correlation between grain protein content and yield. More extensive field tests of these transgenic lines over several years have moderated this conclusion. Despite consistent significant increase in yield, lower sucrose and a trend towards lower protein and starch was observed (Saalbac *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, there were also higher concentrations of micronutrients iron and zinc in the grain. The contradictory results between the two studies could partly be explained by the different environmental conditions the plants were exposed to. The variability in the data for different generations of the same plant line grown between different years supports this idea. Therefore further studies of these plants in the field would be required to unambiguously determine the effect of overexpressing HvSUT1 in wheat endosperm. These studies also raise obvious questions as to whether these findings are applicable to other cereal grains. Given the similarities in *SUT1* genes and SUT1 proteins amongst barley, wheat and rice yet the differences in nutrient pathways into the grain between rice and the other two cereals, it is somewhat unpredictable how rice will respond to SUT1 overexpression.

#### 1.3 Carbon and nutrient partitioning

Carbon in the form of sugars is produced in photosynthetic tissues then transported to growing tissues such as roots and grains. The network of nutrient flow from source to sink tissues is complex and changes with the different stages in plant growth. Nutrient partitioning to the various sink organs reflects the changing needs of the plant for sucrose and other assimilates as the plant develops. At the grain filling stage in cereal crops, the developing grain becomes a strong sink for nutrients, competing with other organs to deposit and store enough nutrients in the caryopsis to sustain the growth of the next generation. Therefore, carbon production and partitioning of the available nutrients is controlled by various networks within the plant which regulate this process, including through changing the expression of various proteins central to carbon partitioning, such as SUTs.

# 1.3.1 Sink organs and cereal grains as strong storage sinks

Plant organs that take up and utilize nutrients are defined as sinks. Examples include young developing leaves, roots and seeds. The measure of the ability for a sink to import nutrients has been described as sink strength. Doehlert (1993) defines sink strength as the rate of utilization of nutrients (such as sugars and amino acids) supplied to a sink (tissues that receive nutrients) from a source (where nutrients are formed) and measured by growth rate or dry matter accumulation. However, according to Ho (1988) this is a measure of the 'apparent sink strength' and not the most accurate measure of 'actual sink strength' because it does not take into account the net carbon lost through respiration. An alternative definition of; sink strength is the competitive ability of an organ to import assimilates (Herbers and Sonnewald, 1998). Sink strength is therefore limited by the size and the activity of the sink which are the physical and physiological constraints of the organ. These intrinsic features are a better measure of an organ's 'potential sink strength', according to Ho (1988), and are genetically determined and not affected by supply. Geiger and Shieh (1993) suggest that sink strength measurements provide an indication of important changes during different developmental stages of plant growth, therefore they present the idea that sink strength needs to be measured over a time course to understand specific processes.

Doehlert (1993) suggested that sinks were primarily limited by the supply of nutrients from source tissue, using an example of maize kernels grown *in vitro* that accumulated higher levels of proteins and starch due to the higher levels of nitrogen supplied in the media. However, this example *in vitro* does not fully examine the complexity of nutrient flow and competition between organs in the plant, as well as the metabolic processes that occur in the sink tissue. Developing fruits and seeds are particularly strong sinks that compete with each other for available assimilates, and partitioning of carbohydrates and other nutrients are a priority during this important stage of plant development (Ho, 1988). A review of the available literature on activities

of plant sources and sinks led Marcelis (1996) to conclude that there does not appear to be a direct cause and effect supporting the contribution of source strength to dry matter partitioning.

In wheat, Jenner and Rathjen (1977) found that sucrose levels continued to increase in developing grain, although the supply to the grain remained stable over the period of grain filling, which indicates that sink strength for sucrose rather than supply is a limiting factor of assimilate partitioning. To determine whether certain rice cultivars were source or sink limited, Asli et al. (2011) artificially thinned tillers and reduced the sizes of flag leaves in rice plants during grain filling. Their artificial manipulation studies showed that in some rice varieties, removing flag leaves or reducing the numbers of grain per panicle only resulted in a very modest increase in yield, suggesting that there is sink limitation to increasing grain yield. However, their study was conducted only over one season in the field and others have shown that nutrient levels in rice can vary enormously between years (Samonte et al., 2006). Rice panicles typically contain a combination of spikelets that flower early and have superior cell division and grain filling rates compared to later flowering spikelets and therefore grains from these have been labelled superior and inferior respectively (Yang et al., 2006a). Artificially manipulating sink competition by removing grains on the same spikelet or supply by cutting source leaves did not affect the sucrose uptake in superior rice grains (Tang *et al.*, 2009). However, the same treatments significantly increased and decreased sucrose uptake and final grain weight in inferior grains, respectively. Thus the intrinsic qualities in seed that are genetically determined can also be a factor in determining sink strength.

Mechanisms of sucrose uptake are similar in developing storage sinks, although the structural morphology is significantly different between dicot seeds and monocot grains. Different developmental stages of a plant's growth determines the temporal and spatial allocation of nutrients to sinks that are often synthesized elsewhere in source tissue. The complexity of source sink relationships in plants can be highlighted with the example that plant organs can be both a source and sink for nutrients, depending on the stage of plant growth. For example, cereal stems are reversible storage sinks that remobilize stored nutrients back to the plant to be supplied to developing grain. This switching of source sink relationships is a complex one that is highly regulated by complex metabolic processes.

Grains undergo various stages of development during grain filling. After fertilization cell division then expansion commences, the latter overlapping with the storage phase when most of assimilates are accumulated. At this stage, the imperative
for nutrient storage in grains and seeds becomes irreversible (Patrick and Offler, 2001). The rate of nutrient loading is highest during this storage phase, although this rate reaches a steady state which is a factor of both the physical size of the sink and its physiological activity. During this phase, there is a switch from maternal to filial control of metabolism in the developing seed as the carbon and other nutrients taken up into the grain are converted into storage products (Borisjuk et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2007). In rice, pollination occurs approximately 6 days after heading (DAH) (Furbank et al., 2001). After fertilization, the developing caryopsis undergoes a short stage of elongation through cell differentiation (four days) followed by 12 days of expansion after which the maximum grain length has been attained (Hirose *et al.*, 2002b). This second stage of caryopsis development is also when maximum grain filling occurs. Solutes are supplied not only from photosynthesizing leaves but also from starch reserves remobilized from the rice stem (Yang et al., 2001). Therefore, the critical stage determining the sink strength of rice grains appears to be from about 5 to 17 days after flowering which overlaps with maximum expression of OsSUT1 (Furbank et al., 2001) and sucrose uptake in caryopses (Aoki et al., 2003).

### **1.3.2** Evidence for endosperm regulation of nutrient uptake

The mechanism by which sucrose unloads from the sieve elements into developing seeds has been comprehensively reviewed by Thorne (1985), Jenner *et al.*, (1991), Patrick and Offler (1995; 2001) and Zhang *et al.* (2007). A consideration of the evidence points towards the filial tissue as the main control centre that determines the seed's sucrose uptake capacity.

Subsequent transport of sucrose into the endosperm after uptake from the apoplasm is through PD, to be deposited within the endosperm and other storage tissues (Fig. 1.1). Endosperm cells are not usually associated with sucrose uptake, and this coincides with the lack of SUT expression in this tissue (Bagnall *et al.*, 2000; Furbank *et al.*, 2001). Rather, sucrose deposition appears to be a passive process where a high density of PD facilitates the movement of sucrose into storage cells in the endosperm (Patrick and Offler, 2001). Consequently, it appears that the rate limiting step is most likely to be at the aleurone or grain boundary where there is very high expression of SUTs (Bagnall *et al.*, 2000; Weschke *et al.*, 2000; Furbank *et al.*, 2001). In grains, the endosperm constitutes the majority of the tissue in the developing caryopsis and is thus a strong sink for sucrose. Most photosynthate loaded into endosperm are eventually converted into storage products (e.g. starch), to be released through

enzymatic processes to the embryo during germination. Hence, this sink has a major influence on the compartmentation of nutrients within the plant. Filial demand for nutrients and the influence on nutrient transport through metabolic, hormonal or signalling channels is not well understood. Moreover, the complexity of each mechanism and the strong likelihood that all of these are finely integrated to contribute to grain filling means that understanding or controlling the grain filling process is an extremely challenging endeavour.

### **1.3.3** Apoplastic regulation of sucrose uptake

Although the apoplastic fluid pool outside each cell is small (Ho and Gifford, 1984; Patrick and Offler, 2001), the sugar turnover rate is high (Fisher and Gifford, 1986). Therefore coordination of nutrient transport events involving the apoplast appears to exert a large influence on sucrose transport into the grain. The rate of removal of sucrose from the cytosolic free space appears to affect the import rate of sucrose into the cytoplasm (Gifford and Evans, 1981). At grain filling, increased sucrose metabolism by enzymes converting sucrose into storage products, increases sucrose flux into storage cells so that the apoplast is constantly undergoing changes in sucrose levels. This is thought to have an upstream signalling effect from maternal tissues to transport pathways and ultimately to source tissue to increase sucrose flow.

Feedback and feed-forward mechanisms that control grain development are highly sensitive to apoplast solute concentration and composition, so the apoplast is thought to provide some buffering function (Patrick and Offler, 2001). Additionally, solute concentration differences between the cytosol and apoplasm are relatively small (Patrick, 1997). Therefore minute changes in sugar concentration can either control local solute uptake into the cell, or may activate long distance signals back to the source tissues to indicate sucrose sufficiency or deficiency (see Lalonde *et al.*, 1999).

It has been suggested that low sink sucrose concentration can modify the sucrose transport activity by triggering a 'famine' response, resulting in increased sucrose uptake when sucrose concentrations were decreased *in vitro* (Patrick and Offler, 1995). Conversely, subsequent transport activity decreased in a concentration dependent fashion when detached beet leaves were exposed to high levels of sucrose (Chiou and Bush, 1998). Exogenous sucrose supply to rice embryos was also found to stimulate transport activity in germinating rice seeds (Matsukura *et al.*, 2000). However, the endogenous response to sucrose levels during grain filling has not been investigated in developing cereal grains. Also, whether this response is due to the effects on biosynthetic processes in storage tissues (Jenner *et al.*, 1991), or related to

modifications in expression of genes involved in carbon metabolism (Weber *et al.*, 1997) is difficult to examine due to the complex interplay of factors affecting sucrose transport into developing grains.

As well as sucrose concentration, other properties of the apoplast can also potentially influence sucrose uptake into cells. Several studies have examined the regulation of SUT activity by changes in pH and found that decreases in extracellular pH can increase substrate affinity of SUTs in most species including barley (Sivitz *et al.*, 2005) and rice (Sun *et al.*, 2010). Presumably, the extracellular pH can be controlled by the activity of the membrane bound proton pump associated with the SUT symporter. In addition, solute osmolality has been shown to exert a large influence on solute uptake in seeds (reviewed in Patrick and Offler, 1995). Although there is considerable evidence for this control in dicots, especially legumes, the same control may not exist in cereals. The transport pathway in cereal species is complicated by apoplastic barriers at the maternal/filial interface. To date, the influence of sucrose in the apoplastic space on sucrose uptake in grains is not well understood.

#### **1.3.4** Sucrose signalling and gene expression

Vaughn *et al.* (2002) showed that SUT transcription was highly regulated in the phloem in response to sucrose levels, which suggests that increased sink demand for sucrose will increase photosynthetic activity at source tissue due to sucrose signalling, and vice versa. Shimada *et al.* (2004) generated transgenic rice plants with grains defective in starch synthesis, hence weaker sinks, however it was determined that sucrose concentrations in phloem sap were the same in both transgenic and control plants. This result was surprising because according to Vaughn *et al.* (2002) there should have been a corresponding decrease in phloem sap sucrose due to lower carbon demand in the sink. This implies that source and sink regulation through sugar signalling is probably not constitutive, and that signal transduction may have more local effects in sink uploading. Paul and Driscoll (1997) suggest that photosynthetic activity could be more responsive to the C:N balance, rather than directly from sugar signalling. Murchie *et al.* (2002) also suggest that N remobilized from starch reserves had a greater influence on carbon assimilation during grain filling than photosynthetic activity, which did not positively correlate with increased sink demand.

With the rice genome now sequenced, numerous studies have looked at gene expression profiles in rice during grain filling. The complex expression patterns observed suggest that grain filling is a highly coordinated process and that differences between low and high grain filling varieties can be due to differentially expressed genes involved in sugar metabolism (Zhu *et al*, 2003; Liu *et al*, 2010; Teo *et al*, 2011). The understanding of source/sink relationships is further complicated by the idea that assimilate partitioning in some rice varieties may be source- while others are sink-limited (Asli *et al.*, 2011). Many genes covering a diverse range of functions are known to be affected by the availability of sucrose (reviewed in Thomas and Rodriguez, 1994; Koch, 1996 and Loreti *et al.*, 2001). In general, under low sucrose conditions, genes for photosynthesis and transport are activated, whereas high levels of sucrose induce genes for storage and metabolism.

Cells respond to internal and external sucrose concentrations, strongly suggesting there is some mechanism for sensing cytoplasmic and apoplasmic levels of sucrose. Several authors have suggested that SUTs may play a role in sugar sensing (Chiou and Bush, 1998; Lalonde *et al.*, 1999; Schulze *et al.*, 2000), however there has been no strong evidence presented to support this hypothesis. While it is not known exactly how plant cells 'sense' sugars, it is likely that responses to high or low sucrose levels are transduced through different pathways to alter gene expression (Herbers and Sonnewald, 1998). This is presumably through both a membrane bound and an internal sensor to detect external and internal sugar levels, respectively (Lalonde *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, rapid responses in adjacent plant cells in response to sugar supply is possible, whereas modification of activity at source tissue in response to cellular changes in sucrose concentration at sinks is likely to be delayed due to the time required for the source to respond to sink demand.

Roitsch (1999) suggests that gene expression is coordinated by sugars and stresses that stimulate cell responses through different regulatory channels. Wounding response to sap sucking insects such as aphids has been shown to increase *SUT1* expression in rice xylem in order to retrieve excess sucrose leaking out of the phloem (Ibraheem *et al.*, 2013). Regulation of *SUT* genes appear to differ in response to stress through interactions with transcription factors or hormones and regulatory regions in the 5' end of the genes (Ibraheem *et al.*, 2010). Salt stressed rice plants with lowered photosynthesis however, did not affect grain filling (Sultana *et al.*, 1999). Similarly, salt stressed soybean did not show any differences in seed development (Egli and Bruening, 2004). These findings support Roitsch's (1999) model and suggests that plants have mechanisms to divert sucrose to sink tissues when exposed to external stresses elicit different transcriptional responses in maize, there is considerable 'cross talk' between metabolic signalling pathways that result in similar regulatory responses.

Rice, however, is sensitive to temperature stress and grain C and N content is adversely affected under high temperatures (Tashiro and Wardlaw, 1991).

Plants have a complex signalling network to respond not only to changes in their physical environment but also to the changes happening within the plant throughout its development. Sucrose, being the major component of the long distance transport pathway can exert a big influence on switching particular genes either on or off. As well as long distance communication to source tissue, there is also ample evidence to suggest that localised changes in sugar supply can affect the regulation of genes for sugar transport and metabolism. Adverse changes in sugar supply, particularly during grain filling can affect final nutrient content of grains. While plants can respond relatively quickly to overcome environmental stresses, under extreme environmental changes such as increased global warming, changes in the nutritional quality of grains can become a major issue in the future (Seneweera and Conroy 1997).

## 1.3.5 Starch and storage product synthesis in cereal grains

Coordinated control of grain filling through numerous pathways means that various storage products are controlled in a similar manner and could potentially be regulated by sucrose supply (Zhu et al., 2003). Uptake of sugars into storage cells in the stems of sugarcane or into maize kernels is primarily in the form of hexoses formed by hydrolysis of sucrose by Invertases (INV), specifically Cell Wall Invertases (CWI) that are localized extracellularly in the apoplast. However, in other cereal monocots, sucrose is the primary sugar taken up into filial tissues in wheat (Jenner and Rathjen, 1977), barley (Thorne, 1985) and rice (Nakamura, 1989). Hirose et al. (2002b) showed that both sucrose and hexose (glucose and fructose) contents in rice grain were highest at approximately 3 DAA, coinciding with cell elongation but before grain filling begins. A similar pattern for CWI is seen in barley, with greatest activity of sucrose cleaving enzymes measured at early stages of grain development (Weschke et al., 2003). The apoplastic sucrose/hexose ratio appears to change temporally, with a marked increase in sucrose as the grain begins the storage phase (Patrick and Offler, 2001; Weschke et al., 2003) caused by a decline in extracellular INV levels (Weschke et al., 2003). In rice, the activity of CWI in the maternal tissue is coordinated with sucrose transporter OsSUT1 expression in aleurone and endosperm during early grain filling (Hirose et al., 2002). Lim et al. (2006) reviewed the current literature on CWI and SUTs in cereals to emphasize the many associations between this enzyme and SUT activity which supports its role in regulating carbon metabolism.

Although a small pool of soluble sugars is present at maturity, a majority of the sucrose is converted to starch as the main storage product in the endosperm. The highest rate of starch biosynthesis is between 1 and 12 DAA, although only the starch synthesized after 4 days is thought to contribute to storage in the endosperm (Perez *et al.*, 1975). Sucrose synthase (Susy), ADP-Glucose Pyrophosphorylase (AGPase) and soluble starch synthase (Sss) catalyse the three main steps in the sucrose to starch pathway in cereal endosperm. Susy cleaves sucrose into hexoses which are used in the production of ADP-glucose by AGPase in the cytoplasm. From there, the ADP-glucose is transported into amyloplasts for conversion into starch by one of three Sss isoforms (SsI. SsIIa and SsIIIa). The starch complex is made up of linear chains of glucose molecules (amylose) while the activity of starch branching enzymes (SBE) hydrolyse 1,4-glycosidic bonds, creating 1,6 bonds which form branched molecules (amylopectin). The proportion of these two types of starch is an important determinant of the physical, nutritional and cooking qualities in rice and other starches.

Activities of Susy and AGPase were shown to be higher and also to peak earlier in superior versus inferior rice grains (Liang et al., 2001). Increasing sucrose supply up to a point in detached rice ear cultures resulted in increased activities of Susy, AGPase and Sss (Sasaki *et al.*, 2005). In addition, a number of other studies also found that Susy activity was positively correlated with grain filling and final grain weight in rice (Zhao et al., 2006; Tang et al., 2009). Constitutive Susy expression in maize increased ADPgluc and starch content significantly in endosperm (Li et al., 2013). A barley mutant deficient in Sss, made by disrupting the SsIIa gene showed severely reduced starch content and shrivelled grains (Clarke et al., 2008). In contrast, SsI deficient mutant rice lines showed no noticeable phenotype (Fujita et al., 2006). On the other hand, upregulating cytosolic AGPase in rice seed did not increase the starch content as significantly as the intermediate metabolites in the starch synthesis pathway (e.g. ADPgluc) (Nagai et al., 2009). These results indicate that coordination of the various enzymes are important for proper starch biosynthesis and suggest that the processes within the amyloplast in endosperm cells may be the rate limiting step for starch synthesis in cereal grains.

A proportion of the carbon supplied to the rice seed is channelled into production of protein. Protein composition largely determines the amino acid profile of the grain. For example, the main storage protein in rice is globulin while wheat and barley are prolamin rich (Kawakatsu *et al.*, 2010a). Within the grain, hexoses derived from metabolism of sucrose are also channelled into lipid production. Lipids play a role in rice quality and have significant health benefits to humans. In the grain, lipids are

components of organelles and storage lipids are broken down and mobilised to the germinating rice seed (He *et al.*, 2011). A more detailed discussion of the various classes of storage proteins, amino acids and lipids in cereals grains can be found in the introduction to Chapter 5.

#### **1.4** Plant mineral nutrition and biofortification

Plants require a range of mineral nutrients to grow and thrive. Similarly humans require a range of comparable nutrients, which are acquired through consuming a balanced diet including edible crop plants. A deficiency of these essential minerals is especially prevalent in the diets of people living in developing countries that have a high dependency on low nutrient staples such as rice. The resulting human health effects from mineral malnutrition or 'hidden hunger' have been well documented (Welch and Graham, 2002).

The range of strategies utilised to increase the quantity and/or quality of mineral elements in edible food crops has been grouped under the term 'biofortification'. Traditional methods of plant breeding by selecting lines with higher grain micronutrient content has been moderately successful in producing more nutritious crops (Welch and Graham, 2002). Exploiting the genetic plasticity of crop plants through more targeted means using molecular marker-assisted breeding and plant tissue culture techniques is another approach. More direct strategies for biofortification such as induction of mutations through chemicals or radiation have been used in developing new crop varieties with beneficial characteristics for human nutrition (Clarke et al., 2008). Surprisingly, there does not seem to be any public resistance to accepting mutation breeding of food crops, however, use of genetic modification (GM) of crops is still opposed vehemently by the public at large. This is despite the wide range of benefits afforded by the use of this technology that has now been available for decades (Bouis *et al.*, 2003). GM is a targeted means to manipulate specific plant characteristics. Quantitative strategies aim to increase the concentration of an important limiting nutrient, such as zinc, iron or  $\beta$ -carotene. Qualitative strategies include knockdown of undesirable anti-nutrients, such as phytate and polyphenols or to increase promotional substances that aid in the absorption of minerals, such as some amino acids, inulin and prebiotics.

Thorough reviews covering the range of biofortification approaches include White and Broadley (2009), Waters and Sankaran (2011), Murgia *et al.* (2012) and Bashir *et al.* (2013). In biofortification strategies, the relationship between antinutrients and micronutrients is a complex issue which encompasses plant and human physiology as well as cultural aspects and is too complicated to be comprehensively covered in the scope of this review. For detailed discussions on this topic, see House (1999), Brinch-Pederson *et al.* (2007) and Borg *et al.* (2009).

#### **1.4.1** Importance of minerals in human health

Iron (Fe) and zinc (Zn) are amongst the most deficient elements in a staple human diet and are also important in plant nutrition. However, even the more abundant minerals such as Calcium (Ca), Magnesium (Mg) and Potassium (K) can be limiting in human nutrition but are also critical components in plant processes.

Human Fe deficiency is prevalent worldwide, and can lead to anaemia, morbidity and death. The World Health Organisation (WHO) report on the incidence of anaemia between 1993 and 2005 estimated that more than 1.62 billion people were affected (Benoist *et al.*, 2008). Zn is particularly important in a range of cellular processes in humans, so Zn deficiencies can have negative consequences for adults and children including lowered immune systems, premature delivery in pregnant women, childhood diarrhoea and stunting in infants and children. Ca deficiency and its importance for bone health is well recognised in more developed parts of the world however Ca has important roles in many other processes in the body that are less publicised and can contribute to various health issues in underdeveloped countries (FAO & WHO, 2005). Mg and K are the two most abundant intracellular cations in the human body, with Mg being a critical component in many enzymatic cellular processes. Mg also regulates the Sodium (Na)-K pump in animal cells which is impaired under Mg deficiency, which can lead to an imbalance of both Mg and K in humans (Rude, 1989).

Correction of inadequate nutritional intake of micronutrients through increasing consumption of higher nutrient dense foods such as meat in the diets of those affected by micronutrient malnutrition is not an option as those that are most affected do not have access to these types of food. Therefore, increasing micronutrients, such as Fe and Zn in staple crops is a more practical endeavour and is of paramount importance.

### 1.4.2 Mineral transport in plants and distribution in cereal grain

For effective biofortification of cereal grains, minerals must be taken up from the soil and then transported to the grain, either directly or sequestered into vegetative tissue for later partitioning into the grain under nutrient limitation (Waters and Sankaran, 2011). Mineral ions have different mobility in plant transport pathways and the route these nutrients take into the grain differs. Although both the xylem and phloem contribute to long distance movement of Fe (Guerinot, 2010; Thomine & Lanquar, 2011) and Zn (Rengel, 2002), uptake into grains is largely phloem dependent. The following discussion will therefore focus on the phloem pathway of micronutrients.

To understand how minerals can be increased in plant tissues, the transport and movement of these micronutrients through the phloem and the barriers that stop their accumulation in edible tissues must first be understood. Grain architecture and structure are completely different between rice and barley/wheat, hence there are major differences seen in the ability of these grains to accumulate different nutrients. For example, Zn content in rice endosperm can be quite high when compared to that found in wheat and barley endosperm (Choi *et al.*, 2007). Whether this is related to the pathway of solutes into the grain (circumferential flow in rice versus through the crease in wheat/barley) or the xylem discontinuity that exists in wheat/barley, is unclear. The significance of these differences and the correlation with mineral deposition between the cereals has not been elucidated but it can be hypothesized to play an important role in the distribution of minerals in the grain.

Micronutrients can be transported as chelated compounds or as components of other phloem mobile species that are transported in plant sap. Fe is highly reactive and insoluble under the alkaline conditions of the phloem, and therefore it must be bound to carrier compounds for transport through the plant (Haydon and Cobbett, 2007). In addition, once Fe is deposited into sink tissues, it must be bound or sequestered to maintain homeostasis in the cells. This is in contrast to Zn which is relatively phloem mobile (Kobayashi and Nishizawa, 2008) and is an essential component of many enzymes and transcription factors, hence its movement and transport is likely to be closely linked to the expression and movement of these proteins. Could the reactivity and the ion complexes affect their transport into the grain? Can we hypothesize that because Zn is less reactive than Fe, the smaller complexes or free Zn are able to be transported much more easily, hence the higher levels of Zn than Fe found in endosperm? However, Zn and Fe are both present in relatively low concentrations compared to macronutrients and sugars. Furthermore, Zn and Fe concentrations in cereal grains are positively correlated (Zhao *et al.*, 2009), which implies that their levels are similarly regulated, a trait that has been exploited in traditional plant breeding (Ghandilyan et al, 2006). Since sucrose makes up the bulk of phloem sap, it can be hypothesized that the movement of this transport sugar could potentially have a great influence on the movement of these micronutrients into sink tissues.

It is thought that transporters such as Mugineic acids (MA), Nicotianamine (NA), oligopeptides and amino acids bind to and carry reactive ion species in the phloem. Transmembrane transporters such as yellow stripe-like (YSL) (Curie *et al.*, 2001) and ZIP-like (Hell and Stephan, 2003) proteins then mobilise them into cells or move them across cell layers. These transporters are involved in the entire transport pathway that takes up micronutrients from the soil, delivering them from the roots to the shoots, and finally depositing them into sink tissues (Rengel, 2002; Kobayashi and Nishizawa, 2008).

Borg *et al.* (2009) and Tauris *et al.* (2009) have generated thorough models of Zn and Fe trafficking from phloem to grain which involve a number of transporters and proteins (Fig 1.5). The hypothesized pathways show striking similarities and involve some of the same transport proteins. In brief, vacuolar sequestration and release of both Fe/Zn is mediated by VIT1 and NRAMP proteins respectively, and once released into the cell cytosol, MA/NA chelate Fe/Zn. These chelated complexes are taken up into the endosperm and developing embryo via YSL and ZIP's located in the plasma membrane of the modified aleurone. Within the filial tissue, Zn and Fe is transported into storage vacuoles and sequestered as phytate complexes or with ferritin in the starchy endosperm (Brinch-Pederson *et al.*, 2007) or may be bound to proteins (Ozturk *et al.*, 2006).

Of the other mineral nutrients, phosphorus (P) is mainly translocated in the phloem as inorganic phosphate (Pi) (Bieleski, 1969), taken up into cells through Pi transporters (Smith *et al.*, 2003) and stored in grains primarily as phytate. Sulphur (S) is transported as sulphate (SO<sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup>), before undergoing enzymatic processes that results in the assimilation of S into amino acids such as cysteine or methionine (Saito, 2000). A high concentration of Mn is found in the phloem, however it had previously been thought that Mn was transported primarily via the xylem (Pearson *et al.*, 1994; Rengel, 2002). However, knockdown of *OsYSL2*, a Fe-NA and Mn-NA long distance phloem transporter in rice resulted in decreased grain Mn which suggests that it is phloem mobile, at least in rice (Ishimaru *et al.* 2010).

Distribution of metal ions in grain tissue layers has been examined using histological and imaging techniques. For visualization of Fe in rice, Choi *et al.* (2007) stained grains with Perl's Prussian blue (PPB) which revealed that the blue staining correlated with Fe density of different rice genotypes, and was mostly localized to the embryo. The red colour from staining wheat grains with Diphenyl thiocarbazone (DTZ) howed that the distribution of Zn was mainly in the embryo and aleurone, and was most intense during early grain filling (Ozturk *et al.*, 2006). It was also possible to use



#### Figure 1.5 Combined models for Fe and Zn transport into barley grains

This diagram shows the some of the putative transporters and chelators involved in moving Fe and Zn ions from the outer layers of the grain into the endosperm for storage. NA, nicotianimine, MA, mugineic acid; PSV, protein storage vacuole, Fer, ferritin, VIT1, vacuolar ion transporter; Nramp3, natural resistance associated macrophage protein; YSL's, yellow stripe like proteins; ZIP, zinc/iron regulated transporter protein. Fe/Zn have been put into the same PSV in the diagram for convenience, however may not be associated in the same storage vacuoles as depicted. Diagram is modified from Borg *et al.* (2009) and Tauris *et al.* (2009).

this method for semi-quantitative determination of Zn dense wheat genotypes (Choi *et al.*, 2007). Although these staining techniques are useful for high throughput and require little specialized equipment, they are not very sensitive. For example, wheat grains with less than 15 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Zn show no colour development with DTZ (Ozturk *et al.*, 2006). Also, there is a lack of fine detail in the various tissue layers, other important elements are omitted and it is difficult to examine the distribution of different elements in the same grain.

Imaging techniques are now available that can detect low concentrations of multiple elements in sectioned cereal grains in situ. Digital images can be superimposed to generate fine image maps of the distribution of multiple elements in the various grain layers. Techniques for imaging mineral distribution in cereal grains include Synchrotron x-ray fluorescence spectroscopy/microscopy (µ-XRF/S-XRF or XFM), secondary ion mass spectrometry (NanoSIMS), Laser ablation inductively coupled mass spectrometry (LA ICP-MS) (reviewed in Zhao et al., 2014) and Particle induced X-ray emission (micro-PIXE). In barley and rice, XRF images showed that Fe is found mostly in the embryo, scutellum and outer aleurone with no distribution in the starchy endosperm in mature (Lombi et al., 2009, 2011; Kyriacou et al., 2014) and germinating (Takahashi et al., 2009) grains. NanoSIMS imaging of Fe in wheat found Fe distributed in the aleurone and that it had subcellular associations with phytate (Moore *et al.*, 2012). Zn is found throughout the endosperm of rice as well as associating with Fe and Mn in the scutellum and embryo (Lombi et al., 2009; Johnson et al., 2011; Kyriacou *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, barley grains have the most Zn in the embryo and crease tissue (seen longitudinally and in cross section), with very little penetrating into the inner endosperm (Lombi *et al.*, 2011). Other nutrient elements such as Mn, K, P and S were imaged in wheat grain cross sections using LA-ICP-MS (Wu et al., 2013) and have similar patterns of elemental distribution in outer aleurone compared to longitudinal sections of rice (Lombi et al., 2009; Kyricaou et al., 2014). Micro-PIXE analysis of rice showed uniform distribution of Zn and Cu. This was confirmed, with ICP-OES analysis showing very little decreased in concentration even after 20% of the outer layers had been removed by milling. Mn and Fe, however, were more concentrated on the surface of the grain (<200  $\mu$ M thick) and as a consequence, 20% milling resulted in loss of most of these two micronutrients (Ogiyama *et al.*, 2008).

The strikingly different distribution of Zn and Fe, especially in rice, implies that these ions are potentially regulated by different transport process and that one of the barriers for Zn transport could be located in the crease which is absent in rice. The distribution of mineral nutrients in cereal grains correlates with the distribution of phytate (Iwai *et al.*, 2012) and protein bodies (Prom-u-thai *et al.*, 2008) primarily in the embryo and aleurone. Low levels of micronutrients in endosperm could also be related to the low abundance of transcripts for genes in mineral transport and storage in this tissue (Tauris *et al.*, 2009). The sensitivity of these techniques has allowed mapping of even less abundant trace nutrients such as Selenium (Se) (Moore *et al.*, 2010) and toxic metals that are contaminants in crop species, such as Arsenic (As) and Cadmium (Cd) (Lombi *et al.*, 2009; Moore *et al.*, 2010). In addition,  $\mu$ -XRF can be used in tandem with  $\mu$ -Xray absorption near edge spectroscopy ( $\mu$ -XANES) to show distribution and speciation of As in rice grains *in situ* (Meharg, *et al.* 2008; Lombi *et al.*, 2009).

Despite similarities in the transport processes that move mineral nutrients from the plant vasculature into grain, it is clear that minerals are not distributed uniformly in grain tissues. The ability to visualize the location in the grain where each mineral is found can provide some clues as to the important barriers or limitations to increasing grain mineral nutrient content.

#### **1.4.3** Remobilization from source to sink

Zhang *et al.* (2012a) examined the effect of source sink manipulation on mineral nutrients in wheat and found that increasing sucrose supply through solution culture actually decreased the mineral concentration in the grains. They also used source removal through defoliation to examine this relationship. More current techniques, however, using genetic manipulation and targeting of genes from the source or sink can examine the relationship between sucrose flux and nutrient deposition more directly in sink tissues. In Zhang *et al.*'s (2010) experiments, they manipulated the source while the sink capacity remained the same; this resulted in a negative feedback and a decrease in the uptake of minerals. This indicates that sink capacity may be a better target for manipulation.

Assimilate remobilization from flag leaf to grain during senescence is tightly controlled through various signalling pathways that are under hormonal control (Biswas *et al.*, 1986). Removal of rice panicles resulted in delayed senescence and increased accumulation of sugars and starch in the flag leaf (Nakano *et al.*, 1995). Sugars that are not stored or utilized in growth, decline in levels in rice culms and sheaths between 7 and 21 DAA (Yang *et al.*, 2002). Whether remobilization of mineral nutrients, like sugars, from vegetative tissues during maturity and senescence to developing grains contributes to final mineral concentration is contradictory between studies. Wu *et al.* (2010) found that decreases in leaf, stem and root Zn correlated with increases in grain Zn during important stages in rice development. Yoneyama *et al.* 

(2010) also found that Zn decreased significantly in flag and upper leaves in later plant maturity but Fe concentrations remained relatively high with little remobilization to the grain. However, Sperotto (2013) found that removing the flag leaf did not affect Fe, Zn or Mn in rice grains. Based on this evidence, other tissues must also contribute to the temporary storage and remobilization of mineral nutrients to the grain. For example, Pearson and Rengel (1994) found that Zn and Mn accumulated in the glumes (palea and lemma) of wheat for later retranslocation into the grain. In addition, continuing supply from roots could contribute to grain mineral nutrient concentration, although Wu *et al.* (2010) found that of the zinc supplied to grain came from other plant parts and not directly from the roots.

Numerous studies have shown that Zn is transported from source to sink tissues in the phloem (Pearson and Rengel, 1994; Pearson et al., 1996a). Although sucrose and Zn mainly enter wheat grains through the phloem, the endosperm seems to be a stronger sink for sucrose compared to Zn (Pearson et al., 1996b). It has been theorized that sulphur containing compounds that bind Zn may be responsible for increased levels of Zn in grain, however Stomph et al. (2011) found no correlation between presence of S and Zn in wheat grains, which implies that sulphur containing compounds have negligible effect on total Zn content. This correlates with the low levels of sulphur containing amino acids in rice phloem sap, which together with Stomph's (2011) findings suggest that grain zinc levels are likely affected by other sink related factors. Levels of micronutrients in endosperm are generally low compared with their levels in the embryo and surrounding maternal layers such as the pericarp. Additionally, during grain filling there is an excess accumulation of other micronutrients such as Fe and Mn as well as Zn in the crease as a result of their slow rate of unloading from the phloem (Stomph *et al.*, 2011). Clearly, there is some barrier to the movement of more micronutrients into the endosperm, which further supports the hypothesis that there is a sink limitation affecting the rate of Zn unloading.

Many membrane transporters are coupled to proton pumps, such as H+ATPases that supply the protons required for proton coupled co-transport, symport or antiport, of diverse molecules such as sugars (Hirose *et al.*, 1997), sulphates (Saito, 2000) and phosphates (Smith *et al.*, 2003). The coordinated action of these membrane proteins would be expected to be tightly controlled and excess of a particular nutrient could potentially have wide ranging effects on the transport of other nutrient species.

#### **1.4.4** Effect of nitrogen status on mineral transport

Traditional methods of supplying N to cereal crops through the roots with or without foliar application of Zn have been used to examine the effectiveness of increasing N to biofortify cereal grain iron and zinc content. Under experimental conditions, increasing N supply to plants through the roots has been shown to increase micronutrient uptake and transport in vegetative tissues of wheat (Erenoglu et al., 2011). In combination with Zn foliar application this can give favourable increases in Fe and Zn in whole grains and in the edible fractions of wheat grain (Kutman et al., 2011). This increase in grain micronutrient level under high N fertilization, and Zn foliar application has also been observed under field conditions (Cakmak et al., 2010). However, these observations for wheat were not mirrored in rice, where increasing N application did not consistently increase micronutrients in the edible portion of the grain (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Fe levels, in particular, remained low in brown rice although over the whole plant the Fe levels were observed to increase. Because Fe is present in such low concentrations in phloem sap, Fe must therefore rely on the movement of other assimilates, such as sucrose, to be carried and deposited in the sink tissues. Therefore, modification of the assimilation pathway, especially during critical grain filling stages for sucrose could very likely enhance the deposition of micronutrients specifically in grain tissue.

As well as increasing the overall nutrient status of the plant, N application can also result in increasing the concentration of seed storage proteins (SSP) in the grain. There appears to be a direct relationship between N supply to the plant and grain protein content (Jenner et al., 1991). Although the processes of starch and protein deposition in grain are independent of each other, they are invariably linked as the size and physiology of the grain limits the proportion of these products. Traditionally, plant breeding has not been able to overcome the negative correlation between yield and protein content in cereal grains, despite there being no obvious negative correlations between the genetic regions that determine these traits, at least in bread wheat (Groos *et al.*, 2002). Proteins make up only a small percentage of the storage product in cereal grains however proportions of the different protein classes are integral in grain quality characteristics and are an important source of plant protein in human nutrition. Although protein concentration is quite variable between cereal genotypes, in general rice contains much less total protein compared to wheat or barley. In addition, the composition of SSP, hence the abundance of various essential amino acids, in rice is quite different from these other cereals.

Disruption of N remobilization from flag leaves to wheat grains significantly reduced grain protein and Zn and Fe deposition (Uauy *et al.*, 2006b). These traits appear to be linked which suggests that manipulation of grain protein can potentially give a corresponding increase or decrease in micronutrient content. Under drought conditions, Peleg *et al.* (2008) found protein content was highly correlated with Zn and Fe for field grown wheat populations. Post-flowering foliar Zn application to wheat increased both protein and Zn, which led Cakmak *et al.* (2010) to speculate that increased protein synthesis through N fertilization at grain filling can create a stronger sink for Zn.

#### **1.4.5** General strategies for GM biofortification of cereals

Rice is processed for consumption by polishing off the outer bran layers to produce white rice. This increases the storage period of rice, and there is a cultural and historic preference for white rice. Removing the bran, however, significantly lowers the nutritional content of rice. Therefore, biofortification of rice is only effective if there can be an increase in nutritional properties of the endosperm, rather than in the aleurone or embryo of the grain. Untargeted expression of transgenes to drive increase of micronutrients in rice grains may not be successful if the redistribution of minerals is not penetrating to the inner endosperm of the grain. Zhang *et al* (2012) disrupted the genes VIT1 and VIT2, vacuolar metal transporters, in rice and found reallocation of Fe to the embryo resulted from reduced accumulation in leaves. This experiment shows that manipulation of sink capacity can cause a reallocation of nutrients in the plant, however as the embryo is removed during polishing, this particular strategy cannot be applied for biofortification. Numerous strategies to increase micronutrient levels in cereal grains have attempted to use the idea that increasing sink strength can be used to 'pull' more of a particular micronutrient into the grain by creating a stronger sink for nutrients. These 'pulling' strategies have relied on the overexpression of various proteins to bind or transport more micronutrients in the grain.

Ferritin, an iron-binding protein, has been investigated in several studies as a means to increase cereal iron content by overexpressing ferritin to sequester more iron. Constitutive expression of soybean ferritin resulted in higher levels of iron only in the vegetative tissues, at the expense of the rice and wheat grain (Drakakaki *et al.*, 2005). Targeted overexpression of ferritin in rice endosperm gave more promising results with an increase in ferritin levels corresponding to an increase in iron content in the grain (Goto *et al.*, 1999; Vasconcelos *et al.*, 2003; Qu *et al.*, 2005). In addition, in some cases, lines with higher Fe had corresponding increases in grain Zn content

(Vasconcelos *et al.*, 2003; Qu *et al.*, 2005). However, there were only modest increases in micronutrient levels that did not correspond with much higher ferritin levels, with the added drawback that plants with higher grain Fe showed more than 50% less iron in the leaves, compared to controls (Qu *et al.*, 2005). These studies indicate that although increased ferritin in the grain provided a stronger sink to bind more iron, transport of iron into the cells may be the limiting step. This has led other researchers to investigate iron and zinc uptake and transport into grains by manipulating other proteins that have been identified as transporters for micronutrients.

OsNAS1, 2 and 3, a family of genes for proteins involved in the production of nicotianimine (NA), a metal chelator in rice, is induced in roots and upregulated under soil Fe deficiency (Lee et al., 2009). Activation of OsNAS3 increased levels of NA, Fe and Zn in rice grains (Lee et al., 2009). Similarly, barley HvNAS1 driven by a constitutive rice Actin promoter gave moderate increases in Fe and Zn in polished rice of  $T_1$  and  $T_2$ plants (Masuda et al., 2009). However, PPB staining showed that although some Fe was visible in the endosperm, most of the staining was observed only around the periphery of the grain. Johnson et al. (2011) generated three populations of transgenic rice overexpressing the three OsNAS genes with a double 35S promoter. They found that lines overexpressing OsNAS2 gave the highest increases in NA, which correlated with increased Fe and Zn concentrations. However, μ-XRF elemental maps showed that Fe was still only distributed mostly in the aleurone and subaleurone. Constitutive overexpression of ZIP4, a putative Fe and Zn translocator, in rice increased Zn in roots but decreased Zn concentration in both shoots and seeds, which suggests that instead of increasing the overall micronutrient content of the plant, the available Zn was redistributed unevenly to specific plant parts (Ishimaru et al., 2007a). Expressing multiple genes in tandem has been an approach employed by various research groups to increase metal uptake and storage in the plant while also introducing genes that can enhance nutrient absorption. Lucca *et al.* (2001) overexpressed a chimeric construct with genes for Fe storage (ferritin), break-down of anti-nutrients (phytase) and cysteine for increasing the absorption of non-haem iron in rice, however they did not report whether the Fe was more bioavailable. Wirth et al. (2009), and Wang et al. (2013) created rice expressing multiple genes involved in storage (ferritin), transport (*NAS*) and break-down of anti-nutrients (phytase) to increase Fe concentration by up to six times in rice grain. Corresponding increases in Fe resulted in increases of nontarget endogenous expression of other genes critical in mineral nutrient transport (Wang et al., 2013). Masuda et al. (2012) tried a similar gene stacking approach with soybean *ferritin*, *HvNAS1* and *OsYSL2*, a Yellow stripe-like (YSL) metal transporter, to

increase Fe and Zn in field grown rice by 4.4 and 1.6 fold respectively. In another study by Ishimaru *et al.* (2010) overexpression of *OsYSL2* driven by the *OsSUT1* promoter for high expression in phloem cells resulted in Fe and Mn content in polished rice that was approximately 4 and 1.5 times higher than WT, respectively. VIT1 and VIT2, vacuolar metal transporters have also been investigated as a targets for manipulation as they can drive greater uptake of metals into the storage vacuole. Unexpectedly, Zhang *et al.* (2012) measured elevated levels of cadmium (Cd) of up to 60% more in rice grains overexpressing VIT1 and VIT2 although these proteins did not transport Cd *in vitro* in yeast cells. NRAMP5, another metal transporter has been reported to transport not only Fe and Mn but also Cd (Ishimaru *et al.*, 2012). S-XRF studies of the distribution of As, Cd and Nickel (Ni) in rice from various countries revealed that while As had a similar distribution in grain as Fe and Zn, Cd and Ni were found throughout the endosperm (Meharg *et al.*, 2008). If plants engineered with enhanced metal transporters for Fe and Zn were to be grown on contaminated soils, there could be a risk of increasing the toxic heavy metal load in edible tissues.

The examples above highlight that caution needs to be taken when manipulating metal transporters as we do not know enough about the specificity of many metal transporters *in planta*. Proteins in heterologous systems may not behave the same or show the same specificity as *in planta*, hence results may be unexpected when proteins are overexpressed in plants. However, it can be argued that the benefits of this technology outweigh the risks. Despite all the benefits of using GM for biofortification and having systems in place to ensure the transparent reporting of results from such research, it will be a long time before biofortified rice will be accepted widely by the public. Until public opinion can be changed, there is little likelihood of the widespread acceptance and commercialization of such crops, although there is no doubt amongst plant scientists that there is an urgent need for this research.

#### 1.5 Aims of this work

Weichert *et al.* (2010) demonstrated that overexpressing *HvSUT1* in wheat driven by an endosperm specific promoter could increase sucrose uptake capacity. This change in sucrose supply to the grain resulted in a cascade of effects that were primarily changes in grain metabolism. As a result, transgenic wheat grains overexpressing *HvSUT1* showed changes in their protein profiles and increased protein content without a yield penalty. Increased sink strength as well as higher protein in grains has been shown to correlate positively with micronutrient levels. Preliminary ICP-OES analysis on these wheat grains indicated that they were indeed higher in

micronutrients (James Stangoulis, pers. comm.). Based on that study's findings, we hypothesised that the strategy of increasing sucrose uptake through SUT1 manipulation could be used to increase micronutrients in rice, another important crop species. Further work on  $T_3$  to  $T_5$  generations of field grown *HvSUT1* overexpressing wheat found higher zinc and iron in those grains compared to controls (Saalbac *et al.*, 2014). This study lends more support to this project's primary objective which is to explore the effect of increasing the uptake capacity of the rice grain through ectopic SUT1 expression on the deposition of micronutrients.

In this study, rice plants will be transformed using *Agrobacterium* to integrate a construct encoding the barley *HvSUT1* cDNA driven by the rice globulin endosperm specific promoter, *Glb-1*, targeting expression of *SUT1* in the endosperm. Null segregants (NT) from these transgenic lines and plants transformed with constructs to constitutively drive *HvSUT1* with the rice *Act-1* promoter will be used as controls. Transgenic rice lines will be characterised for transgene copy number, HvSUT1 gene and protein expression and sucrose uptake using *in vitro* assays. In contrast to the study with wheat, measurable changes will be analysed in polished rice rather than only in the whole seed, as this has implications from a human nutrition perspective. In order to test the hypothesis, polished and unpolished rice grains from selected plant lines will be analysed for protein and micronutrients. Timing of nutrient transport may play a part in final grain micronutrient concentrations, therefore grains at different time points during development will also be analysed. To visualize the distribution of minerals in the grain, elemental maps will be generated from mature control and transgenic grains and using Laser ablation ICP-MS.

The studies by Weichert *et al.* (2011) and Saalbac *et al.* (2014) on *SUT1* overexpression in wheat provide a platform to explore the loading and storage of other nutrients in cereal grains. Metabolic changes within the rice grain affected by sugar supply can also be investigated by measuring the concentration and composition of other metabolites and nutrients. In addition to the main hypothesis, another objective of this thesis is to examine whether endosperm specific expression of *SUT1* could alter partitioning of carbon from the primary storage product starch, into other storage products such as proteins or lipids, thereby changing the nutritional composition of rice. As well as measuring growth and yield parameters of transgenic plants, rice grains will also be analysed for nutritional changes in sugars and starch, storage proteins, amino acids and fatty acids. The overall aim of this thesis is to investigate increasing sucrose transport in an important cereal crop, rice, as a potential biofortification strategy. This project attempts to do this using a transgenic approach

and the results from this study will provide points for comparison with previous work conducted on wheat by Weichert *et al.* (2010) and Saalbac *et al.* (2014).

The following work will be broken into chapters describing distinct yet related aspects of the research (i) the generation and characterisation of the transgenic plants, (ii) the analysis of micronutrient deposition and localisation the transgenic rice grains, (iii) the analysis of growth and yield characteristics in transgenic plants as well as lipid and protein changes in transgenic rice grains.

### Transformation and characterisation of rice plants overexpressing the *HvSUT1* transgene

#### 2.1 Introduction

Over the last few decades there have been many advances in the transformation and regeneration of transgenic monocot cereal species for the purposes of research. Rice in particular has received a great deal of attention as a model plant for transgenic studies of cereals due to its relatively small genome size (e.g. approximately 3.89 x 10<sup>8</sup> bp compared to barley's 5.3 x 10<sup>9</sup> bp) and the completion of the International Rice Genome Sequencing Project in 2004 (IRGSP, 2005). Research into transformation systems for rice has resulted in protocols for efficient and reliable regeneration of transgenic rice plants however transgenic rice has previously never been developed successfully at Flinders University. Therefore the final protocol for this study was based on trial and error and consideration of many factors investigated in published studies on rice transformation, rather than relying on empirical evidence from previous successes on site.

A number of factors need to be taken into account when transforming rice ensure success in integrating a desired transgene. In addition to the important factors in cereal transformation as reviewed in Cheng *et al.* (2004), the study presented here required additional considerations: (i) the choice of promoters for the desired expression of the transgene, (ii) the method of gene delivery, (iii) the choice of cloning vectors, (iv) the tissue culture conditions for growth and regeneration of transgenic plants and, (v) the ideal growing conditions to ensure strong vegetative growth and optimal seed setting for multigenerational studies of stably transformed plants. The aim was to produce populations of rice plants expressing the barley sucrose transporter *HvSUT1*, constitutively and specifically in the endosperm. Therefore, careful choice of promoters was the first consideration.

For constitutive expression of transgenes in cereals, dicot and monocot promoters have previously been used in rice. The widely used Cauliflower Mosaic Virus 35S (*CaMV-35S*) promoter has been shown to give low expression in rice (McElroy *et al.*, 1990, 1991; Cao *et al.*, 1992), although other studies have contradicted these results by developing rice with high expression of transgenes driven by *CaMV-35S* (Battraw and Hall, 1990; Terada and Shimamoto, 1990; Datta *et al.*, 1998). Compared with other strong constitutive promoters such as maize ubiquitin 1 (*ZmUbi1*) which has patchy expression (Cornejo *et al.*, 1993), the rice actin 1 promoter (*Act1*) (McElroy *et al.*, 1994) containing the functionally important rice actin *intron-1* (McElroy *et al.*, 1991; 1994)

has been shown to direct high-level expression in all the rice tissues tested. Interestingly, *ZmUbi1* promoter is stress inducible (Cornejo *et al.*, 1993; Christensen and Quail, 1996) and when driving *uidA* expression gave heavier GUS staining in tissues that had been heat shocked (Takimoto *et al.*, 1994). Given the aim of the transformation study presented here, the *ZmUbi1* promoter was discarded as it could potentially give inconsistent result. Another advantage of the *Act-1* promoter is that it drives consistently strong expression during various stages of rice plant development (Zhang *et al.*, 1991). Hence, Act1<sub>pro</sub> was chosen to drive constitutive expression of the *HvSUT1* transgene in this study.

Careful choice of a suitable promoter is necessary for targeted temporal and spatial gene expression. Grain specific transgene expression is a goal for biofortification studies because the grain is the edible portion of the plant. Promoters to direct endosperm specific expression in rice have been isolated from cereal species, mostly having homologous regulatory sequences in their corresponding 5' flanking regions (Nakase et al., 1996) although some promoters require both 5' and 3' gene regions for endosperm specific expression (Qu and Takaiwa, 2004). Various studies have compared the tissue specificity and temporal expression patterns of grain specific promoters in rice by fusing them to reporter genes such as  $\beta$ -glucuronidase (GUS) and green-fluorescent protein (qfp). Not all endosperm specific cereal promoters are suitable for targeted expression in rice. For example, the wheat high-molecular-weight glutenin (HMW-Glu) promoter drives expression of gfp in many other tissues in rice (Furtado *et al.*, 2008). While the barley *Hor-B1* promoter drives grain specific *GUS* and gfp expression and is stably inherited up to the T<sub>9</sub> generation in barley (Choi et al., 2003), in rice it drives expression in rice grains as well as other tissues (Furtado et al., 2008). These studies indicate that regulation of endogenous promoters may differ from introduced promoter sequences from other species. It was therefore decided to use a native promoter to drive transgene expression.

The rice  $\alpha$ -globulin (*Glb-1*) promoter, which starts -1007 bp upstream from the *Glb-1* start codon (Nakase *et al.*, 1996), drives strong and highly endosperm specific gene expression in rice (Wu *et al.*, 1998a; Furtado *et al.*, 2008). When shortened to - 980 bp (Wu *et al.*, 1998a) and -896 bp (Hwang *et al.*, 2002) upstream, the *Glb-1* promoter retained strong and specific activity. Hwang *et al.* (2002) found that by deleting progressively longer fragments from the 5' end of the sequence, lower *GUS* expression was observed. Compared with other grain specific promoters from rice (Wu *et al.*, 1998a; Qu and Takaiwa, 2004), or other cereals (Hwang *et al.*, 2001; Furtado *et al.*, 2008), *Glb-1* consistently showed strong expression of reporter genes that was

highly endosperm specific. This promoter has also been used successfully to drive transgenes in a number of studies. A high concentration of human lysozyme has been produced in rice endosperm, which confirms its usefulness in expressing highly species-divergent recombinant proteins (Hwang *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, plants transformed with a construct containing the *Glb-1* promoter, stably maintains promoter specificity in subsequent generations of rice (Qu *et al.* 2005; Furtado *et al.*, 2008). Homologous transgene silencing can also be an issue if a T-DNA construct carries the same promoter that drives both the transgene and the selection marker (Matzke and Matzke, 1995). Therefore careful consideration of combinations of promoters used can minimise the chances of seeing widely variable phenotypes in a transgenic population (Butaye *et al.*, 2005).

In rice, the tissue most amenable to transformation has been found to be callus derived from scutellum tissue (Hiei et al., 1997). Foreign DNA is introduced into this tissue either through infection with Agrobacterium or biolistic bombardment. The advantages of using Agrobacterium over a gene gun for transformation, is that fewer copies of the transgene are delivered to the cells (Dai *et al.* 2001). This makes breeding of single copy homozygous plants a more simple process. Transformation success is also very dependent on the Agrobacterium strain. A number of strains have been used successfully to transform monocots, however the most successful for recalcitrant species have been the 'hyper-virulent' EHA101, EHA105 and AGL0 and AGL1 (Hensel et *al.*, 2009). The 'Normal' strain LBA4404, combined with 'super-binary' plasmids gives similar transformation efficiencies in rice as these hyper-virulent Agrobacterium strains (Hiei *et al.*, 1994) but has varying degrees of success in transformation of many other cereals (see Cheng et al., 2004). AGL1 was originally developed by Lazo et al. (1991) for the purpose of being able to host *A. thaliana* genomic DNA libraries that could be easily transformed into plants. This strain carries a resident disarmed plasmid pTiBo542 that contains hyper-virulent vir genes for T-DNA transfer and an engineered mutation in its genomic *RecA* gene that aids in stabilizing recombinant plasmids, thereby increasing transformation efficiency. AGL1 has been used successfully to transform various cereals including indica rice (Khanna and Raina, 1999), elite japonica rice cultivars (Upadhyaya *et al.*, 2000), barley (Tingay *et al.*, 1997) and wheat (Wu et al., 2008a). The japonica rice 'Nipponbare' was used as the model rice for sequencing by the IRGSP, is amenable to transformation (see Abe and Futsuhara, 1986) and has been chosen for this study.

Traditional binary vectors that can replicate in *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium* and are used to introduce recombinant T-DNA into plants are generally large with limited

restriction sites for the introduction of transgenes (Bevan, 1984). Therefore cloning into these vectors can be difficult. The development of Gateway<sup>™</sup> (Invitrogen) compatible transformation vectors that can be used with the Gateway<sup>™</sup> cloning system (Invitrogen) has streamlined and simplified this for plant transformation (for an overview of plant Gateway<sup>™</sup> cloning and vectors see Earley *et al.* (2005) and Karimi *et al.*, (2007). Himmelbach *et al.* (2007) developed a range of overexpression (OE) and knockdown (RNAi) Gateway<sup>™</sup> binary vectors specifically for the efficient cloning and transfer of T-DNA into cereals. These convenient modular vectors have a pVS1 *ori* for plasmid stability in *Agrobacterium*, *Hpt<sup>r</sup>* driven by *ZmUbi1* for selection of positive transformants with hygromycin and a strong cereal specific promoter or MCS (to introduce a tissue specific promoter) to drive the transgene expression. These binary vectors were used successfully to transform barley (Himmelbach *et al.*, 2007). This system in combination with the *Glb-1* and *Act-1* promoters was chosen for driving endosperm and constitutive *HvSUT1* expression in transgenic rice in this study.

The rice transformation protocol used in this study has been modified from Hiei et al. (1994), Aldemita and Hodges (1996), Toki et al. (1997), Toki et al. (2006) and Shrawat and Good (2011). These studies standardised the use of an osmotic mix of sugars such as sucrose and glucose/maltose and acetosyringone in the co-cultivation media for plasmolysis of the callus cells and *vir* gene induction respectively, thereby promoting infection by Agrobacterium. They also investigated the optimum tissue culture conditions to ensure effective transgene integration and plantlet regeneration, including temperature, light intensity (also in Liu et al., 2001), choice of starting material and media composition. Hence the protocol described in the following materials and methods section includes the relevant and practical elements from these studies. Plantlet regeneration from infected callus tissue can be a limiting step in the development of transgenic rice plants. Therefore, other factors were adjusted to optimise the conditions for successful regeneration such as callus age at the time of infection (Bajaj and Rajam, 1995), proportions of auxin/cytokinin in regeneration media (Abe and Futsuhara, 1986; Rueb et al., 1994) and dehydration of callus at various stages of infection and cultivation (Tsukahara and Hirosawa, 1992).

To ensure adequate vegetative growth and good seed set, growth conditions must be optimised for specific species or cultivars. Rice is a short-day plant (i.e. it requires less than 12 hours of daylight to flower) however recommended growing conditions for the cultivar Nipponbare varies widely between studies. Conditions include 30°C day and 27°C night temperatures with a 12 hour day length (Aldemita and Hodges, 1996); 28°C day and night with 14 and 10 hours of light and dark (Shrawat and

Good, 2011); 30°C day time and 25°C night time temperatures with 11 hours of light and 13 of dark in a Biotron (Ohnishi *et al.*, 2011) and 25°C day and 20°C night time temperatures (Yamakawa *et al.*, 2007). From these widely varying conditions for growing Nipponbare it appears that this cultivar is not very photoperiod sensitive because it has been grown successfully under all these conditions. In addition, large fields of Nipponbare are grown successfully in Yanco, New South Wales, where the maximum daylight exceeds 12 hours throughout summer (Russell Reinke (IRRI), pers comm. 2012). Due to the strict conditions for research into GMOs in South Australia, work on transgenic rice plants must be conducted inside an Office of the Gene Technology Regulator (OGTR)-licensed contained plant growth facility, such as a PC2 greenhouse. In this system, space limitations are an issue and the results from pot trials cannot be extrapolated to the field. However optimum temperatures can be sustained in a greenhouse under a semi-controlled environment. The optimum temperature for Nipponbare is between 20 to 30 degrees and therefore greenhouse temperatures maintained at these temperatures allow optimum growth and grain fill.

Specific expression of reporter genes in rice endosperm by the *Glb-1* promoter has been comprehensively demonstrated in numerous studies (see Section 2.1) however in this investigation the cloned *Glb-1* sequence was tested by GUS staining of *GUS* transformed rice tissues to prove the function of the cloned promoter sequence from rice gDNA. GUS has also been used as a control to compare the transformation efficiency of the protocol for rice transformation using the pIPKb Gateway binary vectors.

Transgenic plants generated for hypothesis testing must be accurately assessed for copy number and transgene expression to determine that the transgene is functional. In most cases, Southern blotting has been the most reliable method for copy number determination as well as segregation analysis of the resulting progeny of the  $T_0$ transgenic lines. It is also advantageous to determine the location of the transgene position integrated into the genome of the plant. Methods that utilise different variations on PCR have been developed for this purpose. For example, Adapter Ligation PCR (AL-PCR) and Inverse PCR (I-PCR) have been used to assess gene locations in Arabidopsis (O'Malley *et al.*, 2007) and rice (Sallaud *et al.*, 2003). These methods have the advantage of requiring less DNA than in Southern blotting (ng vs µg concentrations) to determine copy number and have the additional advantage of locating the position of gene insertion in the genome by sequencing across the junctions of the integration sites.

In most cases, stable transformation of transgenes are best assessed in single copy transformants as it is easiest to examine segregation patterns in seed to determine copy number and zygosity and to select homozygous lines for further analysis . Typically in *Agrobacterium* transformation of rice, one to a few copies of the transgene are inserted into the genome. Transgene dosage (number of copies) does not always correlate with gene expression and can result in unexpectedly low activity of the target gene, which can be easily determined when working with reporter genes such as GUS (Hobbs et al., 1993). However, this situation is further complicated when multiple copies of a transgene homologous to an endogenous gene is introduced into a plant, especially when the gene is conserved for a critical cellular function, as for the *SUT1* gene. Tight control of mRNA or protein levels in plant cells could be part of the plant's natural defence for dealing with abiotic or biotic stresses that regulates gene expression through various mechanisms (Matzke and Matzke, 1995). Epigenetic factors such as DNA methylation and/or histone modification could prevent transcription, or there may be post-transcriptional processes that quickly turnover excess mRNA, thereby resulting in silencing of the transgene and potentially the endogenous gene.

In transgenic plant studies, RNA transcript and protein are measured to determine that a transgene is being expressed. In this study, transcripts for the transgenic and endogenous versions of SUT1 will be assessed by RT-PCR. However, gene transcription does not necessarily reflect the amount of functional protein that is being expressed. In particular, there is a low correlation between levels of SUT transcript and SUT proteins from various plant species. SUT protein is either not detected in the same tissues as the transcript, or the concentrations are not as high as would be expected from the amount of transcript that is present. In wheat, Bagnall *et* al. (2000) measured transcripts of SUT1 in wheat caryopses, however SUT1 protein did not localize to the same tissues. Rosche et al. (2002) observed similar discrepancies between SUT transcript and protein in peas. These results imply that there is some post transcriptional regulation of SUTs, therefore detecting both transcript and protein would be necessary to comprehensively demonstrate stable inheritance of the *HvSUT1* transgene. No commercial antibody for HvSUT1 protein was available. Therefore, in this study, a peptide antigen was designed and an antibody produced and purified enabling the detection of HvSUT1 protein by immuno-blot analysis.

The work in this chapter describes the molecular cloning of plasmid constructs and the subsequent plant tissue culture and *Agrobacterium* transformation of rice to generate transgenic rice plants. The specificity of promoter expression was examined

49

by histochemical analysis of plants expressing GUS driven by either the endosperm specific (*Glb-1*) or constitutive (*Act-1*) promoter. Plants containing the barley sucrose transporter *HvSUT1* coding sequence driven either by *Glb-1* or *Act-1* were characterised using molecular and biochemical methods to provide evidence for the stable inheritance of this transgene through  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  progeny. From these analyses, suitable sucrose transporter overexpressing (SUT-OE) transgenic rice lines were chosen for further investigation.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 **Preparation of overexpression plasmids**

Binary Gateway<sup>®</sup> destination vectors for cereal transformation developed by Himmelbach *et al.* (2007) were kindly provided by Dr. Jochen Kumlehn from IPK Gatersleben, Germany. pIPKb vectors (pIPKb001 Acc. EU161567; pIPKb003 Acc. EU161569) in *E. coli* strain DB3.1 were streaked onto LB media-agar plates with spectinomycin (spec)(25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) and incubated 16 h at 37 <sup>o</sup>C. One colony from each culture was inoculated into 10 ml LB media with spec (25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) for overnight culture in an orbital shaker at 37 <sup>o</sup>C. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 3000 xg for 15 min and plasmid DNA isolated using the Wizard<sup>®</sup> *Plus* SV Minipreps kit (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasmid DNA was eluted in 200 µl of ultrapure laboratory grade water (Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water) and concentration was estimated by spectrophotometric analysis (NanoDrop 2000, Thermo Scientific). Plasmid identities were verified by restriction digests with *Pst*I run on a 1% agarose gel.

### 2.2.2 Amplification of *Glb-1* promoter from rice gDNA and ligation into pIPKb001

Genomic DNA (gDNA) was extracted from rice seedlings. Freshly harvested tissue was ground in liquid nitrogen (LN2) and gDNA was extracted using the plant DNeasy minikit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocols. gDNA was further purified and concentrated by the addition of 10  $\mu$ l of Sodium acetate (NaAc) pH 5.2 to a 90  $\mu$ l aliquot of gDNA and precipitated with 2.5 x volumes of ice cold 99% ethanol (EtOH) at -20 °C for 2 h. The gDNA pellet obtained after centrifuging at 14000 xg for 15 min was washed with 1 ml of 80% EtOH, dried at room temperature (RT) for 10 min and resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l of Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water.

The 981 bp *Glb-1* (*Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub>) promoter sequence (Acc. AY427575.1) was amplified from rice gDNA using PCR (Appendix A, PCR 1) with primers containing

restriction sites *Spe*I and *Asc*I at the 5' and 3' ends for ligation into the MCS site in pIPKb001. The specific band at ~1000 bp was cut out following agarose gel electrophoresis and further purified using the Wizard® SV gel and PCR clean up kit (Promega). The PCR product was further concentrated and purified by EtOH precipitation and checked on a 1% agarose gel.

Separate double digests of pIPKb001 and the *Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub> PCR product with *Spe*I and *Asc*I (10 U µl<sup>-1</sup>), 1x NEB buffer 4, BSA (0.2 ug µl<sup>-1</sup>) plus 400 ng of pIPKb001 template or 50 ng of Glb1 template were incubated at 37 °C for 1 h. Digests were heat inactivated at 80 °C for 20 min and reactions cleaned up with the Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega). 10 µl ligation reactions with T4 ligase in ligation buffer (NEB) with an insert: vector ratio of 1:3 was conducted at RT for 16 h. Ligase was heat inactivated at 65 °C for 10 min and the entire 10 µl used to transform 50 µl of chemically competent DB3.1 *E. coli* by heat shock. Transformed cells were plated onto LB agar plates containing spec (25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) and chloramphenicol (chlor) (34 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) at 30 °C for 16 h. One colony growing on the selection plate was inoculated into LB broth culture and plasmid DNA was prepared with a Miniprep kit (Promega). An analytical restriction digest with *Pme*I and *Hind*III that cuts on either side of the MCS was carried out on the isolated plasmid DNA. This destination vector is designated plPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub>.

### 2.2.3 Amplification of *HvSUT1* cDNA and Gateway® cloning

The p6U:HPT:HOSUT (HOSUT) plasmid (Weichert *et al.*, 2009) containing the *HvSUT1* coding sequence (cds) (Acc. AJ272309.1) (Weschke *et al.*, 2000) was obtained from Dr. Hans Weber (IPK, Germany). Extra plasmid DNA was isolated and purified after electroporation into DH10B *E. coli* cells and selection on LB with spec (25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>). Plasmids were verified by PCR amplification (Appendix A, PCR 2) and sequencing (AGRF Sequencing Facility, Adelaide) using sequencing primers (Appendix A).

The 1967 bp *HvSUT1* cds was amplified from the HOSUT plasmid with primers containing attB sites (final product length 2028 bp) for Gateway<sup>®</sup> recombination (Appendix A, PCR 3). The PCR product was polyethylene glycol (PEG) purified and cloned into donor vector pDONR221 with BP Clonase<sup>®</sup> II according to the protocols in the Gateway<sup>®</sup> Technology with Clonase<sup>®</sup> II User Guide (Invitrogen by Life Technologies). DH10B *E. coli c*olonies electroporated with BP reactions growing on kanamycin (kan) (50 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) were confirmed by PCR (Appendix A, PCR 2). A single colony containing the recombinant pDONR221 was grown in LB medium containing kan (50 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) with shaking at 37°C for 16 h. Entry vector DNA (designated

pENTR221:HvSUT) (conc. 205.1 ng µl-1; 260/280=1.91) was prepared for cloning into Gateway<sup>®</sup> destination (pIPKb) vectors.

Gateway<sup>®</sup> reactions between entry vector pENTR221:HvSUT and destination vectors pIPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub> or pIPKb003 were carried out using LR Clonase<sup>®</sup> II according to the Invitrogen User Guide (see above). Following the reaction, 1 µl was electroporated into DH10B *E. coli* and positive colonies were selected on LB plates with spec (25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>). Colonies growing on spec (25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) were confirmed by PCR (Appendix A, PCR 4). A single colony containing the recombined plasmid with the construct Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT1 was inoculated into LB with spec (25 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) to prepare plasmid DNA for transformation of *Agrobacterium* strain AGL1. The same procedure was carried out to isolate plasmids containing the construct Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT1.

To determine the specificity of the *Act-1* and *Glb-1* promoters, the control plasmid pENTR<sup>M</sup>-GUS was recombined with entry vectors pIPKb003 and pIPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub> in separate LR reactions. Selection of colonies and isolation of plasmids containing the constructs Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS and Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS was carried out as previously described.

#### 2.2.4 *Agrobacterium* rice transformation

Electrocompetent *Agrobacterium* (AGL1) cells were prepared using standard procedures (Wise et al., 2006). Four transformations were conducted with the following destination plasmids containing the constructs i) Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT, ii) Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT, iii) Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS and iv) Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS. Aliquots of AGL1 (20  $\mu$ l) were electroporated with 1  $\mu$ l of plasmid DNA (~150-300 ng). Cells were plated onto YM media plates (Appendix B) containing spec (25  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and rifampicin (rif) (20  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and incubated at 28 °C until large well separated colonies were observed, approximately 3 days (d). Colony PCR (Appendix A, PCR 4; PCR 5) was used to confirm transformation of AGL1 with the destination plasmids. Additional verification of plasmid identity was undertaken by extracting plasmids from *Agrobacterium* cells, as described previously for *E. coli*, and electroporating them back into DH10B *E. coli*. After amplification in DH10B, plasmid DNA was extracted, purified and analysed by cutting with restriction enzyme *Eco*RI. These digested products were compared by agarose gel electrophoresis with the *Eco*RI digested progenitor DNA that was electroporated into AGL1.

For virulence gene induction a single AGL1 colony harbouring the correct destination plasmid was inoculated into 2 ml of LB broth with rif (20  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and spec (25  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and incubated overnight with shaking at 28 <sup>o</sup>C. The culture was then

streaked onto yeast extract-mannitol (YM) media plates (Appendix B) with antibiotics and the plates incubated for 2-3 d at 28  $^{\circ}$ C in the dark. Confluent growth of AGL1 grown on YM media was scraped off and resuspended in 30 ml of 2N6-AS liquid media (Appendix B), which contains acetosyringine (AS) (20 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>), to yield an OD600 of 0.1/0.2. This suspension was used for infection of rice callus.

#### 2.2.5 Rice callus induction, infection and selection

The protocols for callus induction and rice transformation were adapted primarily from Hiei *et al* (1997) and Toki *et al.* (2006). Nipponbare rice seeds (40-50) were dehulled and sterilized with 70% ethanol for 1 min and washed in Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water. Seeds were sterilized again with a 50% commercial bleach solution containing a drop of Tween20, and gently agitated on a rotary mixer for 20 min. After rinsing thoroughly with sterile Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water (5x) the seeds were dried briefly on sterilized filter paper before inoculating 9-12 seeds per plate onto N6D medium solidified with 0.4% gelrite (Appendix B). Dishes were sealed with Micropore<sup>TM</sup> surgical tape (3M<sup>TM</sup>) and cultured under continuous light (20-25  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s-1) at 28 <sup>o</sup>C for 3-4 weeks. Healthy proliferating callus were re-cultured onto fresh N6D media plates every 7 d.

Pieces of healthy calli were immersed and gently washed in the AGL1 suspension for 2 min. After blotting dry on sterile Kimwipes<sup>®</sup>, the infected callus was transferred onto sterilized filter paper moistened with 2N6-AS solution and placed onto plates containing 2N6-AS media solidified with 0.4% gelrite. The plates were co-cultivated at 25 <sup>o</sup>C in the dark for 3 d then washed 5x with sterile Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water. After a final wash in sterile Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water containing timentin (tim) (150 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) the callus was dried rapidly on filter paper before culturing on solid N6D media (Appendix B) with hygromycin (hyg) (50 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) and tim (150 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) at 32 <sup>o</sup>C in the dark for two weeks. After two weeks, surviving healthy callus tissue was transferred to fresh N6D plates with further antibiotic selection.

#### 2.2.6 Plantlet regeneration and growth conditions

Calli that continued proliferating under selection were transferred to tissue culture plates containing solid REIII media (Appendix B) with the hormones naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) (0.05  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and kinetin (2.5  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and antibiotics, under light (~50  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) for shoot induction. Callus with healthy shoots were transferred to hormone free HF media (Appendix B) containing hyg (50  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and tim (150  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) to maintain selection, in tissue culture tubes, under a 12 h light/dark regime. Plantlets with healthy root and shoot systems were transferred to soil.

All media was washed thoroughly from the roots before plantlets were transferred to small 350 ml pots filled with Green Wizard® potting mix (Debco Pty Ltd, Victoria) in water filled trays where seedlings were 'hardened off' for 7 d. After 14 d, the seedlings were transferred to larger pots (2.8 L) with the pot base constantly submerged in water from transplant until plant maturity. The mix contained sufficient fertilizer for 4 months hence no additional fertilizer was added. Plants were grown in the PC2 greenhouse facility at Flinders University, South Australia under natural light between the months of August and January. Day length varied between 11 to 14 hours with min/max temperatures of 25 °C night and 29 °C day.

### 2.2.7 Histochemical GUS staining of transformed rice tissue

Callus transformed with Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS and Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS constructs were stained with X-gluc solution using a standard protocol for detecting colorimetric  $\beta$ -glucuronidase expression in plant tissues (Jefferson, 1987). The staining solution was made up of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl- $\beta$ -D-glucuronic acid (X-gluc) in dimethyl formamide (1 mg ml<sup>-1</sup>), Potassium ferricyanide (50  $\mu$ M) and Potassium ferrocyanide (50  $\mu$ M) in 0.1 M Sodium phosphate buffer with a drop of Triton X. Callus was immersed in the staining solution and vacuum infiltrated in a speed vac chamber for 2 min at 0.4 bar before incubating at 37 °C in the dark overnight. Plants regenerated from callus tissue transformed with *GUS* were grown until seed set and grain filling. Grains at ~15 DAA were cut longitudinally with a clean razor blade and anthers and leaf samples were collected and stained as described above for callus tissue.

#### 2.2.8 Southern blotting

For isolation of clean gDNA at high concentrations for Southern blotting (Southern, 1975), rice leaves were ground to a powder in a pre-chilled mortar and pestle under nitrogen and extracted with Cetyl trimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) (Ausubel, *et al.*, 1995). The finely ground tissue was added to preheated CTAB buffer (2% CTAB, 20 mM EDTA, 100 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1.4 M NaCl) with the addition of fresh  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol ( $\beta$ ME) (0.2%) just before use. Samples were vortexed then incubated at 60 °C for 45-60 min. After cooling, an equal volume of phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (P:C:I) (Sigma) was added and the sample mixed on a rotary shaker at RT for 20 min. Plant debris was pelleted by centrifuging at 3000 xg for 15 min. The supernatant was mixed with 0.6 volume of Isopropanol and gDNA precipitated overnight at -20 °C. After pelleting the gDNA at 3000 xg for 10 min at 4 °C,

pellets were washed with 80% EtOH and resuspended in TE buffer. RNA contamination was removed by incubating the sample with RNAse A (40  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) at 37 °C for 30 min. gDNA was re-precipitated using NaAc and EtOH as described previously. Samples of gDNA (10 µg) were cut with either *Hind*III or *Eco*RI. Fragments were separated by electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels, transferred to a Hybond N+ membrane (Amersham) by capillary transfer in neutral 10x SSC buffer overnight then fixed to the membrane by UV irradiation (Gene-linker, Biorad). Transfer was checked by incubating the gel post-transfer with GelRed (Biotum) and viewing under UV light. A 498 bp probe template for DIG labelling was amplified from Glb:HvSUT plasmid DNA by PCR (Appendix A, PCR 6). The probe DNA was labelled using random primed labelling with DIG-11-dUTP (DIG-High Prime labelling starter kit manual, Rosche). Optimum probe yield and concentration was determined by a dot blot comparing the probe to DIG labelled control DNA in a dilution series from 0.01 pg  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup> to 1 ng  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>. Prehybridization (50 °C, 2 h) and hybridization (68 °C, overnight) in DIG Easy Hyb buffer was followed by high stringency washes (final wash 0.1x SSC at 68 <sup>o</sup>C). Following the wash steps, the membrane was blocked with blotto (Maleic acid buffer; 0.1 M Maleic acid, 0.15 M NaCl adjusted to pH 7.5 with NaOH plus 5% skim milk powder) for 3 h at RT, incubated with DIG antibody (blotto plus 1:10,000 anti-digoxigenin-AP (75 mU ml-<sup>1</sup>) for 30 min and washed 2x for 15 min each with washing buffer (Maleic acid buffer plus 0.3% v/v Tween 20). After equilibrating the membrane in detection buffer (0.1 M Tris-HCl pH 9.5, 0.1 M NaCl) for 5 min the membrane was developed in CSPD ready-touse solution for chemiluminescent detection. Bands were imaged with a CCD camera (Chemidoc, Biorad).

Attempts to determine the copy number and integration site of the transgene copies in the rice genome using adapter ligation PCR (O' Malley *et al.*, 2007) gave unreliable and inconsistent results. Hence, only estimations of copy number are included in Table 2.3 while a description of the method, representative gel pictures and sequencing data have been summarized in Appendix C.

#### 2.2.9 Segregation analysis and leaf assay

Mature seeds from regenerated  $T_0$  rice plants were germinated on wet filter paper for one week, before being transferred to selection plates with hyg (50 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) to determine the number of resistant  $T_1$  progeny of each line. Seeds were dehusked and sterilized as described in section 2.2.5. After two weeks on selection media, seedlings were scored as resistant if their shoots were green and the roots had continued to grow, or sensitive if growth was stunted and the seedlings had failed to thrive under selection. A segregation ratio of 3 resistant: 1 sensitive was expected for plants containing 1 copy of the transgene. Any plants displaying any other ratios were scored as containing >1 transgene copy. A number of  $T_1$  plants were grown to maturity and the seeds collected for further segregation analysis to determine zygosity of putative  $T_1$  single copy, homozygous lines (100% survival of  $T_2$  on hyg = homozygous  $T_1$ ; 75% survival on hyg = heterozygous, 0% survival on hyg = null).

To support the segregation results, further segregation of  $T_1$  plants not grown on selection were analysed by leaf assays of plants in the late vegetative stage, according to the protocol outlined in Wang and Waterhouse (1997). Plates containing media made of MS salts pH 5.7, 0.5 mg l<sup>-1</sup> 6-benzyaminopurine (BAP) and hyg (100 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) solidified with 4% gelrite were prepared. Three leaves from each plant were cut 2cm from the tip and placed with the cut side embedded in the media. Each plate was divided into four sectors with each sector containing three leaves from three transformed plants, plus one sector containing three leaves from one control wild type (WT) plant. After 7 d, the leaf tips were scored as resistant if they were green with no sign of necrosis, while hyg sensitive leaf tips were necrotic with black or bleached stripes. Seeds from T<sub>1</sub> plants, including those identified as null segregants, that were used in the leaf assay were germinated on hyg (100 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>) to determine zygosity.

#### 2.2.10 Semi quantitative RT-PCR

The housekeeping gene, elongation factor 1 alpha ( $eEf1\alpha$ ), is expressed stably across different tissues and at different developmental stages in rice, and was determined by Jain et al. (2006) to be one of the most reliable internal standard for use in RT-PCR. To standardise expression,  $eEf1\alpha$  was amplified to compare relative expression of endogenous OsSUT1 and transgenic HvSUT1 transcripts. A pilot study for each gene (*eEf1a*, *OsSUT1* and *HvSUT1*) was performed to determine the linear range for the amplification of each gene fragment (Appendix D). Total RNA was extracted from 5 developing rice grains per plant, from the same position in each panicle of three biological replicates using a plant RNA extraction kit (Bioline). Samples were treated with DNase to remove DNA contamination and RNA quality was checked by agarose gel RNA concentration was estimated using a spectrophotometer electrophoresis. (Nanodrop 2000, Thermo Scientific) and equal amounts of RNA per sample was reverse transcribed with oligo(dT) primers using the iscript<sup>™</sup> cDNA synthesis kit (Biorad). RT-PCR using gene specific primers amplified a 103 bp fragment of  $eEf1\alpha$  (Appendix A, PCR 7), a 481 bp fragment of OsSUT1 (Appendix A, PCR 8) and a 325 bp fragment of the transgene HvSUT1 (Appendix A, PCR 9). The choice of intron spanning primers in  $eEf1\alpha$  and *OsSUT1*, plus a minus RT control was used to control for genomic DNA contamination in the cDNA samples. For comparison, 10  $\mu$ l of each PCR reaction was run on the same 1% agarose gel for each gene. Densitometry using Image Lab software (Biorad) was used to quantify the intensity (arbitrary units) of *OsSUT1* and *HvSUT1* bands relative to *eEf1* $\alpha$ .

# 2.2.11 Production of anti-HvSUT1 antibody and immunoblotting

A peptide targeting the putative solvent exposed loop region between the sixth and seventh membrane spanning helices of HvSUT1, AIAPLPTKANGQVEVEP was synthesized and conjugated to keyhole limpet haemocyanin (KLH) via the addition of a cysteine residue at the C-terminus (Auspep pty ltd). The choice of antigen for antibody production was limited due to the overall hydrophobicity of the protein and high homology (81.3%) with the endogenous rice SUT1 (Weschke *et al.*, 2000) (Fig. 1.3). Polyclonal antibody serum was produced in rabbits immunised subcutaneously following a standard 10.5 week dosing schedule (SAHMRI).

To partially purify the antibodies from rabbit serum, 0.5 volume of saturated  $NH_4SO_4$  was added, incubated on ice then centrifuged for 10 min at 14,000 xg at 4  $^{0}C$ . The protein pellet was dissolved in Sodium phosphate ( $Na_2HPO_4$ ) buffer pH 7.0 to the same original volume as the serum.

To improve the specificity of the antibody, the antiserum was further purified using affinity purification. To do this, Toyopearl Epoxy 650M (TOSOH) activated resin (0.25 g rehydrated in 4 ml of Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water to give a 1 ml resin volume) was resuspended to give a total volume of 4 ml in Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> buffer. The peptide antigen (3 mg synthesized with an additional N-terminal cysteine residue) was dissolved in 1 ml of Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> buffer and added to the resin to immobilize the peptide antigen to the resin via conjugation to the cysteine at the N terminus. After an overnight incubation on a rotating platform at RT, the resin was washed sequentially 3x with Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water, 3x with 1 M NaCl, 3x with Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water then mixed with 5 ml of 1 M ethanolamine to block free active sites. This mixture was then incubated with rocking overnight at RT then washed sequentially with 3x Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water, 3x 1 M NaCl then finally 3x with Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> buffer. The prepared resin was settled into a 1 cm diameter econocolumn (Biorad) and stored in Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> buffer at 4 <sup>o</sup>C until use.

The partially purified antiserum was passed through the column 3x then the column was washed 3x with Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> buffer. The bound IgGs were eluted with 5x 1 ml volumes of 0.15 M Glycine pH 2.3 then each fraction immediately neutralised with 100

µl of 1 M Tris pH 10.2. The presence of IgGs in the eluted fractions was tested and the concentration of HvSUT1 specific antibody was titrated against dilutions of the unconjugated peptide antigen by dot blot analysis to determine antibody dilution for use in immunoblotting (Appendix E).

Ten rice grains harvested from the tip of panicles at varying days after anthesis (DAA) were placed into 2 ml microtubes with a 5 mm stainless steel ball, frozen in liquid nitrogen (LN2) and ground for 30 sec using a Retsch mixer mill (MM400) at maximum vibrational frequency (30 Hz). These steps were repeated until the plant tissue was powdered and no large pieces were distinguishable. Crude total membrane proteins were extracted using the method of Furbank *et al.* (2001) as follows. A 1:4 volume of plant material to extraction buffer was added to each tube and vortexed vigorously. The extraction buffer was made up of 250 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 25 mM EDTA, 30% w/v sucrose and fresh 5 mM DTT with the addition of protease inhibitors (1 mM benzamidine, 5 mM  $\epsilon$ -aminocaproic acid, 2 mM leupeptin and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)). After centrifuging at 3000 xg for 10 min at 4 <sup>o</sup>C, the supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and centrifuged at 15,800 xg for 120 min at 4 <sup>o</sup>C to collect total membrane proteins. The protein pellet was resuspended in sample buffer made up of 50 mM HEPES buffer pH 7.5, 5 mM EDTA and 2 mM DTT with the addition of the same protease inhibitors as the extraction buffer.

Equal volumes of protein sample were loaded and separated by 12% SDS-PAGE before transfer onto nitrocellulose (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) by electro-blotting. Protein loading was determined either by incubating blots in Ponceau red or running duplicate samples on gels that were stained with either Coomassie blue or SYPRO® Ruby gel stain. After rinsing in Milli-Q® water, blots were blocked overnight at 4 <sup>o</sup>C in blotto (made with 1x TBS-T; 50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 0.05% v/v Tween 20 and 5% skim milk powder), incubated with HvSUT1 affinity purified primary antibody at a 1:500 dilution in blotto for 3 h at room temperature, washed 2x for 5 min each in TBS-T followed by incubation for 1 h with Goat anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase (HP) conjugated secondary antibody (Rockland Immunochemicals Inc.) diluted 1:5000 in blotto. After washing 3x for 5 min each, blots were developed in Western Star Chemiluminescent substrate (Biorad) and imaged with the Chemidoc CCD camera (Biorad).

Duplicate gels and blots were run to investigate protein expression of H<sup>+-</sup> ATPase proton pumps associated with SUT proteins. Blots were incubated with a commercial plasma membrane (PM) specific H<sup>+-</sup>ATPase polyclonal antibody (Agrisera) at a dilution of 1:1000. This antibody is reactive to a protein with a molecular weight of approximately 100 kDa in many plant species, including rice. This protein also serves as a marker to confirm the presence of PM proteins in total membrane protein samples.

#### 2.3 Results

### 2.3.1 Construction and verification of SUT-OE vectors for rice transformation

Amplification of rice gDNA with *Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub> specific primers resulted in four major bands (Fig. 2.1 A). Despite trying numerous PCR conditions, there were consistently three extra bands, two of higher and one of lower molecular weight, apart from the expected band at approximately 1000 bp. Therefore, the annealing temperature was chosen to give the highest concentration of the band at ~1 kb (Putative *Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub>), four aliquots run on the gel and the gel bands cut out under UV. The gel slices were combined and the DNA purified. The extracted DNA was run on an agarose gel to check for the presence of one band of the expected size (Fig. 2.1 B). The putative *Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub> PCR product was digested with *Spel* and *Ascl* and cloned into the MCS of pIPKb001 and the plasmid sequenced. Analysis of the position of the cut sites of *Spel* and *Ascl* in the MCS of pIPKb001 was examined by entering the MCS sequence into NEB Cutter V2.0 (http://tools.neb.com/NEBcutter2/ index.php). Sequencing across the junction of the ligation sites confirmed the correct orientation of the *Glb-1* promoter sequence into pIPKb001.

An analytical digest of pIPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub> with enzymes that cut either side of the MCS showed a distinct band at 1 kb, while this band was not present in the empty pIPKb001 plasmid, indicating the successful cloning of the *Glb-1* sequence into the MCS (Fig. 2.2 A). Another digest of binary plasmids containing the endosperm specific promoter (*Glb-1*) or the constitutive promoter (*Act-1*) with *Pst*I yielded 5 and 6 fragments, respectively, that ran at the correct sizes as predicted (NEBcutter V2.0) (Fig. 2.2 B).

To investigate the identities of the non-specific bands at approximately 750, 1500 and 3000 bp, a BLAST (Altschul *et al.*, 1990) of the primer sequences was performed against the rice genome. However, due to the short sequence, the number of hits were too numerous to draw any conclusions. However, a BLAST of the 981 bp


# Figure 2.1 Amplification and gel purification of *Glb-1* promoter sequence from rice gDNA.

(A) Rice gDNA extracted from seedlings was used as a template for amplification of the *Glb-1* promoter with primers specific to the region from -981 upstream of the rice globulin gene and containing *Spel* and *Ascl* restriction sites. Lane 1 to 4 represent aliquots of the same PCR reaction run on a preparative gel showing multiple non-specific bands. (B) The bands at ~1000bp were cut out of the gel and combined to isolate the putative *Glb-1* promoter sequence. (C) The MCS site into which the 981 bp PCR fragment was ligated (sequence and restriction sites from NEB Cutter V2.0) of the pIPKb001 vector and plasmids were confirmed by sequencing. MW marker is in bp.

#### Chapter 2



## Figure 2.2 Analytical restriction digests of destination plasmids used in *Agrobacterium* transformation of rice.

Cut sites and length of expected DNA fragments were determined using NEB Cutter V2.0 (<u>http://tools.neb.com/NEBcutter2/</u>). Glb-1<sub>pro</sub> fragment released after digestion indicated by a red arrow. MW markers in bp.

М	1 kb DNA Ladder	Μ	1 kb DNA Ladder
Lane 1	pIPKb001	Lane 1	pIPKb001:Glb <sub>pro</sub>
Lane 2	pIPKb001 cut with	Lane 2	pIPKb001:Glb <sub>pro</sub> cut with <i>Pst</i> I
	HindIII and Pmel	Lane 3	pIPKb003
Lane 3	pIPKb001:Glb <sub>pro</sub>	Lane 4	pIPKb003 cut with Pstl
Lane 4	pIPKb001:Glb <sub>pro</sub> cut with <i>Hind</i> III		
	and <i>Pme</i> l		

promoter sequence against the rice (Oryza sativa {japonica; taxid: 39947}) genome collection in the NCBI database (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) revealed multiple matching sequences. While the  $\sim 600$  bp region directly upstream of the gene was unique to the *Glb-1* promoter,  $\sim$ 380 bp of the 5' region at the start of the promoter sequence showed high homology to various sequences in all 12 of the rice chromosomes (Table 2.1). The target *Glb-1* promoter region of the gene for 26 kDa globulin in chromosome 5 was the only sequence that showed almost 100% identity to the 981 bp cloned *Glb*- $1_{pro}$  fragment. When the start position (24625415) was located on chromosome 5 (NC\_008405.2) the repeat region was located upstream of Os05g0499100, which was identified as the expected gene for 26 kDa globulin. An identity score of <100% was due to a one-base gap in the Glb- $1_{\text{pro}}$  sequence compared with chromosome 5 (24625721). This gap is not located in any *cis* regulatory sites in the promoter (-893 bp) therefore regardless of whether the gap was due to a publication error or polymorphism between japonica cultivars, promoter activity should not be affected. The presence of this highly homologous region in other chromosomes, such as 9 and 12 (Table 2.1), could explain the multiple non-specific bands that were consistently amplified with the *Glb-1* promoter specific primers in PCR of rice gDNA (Fig. 2.1 A).

# 2.3.2 Gateway® cloning of *HvSUT1* coding sequence into pIPKb expression vectors

Sequencing and PCR confirmed that the *HvSUT1* sequence in the HOSUT plasmid obtained from IPK, Germany was error free (data not shown). Due to the length and high Tm of the sequence-specific regions of attB primers used to amplify the barley *HvSUT1* cds from HOSUT plasmid DNA, PCR amplification required a period of optimisation. Final conditions included the modification of cycling conditions into a two-step PCR with both annealing and extension at the same temperature (72 °C). In addition, plasmid template concentration appeared to be crucial for PCR success (Fig. 2.3).

All colonies analysed after recombining the attB tagged HvSUT1 PCR product into pDONR221 contained the correct insert (Fig 2.4 A). Plasmid DNA extracted from a culture from one colony (pENTR221:HvSUT-6) was recombined with either the pIPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub> (Fig. 2.4 B) or pIPKb003 (Fig. 2.4 C) destination plasmids. Cloning appeared to be more efficient with the endosperm specific plasmid as all colonies that were screened by colony PCR were positive (Fig 2.4 B) while only four of the ten colonies screened from recombination with pIPKb003 were positive for *HvSUT1* (Fig

# Table 2.1Analysis of sequence matches between *Glb-1* gene promoter and the rice genome(Oryza sativa L. ssp. japonica)

Summary of BLAST results of the 380bp start of the 5' UTR of the 26kDa alpha globulin gene promoter with the rice genome.

Rice Chromosome	No. of matches	Maximum % Identity	Accession		
5	30	99	NC_008398.2		
9	7	96	NC_008402.2		
12	18	94	NC_008405.2		
7	23	87	NC_008400.2		
1	38	87	NC_008394.4		
4	19	87	NC_008397.2		
6	23	86	NC_008399.2		
3	32	87	NC_008396.2		
2	31	98	NC_008395.2		
11	20	85	NC_008404.2		
10	18	86	NC_008403.2		
8	21	87	NC_008401.2		



plasmid template (ng)



в

### Figure 2.3 Plasmid template and PCR optimisation to amplify *HvSUT1* coding sequence.

(A) Plasmid map of HOSUT plasmid (Weichert *et al.*, 2011) provided courtesy of Hans Weber, IPK Germany. The barley *HvSUT1* sequence circled in red (1967bp) was amplified by two-step PCR with primers containing the attB sites required for Gateway cloning. (B) Titrations of plasmid template in PCR gave a specific band of the correct size with an optimum 6 or 8 ng of plasmid DNA. MW markers in bp.



## Figure 2.4 PCR analyses of *E. coli* colonies growing on selection media after electroporation with Gateway® cloning products

Ten bacterial colonies growing on selection after transformation with Gateway® reactions between: (A) attB tagged HvSUT1 PCR products and pDONR221 BP reaction to produce entry plasmid pENTR221:HvSUT, (B) pENTR221:HvSUT and pIPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub> LR reaction to produce Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT and (C) pENTR221:HvSUT and pIPKb003 LR reaction to produce Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT. The 850bp PCR product confirms the presence of the *HvSUT1* gene. The original HOSUT plasmid was used as a positive control. (D) PCR of colonies growing on selection after LR reactions with control plasmid pENTR:GUS and destination plasmids. The 627bp PCR product confirms the presence of the *GUS* gene.

2.4 C). A small number of colonies generated from LR reactions with the destination plasmids and pENTR-GUS were also screened by PCR (Fig 2.4 D). Plasmids from a single colony on each plate that passed the PCR screening step (designated Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT-1, Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT-4, Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS-3 and Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS-3) were electroporated into *Agrobacterium* strain AGL1.

Plasmid copy number in *Agrobacterium* is low, therefore DNA yield was too low to be able to analyse the plasmids by digests. Hence, plasmids were electroporated back into *E. coli* (DH10B) and cells were grown to harvest DNA for analysis by PCR and restriction digest. PCR with gene specific primers on controls (empty destination vectors) yielded a number of non-specific bands while the expected band at 1000bp was amplified in Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT-1 and Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT-4 (Fig. 2.5, A). Figure 2.5 A and B shows analytical digests of plasmids obtained from transforming cells after LR reactions (lane 1) alongside digests of plasmids extracted from *Agrobacterium* and passaged through *E. coli* (lane 2), that are identical for Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT-1 (Fig. 2.5 B) and Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT-4 (Fig 2.5 C). Empty destination vectors cut with the same enzyme (lane 3) and no enzyme negative controls (lane 4) also gave the expected band sizes on the gel. These steps provided final proof of the identity of the SUT-OE plasmids that were used in plant transformation. AGL1 harbouring GUS containing constructs were used directly for rice transformation and the tissue specificity of expression was confirmed by a colorimetric GUS staining of rice tissues (section 2.3.4).

# 2.3.3 Transgenic plants regenerated with SUT-OE constructs

The callus used for *GUS* transformation was 2-3 weeks old, however due to the extra time required to clone *HvSUT1* successfully, callus that was finally used for transformation with *HvSUT1* was approximately 2 months old. After co-cultivation of callus tissue with AGL1 harbouring SUT-OE plasmids on hyg selection plates, very few calli survived and proliferated (Fig. 2.6 A). Healthy white callus continued to proliferate on shoot regeneration media, and healthy shoots and small roots were visible after a few weeks (Fig. 2.6 B). Rapid root growth was observed when plantlets were transferred to hormone free media (Fig. 2.6 C) and plants continued to grow without any obvious phenotype compared with WT plant seeds germinated and grown under the same conditions (Fig. 2.6 D). The time period for each phase of shoot and root regeneration was determined by when shoots or roots were observed, and varied between callus pieces. The total time on shoot regeneration media, roots grew rapidly





HvSUT1 specific PCR products derived from plasmids extracted from AGL1 transformed with constructs  $Glb_{pro}$ :HvSUT (A, Lane 1), Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT (A, Lane 2) and negative controls pIPKb001:Glb<sub>pro</sub> (A, Lane 3) and pIPKb003 (A, Lane 4). Plasmid DNA, extracted from AGL1 and re-transformed back in to *E. coli*, was extracted for characterisation by digestion with *Eco*RI. Patterns of bands after restriction digestion were identical to that of plasmid DNA first cloned into E.coli confirmed the identities of Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT (B) and Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT (C) in AGL1. Gels B and C show in Lane 1) digest of the original LR cloned plasmid with *Eco*RI, Lane 2) digest of the plasmid extracted from AGL1 and passaged through *E. coli* with *Eco*RI, Lane 3) digest of empty pIPKb plasmids and Lane 4) corresponding plasmids incubated with no enzyme (negative controls).

Figure 2.6Steps in rice callusinduction,tissuecultureregeneration of transgenic plants.

A) Rice callus growing on hyg that had been successfully transformed after infection with AGL1 harbouring SUT-OE plasmids proliferated and were white while untransformed callus became necrotic, turned brown and failed to grow. B) Callus from each transformation event (line) were separated and shoots regenerated on media with hormones and considered clones of each line. C) Although small roots appeared on the plantlets during shoot induction, roots grew prolifically on hormone free media and only plants with healthy root systems were transferred to soil. D) Plantlets transferred to soil were 'hardened off', to grow in glasshouse conditions in small pots submerged in water trays. Plants were transplanted to large 2.8L pots after two weeks and grown to maturity.



Scale bar represents 5mm.

and most plantlets were ready to be transferred to soil after 2 weeks. Although fewer calli were used for GUS transformation, transformation efficiencies for plants regenerated with GUS were much higher compared to plants transformed with HvSUT1 (Table 2.2). Moreover, more plants were regenerated after transformation with constructs containing the endosperm specific *Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub> compared with the constitutive *Act-1*<sub>pro</sub>. To confirm that all plants that regenerated contained the transgene, gDNA was extracted from immature leaf material and checked by PCR (Appendix A, PCR 4). Positive bands of the correct size indicated at least one copy of the transgene was present in each  $T_0$  plant (data not shown). Each  $T_0$  plant transformed with *HvSUT1* is identified by a code designated to describe the promoter, putative independent plant line and clone number. For example, the first plantlet derived from a callus transformed with the construct Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT was designated G1.1. Further plantlets that regenerated from that same piece of callus were designated G1.2, hence plant line 1, clone 2, and so on. A plant regenerated from a second piece of callus derived from a different seed was assigned G2.1. The same numbering convention was given to plants transformed with Act<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT, however those plants were designated A1.1 etc.

# 2.3.4 Specificity of promoters examined by GUS expression

Plants transformed with constructs containing Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS and Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS fusions were assayed for tissue specificity by incubating various tissues in X-gluc solution which is expected to produce a blue coloured product if the *uidA* gene is being expressed. The *Glb-1* promoter was expected to drive spatially specific expression of GUS only in the endosperm, while the *Act-1* promoter should drive GUS expression in all tissues constitutively. As expected, there was no GUS activity detected in untransformed callus (Fig. 2.7 A) and callus transformed with Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS (Fig. 2.7 B). However, GUS activity was detected in all tissues that were tested of rice plants transformed with Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS, with GUS staining seen as early as the callus stage (Fig. 2.7 C). Segregation of the Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS transgene could be seen in the anthers of T<sub>0</sub> transgenic plants (Fig. 2.7 D), as individual pollen grains were differentially stained various shades of blue, indicative of segregation of the transformed with Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS (Fig. 2.7 E). Rice grains from non-transgenic Nipponbare plants that were incubated with X-gluc as controls did not produce any blue product (Fig. 2.7 F). Rice grains from plants

# Table 2.2Transformation efficiency of rice regenerated after Agrobacterium transformationwith overexpression constructs.

Summary of results for transformation and regeneration of rice plants containing constructs for SUT-OE and GUS expression driven by the endosperm specific *Glb-1* or constitutive *Act-1* promoters from rice. Transformation efficiency is calculated as the no of regenerated  $T_0$  plants recovered and grown to maturity divided by the original no. of callus infected with AGL1 \* 100 (%).

Construct	Glb <sub>pro</sub> :HvSUT	Act <sub>pro</sub> :HvSUT	Glb <sub>pro</sub> :GUS	Act <sub>pro</sub> :GUS
Number of calli	135	147	50	50
lyg calli	78	89	35	29
s Hyg <sup>°</sup> calli	57	58	15	21
Callus survival %	58	61	70	58
Total T <sub>0</sub> plants	20	12	28	15
Transformation efficiency %	14.8	8.2	56	30
Putative $T_0$ lines	6	6	7	7



### Figure 2.7 GUS expression in various rice tissues driven by the *Glb-1* endosperm specific and *Act-1* constitutive promoters.

Representative images of tissues from non-transgenic control (WT) plants or from rice transformed with  $Glb_{pro}$ :GUS or Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS constructs after GUS staining showing GUS activity (blue stained tissue). The expression pattern across all tissues studied confirmed the specificity of the *Glb-1* promoter that drives endosperm specific gene expression in rice grain (G) but not in the callus (B), anthers (D), or leaves (J), while the constitutive *Act-1* promoter drives expression of GUS in callus (C), anthers (E), grain (H) and leaves (K). No GUS activity was detected in control WT callus (A), grain (F) and leaf (I).

transformed with either construct were stained blue, however the pattern of staining in the grain tissues differed between Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS (Fig. 2.7 G) and Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS (Fig. 2.7 H). There was no staining in the embryo of rice grains transformed with Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS (Fig. 2.7 G, grey arrow) while the embryo of rice grains transformed with Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS (Fig. 2.7 H, grey arrow) was stained a deeper blue than the endosperm. Small pieces of leaf tissue from non-transgenic and Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS transformed plants produced no blue colour, but there was visible blue staining, especially along the cut edges of the leaf. Slightly stronger blue staining in the scutellum of Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS grains indicated either expression of GUS in this tissue or leakage of blue pigment into this tissue layer. GUS intensity as well as distribution in the endosperm was also quite variable between different grains from different putative Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS transformed plants (Fig. 2.8). The scutellum and aleurone layers of some grains stained an intense blue (Fig. 2.8, A) while GUS activity was confined to the endosperm in most of the other rice grains (Fig. 2.8, B, C and D). However, none of the grains transformed with Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS showed any staining of the embryo or husks. GUS transformed plants were made and grown solely to test tissue specificity of the *Glb*- $1_{pro}$  and *Act*- $1_{pro}$  promoters in rice tissue in T<sub>0</sub>, hence no further characterization of these transformed plants was undertaken.

# 2.3.5 *HvSUT1* transgene inheritance and copy number of plant lines

Stable inheritance and copy number of the *HvSUT1* transgene in the  $T_1$  generation of transformed plants was examined by Southern blotting and hybridisation analysis. gDNA was extracted from representative hyg resistant plants from each putative line. In addition, putative clones of some lines were also investigated to determine whether individual plants regenerated from a single callus were identical. Southern blots of gDNA from immature  $T_1$  plants from putative *Glb-1* and *Act-1* SUT-OE lines hybridised with a *HvSUT1* gene specific probe, showed different patterns of hybridization (Fig. 2.9). This verified that one or more copies of the T-DNA had integrated into the genome of the transgenic plants and that it had been stably inherited in  $T_1$ . The hybridisation patterns also indicated that the putative plant lines were independent transformants. However, not all the putative clones were found to have the same hybridisation patterns when analysed by Southern blot. The plants G2.2 and G2.3 were regenerated from the same piece of callus, but gave differing banding patterns after hybridisation (Fig. 2.9 A). This indicates that these two plants



# Figure 2.8 GUS expression directed by *Glb-1* in developing rice grains from putative independently transformed plants.

Developing rice caryopses from plants transformed with  $Glb_{pro}$ :GUS constructs were harvested at approximately 15 DAA, cut in half longitudinally and incubated in X-gluc solution to analyse GUS activity and localization. Images A – D are four representative grains from four putative  $T_0$  plant lines. Note the differential staining of endosperm tissue in different rice grains.



## Figure 2.9 Southern blots to determine *HvSUT1* transgene copy number in independent transgenic lines and putative clones.

Blots are composite images of lanes with the lowest background, cut from different Southern blots to give a representative sample of the plant lines that were analysed for copy number. Results presented show gDNA that was digested with either EcoRI HF (Glb:HvSUT) or HindIII (Act:HvSUT), hybridized to a DIG labelled *HvSUT1* specific probe conjugated to Alkaline phosphatase and developed with a chemiluminescent substrate to detect bands. The number of copies of the *HvSUT1* transgene in each plant line is represented by the number of bands in each lane. WT gDNA was used as a negative control. MW marker is in bp.

arose from independent transformation events. Despite numerous attempts to optimise the hybridisation protocol by using varying amounts of DNA (10 to 20µg), varying the digestion conditions, optimising the transfer conditions, varying the hybridisation temperature and increasing or decreasing the probe concentration, blots either gave no bands, high background which sometimes obscured bands or indistinct bands making it difficult to interpret results. Therefore the copy number of transgenic lines was estimated from the best lanes from each blot (results summarised in Fig. 2.9) and further analysis of transgene copy number was estimated following hyg resistance in  $T_1$  plants.

Growth of  $T_1$  progeny under hyg selection (Fig 2.10, A) gave a range of segregation ratios. Selection plates with seeds from WT (left) and two Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT transgenic lines (centre and right) show distinct segregation patterns after 7 days. In addition, the plate on the right contains some albino plants which indicates that there were potentially somaclonal changes in plants from this line. Segregation results were further supported by the leaf assays for some of the plant lines (Fig 2.10, B). Leaf tips incubated on selection media (left image) developed distinct necrotic black streaks if sensitive to hyg compared with the healthy green tissue of plants resistant to the antibiotic (middle image). Typical results from one sensitive control plant and two resistant and one sensitive plant line can be seen on the right panel of Fig. 2.10.

A number of unfavourable phenotypes were observed at the seedling stage and during grain filling. Both plants designated G5 did not produce enough viable seed for further analysis. A proportion of the seedlings from lines G2 and G6 were albino (Fig. 2.10 A), while some A2.1 seedlings were variegated (Fig. 2.11 A). During grain filling, the seeds from plant A1.1 were observed to have an unusual phenotype. The palea and lemma did not fuse properly, so that the grain extruded out at the tip but the individual grains were large and appeared to mature normally although fewer grains on the panicle were filled compared to WT Nipponbare plants (Fig 2.11 B). All other plants grew and developed normally and were indistinguishable from WT plants grown under the same conditions (Fig. 2.11 C).

A summary of the copy number estimates from Southern blotting, seed germination and leaf assay segregation analyses for particular plant lines chosen for further analysis are presented in Table 2.3. Segregation ratios determined either by seed germination on hyg or leaf assays gave consistent results where there was data for those plant lines, however the bands in Southern blots did not always complement these results. For example, G3.1 appeared to have two bands in the Southern blot but segregated in a Mendelian fashion. A number of other lines also gave contradictory



# Figure 2.10 Segregation of rice seedlings on hyg selection media and leaf assays of $T_1$ transgenic plants.

(A) For seed segregation analysis, dehusked seeds were surface sterilized then placed on selection for 7 days before scoring ratios of resistant to sensitive plants. (B) For the leaf segregation analysis, leaves were incubated under constant light for 7 days on MS media with hyg. The middle panel of B shows a comparison of a leaf tip sensitive (top) and resistant (bottom) to hyg. The right panel in B shows a plate divided into four sections, each with replicate leaves from each plant (bottom left quarter with hyg sensitive control plants). Leaves sensitive to hyg showed distinct necrotic black streaks while resistant leaves remained green.

76



#### Figure 2.11 Phenotypes of rice plants transformed with SUT-OE vectors.

The range of phenotypes observed from transforming rice with the *HvSUT1* transgene included A) developing rice grains at late grain filling from plant A1.1 showing unusual phenotype, B) variegation in some seedlings from line A2.1. However, the majority of plants from the remaining regenerated lines grew without any apparent phenotypic differences to WT Nipponbare under greenhouse conditions (C) and most produced viable seed for further analysis.

# Table 2.3Summary of copy number in rice lines transformed with SUT-OE constructs chosenfor analysis

Transgene copy number estimated by segregation of seedlings on hyg, segregation of plants by rice leaf assay and Southern blot of HvSUT1 in T<sub>1</sub> progeny.

Plant line. (T <sub>0</sub> )	T <sub>1</sub> segregation on Hyg			X <sup>2</sup> value	T₁ Hyg leaf assay			X <sup>2</sup> value	Southern Blot	Copy No.
	Total	Hyg <sup>R</sup>	Hyg <sup>s</sup>		Total	Hyg <sup>R</sup>	Hyg <sup>s</sup>			
G1.4	29	25	4	1.94*	30	25	5	1.11*	1	1
G3.1	32	24	8	0*	26	16	10	2.51*	2	2
G6.2	29	$22^{+}$	7	0.01*	17	9	8	4.41	2	2
A2.3	29	21	8	0.10*	4	4	0	nd	1	1^
A5.1	29	19	10	1.39*	4	3	1	nd	1	1^

+ 17 seedlings normal healthy green, 5 albino

<sup>^</sup> T<sub>2</sub> plants grown for analysis were heterozygous and still segregating

nd not determined because sample size too small

\* accept the null hypothesis, data fits 3:1 segregation ratio, 1 d.f., p<0.05

results between these two methods of copy number analysis (Appendix F). Moreover, putative clones for some of the plant lines did not have the same patterns of bands in Southern blotting (e.g. G1.1 and G1.4; G2.2 and G2.3) and segregation results were not consistent between clones.

Based on the copy number results and overall phenotype, a number of lines were chosen for analysis. Given the indistinct Southern blot images, especially for the  $Glb_{pro}$ :HvSUT lines, plant lines that behaved as single copy lines as determined by segregation analysis were grown on to obtain further generations of plants. The limited number of plant lines estimated to have one copy of the *HvSUT1* transgene constrained the choice of plants for further study. Lines G1.4 and G3.1 were estimated to have one or two copies by Southern blot, but segregated in a Mendelian fashion. Hence populations of homozygous plants derived from T<sub>2</sub> seeds that gave 100% germination on hyg were grown for analysis. All A2.3 and A5.1 T<sub>1</sub> SUT-OE plants grown to maturity were estimated to be heterozygous by leaf assay, therefore segregating A2.3 and A5.1 T<sub>2</sub> populations grown for further analyses were either hetero- or homozygous. Non-transgenic greenhouse grown Nipponbare (WT), or in later generations null segregants (NT) from selfed transgenic plants were grown as controls.

# 2.3.6 *HvSUT1* transcript and protein expression in transgenic plants

Semi quantitative RT-PCR derived from RNA extracted from developing caryopses of lines G1.4, G3.1, A2.3 and A5.1 T<sub>2</sub> plants at 8 DAA showed that *HvSUT1* was expressed in both leaf and grain tissue when driven by the constitutive *Act-1* promoter, but also with the endosperm specific *Glb-1* promoter (Fig. 2.12). In grain tissue, endogenous *OsSUT1* expression was consistent amongst all plant lines. In contrast, transgenic *HvSUT1* transcript expression was significantly higher than the *eEf1a* control transcript; lowest in line G1.4 (1.5 fold) and the highest in G3.1 (6.5 fold). Both *Act-1*<sub>pro</sub> driven constitutive lines had approximately the same level of *HvSUT1* expression (4 fold compared to *eEf1a*). In general, the *HvSUT1* transgene was expressed more highly than the endogenous *SUT1* at 8 DAA.

In leaf tissue, the presence of *OsSUT1* transcript was expected, however *HvSUT1* transcript was also amplified at approximately the same level ( $\sim 1$  fold) in the *Glb-1* driven lines. This was unexpected as this endosperm specific promoter appeared to drive GUS specifically in the grain (section 2.3.4) and previous studies had



#### Figure 2.12 Endogenous and transgenic SUT1 transcript expression in grain and leaf

Expression levels of endogenous OsSUT1 and transgenic HvSUT1 genes expressed as fold change relative to housekeeping gene  $eEF1\alpha$ . RNA was extracted from developing grains (8 DAA) from plants transformed with HvSUT1 driven by endosperm specific *Glb-1* (A) or constitutive *Act-1* (B) promoters and leaf samples from the same plants (C and D respectively). Values are means of three replicates + SD. Significant difference according to t-test between comparative plant lines \*\*\* p<0.001

demonstrated its specificity in rice tissues. In contrast, the *Act-1* driven lines had very low endogenous *SUT1* expression in leaf tissue but 2 fold change in *HvSUT1* transcript relative to the housekeeping internal standard *eEf1* $\alpha$  which could indicate some interaction between endogenous and transgenic *SUT1* expression.

Immunoblots of crude total membrane protein preparations from rice grains at grain filling probed with the anti-HvSUT1 antibody gave a band at the predicted molecular weight of HvSUT1 (~55 kDa) in G1.4 and A2.3 lines (Fig. 2.13, A). The 55 kDa band was absent in the non-transgenic control protein samples, but was more prominent in the G1.4 protein samples compared with membrane proteins from line A2.3. However another prominent non-specific high molecular weight band (~68 kDa) also cross reacted with the antibody. The band at 68 kDa persisted in all immunoblots on rice membrane proteins probed with anti-HvSUT1, including proteins prepared from non-transgenic plants. This unidentified protein appeared to be expressed consistently between replicates and plant lines.

Leaf protein samples probed with the anti-HvSUT1 antibody showed high cross reactivity to many non-specific proteins in the sample (Fig 2.13 B). No clear band was detected at 55 kDa for either the  $Glb-1_{\rm pro}$  or the  $Act-1_{\rm pro}$  driven lines. Instead, approximately 6 bands of varying molecular weight (from 30 to 100 kDa) were present for each sample, including the negative controls.

Immunoblots with the commercial anti-H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase antibody detected a band at the correct size (100 kDa) but also cross reacted with lower molecular weight bands between 58 to 68 kDa in both grain (Fig. 2.14 A).and leaf samples (Fig. 2.14 B). The non-specific bands did not seem to interfere with detection of the target protein, hence further immunoblot images are presented showing only the bands of interest. Expression of the proton pump H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase did not change relative to HvSUT1 expression in T<sub>2</sub> plants (Fig. 2.14 C). At 10-12 DAA, there was strong expression of HvSUT1 protein in G1.4 compared with much lower protein expression in A2.3 rice grains. Protein samples from NT controls showed no band cross reacting with anti-HvSUT1 at 55 kDa. The same protein samples probed with anti-H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase antibody showed consistent H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase protein expression in all biological replicates of NT and G1.4 plants. Although increased levels of HvSUT1 protein were found in the transgenic line, there was no effect on H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase protein accumulation.

Total membrane proteins were extracted from a number of other *Glb-1* SUT-OE transgenic lines to determine whether copy number of the *HvSUT1* transgene correlated with higher protein expression (Fig. 2.15 A). Immunoblots of developing



## Figure 2.13 Immunoblots of grain and leaf proteins probed with anti-HvSUT1 antibody.

Total crude plasma membrane protein samples from grain (A) and leaf (B) of 3 biological replicates from each line were run on 12% SDS PAGE gels, transferred to nitrocellulose and probed with affinity purified anti-HvSUT1 (1:500), followed by Goat anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase HP conjugated secondary antibody (1:5000). Blots were visualized using a chemiluminescent substrate and 1 sec exposures captured with a CCD camera. Pre-stained markers were imaged with white light and aligned with chemiluminescent images to determine molecular weights of bands. Duplicate grain protein samples were run on a gel and stained with SYPRO® Ruby (Life Technologies) to indicate protein loading. MW of proteins in kDa.



# Figure 2.14 Immunoblots of grain and leaf proteins probed with $H^+$ -ATPase commercial antibody.

H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase protein expression in grain (A) and leaf (B) samples and compared with expression of HvSUT1 protein in grain (C). 3 biological replicates from each line were run on 12% SDS PAGE gels, transferred to nitrocellulose and probed with commercial anti-H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase(1:5000) or HvSUT1 as previously described, followed by Goat anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase HP conjugated secondary antibody (1:5000). Blots were visualized using a chemiluminescent substrate and 1 sec exposures captured with a CCD camera. Pre-stained markers were imaged with white light and aligned with chemiluminescent images to determine molecular weights of bands. MW of proteins in kDa.



# Figure 2.15 HvSUT1 expression in independent Glb<sub>pro</sub> SUT-OE lines and changes in protein expression during grain filling

Immunoblot images showing only the band of interest at 55kDa (HvSUT1) with Ponceau staining of total protein as loading controls. (A) A number of different transgenic lines carrying various copies of Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT transgene were analysed for HvSUT1 protein expression at early and late grain filling. (B) An immunoblot of membrane proteins prepared from immature grains of line G1.4 from 4, 5, 7, 10 and 11 days after anthesis shows changes in HvSUT1 protein expression compared with membrane proteins extracted from line A2.3.

grains of lines G2.1, G3.1 and G4.1 containing potentially 4, 2 and >5 copies respectively, probed with anti-HvSUT1 at early (7 DAA) and late (20 DAA) grain filling suggested that higher copy number did not equate with greater levels of HvSUT1 protein. While G3.1 (estimated to have 2 transgene copies) had high expression of HvSUT1 protein at both time points, detectable amounts of HvSUT1 was only seen at the later time point for G2.1 (4 copies). Despite the higher predicted number of copies of HvSUT1 in G4.1 (>5), no protein was detectable by immunoblot at either 7 or 20 DAA.

The *Glb-1* SUT-OE line G1.4 was investigated further for variable HvSUT1 protein expression at crucial time points in early grain development (Fig 2.15 B). There was low but detectable HvSUT1 expression at 4 DAA. This was followed by increased protein expression at 5 and 7 DAA. Expression is higher again at 10 DAA and remains high at 11 DAA. In comparison, HvSUT1 protein expression in line A2.3 remained consistently low between 4 and 8 DAA.

#### 2.4 Discussion

A large number of factors were taken into account to achieve maximum success in transformation, however biological systems do not always behave predictably in each situation. Despite the commonplace protocols that have been developed for rice transformation, the number of independent transgenic lines regenerated in this study was quite low relative to transformation efficiencies of 50 and 85% reported in Aldemita and Hodges (1996) and Hiei *et al.* (1997) respectively. The higher efficiency of transformation with GUS compared to HvSUT1 in the present study could be related to the age of the callus used for transformation. Callus at two weeks would have much higher active cell division than callus maintained for two months on media (Toki et al., 2006). Therefore, the earlier infection of the callus with the GUS constructs could be the reason for the higher percentage of plants transformed with GUS compared with SUT-OE vectors. Furthermore, a gene such as HvSUT1 that is central to carbon metabolism could potentially exert a strong selective pressure if expressed or leaky expression occurs in callus tissue. Generally, the lower efficiencies of transformations with  $Act-1_{pro}$  compared with  $Glb-1_{pro}$  fusion constructs support this supposition. Hygromycin resistance from the *hpt* gene driven by the constitutive *ZmUbi* promoter can also be a cause of strong negative selection. The damaging effects of transgene expression in rice cells could thus account for the modest number of transformants obtained in the present study, and could explain the differences in transformation

efficiencies observed between the constructs containing  $Act-1_{pro}$  and the  $Glb-1_{pro}$  fusion constructs.

Histochemical GUS staining of plant tissues from rice transformed with the Glb<sub>pro</sub>:GUS construct demonstrated that the cloned promoter sequence was functional and drove transgene expression in the endosperm. This promoter sequence did not drive GUS expression in other rice tissues, therefore we can conclude that it was grain specific, although the assay was not sensitive enough to determine if expression was only in the endosperm. Detailed analysis and sequencing of the amplified and cloned *Glb-1* promoter sequence used in this rice transformation unequivocally confirmed that it contained all the regulatory regions required for strong endosperm specific expression in rice. In comparison, plants transformed with the Act<sub>pro</sub>:GUS construct expressed GUS in all tissues, as expected for a constitutive promoter. The 26 kDa globulin gene is encoded by a single copy gene and expressed specifically in endosperm (Qu and Takaiwa, 2004; Wakasa et al., 2011). However, analysis of the 981 bp promoter region revealed homologous conserved regions in multiple positions in all chromosomes of the rice. Deletions of the promoter approximately 300 bp upstream of the gene in some cereal storage protein sequences caused a loss of specificity in gene expression (Takaiwa et al., 1996; Wu et al., 1998). However, in this case the homology is in the first 380 bp of the promoter region and includes repeat AT-rich regions that are thought to contain potential cis-elements for transcriptional activation of genes. Indeed, this 5' flanking region in rice *Glb-1* shares consensus sequences with Albumin, another seed storage protein (Nakase et al., 1996). GUS expression driven by the rice promoter *GluB-1* was decreased when the AT-rich region in the distal 5' flanking region was deleted (Takaiwa et al., 1996). It is thought that the deletions caused the loss of the AT-rich regions necessary for transcriptional activation of gene expression. These homologous regions are also present in other promoters of the multigenic cereal storage protein families (Nakase *et al.*, 1996). This indicates that these regions are essential for functional activity of these promoters. It was therefore unavoidable that other non-specific regions were amplified in this attempt to isolate the entire *Glb-1* promoter sequence from rice genomic DNA.

Exhaustive analysis of the cloned gene sequences by PCR, analytical restriction digests and sequencing in all the Gateway cloning steps confirmed the amplification and recombination of the *HvSUT1* transgene into the pENTR and pDEST plasmids was complete and error free. Transgenic plant lines were successfully generated from the molecular cloning and transformation of rice callus tissue with constructs containing *HvSUT1* driven by the endosperm specific rice *Glb-1* or rice *Act-1* constitutive promoter.

Selection on antibiotic selection media ensured the presence of at least one copy of the construct. Molecular analysis and segregation of the rice lines determined putative transgene copy number in each transgenic line. Copy number estimates using each analysis method were not always comparable. A number of explanations for this disparity in copy number can be proposed. Southern blotting, normally the most reliable in copy number analysis for transgenic plants, did not give as clear results as expected. The high background and absence of clear bands made copy number difficult to estimate in some plant lines. Although the blots were washed under high stringency conditions, overestimation of copy number due to non-specific hybridisation of the DIG-labelled probe cannot be ruled out. Segregation analysis, the other commonly used method for copy number determination, can also give unreliable estimates in transgenic plant lines. This could be due to a number of reasons including integration patterns of transgenes in the host genome and the instability transgenes can introduce into a plant genome, particularly in the early generations. T-DNA insertions through Agrobacterium transformation arise through illegitimate recombination (Mayerhofer et al., 1991) and can result in unintended rearrangements of the plant genome as well as recombination in the actual T-DNA strand upon integration (Gheysen et al., 1987; 1991). Complicated arrangements of tandem repeats of transgenes can give unexpected segregation patterns on selection (Stahl *et al.*, 2002). Although segregation analysis relies on the assumption that transgenes are inherited according to Mendelian laws, complex recombination events within transformed plants over generations could add confusion to the observed ratios of plant progeny. Nevertheless, segregation analysis is widely used in most transgenic plant studies to estimate copy number, hence plants that behaved as single copy lines on selection in the present study were grown for further analysis, although the Southern blots may indicate more than one copy. Seeds from transgenic plants were germinated on hyg, therefore ensuring that plants raised for analysis contained at least one copy of the transgene.

High expression of *HvSUT1* relative to the endogenous *OsSUT1* transcript was measured in grain tissues in each of the two *Glb-1* and *Act-1* lines, establishing that the *HvSUT1* transgene was active in that tissue. *HvSUT1* transcript was also detected in *Act-1* driven leaf tissue. Although the *Glb-1* promoter is supposed to be endosperm specific, *HvSUT1* transcript was also unexpectedly detected at the same levels as *OsSUT1* in leaf tissue of plants transformed with the Glb<sub>pro</sub>:HvSUT construct. Amplification of *eEf1a* and *OsSUT1* with intron spanning primers did not indicate gDNA contamination therefore this result was unexpected. Qu and Takaiwa (2004) reported that *GUS*, driven by the endosperm specific 10 kDa prolamin promoter, was also detected in leaf tissue. However, when the Nos terminator (*Nos*T) was replaced with a short non coding sequence from the native gene after the stop codon, promoter specificity was restored. The gene construct used in this study fused the *Glb-1* promoter upstream of the *HvSUT1* coding sequence but was terminated by *Nos*T from *A. tumefacians*. Likewise, Wu *et al.* (1998a) and Qu and Takaiwa (2004) reported some weak GUS activity in rice leaf and stem tissue of plants transformed with constructs containing the *Glb-1* promoter and *Nos*T. There have been no reports that the tissue specificity of the *Glb-1* promoter is affected by the terminator sequence, however it is possible that termination by a foreign sequence could result in leaky expression. Furtado *et al.* (2008) however, also used *Nos*T in their rice transformation constructs, but did not report any non-specific gfp expression in other tissues when *gfp* was driven by the *Glb-1* promoter. Given that the same promoter and terminator sequences were used in all these studies, the difference between them could possibly be explained by the differences in mobility and background signals inherent in the reporter proteins GUS and gfp (de Ruijter *et al.*, 2003) rather than the specificity of the *Glb-1* promoter.

A number of non-specific bands were always evident in immunoblots using the synthesized anti-HvSUT1 antibody. However, these non-specific bands were present in non-transgenic as well as transgenic protein samples. It was very clear in rice grain protein samples that transgenic rice transformed with *HvSUT1* was expressing HvSUT1 protein. The possibility exists that anti-HvSUT1 could be cross reacting with the endogenous OsSUT1 but given the following argument, that seems unlikely. The 17 amino acid peptide sequence synthesized for antibody production was chosen as it showed low similarity with OsSUT1 in a sequence alignment. Moreover, there was consistently no signal at  $\sim$ 55 kDa for any of the non-transgenic samples compared with the transgenic samples, which indicates the antibody was selective for HvSUT1 at 55 kDa. Non-specific bands were also detected in blots probed with the commercial anti-H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase antibody. A possible explanation for the non-specificity of both antibodies could be related to the quality of the protein samples. Grain samples prepared for immunoblotting included the lemma and palea as well as the grain pedicels. Also, other membrane proteins from the mitochondria and vacuoles were not excluded using this technique. Crude rice leaf membrane protein samples are likely to contain a diverse range of proteins (Islam *et al.*, 2004) therefore signal from the relatively low expression of HvSUT1 in leaves could be masked by the higher abundance of cross reactive proteins in the sample or by contaminating compounds, such as phenolics. Unfortunately no HvSUT1 protein was able to be detected in leaf tissue using the anti-HvSUT1 antibody. One of the most abundant proteins likely to be found in

photosynthetic tissue is ribulose 1.5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RuBisCo). Rice RuBisCo large subunit (rbcL) (P0C512, UniProt) is estimated to be ~53 kDa, which is very close in size to HvSUT1 protein (55kDa). The brief spin prior to loading the SDS-Page gels was not enough to remove highly abundant RuBisCo from leaf protein samples, therefore it is likely rbcL was masking the detection of the much less abundant HvSUT1 protein. Hence it could not be determined whether the *Act-1* SUT-OE lines were expressing HvSUT1 protein constitutively. Given more time, optimising the purification of plasma membranes through methods such as dextran-polyethylene glycol two-phase partitioning (Santoni, 2007) could remove contaminating proteins, allowing the detection of HvSUT1 in leaf tissue immunoblots to clarify this issue.

Tentative copy number of transgenes in independent *Glb-1* driven lines did not correlate with levels of protein expression in rice grains. Introduction of a transgene similar to an endogenous gene may result in co-suppression of both genes (Hobbs et al., 1993). This could explain the transgenic plant line G4.1, estimated to have 4 or 5 transgene copies, but with undetectable levels of HvSUT1 protein in developing grains at either 7 or 20 DAA. Another plant line, G2.1 with an estimated 4 copies of *HvSUT1*, had detectable levels of HvSUT1 protein at 20 DAA but not at 7 DAA which suggests that the *Glb-1* promoter in this line was active at a later stage of grain filling. In contrast, HvSUT1 protein expression in lines G3.1 and G1.4 were detected at all the time points investigated. There was also no clear relationship between transgene expression and protein levels in the transgenic lines studied at early grain filling. Higher levels of *HvSUT1* transcript in G3.1 and both *Act-1* driven lines compared to G1.4 did not equate to higher signals for SUT1 protein detected in immunoblots for those lines. Instead, there was more abundant HvSUT1 protein in G1.4 compared to A2.3. These findings are consistent with other studies in wheat (Bagnall *et al.*, 2000) and peas (Rosche *et al.*, 2002) where presence of *SUT1* transcript did not match with SUT1 protein. Like those studies, there must be some translational control in regulation of SUTs in these rice plants, although the mechanism has not been elucidated. Unfortunately the position of transgene integration into the genome of each of the plant lines could not be determined, however, this could also contribute to the variability in transgene expression between lines.

Plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase activity provides crucial energy for secondary transport of many compounds and ions in plant cells (Morsomme and Boutry, 2000). There is evidence that activity of PM H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase is regulated by changes in the apoplast such as varying sugar concentration and pH (Portillo *et al.*, 2000). Activation of the PM H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase is also thought to be involved in cellular expansion in plants (Morsomme

and Boutry, 2000). Experimental evidence from A. thaliana indicates that phosphopeptides of the two most abundant H<sup>+</sup>-ATPases increased with increasing sugar supply and plasma membrane vesicles supplied with sucrose showed greater proton pumping activity (Niittyla et al., 2007). For these reasons, we might have anticipated changes in H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase protein levels in the transgenic lines overexpressing *HvSUT1*. However, compared to the NT plants, G1.4 plants with high expression of HvSUT1 protein did not have any greater abundance of H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase. Other studies suggest that the abundance of H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase protein isoforms in plants is relatively constant despite changes in cytosolic conditions and it is the activity of proton pumps changed through signal activation rather than bulk changes in protein abundance affecting H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase activity (Gaxiola *et al.*, 2007). In addition, changes in the pump's activation state through enzyme activation of regulatory regions in the N- or Cterminus and high turnover of H+-ATPase protein can affect activity (Portillo et al., 2000). Indeed, AHA1 and AHA2, members of the Arabidopsis PM H+-ATPase family are identified as ion homeostasis housekeeping genes and are expressed in all tissues. This could explain the lack of any noticeable difference in abundance of H+-ATPase protein in immunoblots comparing control and transgenic lines. Instead, functional assays would need to be carried out to detect any measurable differences in proton pump activity.

Some transgenic rice plants in this study showed interesting phenotypes after regeneration with the HvSUT1 transgene. Somaclonal variation has been widely reported in tissue culture and can occur through epigenetic changes that may be induced by steps in culturing plant tissues (Kaeppler et al. 2000; Miyao et al., 2012). A detailed study by Sun et al. (1983) of somaclonal variations in populations of rice regenerated from callus culture identified a wide range inherited traits such as multiploidy, dwarfism, awned grains and chloroplast mutations resulting in albinism or variegation. Some of the lines generated in this study showed potential evidence of somaclonal variations, such as albinism and variegation. The frequency of certain mutations in rice plants regenerated from callus is apparently quite high and can be transmitted through to a number of generations (Oono, 1985). DNA from sibling plants regenerated from the one callus can also show totally different Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms (RFLPs) therefore Muller et al. (1990) have described calli as being a "genetic mosaic". This supports the findings in this study that some of the putative 'clones' regenerated from single callus pieces may have arisen from heterogeneous calli as they did not contain the same pattern of transgene integration.

This study did not investigate the effect of overexpressing *HvSUT1* on the other four rice *SUT* genes. All five *SUTs* are expressed in the developing grain, although their expression patterns differ dramatically (Aoki *et al.*, 2003). All genes other than *SUT1* express from 1 DAA, while *SUT1* is not detected until 3 DAA, with peaks in expression at 5 and 7 DAA. Since the functional roles of the other SUT proteins in rice have not been well studied, they could very well show significantly changed expression patterns in these transgenic plants. We cannot rule out that there have been unintended effects on the expression of the other SUT genes in these plants. Further work is required on the effect of overexpressing *HvSUT1* on the other four endogenous SUT genes in these transgenic rice lines.

This chapter has described the generation and characterisation of numerous rice lines overexpressing the barley *HvSUT1* gene driven either by the *Glb-1* endosperm specific or *Act-1* constitutive promoter. RT-PCR and immunoblots have shown that these plants express transgenic *HvSUT1* RNA and HvSUT1 protein. Putative homozygous *Glb-1* SUT-OE and sibling NT lines and heterozygous *Act-1* SUT-OE plant lines have been chosen for further analysis of the effects of *HvSUT1* overexpression on nutrition, growth and yield of rice plants. The results from these analyses will address the hypotheses of this study.

# Temporal and spatial changes in mineral nutrients in rice grains overexpressing *HvSUT1*

#### 3.1 Introduction

Micronutrient deficiencies in humans are responsible for high rates of disease and illness worldwide, particularly in developing countries where dietary limitations due to poverty limits the intake of more nutrient rich foods (Welch and Graham, 2002). Cereal staples, and rice in particular, are very low in essential mineral nutrients such as zinc (Zn) and iron (Fe). Moreover, processing of rice by polishing can remove 60 to 80% of the nutrients which are concentrated in the outer bran layers of the grain (Hansen *et al.*, 2012). Conventional means of micronutrient biofortification through plant breeding and nutrient fertilizer application has had varying success in cereal crop species (Gregorio, 2002; Ghandilyan *et al.*, 2006). The natural genetic potential of cereals is limited and breeding new crop varieties through successive rounds of crossing and trait selection is laborious and lengthy. Nutrient fertilization can increase nutrients in cereals however this strategy is not sustainable and negative effects from fertilizer overuse has been well documented (Rengel, 1999). It is therefore imperative to research novel approaches to biofortify cereal crops, such as rice, with enhanced nutrients for future food production.

Molecular genetic strategies can be used to manipulate and enhance plant processes to promote desirable characteristics in cereals. Attempts to increase Zn and Fe in rice endosperm through transgenic means have focused on overexpressing genes for metal chelators and transporters. For example, numerous researchers have introduced ferritin, a strong Fe chelator, into grains to create a stronger storage sink (Goto et al., 1999; Drakakaki et al., 2000; Vasconcelos et al., 2003; Qu et al., 2005; Sivaprakash *et al.*, 2006). Genes for metal transporters such as nicotianamine synthase (*NAS*) and yellow stripe-like (*YSL*) proteins have been overexpressed in rice to increase Zn and Fe two to three fold in the grain (Lee *et al.*, 2009; Masuda *et al.*, 2009; Johnson *et* al., 2011). Wirth et al. (2009) and Masuda et al. (2012) stacked multiple genes involved in storage, transport and break-down of anti-nutrients (phytate) to increase Fe in the endosperm by up to six times more than that found in wild type (WT). Corresponding increases in Fe can result in increasing the expression of non-target endogenous genes critical in mineral nutrient transport (Wang et al., 2013). Unfortunately, many metal transporters are not specific but can also have a high affinity for heavy metal contaminants such as cadmium (Cd) (Ishimaru *et al.*, 2012). Some metal chelators for Zn and Fe, such as NRAMP5, have been shown to transport Cd in the phloem where

they are transported and then loaded into the rice grain (Yoneyama *et al.*, 2010; Ishimaru *et al.*, 2012). The heavy metal transporters HMA2 and HMA4, which are localized to the plasma membrane, are known to transport both Zn and Cd (Colangelo and Guerinot, 2006). Increases in toxic metals in edible portions of transgenic grains could be an undesirable side effect of specifically increasing metal transport proteins to increase grain micronutrients. Therefore, despite success in strategies leading to increased mineral nutrient concentration in cereal grains, alternative approaches for transgenic biofortification of cereals should also be explored.

As well as nutrient concentration, the spatial distribution of mineral nutrients in cereal grains has been an area of great interest especially with the development of sensitive techniques that can visualize elements in situ. Staining grains with metal specific dyes has previously shown that Zn and Fe are distributed mainly in the bran (Ozturk et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2007) however these techniques do not allow visualization of tissue specific localization of multiple elements. New techniques such as Synchotron XFM, NanoSIMs and LA ICP-MS have now been used to generate more detailed images of mineral distribution in grain tissues. These techniques confirm that the outer bran layers and the embryo is especially rich in mineral nutrients with very little penetrating into the inner endosperm (Lombi et al., 2009; Moore et al., 2010; 2011; Wu *et al.*, 2013). The distribution of minerals correlates with the higher amount of gene transcript for mineral transport and storage in the aleurone compared with the endosperm (Tauris et al., 2009). The paucity of transcripts for metal transporters in the endosperm also explains why endosperm cells either do not have or have very little metal transport activity (Tauris *et al.*, 2009). Higher levels of phytate (Iwai *et al.*, 2012) and protein bodies (Prom-u-thai et al., 2008) primarily in the embryo and aleurone are also associated with the tissue localization of mineral elements. Nutrient flow within the endosperm is limited to the relatively slow and inefficient diffusion of solutes through the plasmodesmata connecting adjacent endosperm cells while the aleurone is a site of active transport processes. This could account for the decreasing gradient of sucrose (Smyth et al., 1988; Pearson et al., 1996), storage proteins (Del Rosario et al., 1968; Ellis, et al., 1987) and minerals (Lombi et al., 2009; Lombi et al., 2011) from the periphery of the grain aleurone towards the starchy endosperm in the grain centre. This decreasing nutrient gradient towards the grain centre is especially critical in determining nutrient availability in rice as the outer aleurone, and hence most of the nutrition, is removed with polishing.

Sucrose accounts for 17-25% w/v of the solutes transported in rice phloem (Fukumorita and Chino, 1982), therefore the strength of the grain sink for sucrose

could influence the transport of minor assimilates such as minerals and amino acids. Sucrose uptake into plant cells is controlled through Sucrose-H<sup>+</sup> symporter (SUT) proteins located in the plasma membrane (PM) that drive active uptake of sucrose from the apoplastic space into the cell. Most recently SWEET proteins have been identified as the likely candidate protein for sucrose efflux into the apoplasm (Chen *et al.*, 2012) although the role of these proteins in the grain has yet to be confirmed. The energy to drive sucrose uptake is provided by a proton pump H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase which hydrolyzes ATP to ADP, generating a proton gradient across the PM and driving the uptake of a 1:1 ratio of H<sup>+</sup> and sucrose into the cell against a sucrose concentration gradient. Families of SUTs have now been identified in the most important cereal crops including rice (Hirose et al., 1997), maize (Aoki et al., 1999) barley (Weshke et al., 2000) and wheat (Aoki et al., 2002). Based on alignments of amino acid sequences, the monocot SUT1 proteins cluster together into one group based on their homology (Braun and Slewinski, 2009; Sun et al., 2010) with 82%, 80% and 79% homology of rice OsSUT1 with maize *ZmSUT1*, barley *HvSUT1* and wheat *TaSUT1D*. When studied in heterologous systems, HvSUT1 (Sivitz et al., 2005) and OsSUT1 (Sun et al., 2010) both showed high specificities for sucrose however *HvSUT1* had a higher affinity for sucrose than OsSUT1 at similar membrane potential and external pH. Expression and localization of SUT1 transcript and protein in vascular tissue in stems and leaves as well as in grain tissue in cereals point to important roles in both phloem loading (Weschke et al., 2000; Aoki et al., 2004; Scofield et al., 2007) and grain development (Weschke et al., 2000; Furbank et al., 2001; Aoki et al., 2002). However, much higher expression of SUT1 in developing grains suggests that their primary role may be in grain filling. Constitutive antisense knockdown of OsSUT1 in rice did not affect the loading of sucrose into the phloem but produced plants with a shrivelled grain phenotype (Scofield et al., 2002). SUT1 transcript levels measured during grain development in both rice and barley grains follow a very similar pattern which in barley correlates with the levels of sucrose measured in the developing grain during early grain filling (Weschke *et al.*, 2000). Taken together, this evidence points to a similar and crucial role for SUT1 proteins in assimilate partitioning in rice and barley grains.

Increasing the sucrose transporter activity in peas by overexpressing the potato *StSUT1* driven by a seed specific *vicilin* promoter resulted in increased sucrose uptake and growth of pea cotyledons (Rosche *et al.,* 2002). In addition, these transgenic peas displayed an earlier onset of protein accumulation, a changed protein profile and increased total protein content during development and at maturity (Rosche *et al.,* 2002).

2005). In wheat grains overexpressing the barley *HvSUT1* there was increased total protein which was attributed to the preferential increase in prolamins, with no decrease in yield (Weichert et al., 2010). In further field studies of these transgenic *HvSUT1* overexpressing lines, it was found that yield was also significantly increased over several seasons (Saalbac, et al., 2014) although the promising increase in protein concentration was not evident under these field conditions. Most surprisingly, a corresponding increase in the micronutrients Zn and Fe was measured in HvSUT1 overexpressing wheat grains compared to WT lines (Saalbac et al., 2014). There is strong evidence that increasing sucrose uptake can increase seed sinks for other nutrients and that sucrose plays an important role in the processes of assimilate uptake and storage protein formation (Rosche et al., 2005; Weichert et al., 2010). Moreover, reducing sucrose supply to cereal sinks has been shown to decrease Mn and Zn transport in vitro (Pearson et al., 1996). Sucrose can also act as a signal molecule regulating gene expression (Loreti et al., 2001) and enzymes that control metabolic changes during rice grain development (Sasaki et al., 2005; Tang et al., 2009). SUT1 activity is heavily dependent on plasma membrane electrophysiology (Sun *et al.*, 2010) and sucrose uptake is potentially tightly controlled by minute changes in the maternal filial boundary in the grain (Bagnall et al., 2000). However transport processes in starchy endosperm are less likely to exert an influence on nutrient uptake as these cells do not express SUT1 transcripts (Furbank et al., 2001) and have low expression of metal transporters (Tauris et al., 2009).

The aims of this chapter were to analyse transgenic rice plants overexpressing the *HvSUT1* transgene to determine if: 1) they have higher Zn and Fe concentrations in the rice grain and whether 2) a higher proportion of Fe and Zn was distributed in the grain endosperm. Rice plants expressing *HvSUT1* RNA and HvSUT1 protein from Chapter 2 were analysed to determine transgene function and mineral nutrient concentration and distribution. This research investigates a novel method for exploring nutrient changes in rice due to changes in sucrose transport and provides a contrast with the findings of Weichert *et al.* (2011) and Saalbac *et al.* (2013) in wheat.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Plant material and growth conditions

Non-transgenic (*Oryza sativa* L cv. Nipponbare) and characterised transgenic rice seed were sterilized then germinated on wet filter paper for 7 days before being transferred to 350 ml pots filled with Green Wizard® potting mix (Debco Pty Ltd,
Victoria) in water filled trays. Plants were 'hardened off' to acclimatise to greenhouse conditions and then transferred to larger pots (2.8 L) submerged in water. The potting mix contained sufficient fertilizer for four months of plant growth hence no additional fertilizer was added. Growth was in a greenhouse (Flinders University, South Australia) under natural light between the months of August and January (day-length between 11 and 14 hr) with daytime and night-time temperatures of 29 °C and 25 °C. Panicles were tagged on the first day of flowering to identify grains at different developmental stages at days after anthesis (DAA).

# 3.2.2 [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake in grain slices and detached rice grains

At mid to late grain filling, grains from the tips of panicles at 15 and 20 DAA were selected for analysis. Five transverse grain slices, cut with a razor blade from separate grains (approx. 0.5mm thick) were combined and incubated in [14C]-sucrose to determine uptake rate of cells in the caryopsis (Rijven and Gifford, 1983). The reaction buffer used in this experiment was adapted from Bagnall et al. (2000) and contained 10 mM sucrose, 32 mM KCl, 180 mM sorbitol and 10 mM (MES)-Tris pH 6.4. Immediately after cutting, slices were placed into unlabelled reaction buffer at 4 <sup>o</sup>C and gently washed twice for 15 min to remove cell debris. After a pre-incubation in the unlabelled buffer at 25 °C for 20 min, labelled reaction buffer containing 2.22 MBq mmol<sup>-1</sup> sucrose was added (Wardlaw *et al.*, 1995) and the slices were incubated for 20 min (Furbank et al., 2001). After removing the labelled sucrose, ice cold reaction buffer was added and slices were washed twice for 15 min to remove residual label. Replicate treatments were carried out in parallel with the sucrose uptake assays, but prior to addition of [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose label, the slices were pre-incubated in unlabelled reaction buffer containing 1 mM diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) for 20 min. Grain slices were washed before incubating with labelled reaction buffer as described. The slices were ground fresh using a Retsch mixer mill (MM400) and extracted in 80% boiling v/v EtOH for 60 min. Radioactivity in the samples was measured by adding the sucrose extract to 10x volume of scintillation cocktail (Ultima Gold<sup>™</sup> Perkin Elmer) and assayed in a liquid scintillation counter (Perkin Elmer LSA Tri Carb 2810TR) with automatic quench correction and background subtraction. The sucrose uptake rate was calculated from the specific activity of the [14C]-sucrose labelled incubation buffer and expressed on a fresh weight basis.

Detached grains were used to assay sucrose uptake at early grain filling from 5 to 10 DAA. Intact whole grains were removed from the top of developing panicles by

cutting below the base of the grain, twice under water, until 1 mm of the pedicel remained. The detached grain was then transferred to a closed 0.5 ml tube with the pedicel immersed in labelled reaction buffer and incubated at 25 <sup>o</sup>C for 4 hr. Uptake was terminated by removing the reaction buffer and washing twice for 15 min in ice cold sterile water. Sample preparation and scintillation counting was the same as for the grain slices. Individual grains were ground using a Retsch mixer mill (MM400) and radioactivity was measured as for the grain slices. At least four grains from each of four plants (n=16) were assayed for each time point in grain filling.

#### 3.2.3 Micronutrient and crude protein analysis

Elemental analysis of grains was carried out using ICP-OES (Waite Analytical Services, Adelaide) according to the methods outlined in Wheal *et al.* (2011). At maturity, panicles were dried at 37  $^{\circ}$ C for three days and grains dehusked using a laboratory bench-top rice husker and mill (Model JGMJ8098, Miltec). T<sub>1</sub> grains from T<sub>0</sub> plants were pooled from all panicles and three technical replicates of 15 to 30 grains were subsampled for elemental analysis. For T<sub>3</sub> grains, unpolished (brown) and polished (white) rice samples were analysed for mineral nutrient concentration. For analysis of T<sub>3</sub> polished rice grains, 100 grains were subsampled from each plant and bran was removed by polishing in a modified laboratory grain polisher (Kett PEARLEST) then ground to flour in a bench top mill (Mini-Mill, Fritsch PULVERISETTE 23).

For analysis of mineral accumulation in immature rice grains, panicles were harvested at 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 DAA. Entire panicles were dried for 24 hr at 85 <sup>o</sup>C before dissecting, counting and weighing caryopses from panicles. 10 similar sized grains per sample were combined and analysed by ICP-OES. Results are means and standard deviations of four biological replicates for each time point.

Total Nitrogen (%) in polished rice flour samples was determined by a Dumas Total Combustion Method using an Elementar instrument (WAS). Crude total protein was calculated by Nitrogen x 5.26 (Fujihara *et al.*, 2008).

#### 3.2.4 Sugar and starch analysis of polished rice

Approximately 250 mg of polished rice flour was weighed into 15 ml tubes and 1 ml of 80% v/v EtOH was added. The tube was inverted to thoroughly wet the sample and then an extra 1 ml of 80% EtOH was used to wash down the residue on the sides of the tube, before sugars were extracted on a shaking hot block for 1 hr at 85 °C. Tubes were centrifuged at 3000 xg for 10 min before the supernatant was removed and the

residue was re-extracted with another 3 ml of 80% EtOH. Both extracts were combined and made up to exactly 5 ml. Aliquots of the sugar extract were diluted 4x in ultrapure laboratory grade water (Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water) and sugars were separated by high performance anion-exchange chromatography (HPAEC). Samples were passed through a Carbo Pac PA-20 column at a flow rate of 0.35 ml min<sup>-1</sup> and 30 <sup>o</sup>C using a Dionex 600 chromatography system (Thermo Scientific) with integrated pulsed amperometric detection (PAD) of sugars. Settings used were according to the manufacturers recommended settings in the Dionex Chromeleon software. The system was prepared by flushing with 100 mM KOH for 5 min followed by pre-equilibration with 50 mM KOH until samples were loaded into the auto sampler (set to 4 <sup>o</sup>C to minimize evaporation). Sugars were eluted using an isocratic system and peak identification was based on mixed sugar standards with final concentrations of 0.001 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> to 0.1 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> sucrose and 0.0001 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> to 0.01 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> glucose and fructose. Rhamnose (0.01 mg ml<sup>-1</sup>) was added as an internal standard to all samples.

To estimate starch, enzymatic breakdown of starch into glucose was performed according to the methods described in McCleary and Monaghan (2002). Glucose was measured using HPAEC-PAD as described above, and the percentage of starch per sample was estimated from these values. To measure soluble starch (SS), 10-12 mg of milled rice flour was weighed into tubes and soluble sugars were extracted as described above. The flour pellet was dried and then wetted with 20  $\mu$ l of 50% v/v EtOH. 300  $\mu$ l of diluted  $\alpha$  amylase (Sigma) solution (200 U ml<sup>-1</sup> in 100 mM NaAc buffer pH 5.0) was added and mixed immediately. The tube was incubated at 100 °C for 10 min, with vortexing every 2 min. Tubes were incubated in a 50 °C water bath for 30 min after adding 20 µl of amyloglucosidase (AMG, 300 U ml<sup>-1</sup>) (Sigma). Tube contents were added to Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water to give a total volume of 10 ml and then spun at 3000 xg for 10 min. An aliquot of the supernatant was diluted 1:1000 with Milli-Q® water and glucose was quantified as above. The pellet remaining from the removal of soluble starch was deemed the resistant starch (RS). The RS pellet was resuspended and washed 2x with 50% EtOH and spun at 3000 xg for 10 min to collect the washed starch pellet. The pellet was dissolved in 200  $\mu$ l of 2 M KOH by vigorously shaking in an ice bath for 30 min, then neutralized with 800 µl of 1.2 M NaAc buffer (pH 3.8). 20 µl of AMG was added and the tube incubated at 50 °C for 30 min with intermittent mixing. Samples were diluted 1:50 before measuring glucose.

#### 3.2.5 LA-ICP-MS imaging of elemental distribution

Mature rice grains were embedded in 100% epoxy resin and polymerised overnight at 70 °C without prior fixing or dehydrating. Processing and handling of the sample was kept to a minimum to minimise disturbance of the elemental distribution in the grain. The sample surface was prepared for ablation by cutting with a glass knife on an ultramicrotome (Ultracut S, Leica) (Adelaide Microscopy, South Australia).

Elemental distribution was analysed by Laser Ablation Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (LA-ICP-MS) using a Resonetics M-50-LR 193 nm Excimer laser (Laurin Technic Pty) coupled to a quadrupole ICP-MS (Agilent 7700s) at Adelaide Microscopy, SA. The unique dual-volume small volume ablation cell (Laurin Technic Pty) used with the M50 gives high sample uniformity and rapid wash out thereby enhancing detection of signal sensitivity. Ablation was performed under Nitrogen (0.7 L min<sup>-1</sup>), with ablated material transported by Argon (0.93 L min<sup>-1</sup>) for ionization by the ICP.

Embryo samples were ablated with a beam size of 8  $\mu$ m and a scan speed of 12  $\mu$ m s<sup>-1</sup> while transverse and longitudinal scans of whole rice grains were ablated with a 24  $\mu$ m beam size at 32  $\mu$ m s<sup>-1</sup>. All imaging was conducted in parallel raster lines across the sample with the distance between lines the same as the beam spot size. The energy density of the laser at each ablation point was ~6 J cm<sup>2</sup> and the predicted depth of material ablated from the sample was 5-10  $\mu$ m. The dwell time for each element was 0.01 sec, hence with the 9 elements analysed per sample, the total sweep time was ~0.1 sec. A 30 sec background acquisition period was employed at the beginning of each raster with a 15 sec delay at the end of each line programmed to allow for sample processing. Each run was calibrated and assessed for drift correction by measuring glass standards NIST610 and NIST612 (US National Institute of Standards and Technology) at the start and end of the run.

ICP-MS data processing and image compilation was conducted using the open source software program lolite (http://www.iolite.org.au/lolite.html) developed by Melbourne University; as plug-in for the data analysis program Igor Pro (WaveMetrics). The data from each element was corrected for drift using NIST standards and images were compiled after subtracting background intensity to give images displaying a heat map of the signal intensity of each element measured as counts per second (cps). Overlapping elemental distribution was investigated for some groups of elements by overlaying the distribution maps to produce composite tricolour 2-D images.

99

#### 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Analysis of mineral nutrients in *HvSUT1* overexpression lines

Segregating  $T_1$  grains from  $T_0$  parent lines were analysed for macro and micronutrient concentrations and compared to wild type (WT) Nipponbare plants grown at the same time under the same conditions as the transgenic lines. Unpolished and polished rice grains from *Glb-1* (G1.4, G3.1 and G6.2) and *Act-1* (A5.1 and A2.3) SUT-OE plants containing one to two copies of the transgene were analysed. Macro-(Fig 3.1) and micronutrient (Fig. 3.2) concentrations analysed by ICP-OES are summarised for each line as a percentage of WT concentration (set at 100%). Unpolished rice from all five transgenic lines had either the same or slightly increased concentrations of Mg, K, P and S. This increase in macronutrient concentration was more striking in polished rice samples. Mg and K showed the highest increase in concentration compared to WT in most of the plant lines. The three *Glb-1* SUT-OE lines in particular showed markedly different patterns of macronutrient accumulation in the polished rice. While line G1.4 had modest increases in all four elements, line G3.1 consistently had a greater increase in Mg and P when compared with all the other SUT-OE plants. In contrast, Fe, Zn and Ca concentration decreased in the transgenic plant lines in unpolished rice, while Mn was almost double the concentration in WT. This trend for decreased Zn and Ca was also observed in polished rice. However, the Fe concentration in polished grains was higher than in the WT. The concentration of Mn in polished rice ranged from 75 to 125% more than in WT. As only polished white rice is consumed, this was a promising result that warranted further investigation.

When germinated on selection media, a number of  $T_1$  seedlings of G6.2 were albino, even though the  $T_0$  plants had developed normally. Although G6.2 showed more of an increase in nutrient concentration than G1.4, the segregation results along with the presence of albino seedlings posed difficulties in interpreting results. Therefore analysis of this line was not continued due to the unlikely survival of the albino seedlings and the possibility of somaclonal variation leading to unknown changes in other traits. Seeds from  $T_1$  plants that were identified as containing the transgene in the leaf assay from G1.4 and G3.1 were germinated on hyg to determine zygosity. Homozygous SUT-OE lines G1.4 and G3.1 and segregating A2.3 and A5.1 were grown for analysis of sucrose transporter function.





Comparison of the macronutrient concentration of unpolished (A) and polished (B) rice grains from  $T_0$  transformed rice lines containing the *HvSUT1* transgene driven by the endosperm specific (G1.4, G3.1, G6.2) and constitutive promoters (A2.3, A5.1) relative to the concentration in WT (100%).





Comparison of the micronutrient concentration of unpolished (A) and polished (B) rice grains from  $T_0$  transformed rice lines containing the *HvSUT1* transgene driven by the endosperm specific (G1.4, G3.1, G6.2) and constitutive promoters (A2.3, A5.1) relative to the concentration in WT (100%).

#### 3.3.2 [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake in grain slices

To demonstrate *HvSUT1* function, [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake was measured at 15 and 20 DAA in immature grain slices of  $T_2$  grain from  $T_1$  plants from *Glb-1* SUT-OE lines G1.4, G3.1, and *Act-1* SUT-OE lines A2.3 and A5.1 and compared with sucrose uptake of a control NT line (Table 3.1). Compared with 15 DAA, sucrose uptake was lower at 20 DAA for all lines indicating sucrose transport decreased between 15 and 20 DAA. There was also no change in sucrose uptake between any of the lines at 20 DAA. At 15 DAA, sucrose uptake in caryopses from transgenic lines G3.1, G1.4 and A5.1 were the same as NT controls. In contrast, sucrose transport was significantly higher in A2.3 at 15 DAA. Pre-incubation with DEPC inhibited sucrose uptake in NT, G3.1 and G1.4 grain slices by approximately 20 to 40 % at 15 DAA which verified that there was a component of active sucrose transport in these rice grains. In the *Act-1* SUT-OE lines, A2.3 and A5.1, however, sucrose uptake was relatively insensitive to DEPC treatment. Inhibition of sucrose uptake by DEPC in the control line was highest at 15 DAA (40%) however at 20 DAA sucrose transport was only inhibited by 15%. In contrast, there was a similar response to DEPC treatment in G1.4 or G3.1 between 15 and 20 DAA.

[<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake rates in T<sub>3</sub> grain slices from all plant lines were approximately double that seen in T<sub>2</sub> (Table 3.2). Sucrose uptake was highest at 13 DAA, then declined from 15 DAA to 20 DAA, as was observed in T<sub>2</sub> grains. There was no significant difference in rates of sucrose uptake between NT and G1.4 at 13, 15 and 20 DAA. A2.3 T<sub>3</sub> grain slices took up significantly less sucrose than NT at 13 and 15 DAA. Treatment with DEPC reduced sucrose uptake by between 30 and 40% at 13 DAA in the three lines (Fig. 3.3). At 15 DAA, the percentage of active sucrose uptake inhibited by DEPC was similar in NT, G1.4 and A2.3. However, at 20 DAA, sucrose uptake inhibited by DEPC in NT and A2.3 was less than 20% but in G1.4 it remained similar to that seen at 13 DAA. In NT and A2.3, the change in DEPC inhibition was highly significant between 13 and 20 DAA (Fig 3.3). The decline in DEPC inhibition was significant for A2.3 between 13 and 15 DAA, and between 15 and 20 DAA for NT. The percentage of DEPC inhibition in G1.4, however, did not differ between the three time points.

## Table 3.1Comparison of sucrose uptake rate in $T_2$ grain slices from $T_1$ rice measured by [14C]-sucrose label incorporation and scintillation counting

Slices of immature rice grains collected at 15 and 20 DAA were prepared and incubated in 10mM sucrose solution. Pre-treatment with DEPC to inhibit proton coupled transport before [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake was conducted in parallel experiments. Values are mean  $\pm$  SD from 4 replicates of separate grains taken from the tip of rice panicles. Significant differences according to one way ANOVAs are \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001. NT, non-transgenic controls.

	Seed treatment at no. of DAA					
	15 DAA			20 DAA		
	[ <sup>14</sup> C]- sucrose uptake	+ DEPC	% inhibition	[ <sup>14</sup> C]- sucrose uptake	+ DEPC	% inhibition
Plant	nmol sucrose	e g <sup>-1</sup> FW min <sup>-1</sup>		nmol sucrose	g <sup>-1</sup> FW min <sup>-1</sup>	
NT	6.5 ± 1.4	3.9 ± 0.2	40.0	5.8 ± 1.4	4.9 ± 1.0	15.5
G1.4	6.7 ± 1.8	5.3 ± 0.3	20.9	5.7 ± 2.2	4.2 ± 1.5	26.3
G3.1	6.1 ± 0.4	4.3 ± 0.9	29.5	5.0 ± 0.7	3.7 ± 1.2	26.0
A2.3	8.7 ± 1.5*	8.3 ± 2.1***	4.6	7.0 ± 3.4	6.4 ± 2.2	8.6
A5.1	7.4 ± 2.1	6.4 ± 2.7*	13.5	5.2 ± 1.2	4.2 ± 2.1	12.2

## Table 3.2Comparison of sucrose uptake rate in $T_3$ grain slices from $T_2$ rice measured by [14C]-sucrose label incorporation and scintillation counting

Immature grain slices were incubated with [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose and measured for label incorporation alongside samples pre-incubated with DEPC to inhibit proton coupled sucrose transport. Changes in the amount of sucrose uptake inhibited by DEPC compared between NT, G1.4 and A2.3 over three time points after anthesis. Values are mean  $\pm$  SD from 3 replicates of separate grains taken from the tip of rice panicles. Significant difference according to one way ANOVAs are; \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001

Seed treatment at no. of DAA

	13 DAA		15 DAA		20 DAA	
	nmol sucrose g <sup>-1</sup> FW min <sup>-1</sup>					
Plant	[ <sup>14</sup> C]- sucrose	+ DEPC	[ <sup>14</sup> C]- sucrose	+ DEPC	[ <sup>14</sup> C]- sucrose	+ DEPC
NT	15.6 ± 1.4	9.6 ± 0.5	12.8 ± 0.4	8.7 ± 0.5	9.3 ± 0.9	7.8 ± 0.8
G1.4	16.5 ± 0.6	11.9 ± 0.2**	11.7 ± 0.7	7.9 ± 0.9	9.6 ± 1.6c	6.9 ± 1.7
A2.3	13.4 ± 0.4**	8.9 ± 0.3	9.7 ± 0.7***	7.6 ± 0.2	7.2 ± 0.4	7.0 ± 1.4

105



13 vs 20	***	ns	***
13 vs 15	ns	ns	*
15 vs 20	**	ns	ns

### Figure 3.3 Comparison of sucrose uptake response to DEPC in NT, G1.4 and A2.3 plant lines at 13, 15 and 20 DAA

Grain slices pre-incubated with DEPC to inhibit sucrose uptake in T<sub>3</sub> rice grains at 13, 15 and 20 DAA and percentage of inhibition compared between plant lines for each time point. Results in the table are 2-way ANOVA tests for statistical significance with significance values as follows; ns, not significant, \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001

# 3.3.3 Grain composition and mineral nutrient retention in mature rice grain

Soluble sugars and starch measured in flour prepared from polished rice grains showed some striking differences (Fig. 3.4). Although glucose and fructose was slightly elevated in G1.4 compared to NT and A2.3, the differences were not significant. Sucrose however was significantly higher in G1.4 compared to both NT (2.8 fold) and A2.3 (1.4 fold). In contrast, soluble starch in G1.4 was significantly lower. Resistant starch and protein contents in polished rice, however, varied little across all three lines.

In  $T_3$  polished rice grains, there were few differences in mineral nutrient concentration between the three plant lines (Fig. 3.5). In line G1.4, Fe, Mn and Zn concentrations were not significantly different to NT controls or line A2.3. In the macronutrients analysed in unpolished grains, K was increased significantly in G1.4 compared to either NT or A2.3. In polished rice, micronutrients did not differ significantly between G1.4, A2.3 and NT. Interestingly, K was significantly lower in both G1.4 and A2.3 in polished rice compared to NT. P was also higher in A2.3, but P concentration in G1.4 and NT was similar. To determine the proportion of minerals retained in the endosperm after milling, the percentage of mineral nutrient concentration in the polished grain relative to the unpolished was calculated and is presented in Fig. 3.6. These results reveal that transgenic rice grains from both the *Glb*-1 and Act-1 SUT-OE lines have significantly higher retention of Mg, P, and Zn in the endosperm after milling compared with the control NT. However, increased Fe retention is only significantly different in grains expressing HvSUT1 in the endosperm. In contrast, there is a highly significant reduction in K retention in endosperm in both transgenic lines.

#### 3.3.4 [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake in detached rice grains

An investigation to determine the contribution of increased HvSUT1 protein expression on sucrose transport between 5 to 10 DAA was performed by measuring [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose uptake in detached immature grains of line G1.4 (Fig 3.7). There were consistently more detached grains with higher rates of sucrose uptake at 7 DAA in G1.4 compared with NT (Fig. 3.7 A, B). Although there was a range of uptake rates measured from each plant line, there was a clear proportion of grains which showed a much higher uptake in G1.4 (Fig. 3.7 B) compared to NT (Fig. 3.7 A). Sucrose uptake either before or after 7 DAA was not significantly different between NT and G1.4 (Fig 3.7 C).



Figure 3.4 Sugar, starch and protein content in mature T<sub>3</sub> polished rice

(A) Soluble sugar concentrations of glucose, fructose and sucrose in milled rice from NT and representative transgenic SUT-OE lines measured using HPAEC-PAD. (B) Starch content estimated by solubilisation of polished rice flour and enzymatic digestion to glucose, before (soluble) and after (resistant) treatment with KOH. Glucose was quantified as for the soluble sugars. Protein content was estimated from Nitrogen content, measured using a combustion method, and multiplied by 5.26. Statistical significance according to 2 way ANOVAs are \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 for n=9.



### Figure 3.5 Mineral nutrient concentration in mature T<sub>3</sub> rice grains analysed by ICP-OES

Unpolished rice macronutrient (A) and micronutrient (B) concentrations showed little change between plant lines; control NT and transgenic G1.4 and A2.3 except with higher K in G1.4. In polished rice, macronutrients (A) showed significant changes in K and P in some lines while micronutrient (D) concentration in did not change between plant lines. Statistical significance according to 2 way ANOVAs are;\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 for n=9



#### Figure 3.6 Mineral nutrient retention in mature T<sub>3</sub> rice grains

The percentage of macronutrients (A) and micronutrients (B) retained in the endosperm after polishing was calculated from the ratio of mineral concentrations analysed by ICP-OES in polished to unpolished rice grains \* 100. Statistical significance according to 2 way ANOVAs are;\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 for n=9



Figure 3.7 Sucrose uptake in immature detached rice grains from 5 to 15 DAA

Total sucrose uptake into (A) NT and (B) G1.4 lines detached rice grains at 7 DAA depicted as histograms of number of individual grains graphed along the range of total sucrose uptake measurements for each plant line. Due to the right skewed data, t-tests were conducted on transformed data (log Y+1) and data points plotted on the graph are mathematical means calculated by back transforming the data with lower and upper 95% confidence intervals (CI). (C) Sucrose uptake compared between transgenic G1.4 (black circles) and control NT (white circles) in immature rice grains from 5 to 15 DAA. Statistical significance according to t-test is \*\*\* p<0.001

Patterns of sucrose uptake over time was similar between the two lines with highest rates of [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose transport into grains measured at 7 or 8 DAA in NT and G1.4 respectively. There was a transient decrease in labelled sucrose uptake at 6 DAA, but this was observed in both NT and G1.4. Sucrose uptake was lowest at 10 and 15 DAA but similar in both NT and G1.4. Overexpression of *HvSUT1* with the endosperm specific *Glb-1* promoter from rice appears to promote increased uptake of sucrose specifically at 7 DAA, however, at later time points, sucrose uptake in G1.4 was slightly increased but not significantly different to NT.

# 3.3.5 Accumulation of mineral elements in developing grains

Given the differing patterns of sucrose uptake during grain filling between nontransgenic NT and G1.4 lines, the accumulation of macro- (Fig. 3.8) and micronutrients (Fig. 3.9) was examined in immature rice grains collected from G1.4 and NT plants every five days from 5 to 25 DAA. Mineral nutrient accumulation from early to late grain filling, expressed as elemental content per grain, was not different between the two plant lines. Nutrient accumulation was similar in line A2.3 for all the mineral elements examined from 10 to 25 DAA (data not shown). Mg and P content in the grain at 5 DAA was relatively low compared with K. The pattern of accumulation from 5 to 25 DAA for Mg and P was similar, and again differed from that seen in K. Incremental increases in Mg and P content in the rice grain per time point resulted in a smooth curve representing steady Mg and P accumulation during grain filling. In contrast, K content increased sharply from 5 to 10 DAA, after which there was little further K accumulated in the grain. Indeed, in the NT control, there was a slight decrease in K content at 20 DAA that was significantly lower than G1.4, but only at this time point. Micronutrient accumulation in NT and G1.4 rice grains was very similar from 5 to 25 DAA. Very little Fe had accumulated in the rice grain at 5 DAA, and any further uptake was modest, with most of the Fe content accumulated by 15 DAA. Zn showed a more steady accumulation curve from 5 to 25 DAA, although the highest accumulation was early in grain filling, between 5 and 10 DAA. Mn accumulation, on the other hand, was greatest between 5 and 10 DAA which was the peak in Mn content, after which Mn continued to decline until 25 DAA.

#### 3.3.6 Distribution of elements analysed by LA-ICP-MS

Localization of macronutrients Mg, K and P and micronutrients Fe, Mn and Zn in rice grain was determined by generating maps of elemental distribution using



#### Figure 3.8 Macronutrient content in developing rice grains between 5 and 25 DAA

Change in macronutrient concentration in developing rice grains of NT (white triangles) and G1.4 (black triangles) transgenic plants from 5 to 25 DAA. Values are means  $\pm$  SD (n=4). Significant difference according to t-test is \*\* p<0.01

CHAPTER 3





Change in micronutrient concentration in developing rice grains of NT (white triangles) and G1.4 (black triangles) transgenic plants from 5 to 25 DAA. Values are means  $\pm$  SD (n=4).

LA-ICP-MS. The counts for each element have been scaled identically therefore this method allows comparison of nutrient distribution between the lines. A number of similar observations can be made for all three plant lines. Transverse maps of representative grains from control NT, *Glb-1* and *Act-1* SUT-OE lines show the accumulation of most of the elements in the aleurone (Fig. 3.10 & 3.11). In contrast, the elemental counts in the endosperm were much lower, and the transition zone between these two tissues was very distinct. Mg appears to be localized to the dorsal region (identified by an arrow in Fig. 3.10) of the aleurone, with less in the lateral section and almost none in the endosperm (Fig 3.10). In contrast, K and P are distributed circumferentially around the entire aleurone, but are similarly low in the endosperm. Compared with NT controls and line A2.3, G1.4 grains show a more even distribution of Mg, K and P around the aleurone instead of localizing mainly to the dorsal region. Like the macronutrients, there was a tendency for the micronutrients to be distributed across the dorsal portion of the grain, although Mn and Zn penetrated into the endosperm more than Mg, K and P. While only small changes in macronutrient distribution was observed between lines, changes in the micronutrients Fe, Mn and Zn in the endosperm of transgenic line G1.4 compared to NT and A2.3 was more evident (Fig 3.11). In NT controls, Fe and Mn are localized to the aleurone while Zn has a more even distribution across the whole grain. In stark contrast, Fe, Mn and Zn had higher counts in the middle of the endosperm in G1.4 grains with the counts for Mn and Zn in starchy endosperm as high as counts from the outer aleurone. There was also patchy Fe distribution in the inner endosperm of G1.4 grains, but to a lesser extent than Mn and Zn. Fe distribution in line A2.3 was similar to NT controls, however, there was more Mn in the lateral region and more even Zn distributed across the grain, with aleurone and endosperm Zn indistinguishable. Longitudinal sections of grain were also analysed by LA-ICP-MS and support the spatial distribution of elements seen in transverse sections (Appendix G).

Tricolour images generated by overlaying the longitudinal distribution maps of multiple elements give further detail about the co-localization of mineral elements within the different grain tissues (Fig. 3.12). Distribution of macronutrients was similar in both transgenic lines and in the NT control (Fig 3.12 A, B & C). The three macronutrients Mg, K and P colocalize together in the aleurone, contrasting with the very low distribution of these nutrients in the starchy endosperm. Fine detail could not be distinguished in the embryo however Mg, K and P generally also occurred together in this tissue. The distribution of micronutrients and P, Fe and Zn in endosperm of grains from *Glb-1* and *Act-1* SUT-OE plants and the grains from NT controls were



### Figure 3.10 LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of macronutrients in transverse sections of rice grain

Comparison of Mg, K and P distribution between NT control (A) and transgenic G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C) in transverse sections of mature rice grain. Normalized counts per second for each element are scaled from dark blue (lowest) to highest (yellow). All grains are in the same orientation with the dorsal and ventral sides of the grain at the top and bottom of the images respectively. The aleurone is marked by a white arrow.



### Figure 3.11 LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of micronutrients in transverse sections of rice grain

Comparison of Fe,Mn and Zn distribution between NT control (A) and transgenic G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C) transverse sections of mature rice grain. Normalized counts per second for each element are scaled from dark blue (lowest) to highest (yellow). All grains are in the same orientation with the dorsal and ventral sides of the grain at the top and bottom of the images respectively. The aleurone is marked by a white arrow.





Colocalization of macronutrients Mg, P and K in NT (A), G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C); micronutrients Zn, Fe and Mn in NT (D), G1.4 (E) and A2.3 (F) and P, Fe and Zn in NT (G), G1.4 (H) and A2.3 (I) in longitudinal grain sections. Rice grains are oriented with the embryo at the bottom of the image with the ventral and dorsal sides of the grain on the left and right respectively. Em, embryo, Al, aleurone, Endo, endosperm and the arrow shows the ovular vascular trace (OVT). NT images are a composite of two grains due to distortions in the image of the end of the grain furthest from the embryo after data processing.

similar, however colocalization in the aleurone was strikingly different. The tricolour map for micronutrients indicates that Zn and Mn are distributed in the endosperm of all three lines (Fig 3.12 D, E and F). However, while the aleurone in the NT grain contains only Mn out of the three micronutrients, Fe and Mn occur together in the aleurone layer of G1.4 and A2.3 grains. There are also distinct differences in mineral colocalization patterns in the embryos of all three lines.

P is primarily stored as phytate in cereal grains and is a strong sink for metal ions. Therefore a tricolour image of P, Zn and Fe was generated to investigate the relationship between the distributions of these three elements (Fig 3.12 G, H & I). Zn is distributed in the starchy endosperm of rice grains from all three plant lines. Zn in G1.4 is unevenly distributed with higher Zn adjacent to the scutellum, while in NT and A2.3, Zn is concentrated in the distal section of the grain (i.e. the area furthest away from the embryo). The distribution of P, Fe and Zn is dramatically different in the aleurone of the transgenic lines compared to NT. In non-transgenic rice grains, P and Zn colocalize in the aleurone and embryo. In comparison, P and Fe are distributed together in the aleurone of transgenic lines G1.4 and A2.3. The ovular vascular trace (OVT), which is highlighted by arrows in Fig. 3.12 A, B and C, is thicker in G1.4 compared to the control NT and A2.3. There are also changes in colocalization of P, Fe and Zn particularly in this region of G1.4 grains, and the aleurone of G1.4 appears to be less homogeneous. The outer aleurone, like A2.3, is yellow which indicates localization of P and Fe, however the pink layer underneath suggests that P and Zn are enriched in this zone. This dual layered aleurone is absent in both NT and A2.3. Distribution of micronutrients in the embryo also appeared distinctly different between all three lines. Hence colocalization of micronutrients was examined with higher resolution scans of the embryo to examine micronutrient distribution in specific embryo tissues.

Elemental images of the embryo confirm that nutrient distribution of some elements in the embryo of transgenic grains was changed compared to NT grains (Fig 3.13 & Fig 3.14). Overall, the counts for Mg, K and P were higher in the embryo of line G1.4 compared to both NT and A2.3. All three macronutrients in the embryo of NT were distributed mainly in the scutellum region, with very little in the coleoptile, epiblast or radicle (Fig. 3.13 A, D & G). In G1.4, the scutellum was clearly where most of the Mg was distributed (Fig. 3.13 A). K and P were distributed together in the scutellum, however K was also distributed across all the tissues in the embryo, while P was also distributed in the coleoptile and radicle of G1.4 (Fig. 3.13 E & H). There were similar counts for Mg, K and P in the embryo of A2.3 compared to NT, however the distribution of macronutrients in A2.3 was more similar to G1.4, with distribution of K

#### Chapter 3



#### Figure 3.13 LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of macronutrients in rice embryos

Distribution of Mg in NT (A), G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C), K in NT (D), G1.4 (E) and A2.3 (F), and P in NT (G), G1.4 (H) and A2.3 (I) in rice embryo derived from longitudinal sections of rice grain. Normalized counts per second for each element are scaled from dark blue (lowest) to highest (yellow). Embryos are oriented with the ventral and dorsal side of the grain on the left and right respectively. Sc, scutellum; Co, coleoptile; Ra, radicle; Ep, epiblast.

#### Chapter 3





Distribution of Fe in NT (A), G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C), Mn in NT (D), G1.4 (E) and A2.3 (F), and Zn in NT (G), G1.4 (H) and A2.3 (I) in rice embryo derived from longitudinal sections of rice grain. Normalized counts per second for each element are scaled from dark blue (lowest) to highest (yellow). Embryos are oriented with the ventral and dorsal side of the grain on the left and right respectively. Sc, scutellum; Co, coleoptile; Ra, radicle; Ep, epiblast.

and P also in the epiblast and coleoptile (Fig. 3.13 C, F & I). There were low counts for Fe, Mn and Zn in the embryo tissues of NT, with slightly more Fe and Zn distributed in the coleoptile than in the surrounding tissues (Fig. 3.14 A, D & G). In contrast, the coleoptile and radicle of line G1.4 had higher counts for micronutrients. Fe was generally distributed in the radicle, Zn was distributed in the coleoptile and increased counts for Mn was found in both these tissues in G1.4 (Fig. 3.14 B, E & H). In A2.3, patterns of micronutrient distributed in the radicle (Fig. 3.14 C, F & I).

Tricolour images confirm the distinctly different distribution of elements in the embryo of each plant line (Fig. 3.15). Mg, K and P colocalized together in the scutellum of NT and G1.4 (Fig. 3.15 A & B). However, only Mg and P occurred together in the scutellum of A2.3 (Fig. 3.15 C). P and K generally colocalized in the coleoptile and radicle while Mg and K occurred together in the epiblast of all three lines. Fe was generally not found to be distributed with Zn in any of the embryo tissues (Fig. 3.15 D, E & F). In contrast, Zn and Mn distribution overlapped in the coleoptile of NT and G1.4, and Fe and Mn were found together in the radicle of A2.3. Apart from these associations, Mn was uniquely distributed across the embryo of all three lines and Fe was localized to certain tissues in G1.4 and A2.3. Colocalization of P with Zn occurred in the coleoptile of NT and G1.4 but not in A2.3 (Fig. 3.15 G, H & I). The scutellum and radicle of A2.3, in contrast, showed that P and Fe were distributed together in these tissues. Overall, colocalization of minerals in the embryo of A2.3 was uniquely different to both NT and G1.4.

#### 3.4 Discussion

Sucrose transporters (SUTs) are an important component of carbon partitioning in cereals, particularly during grain filling. SUT activity and their association with increasing micro- and macro-nutrients has not been studied extensively. Evidence from studies by Weichert *et al.* (2010) and Saalbac *et al.* (2014) suggest that manipulating sucrose uptake in cereals could modify carbon and nitrogen partitioning, resulting in changes in protein and minerals in the grain. In the present study, transformed rice plants containing barley *HvSUT1* driven either by the endosperm specific promoter *Glb-1* or the constitutive promoter *Act-1* were examined to determine whether potential changes in carbon flux could affect nutrient concentration and deposition of mineral nutrients within the rice grain.



#### Figure 3.15 Tri-colour elemental maps of rice embryos

Colocalization of macronutrients Mg, P and K in NT (A), G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C); micronutrients Zn, Fe and Mn in NT (D), G1.4 (E) and A2.3 (F) and P, Fe and Zn in NT (G), G1.4 (H) and A2.3 (I) in rice embryos. Embryos are oriented with the ventral and dorsal side of the grain on the left and right respectively. Sc, scutellum; Co, coleoptile; Ra, radicle; Ep, epiblast.

#### 3.4.1 Changes in grain composition in rice grains overexpressing HvSUT1

Rice plants regenerated after tissue culture and infection with Agrobacterium harbouring SUT-OE constructs, were characterised (see Chapter 2) and grown to maturity. Conspicuous differences between *HvSUT1* overexpressing wheat reported by Saalbac et al. (2014) and the Glb-1 SUT-OE rice in the present study are related to the sugar, starch and protein contents in transgenic wheat and rice. In the present study, sucrose was significantly increased, soluble starch decreased and there was no change in protein content in transgenic SUT-OE rice line G1.4. Wheat grains overexpressing HvSUT1 driven by the barley B-Hor promoter had consistently lower sucrose and higher protein content while there were no significant changes in starch (Weichert *et* al., 2010; Saalbac et al. 2014). The promoter used in those studies was different to the *Glb-1* promoter used in this research. Although endosperm specific expression of the *Glb-1* promoter in rice has been well established (Wu *et al.*, 1998; Furtado *et al.*, 2008) and the *B-Hor* promoter drives strong gene expression in barley endosperm (Cho et al., 2002; Furtado et al., 2009), the B-Hor promoter's endosperm specificity in wheat has not been tested. Hence we cannot rule out that differences in sucrose uptake and grain composition between the two studies could be due to differences in promoter activity.

Some of the differences observed between rice and wheat transformed with the *HvSUT1* transgene could also be explained by the differences in grain phenotype and developmental differences between wheat and rice. Rice grain size is almost constant for a variety and is physically limited by hull size (Yoshida, 1976). Final grain sizes of modern wheat and barley cultivars on the other hand can vary in grain size according to yearly environmental changes such as temperature (Yoshida, 1976) and many other factors. Grain size can also increase at later stages of grain maturity in wheat according to the sink capacity of the grain (Borras et al., 2004) and/or the amount of previously stored stem carbon (Blum, 1998). This has been demonstrated in detached panicle cultures of rice and wheat, where optimum sucrose supply to rice panicles did not increase individual grain weight but only the weight of the panicle (Villareal et al., 1987). However, wheat panicles cultured in a similar system had increased single grain weight when competing sinks were removed (Zhang et al., 2012). It is possible that continued sucrose transport into rice grains at later grain maturity cannot result in further grain expansion hence the excess sucrose that continues to be loaded into the grain due to expression of HvSUT1 accumulates in the mature grain. Coordination of the various enzymes involved in starch synthesis can also be regulated by photosynthate supply (Wang et al., 2007) therefore excess sucrose could result in a

deregulation of starch synthesis, thereby affecting conversion of sucrose into starch and resulting in the decrease in soluble starch observed in *Glb-1* SUT-OE rice grains. This proposed explanation for the differences between rice and wheat is further supported by the fact that Saalbac *et al.* (2014) did not observe changes in starch content of *HvSUT1* overexpressing wheat grains, although the wheat grains were larger, which suggests that in wheat the excess sucrose is utilized in other processes, for example in growth and synthesizing other storage products. Although, they only measured total starch content, and in the present study, only soluble starch was significantly decreased while total starch was the same between controls and transgenic plants. Therefore, widely different sink responses to *HvSUT1* overexpression between rice and wheat provides a reasonable explanation for the disparity observed in carbohydrate and starch contents in rice measured in this study and wheat in Weichert *et al.* (2010) and Saalbac *et al.* (2014).

## 3.4.2 HvSUT1 overexpression modifies grain filling behaviour in rice grains

Despite similar protocols used to measure sucrose uptake in grain slices, rates of sucrose uptake in NT grains measured in this study (9.3 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> FW min<sup>-1</sup>) were much lower than values from comparable assays conducted by Furbank et al. (2001) (~30 nmol  $g^{-1}$  FW min<sup>-1</sup>). The linear range of sucrose uptake reported by Furbank *et al.* (2001) was over 30 min, however even slight changes in assay conditions, including room temperature, could have an impact on sucrose transport rates, and could explain the disparate values between the two studies. It is also possible that the linear range of sucrose uptake in the different transgenic lines have been affected unequally, therefore clearer conclusions may be drawn from future experiments by comparing a range of incubation times. Interestingly additional HvSUT1 expression in rice did not result in noticeable increases in sucrose uptake between 13 and 20 DAA. In contrast, wheat kernels transformed with *HvSUT1* had increased sucrose uptake compared with controls at peak grain filling (Weichert *et al.*, 2010). Given the contrasting transformation protocols, the different promoters used and species differences, the dissimilarities in sucrose uptake between these two cereals were not unexpected.

Rice grain filling is very sensitive to small changes in environmental conditions (Chen *et al.*, 2012b) therefore the much higher sucrose uptake rates in assays of  $T_3$  compared to  $T_2$  grains could be attributed to seasonal changes.  $T_3$  grains were harvested from plants grown over the same months, but one year later than  $T_2$  under more controlled conditions. In the growth facilities available, it was not possible to

control for small changes in the growing environment such as light intensity, humidity and slight temperature fluctuations during grain filling. However, in this study, control plants and transgenic lines from the same generation were grown simultaneously in the greenhouse under exactly the same conditions, and hence are comparable.

Sucrose uptake rates between grain from transgenic plants and controls were not significantly different in  $T_3$  grain slices. To determine that sucrose accumulation was due to active sucrose uptake, treatments were run in parallel with a 20 min preincubation of the grain slices in DEPC (as in Weichert *et al.* 2011) which inhibits protein coupled symport through covalent modification of a conserved histidine residue in the transporter protein (Lu and Bush, 1998). Although there was increased sucrose taken up by *Act-1* SUT-OE  $T_1$  grains, the transport mechanism was insensitive to DEPC and so it appears that uptake was probably not due to SUT activity which could be due to the lack of inhibitor access to modify the transporter protein. This lack of response to DEPC was intriguing and suggests that in these lines sucrose uptake was not mediated by an active sucrose transporter but rather some unidentified mode of non-active transport or other adsorption was at work.

Another component of sucrose transport into rice grains that is insensitive to DEPC treatment is a non-active, non-saturable mechanism that is theorised to be involved in sucrose uptake into filial tissues (Zhang et al., 2007). A theoretical mechanism for facilitated diffusion of sucrose into plant cells that is characterised by a low affinity/high capacity phase of sucrose transport has been described by Ayre (2011). This unknown mechanism could possibly explain the DEPC insensitive uptake of sucrose stimulated by overexpression of *SUT1*, which interestingly also seems to be stimulated by decreased expression of SUT1. In anti-sense RNAi lines of OsSUT1 suppressed plants, Scofield et al. (2002) demonstrated decreased OsSUT1 expression, yet these transgenic rice seeds continued to take up sucrose. This uptake was via a mechanism that was insensitive to the sulfhydryl modifier *p*-CMBS, hence Scofield *et al.* (2002) postulated that their transgenic RNAi rice seeds must be taking up sucrose by diffusion rather than active uptake. Similarly, there is further evidence from dicots of this 'diffusional' mechanism of sucrose transport. Lanfermeijer et al. (1991) identified a non-saturable component of sucrose uptake in pea cotyledons at various stages of development. Overvoorde et al. (1997) described a soybean sucrose binding protein (SBP) that was not sensitive to pH or sulfhydryl modifiers which suggested that H<sup>+</sup> did not mediate transport in the soybean SBP. Zhou et al. (2007) go on to characterise these proteins as 'sucrose facilitators' or SUFs that act as diffusers of sucrose and are not affected by DEPC treatment. They highlighted these proteins as having possible

roles in sucrose efflux. Currently, no information is available on potential candidates for this mechanism of sucrose diffusion in cereal grains, although given the recent discovery of the family of SWEET efflux proteins, it is tempting to speculate they could play a role in this process.

Rice grains from A2.3  $T_3$  did not display the same sucrose uptake behaviour as  $T_2$  grains. Compared to NT, A2.3 sucrose uptake was comparatively lower at all the time points measured. This inconsistent behaviour between  $T_2$  and  $T_3$  indicates that the transgene or the metabolic effect in this line was possibly less stable over multiple generations over different growing periods or possibly that *Act-1* driven *HvSUT1* was potentially more sensitive to environmental changes. In addition, continued segregation of the two sets of seed from A2.3  $T_2$  and  $T_3$  generations could have confounded the results. Ideally further generations of this line should be grown to confirm homozygous plants and to measure seasonal effects on sucrose uptake.

While active sucrose transport, measured as the proportion of sucrose uptake inhibited by DEPC, decreased as NT grains matured, DEPC similarly inhibited sucrose uptake in G1.4 over the three time points. There was a similar result for A2.3 grains, but only between 15 and 20 DAA. Although total sucrose uptake declined in all the lines between 13 and 20 DAA, the continued strong inhibition by DEPC treatment even at 20 DAA, suggests that endosperm specific, and also constitutive expression of *HvSUT1* may drive prolonged active grain filling compared to non-transgenic rice. Transgenic wheat transformed with HvSUT1 also displayed increased fresh and dry weight accumulation, but only at later grain development, which could be attributed to altered grain filling behaviour (Weichert et al., 2011). The period between 15 and 19 DAA in rice grain development is classified as the late storage phase (Tang *et al.*, 2009) when peaks in sucrose metabolizing enzymes and abscisic acid (ABA) that are involved in storage product synthesis and grain maturation decline (Tang *et al.*, 2009). Usually, assimilate uptake slows and finally ceases as the grain reaches physiological maturity at 20 DAA. G1.4 grains diverged from this normal phase of grain development by prolonged active sucrose uptake at 20 DAA, indicating that the late storage phase was delayed or modified due to the overexpression of *HvSUT1* in rice endosperm.

To mimic *in vivo* sugar supply at early grain development, labelled sucrose uptake was measured in detached rice grains, analagous to methods employed in studies with whole pea cotyledons (Rosche *et al.*, 2005; Zhou *et al.*, 2009). The lid of the tube was kept closed to increase the humidity around the grain to minimise transpiration (Zee, 1971; Oparka and Gates, 1984). In this way, a crude estimate of the transport activity of the cells in the caryopsis could be measured and compared

between plant lines. As well as expressing high levels of HvSUT1 protein, transgenic rice grains of G1.4 took up significantly more sucrose at 7 DAA. Although the contribution of xylem to solute uptake in this assay cannot be ruled out, the conditions of high humidity and low light were maintained to minimise this occurring. Additionally, all control and transgenic grains were assayed simultaneously. With such a dramatic increase in assimilate flux in G1.4 at this critical time point in grain development, when crucial changes in grain development are occurring, processes that lead to the accumulation of storage products and nutrients could be modified, thereby influencing nutrient deposition in mature grain.

#### 3.4.3 Significance of K in plasma membrane transport processes to explain lowered retention in endosperm

Mineral elements in  $T_1$  rice grains derived from  $T_0$  transgenic plant lines showed contrasting changes in mineral nutrients when analysed by ICP-OES, although there were some unexpected decreases in micronutrient concentration. The effect of the transgene in this generation was not expected to be significant due to the gene dilution from the segregating seeds and controls were WT as no NT lines were yet available. However, if there had been an obvious phenotypic effect from transformation with *HvSUT1*, these results could have highlighted particular plant lines for further analyses. The results were indeed worthy of further investigation despite the mineral nutrient concentrations for Fe and Zn in transgenic rice grains being unexpectedly lower, rather than higher as may have been expected from previous reports of *HvSUT1* overexpression in wheat (Saalbac *et al.*, 2014).

Analysis of nutrients in unpolished T<sub>3</sub> grain confirmed that although total mineral concentrations were similar between the transgenic lines and controls, a significant and novel finding of this study is that there were changes in nutrient retention in rice grains from *Glb-1* and *Act-1* SUT-OE plants. Notably, a higher proportion of the essential micronutrients Fe and Zn were retained in the endosperm, even after more than 20% of the outer bran layers had been removed. Additionally, the proportion of Mg and P remaining in the grain after polishing was significantly increased. It is intriguing that K concentration increased in unpolished, yet decreased in polished rice of G1.4. Likewise, K concentration was decreased in polished grains of A2.3 and compared with the NT controls, both G1.4 and A2.3 had significantly less K retained in the endosperm. To explain these findings, the roles of K in sucrose transport and ion homeostasis need to be considered.

K is the most abundant cation in rice phloem and high concentrations of K are found in seeds. However there is little data available to explain the mechanisms of K<sup>+</sup> uptake into sink cells and specifically into rice endosperm. Models for the interactions between sucrose and K has been formulated from studies in legume roots cells (Zhang *et al.*, 2002) and seed coats (Zhang *et al.*, 1997), Arabidopsis phloem (Deeken *et al.*, 2002) and protoplasts from maize vascular tissue (Bauer *et al.*, 2000). In light of the similarity between the processes of sucrose loading into phloem and sucrose unloading into sinks, the findings from these studies can be extrapolated to explain some of the trends observed in *HvSUT1* expressing rice.

PM H<sup>+</sup>-ATPases are involved in providing energy and protons for K and sucrose transport activities (Briskin and Gawienowski, 1996; Britto and Kronzucker, 2008) and uptake into the cell can be a highly coordinated process between the activities of non-selective cation channels and SUTs (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). Out of the large number of families of K+ transporters and channels that have been identified, potassium channels such as the Arabidopsis AKT2/3 can be postulated to be involved in modifying sucrose and K in *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice. The coupling of sucrose and K transport was investigated in an *akt2-1* Arabidopsis loss of function mutant where sucrose loading into phloem was severely affected by this mutation (Deeken *et al.*, 2000). From these results, it was determined that AKT2/3 plays a role in maintaining the electrical potential across the plasma membrane by preventing sucrose induced membrane depolarization (Deeken *et al.*, 2000; Britto and Kronzucker, 2008). This is further supported by experimental data that shows *OsSUT1* expressed in oocytes responded to increasing sucrose concentration by increasing membrane depolarization (Sun *et al.*, 2010).

Gajdanowicz *et al.* (2011) conducted computer modelling that simulated posttranslational modification of AKT2 from an inward into a non-rectifying channel, which is thought to occur *in vivo*, and observed a rapid increase on sucrose uptake. In parallel, H+-ATPase activity was reduced through hyperpolarization caused by the switch, so instead of H+ driving sucrose flux, K+ ions were channelled out of the cell through AKT2, generating an electrochemical gradient across the membrane for increased sucrose transport. This model could provide an explanation for the increased sucrose, decreased K and unchanged H+-ATPase protein expression observed in both *Glb-1* and *Act-1* SUT-OE rice. Furthermore, it was found that a member of the AKT3 subfamily in maize, ZMK2 colocalized with the sucrose transporter ZmSUT1, and its activity was voltage-independent (Bauer *et al.*, 2000). This K channel in maize, a monocot, therefore behaves like the non-rectifying channel proposed in Gajdanowicz *et al.* (2011) and hence provides evidence that K channels can have similar roles in monocot species.

Sucrose and K are also coordinated in regulating cell turgor pressure. There is evidence that in sugar beet sink cells, sucrose uptake is regulated by internal turgor pressure, with excessive turgor inhibiting further uptake (Wyse *et al.*, 1986). This increase in turgor is associated with an increase in K efflux from cells in order to osmoregulate the inner cell pressure (Bell and Leigh, 1996). A large proportion of the K in plant cells is found in the vacuole, which takes up most of the space within the cell and helps to maintain cytosolic K concentrations (Leigh and Wyn Jones, 1984). Thus, vacuolar storage of K is thought to be critical in controlling turgor pressure of the plant cell. There is evidence to suggest that when K is limiting, vacuoles can also use other ions such Na, Mg and Ca but also sucrose to compensate as the main osmoticum to maintain turgor pressure (Leigh, 1984).

The increased sucrose content and Mg retention, combined with the significantly lower K concentration observed in the endosperm of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice grains in this study, could also be related to vacuolar processes in maintaining turgor pressure of cells under high sucrose levels. Furthermore, increased vacuolar sequestration of minerals in an attempt to control ion homeostasis in endosperm cells can also be speculated to explain the increased retention of Fe and Zn observed in the endosperm of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice grains.

## 3.4.4 Mineral distribution in rice grains in response to endosperm overexpression of *HvSUT1*

In contrast to Saalbac *et al.* (2013) who recorded elevated Fe and Zn concentrations in wheat overexpressing *HvSUT1* grown in the field, pot grown rice overexpressing *HvSUT1* in the present study did not have significantly increased concentrations of Fe or Zn in either polished or unpolished rice compared to controls. The range of Fe/Zn in T<sub>3</sub> polished and unpolished rice in the present study is in agreement with the values for non-transgenic rice grains reported in pot grown plants (Masuda et al., 2009; Johnson *et al.*, 2011). To minimize issues with toxicity in this closed system and because it was estimated that the potting mix contained enough nutrients for the entire growing period of the rice plant, pot grown rice was not provided with excess fertilizer. Although the mix contained abundant macronutrients, such as P and N, micronutrients have to be maintained at lower concentrations, and perhaps could have become limiting at the later stages of plant development. There is evidence that application of mineral fertilizers at late grain development can enhance

mineral nutrient accumulation in cereal grains (Cakmak et al. 2010). Therefore, we can only speculate how the transgenic rice lines would respond to fertilization as there were significant increases in nutrient retention in polished grain of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice even though there was almost no change in nutrient concentration in unpolished or polished rice grains.

The most notable changes in rice grains transformed with *HvSUT1* were the significant retention of Mg, P and Zn in the endosperm of SUT-OE grains and also Fe in *Glb-1* SUT-OE grains. In addition, there were substantial differences in elemental distribution mapped by LA-ICP-MS between the NT and both transgenic lines. Mineral accumulation patterns in developing transgenic rice grains between 5 and 25 DAA was the same as in non-transgenic rice, and closely mirrored the patterns for P, Fe and Zn reported in Iwai *et al.* (2012). Hence, the changes in mineral retention and distribution in mature transgenic grains did not appear to be due to increased accumulation of minerals during grain development but could result from a redistribution of available minerals in the grain. Mature rice grains from  $T_2$  plants were over milled (~20% of outer layers removed) to investigate the content and proportion of nutrients penetrating into the inner endosperm of grains from transgenic G1.4 and A2.3 plants and NT controls. Usually commercial milling of rice removes <10% of the outer bran layers and results in the removal of 60-80% of important mineral nutrients (Hansen et al., 2012). Ogiyama et al. (2008) found that removing between 10-20% of the outer rice grain layers through polishing did not further affect the ratio of minerals in polished rice compared with brown rice. Hence over milling and grinding polished grains into flour aided in standardising and homogenizing samples before all analyses.

Elemental maps of Fe, Mn, Mg, K and P in rice grain showed that these elements were concentrated in the aleurone, relative to the endosperm. This is in agreement with elemental maps of WT rice by Johnson *et al.* (2011), Iwai *et al.* (2012) and Kyriacou *et al.* (2014). Distribution of elements in barley grain (Lombi *et al.*, 2011) using XRF, and in wheat using LA-ICP-MS (Wu *et al.*, 2013) also show this preferential distribution of elements to the aleurone. However, the presence of the crease vascular tissue in barley and wheat, which is composed of only phloem, made these images less comparable structurally to the elemental maps in the present study. Like Johnson *et al.* (2011), the maps presented here show that Zn is evenly distributed across the starchy endosperm of rice and has no preferential allocation to the aleurone. The allocation of Zn to the bran and embryo in wheat (Lombi *et al.*, 2011) and barley (Wu *et al.*, 2013), with very little in endosperm is in stark contrast to rice. There has been no theory put forward to explain the reason for this divergence in Zn distribution between these
cereal crop species. Others have observed that with increasing plant Zn supply, there is not an increased allocation of Zn to the endosperm in either wheat (Stomph et al., 2011) or rice (Jiang et al., 2008). Hence the differences in Zn transport pathways within the grain are likely to contain the limiting process that affects Zn distribution in the endosperm.

The localised distribution of elements in the rice embryo was variable depending on the element and between plant lines. Compared to either NT or A2.3 grains, there were high counts for Mg, K and P, especially in the aleurone but also K and P in the coleoptile and radicle of G1.4. Mg, K and P were also distributed mainly to the scutellum of A2.3, however there were generally much lower counts for all these nutrients. In contrast with the macronutrients, the tissues with the highest counts were the coleoptile, in the case of Mn and Zn, and the radicle in the case of Fe in G1.4. Contradicting a number of other studies (Takahashi *et al.*, 2009; Johnson *et al.*, 2011; Kyriacou *et al.*, 2014), there was no particular localization of Fe, Mn or Zn in the scutellum in preference to the other embryo tissues. Endosperm specific and constitutive expression of *HvSUT1* in rice grains in this study did not appear to change the distribution of Zn in the embryo. The distribution of Zn in the plumule and radicle in this study aligns more with Lu *et al.* (2013), who observed similar localization of Zn using μ-XRF.

The differences in spatial distribution of minerals in rice grains between plant lines could be explained by taking into account the potential differences in rice grain development due to increased sucrose supply. Ishimaru et al. (2003) observed that the ventral nucellus was almost completely compressed by 9 DAA as storage products in the endosperm filled the cells, causing the expansion and crushing of the nucellus against the hull. The dorsal vascular region however, the only pathway for assimilates to enter the grain from the long distance pathway, remains uncompressed until later grain maturity. This is associated with the greater abundance of storage proteins in the dorsal region of the grain (Ellis et al., 1987) and could also explain the localization of nutrients particularly in the dorsal region of the rice grains in this study. The expansion of endosperm cells with starch and storage products could also potentially constrain transport activity as the cell plasma membranes are compressed, thereby hindering the activity of membrane bound proteins. The ovular vascular trace (OVT) evident particularly in the longitudinal grain images, appear thicker in G1.4 compared to the control NT and A2.3 and there were also changes in colocalization of mineral elements in this region in G1.4 grains. The inability of the grain to expand with increasing assimilates due to the rigid hull, could explain the redistribution and

concentration of mineral nutrients distinctly around the OVT and penetrating into the endosperm. The transverse images also indicate that some elements, such as Mg, K and P were distributed more evenly in the lateral regions rather than only in the dorsal region of the aleurone, compared with the NT grains. In addition, there is an obvious redistribution of micronutrients in the middle of G1.4 grains. Thicker vasculature, more even circumferential distribution of nutrients and the mapping of Fe, Mn and Zn in inner endosperm are in line with the increased retention of mineral nutrients measured in polished G1.4 rice grains compared to NT and A2.3.

Phytic acid (PA) which accounts for more than 70% of the P in rice grain (Ogawa *et al.*, 1979), is distributed primarily in the aleurone (Iwai *et al.*, 2012) and binds strongly with minerals to form phytate. In transgenic rice grains expressing *HvSUT1*, similar distribution of P and Fe in the aleurone is made apparent in tricolour maps overlaying the distribution of P, Fe and Zn. PA and Zn have been shown to have different distributions in rice grain (Liang *et al.*, 2008) and speciation of Zn with P containing compounds was not found in barley grain (Perrson *et al.*, 2009). However in this study, Zn and P were found to colocalize together in the aleurone of both NT and G1.4, and to a lesser extent in A2.3. Furthermore, mineral nutrients appeared to be homogeneously distributed in the aleurone and embryo of NT grains, while in rice grains overexpressing *HvSUT1*, tricolour elemental maps revealed changed patterns in elemental distribution. LA-ICP-MS imaging therefore provides further evidence for the changes in mineral nutrient distribution and retention in rice grains with potentially increased sucrose uptake.

Ogawa *et al.* (1979) speculated that K had important roles in early endosperm development because at grain maturity they observed that K was redistributed from the endosperm to the aleurone for storage. The steep accumulation of K up to15 DAA measured in NT rice grains in this study followed by a slight decrease in content, is mirrored in WT rice grains analysed in Iwai et al. (2012), and lends support to Ogawa et al.'s (1979) theory. Hence, the transient increase in K accumulation in G1.4 rice grains at 20 DAA compared to NT was substantiated and could contribute to the the differences observed in K distribution in G1.4 grains. Increased K in unpolished mature G1.4 could be due to increased transport of K from the endosperm into the embryo and aleurone of the rice grain when additional K was available for assimilation. Removal of the embryo and aleurone during polishing, therefore removed a large proportion of the K in the grain. The decreased concentration and retention of K in the endosperm of mature G1.4 grains supports this theory. As the embryo images for rice grain show, K was widely distributed in the embryo, which suggests crucial roles for this ion in plant

growth. Indeed, Lu *et al.* (2013) visualized rapid remobilization of K into the shoot and root of germinating seedlings from 12 to 48 hours after imbibition. The high mobility to, and preferential storage of K in tissues that can directly supply the embryo could explain the K distribution observed in grains from the transgenic lines that were overexpressing *HvSUT1*.

It was interesting that Mn, out of all the elements measured did not show greater retention in endosperm of transgenic grains, although elemental maps showed that it is distributed with Zn in the endosperm. Although Mn and Zn are both phloem mobile, it is generally agreed that Mn is transported to cereal grains via the xylem (Rengel et al., 2002). However, reduction of sucrose transport into wheat grains in vitro resulted in Zn and Mn reduction (Pearson et al., 1996). Pearson et al. (1996) suggested that while Zn was affected by the mass flow of sucrose, reduction in Mn loading into the phloem at the xylem discontinuity was the reason for the decrease in Mn transport. However, in rice grains there is no discontinuity and the xylem and phloem are continuous but there is scarcity of data to explain the contribution of the xylem in grain nutrient loading in rice. Oparka and Gates (1984) suggest that the xylem can function as a conduit for the removal of water in opposition to the phloem rather than in loading water into the grain. This theory is supported by observations that, unlike wheat and barley, rice lemma and palea are fused tightly to prevent water loss and do not have stomata (Oparka and Gates, 1984). This could also explain the pattern of Mn accumulation measured in immature rice grains that, contrary to the other mineral nutrients measured, showed a decline in Mn content as the grain matured. In addition, Mn should not be affected by decreases or increases in sucrose transport. Indeed, Mn retention did not change in transgenic rice grains expressing HvSUT1, and so appeared to be insensitive to potentially increased sucrose flux.

#### 3.5 Conclusions

Rice plants transformed with *HvSUT1* transgene and expressing HvSUT1 protein had changed patterns of sucrose uptake rather than displaying net increases in sucrose uptake rate. *HvSUT1* expression changed sucrose and starch contents, but not total protein content in mature rice grains. The most significant finding was increased mineral nutrient retention in the endosperm of the transgenic grains. In addition, elemental maps of rice grains analysed by LA-ICP-MS showed that there were differences in the distribution of micronutrients Fe and Zn compared to control non-transgenic grains.

Evidence from this study supports the hypothesis that increasing sucrose uptake can increase distribution of micronutrients in the rice endosperm. However, total mineral nutrient concentrations did not change between transgenic and control grains. Stomph *et al.* (2011) suggested that like sucrose, grain sink strength could be a strong determinant for the ability of grains to take up Zn. Sink strength can be affected by assimilate uptake capacity and the size and metabolic activity of the storage sink, but also source tissues. In the present work, sink strength was manipulated but the source (soil nutrient supply) may have been the limiting factor. By necessity these transformed plants were grown only under greenhouse conditions. Ideally, more single copy transgenic lines should be evaluated under field conditions, as transgenic plants may respond very differently to controlled or semi-controlled greenhouse conditions (Schuh *et al.*, 1993; Anand *et al.*, 2003; Weichert *et al.*, 2010). Further analyses of these transgenic plant lines under field conditions and over several seasons is required to conclusively determine *HvSUT1* transgene effects on rice grain mineral nutrients.

## Changes in nutritional quality, growth and yield impact of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice

## 4.1 Introduction

Sucrose transported into cereal grains during grain development is converted into a range of storage products that can be utilised by the growing embryo at germination. The remobilization of these reserves of starch, protein and lipids that have been stored in the endosperm and aleurone is crucial to feed the growing embryo, especially before the growing rice seedling can synthesise its own nutrients. Hence, the quantity, quality and distribution of these storage products in the mature rice grain are important for rice seed and seedling vigour. In addition, nutrient composition of rice grains, particularly in the endosperm, has implications for grain quality and human health.

Starch is the major storage product in rice grain that is broken down into sugars to supply the developing embryo. However a proportion of the carbon and nitrogen supplied to the rice seed is channelled into the production of seed storage proteins (SSP). Extensive research on the different solubility fractions of SSP from rice gives estimates of the contribution of each fraction to the total in rice endosperm. Albumins make up the smallest proportion at 2% (Shyur et al., 1988) to 5% (Ju et al., 2001) of total SSP, followed by globulins which make up approximately 10% (Shyur et al., 1988). The remaining SSP are prolamins (20 to 30%) and 60 to 80% glutelins (also referred to as 11S-type globulins) which, like in oats Avena sativa L., make up the majority of rice SSP (Juliano and Boulter, 1976; Kawakatsu et al., 2010). Storage protein synthesis begins early in grain development, with the major polypeptides of glutelin proteins visible on SDS-PAGE gels at 5 to 6 DAA (Yamagata et al., 1982). Globulin synthesis also commences at 5 to 6 DAA, while protein bands identified as prolamin do not appear until the mid-stage of grain filling, at 10 DAA. By this time, all SSP's found in the mature grain will have been synthesized in the milky endosperm of rice (Yamagata et al., 1982). Storage proteins are sorted into two distinct protein bodies distributed throughout the endosperm. Glutelins and globulins are compartmentalized in protein storage vacuoles (PSV) (sometimes referred to as Protein Body II (PB-II) and described as large and irregularly shaped) (Yamagata et al., 1982; Krishnan et al., 1992) while prolamins are stored in small spherical protein bodies, sometimes referred to as PB-I (Yamagata et al., 1982; Nagamine et al., 2011). Albumin, on the other hand, appears to associate with starch within the rice endosperm (Yamagata et al., 1982). Differential accumulation of prolamin was observed in wheat overexpressing HvSUT1 (Weichert et al., 2010), but SSP composition between wheat

and rice is very different (Shewry and Halford, 2002), hence the effects of increased sucrose uptake capacity on storage protein synthesis in rice cannot be inferred from analogous studies in wheat and requires investigation.

Some amino acids (AA) that are considered essential as they must be consumed because they cannot be synthesised *de novo* in the human body, occur in very low concentrations in cereal products. These essential AA include lysine, methionine and tryptophan. Other AA, although non-essential, also contribute to human health. The predominant storage proteins in wheat and barley are prolamins which are high in glycine and glutamine and deficient in lysine, threonine and tryptophan (Yamagata et al., 1982; Shewry and Halford, 2002). Prolamins are further separated into sulphurpoor (13 kDa) and sulphur rich (10 and 16 KDa) groups, that have low or high cysteine content, respectively (Hagan et al., 2003; Shewry, 2007; Kawakatsu et al., 2010). In contrast, rice has comparatively more lysine than either wheat or barley which reflects the higher proportion of glutelins in the grain (Shewry, 2007). Globulin, which is rich in sulphur, is the other major storage protein in rice endosperm (Krishnan et al., 1992). There is also a small free amino acid pool in cereal grains that can provide information about the total amino acids bound in storage proteins (Schaeffer and Sharpe, 1997). Attempts to increase essential AAs in rice have included knockdown of 13kDa prolamin indigestible protein by RNAi (Kim et al., 2013). The resulting rice grains contained slightly increased glutelin protein, resulting in 28% more lysine. Hagan *et al.* (2003) introduced a sunflower seed albumin, high in methionine and cysteine, into rice but found that there was little increase in these AA. Instead, they observed that the transgenic rice grains had a different storage protein profile and an increase of nonstorage proteins in the endosperm. Further analysis of these plants grown under sulphur limitation by Islam et al. (2005) showed that, in particular, sulphur rich glutelins and globulin protein were reduced. These examples highlight that storage protein composition is plastic and any changes observed in storage protein profiles are likely to be reflected in amino acid composition, thereby changing the nutritional profile of the rice grain.

Rice lipids are another important component of the rice grain and are mostly localized to the embryo and aleurone layers, with very little in the endosperm. Lipids are an important storage form for nutrients that can be quickly mobilised to the embryo during germination. The three main classes of lipids in rice are triacylglycerols (TAG) (neutral), phospholipids (PL) (polar) and free fatty acids (FFA). PL and FFA are thought to be the main lipids associated with starch in rice endosperm and complexed with amylose while TAG are associated more with lipid bodies in the bran layers, including the sub-aleurone (Choudhury and Juliano, 1980). TAG in unpolished and polished rice does not vary significantly, however there are distinct changes in FFA composition, especially with higher oleic and lower linoleic acids in unpolished rice (Yasumatsu *et al.*, 1964). There also appears to be very little natural variability in lipids between rice genotypes, as amongst five Japanese rice varieties there were no significant differences in FA composition in the bran (Yoshida *et al.*, 2011). Carbon partitioning into lipids in a waxy rice mutant with low amylose was the same as controls, hence excess carbon not converted into starch was not diverted into production of more rice lipids (Zhang *et al.*, 2012). However, this study only measured total lipids and did not examine any changes in lipid composition. An interesting study by Ekman et al. (2008) used oat as a model to examine partitioning of carbon supplied in the form of [<sup>14</sup>C] radiolabelled sucrose, into lipid synthesis. Oats, unlike other cereals, stores a relatively large percentage of oils in endosperm cells, alongside starch. Oil biosynthesis occurs early in grain development but does not interfere with starch synthesis which starts at the same time but continues throughout grain ripening. Ekman et al. (2008) found that detached panicles from a high oil oat genotype fed with [<sup>14</sup>C]-sucrose, accumulated more <sup>14</sup>C into seeds and partitioned a higher proportion of the <sup>14</sup>C into lipids in the endosperm, compared with a medium oil oat genotype, with no change in starch concentration between genotypes. Regulation of sucrose partitioning is thus important in determining lipid composition in cereal grains. Although rice does not normally accumulate lipids in the endosperm, storage products in rice are more closely aligned with oats rather than barley or wheat (Shewry and Halford, 2002). Since lipid synthesis is also affected by sucrose partitioning, lipid composition in rice grains under increased sucrose uptake also needs to be explored.

Phytate, the main storage form of P in grain tissues, is present in cereal staples and complexes tightly to mineral ions, preventing them from being properly absorbed in the human intestine (Hunt, 2003). The presence of phytate inside PSVs in aleurone and embryo cells has been demonstrated by staining and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and correlated with high grain Fe (Prom-u-thai *et al.*, 2008). Endosperm does not contain visible amounts of phytate, however Prom-u-thai *et al.* (2008) measured up to 16  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> in a rice genotype with low Fe concentration. Diets containing only plant staples as opposed to diets including meat, have much less bioavailable Zn for absorption mainly due to the presence of plant anti-nutrients such as phytate. Wessells *et al.* (2012) found a negative correlation between adequate Zn intake and national diets lacking in food from animals sources. They also found strong positive correlations between diets with a high P:Zn ratio and inadequate zinc intake. Predicted P:Zn, phytate:Zn (Ma *et al.*, 2005; Norhaizan & Nor Faizadatul Ain, 2009) and phytate x Ca/Zn (Fordyce *et al.*, 1987) molar ratios derived from food content estimates have been used as indicators of bioavailability of mineral nutrients in human diets. Suggested values above which mineral absorption is compromised are <18 for phytate:Zn, <1 for phytate:Fe, <0.17 or <0.24 for phyate:Ca and <200 for phytate x Ca:Zn (Fordyce *et al.*, 1987; Ma *et al.*, 2005; Gibson *et al.*, 2010). However, there is little consensus on whether these predicted numbers can have any useful application in human nutritional studies. Nevertheless, these predictive arithmetic models for bioavailability have advantages over *in vivo* methods using animal or human subjects as they are non-invasive, require no animal/human ethics approval and can be an effective alternative in predicting the impacts of inhibitory compounds in foodstuffs on nutrient absorption (Wienk *et al.*, 1999).

Seed nutrient content not only has implications for human health, but also in seed viability and establishment of the growing seedling. It has been reported that increased Zn content in wheat seeds gives young seedlings a growth advantage, especially in Zn deficient soils (Rengel and Graham, 1995). Seed size and protein content is also positively correlated to the growth of more vigorous wheat seedlings (Ries and Everson, 1973; Evans and Bhatt, 1977). Increase in seedling vigour was also observed in spring barley and oats with higher protein content (Welch, 1977). However, there does not appear to be any yield advantage of mature plants grown from seeds with higher protein content (Welch, 1977). There is a paucity of information on the relationship between nutrient content in rice grains and the effects on seedling growth and yield of mature plants in following generations. It is particularly important to investigate potential advantages or disadvantages of manipulating nutrient contents on future generations of transgenic plant lines to resolve any unintended effects arising from plant transformation.

Previous chapters have described the creation and characterisation of transgenic rice lines overexpressing the barley *HvSUT1* gene. In addition, detailed analysis of the changes in micronutrient levels and distribution of minerals in SUT-OE plants was undertaken. In this chapter, rice grains from transgenic plants were also analysed for changes in storage products that are potentially affected by increased sugar supply to rice grains. It is hypothesized that changing sucrose flux into the grains not only affects the distribution of mineral elements, but also stimulates changes in concentrations and compositions of other grain storage products. The nutrient content and composition of mature rice grains could also exert effects on the growth and yield of the future generations of plants, hence the same plant lines were analysed for growth and yield parameters at the seedling stage and at maturity.

139

#### 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Storage protein fractions

Storage proteins were extracted sequentially from polished rice flour using protocols and buffers that were modified from Osborne solubility fractionation used in Yamagata et al. (1982) and Wakasa et al. (2009). Samples of polished rice flour (25 mg) were shaken vigorously with 500  $\mu$ l of the following extraction solvents for 2 hr at RT for 2x. In between each protein fraction, the flour pellet was spun down and the pellet was washed with ultrapure laboratory grade water (Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water) before changing buffers. Albumins and globulins (Alb/Glob) were extracted together with 0.5 M NaCl, 10 mM Tric-HCl pH 6.8, followed by prolamin (Pro) extraction with 55% n-propanol. In addition, albumins/globulins and prolamins were precipitated in 100% acetone before resuspending the protein pellet in sample buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 8 M Urea, 4% SDS, 20% glycerol, 5% βME, 0.01% bromophenol blue). The flour pellet remaining after Alb/Glob and Pro extraction was shaken with sample buffer to extract the remaining glutelins (Glut). Protein samples were boiled for 5 min, and centrifuged at maximum before running on 15% SDS-PAGE gels. Gels were stained with Coomassie brilliant blue (CBB) (0.1% Coomassie R-250, 40% v/v EtOH, 10% acetic acid), destained overnight in Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water and bands imaged in an EZ Doc Imager (Biorad). Replicate samples (three per line) were run on the same gel to enable relative quantification of storage proteins by densitometry. Relative quantity of protein bands of plant lines was analysed using ImageLab software (Biorad) with manual band detection and automatic background subtraction.

Protein bands were cut out from CBB stained gels and analysed by Matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time of flight (MALDI-TOF/TOF) mass spectrometry (Proteomics International, Perth). In brief, protein bands were digested with trypsin then peptides extracted for analysis using a 5800 Proteomics Analyzer (AB Sciex). Protein identification was determined using Mascot software searching on the Ludwig NR database for matches to the peptide sequences for *Oryza sativa* subsp. japonica.

## 4.2.2 Amino acid quantification by LC-MS

Quantification of free amino acids was conducted by LC-MS (Metabolomics Australia, Melbourne University). Polished rice flour (25 mg) was extracted with 50% aqueous MeOH (with the addition of 2% internal standard of 0.5 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> each of <sup>13</sup>C-Sorbitol and <sup>13</sup>C5-<sup>15</sup>N Valine and 0.25 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> each of 2-aminoanthracene and

pentafluorobenzoic acid) with 20 mM EDTA as a metal chelator (total 200  $\mu$ l volume). After mixing and centrifuging at 13000 xg for 10 min, the supernatant was removed to a fresh tube and a 10  $\mu$ l aliquot was added to 70  $\mu$ l of 200 mM borate buffer (1 mM ascorbate, 10 mM TCEP, 25  $\mu$ M 2-amino butyric acid) and mixed. The tubes were centrifuged for 2 min at 13000 xg then 20  $\mu$ l of 6-aminoquinolyl-*N*-hydroxysccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) reagent was added and incubated with shaking for 10 min at 55°C. After centrifuging at 13000 xg for 1 min, the supernatant was added to HPLC vials for analysis. Calibration standards were run at 0.1 to 150  $\mu$ M concentration. Final concentrations of amines were normalized to the internal standards. Amino acid concentrations are expressed as milligram of amino acid per gram of flour sample on a dry weight basis.

### 4.2.3 Lipid and fatty acid composition

Fatty acid analysis was carried out by Waite analytical services (WAS). In brief, lipids were extracted from rice flour samples using a Bligh and Dyer method with salt modification as described in Makrides *et al.* (1996). Lipid classes were separated using Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC). To determine proportions of fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) in each fraction, they were extracted and separated then analysed by gas chromatography (GC) (Hewlett Packard 6890 Gas Chromatograph with a SGE BPX70 column and a Flame Ionisation Detector (FID).

## 4.2.4 Phytate extraction and quantification

Samples of polished rice flour (250 mg) and 10 ml of 1.25% sulphuric acid were mixed in 15 ml tubes and incubated on a rotary shaker at RT for 2 hr. After spinning the tube down at 3000 xg for 10 min, a 1 ml aliquot of supernatant was transferred to 1.5 ml tube and spun at 13000 xg for 10 min. The supernatant was diluted 1:100 with Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water before measuring using HPAEC-PAD.

Phytate was quantified by comparing samples to calibration standards from a stock solution of D-myo inositol 1,2,3,4,5,6-Hexakisphosphate, Dodecasodium salt from *Zea mays* (407125, Calbiochem). 10  $\mu$ l injections of sample were passed through a Dionex IonPac AS 11 2x250mm analytical column with 2x50mm guard column at a flow rate of 0.5 ml min<sup>-1</sup> and eluted with increasing eluent concentrations of 20 mM to 43.5 mM KOH generated using the Dionex RFIC-eluent generator.

## 4.2.5 Growth and grain yield

Seeds from each line were germinated on wet filter paper and seedling height was first recorded at transplant to soil (1 week after germination) and daily until 30 days after transplant (DAT) for 16 plants from each plant line. At 7, 15 and 21 DAT, four plants of each line were gently removed from the pot, soil washed from the roots, the plant divided into roots and shoots and the samples weighed. The samples were then dried at 85 °C overnight and roots and shoots were reweighed.

Remaining plants were monitored daily for changes in development. At the ends of the vegetative stage (approximately 8 weeks after transplant) plant height was measured. At anthesis, panicles were tagged and the date recorded. Days to anthesis and days to maturity (number of days to 50% flowering) were calculated from the date of transplant (7 days after sowing). When the majority of the grains on a plant had turned straw coloured, panicles were harvested and dried in paper bags at 37 °C for three days. The remaining straw was collected and dried at 85 °C for three days and weighed. Panicle length and the number of filled grains per panicle were estimated from at least four comparable panicles per plant. Yield and grain weight was estimated from subsamples of grains from each plant. Means and standard deviations were calculated from 16 plants for each line.

#### 4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Storage protein fractions in polished rice

Storage proteins extracted sequentially from polished rice flour and separated by SDS-PAGE were stained with CBB to visualize the abundant protein bands for each protein fraction (Fig. 4.1). The protein profile for the albumin/globulin fraction showed a very prominent band between 20 and 30 kDa which is most likely the 26 kDa globulin (Fig. 4.1 A). Low molecular weight (LMW) bands below 20 kDa are likely to be a number of polypeptides that are unresolved. A number of HMW bands at 55 kDa and above are also apparent, however there appeared to be a higher abundance of a protein resolving at 55 kDa in line G1.4. Hence this band was chosen for identification by MALDI-TOF/TOF. In the prolamin protein fraction (Fig. 4.1 B), there were two prominent bands at approximately 14 and 16 kDa, although these thick bands could be masking a number of unresolved polypeptides. A low abundance protein in the prolamin fraction resolved as a faint band at ~18 kDa, however it was noted that it was consistently more abundant in G1.4 samples. Hence, this band was also cut out and

### CHAPTER 4



#### Figure 4.1 Storage proteins in rice endosperm

Storage protein classes albumins/globulins (A), prolamins (B) and glutelins (C) were extracted from polished rice flour sequentially using Osborne fractionation. Equal amounts of protein samples were separated on 15% SDS-PAGE gels. Total storage protein (D) was also extracted with sample buffer to extract all storage proteins for comparison. Original gel pictures contained three lanes each of representative storage protein profiles for NT (Lane 1), G1.4 (Lane 2) and A2.3 (Lane 3). However, due to the consistency of protein profiles between replicates, gels are presented with replicate lanes removed. White arrows highlight the bands for a ~55kDa protein in the albumin/globulin fraction and a <20kDa band in the prolamin fraction that were excised and identified by MALDI-TOF/TOF. Prominent bands in the glutelin fraction (C) are (i) proglutelin, a glutelin precursor, (ii) glutelin acidic subunits and (iii) glutelin basic subunits.

identified by MALDI-TOF/TOF. Bands that resolved at 55 kDa, 30-35 kDa and ~23 kDa in the glutelin protein fraction (Fig. 4.1 C) are likely to be the precursor, acidic and basic subunits respectively of rice glutelin. There does not appear to be any difference in the abundance of glutelin protein polypeptides discernable by CBB staining between the plant lines. Likewise for the bands in the total storage protein CBB stained gel (Fig 4.1 D), that are similar between lines.

Relative quantification of storage protein polypeptides was analysed by densitometry for comparison between plant lines as it was acknowledged that some differences in protein abundance were indistinguishable by eye. As expected, the density of the 55 kDa protein band from the albumin/globulin fraction and the 18 kDa protein band from the prolamin fraction were both significantly higher, relative to total protein and expressed as arbitrary units, in line G1.4 compared to the NT control (Fig. 4.2 A). There was also significantly more of the 18 kDa protein in line A2.3. The difference in abundance of glutelin polypeptide bands in Fig 4.1 C do not appear to differ between plant lines, however when analysed by densitometry, the acidic subunits between 30 and 35 kDa in line G1.4 were significantly less than in NT controls (Fig. 4.2 B). There was no change in proglutelin or the glutelin basic subunits between the three plant lines in the glutelin fraction. No discernable difference was seen between the  $\sim 14$ and 16 kDa bands in the prolamin fraction CBB stained gel, however increased abundance of the 16 kDa band relative to total protein was measured in line G1.4 (Fig. 4.3 A). There was no difference in band density of the  $\sim$ 14 kDa prolamin polypeptide in any of the samples. The 26 kDa protein band (Fig. 4.1 A) was slightly less abundant in both G1.4 and A2.3 compared to NT in the globulin protein fraction (Fig. 4.3 B).

#### 4.3.2 Identification of protein bands by MALDI-TOF/TOF

A number of peptides were identified after tryptic digest and MALDI-TOF/TOF of the 55 kDa band from the albumin/globulin fraction (Table 4.1). Rather than resolving as one protein, the band appears to be a group of polypeptides resolving at the same molecular weight. Four putative proteins with molecular masses between 53-56 kDa and whose sequences matched the same peptides have been excluded from this analysis as they have not been characterised and there is no published information on their identities. The remaining proteins that were identified from the sample by having at least one unique peptide per match, were all members of the glutelin multigene family. Two hits were for glutelin proteins with different accession numbers and with different molecular weights (56011 and 56211 Da). Three members of the GluA family of glutelin proteins, GluA1, GluA2 and GluA3 were identified in the sample as well as



#### Figure 4.2 Relative quantification of unidentified protein bands and glutelin subunits

Densitometry to determine relative quantities of two proteins bands from CBB stained gels from the Alb/Glob and Pro storage protein fractions sent for MALDI-TOF/TOF protein identification (A) and relative quantities of Glut subunits in the Glut storage protein fraction (B). Densitometry using Image Lab software (Biorad) was used to quantify the intensity of each band relative to total protein loaded. Values are means + SD (n=3). Significant differences according to One way ANOVAs are \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.



#### Figure 4.3 Relative quantification of prolamin polypeptides and 26kDa globulin

Densitometry to determine relative quantities of prolamin polypeptides from CBB stained gels from Pro storage protein fraction (A) and relative quantity of the 26kDa globulin protein in the Alb/Glob storage protein fraction (B). Densitometry using Image Lab software (Biorad) was used to quantify the intensity of each band relative to total protein loaded. Values are means + SD (n=3). Significant differences according to One way ANOVAs are \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01

#### Table 4.1 Protein identification by analysis of peptide sequences obtained by MALDI-TOF/TOF MS

Bands from CBB stained gels (~ 55kDa band cut from albumin/globulin gel and ~18kDa band cut from prolamin gel) were digested and the resulting peptides analysed by MALDI-TOF/TOF. Only individual ion scores >36 that indicate extensive homology have been included (Statistically significant at p<0.05). Putative uncharacterised protein matches have been excluded.

Fraction	Accession #	Total peptides	Unique peptides	MW (Da)	Protein ID	Seq. coverage %
Alb/Glob	P14323	7	1	56515	GluB1-A	16.2
	A1YQH5	7	1	56011	Glutelin	16.4
	Q02897	7	1	56012	GluB2	16.4
	A1YQG5	4	2	56211	Glutelin	13.0
	P07728	4	1	56212	GluA1	13.0
	P07730	3	1	56271	GluA2	8.0
	Q09151	2	1	55980	GluA3	4.0
Pro	Q10EK7	5	5	17211	OLE18 18kDa	22.1

two members of the GluB family, GluB1 and GluB2. All polypeptides had predicted masses of approximately 56 kDa.

Five unique peptides extracted and identified from the 18 kDa band prepared from the prolamin storage protein fraction aligned to one sequence in the protein database for *Oryza sativa* ssp. japonica. The only protein sequence that was recognised as a statistically significant match to those peptides was OLE18, the rice 18 kDa Oleosin protein. Other peptides identified from the sample had low ions scores, were not statistically significant and hence have not been included in these analyses.

### 4.3.3 Amino acid content and composition

The content of 19 free amino acids was analysed in unpolished and polished rice using LC-MS. Total amino acid content was much higher in unpolished rice samples compared with polished (Table 4.2). Putrescine, taurine and GABA were also measured however their contents were very low and did not vary between plant lines (data not shown). There were trends towards higher Asn and Cys and lower Arg, Pro, Ser, Thr, Tyr and Val in unpolished rice of line G1.4 when compared to both the NT control and line A2.3, however due to the large variation between replicate samples the differences were not significant. The only amino acid that showed any significant change in either transgenic line in unpolished rice was tryptophan (Trp) which was significantly increased in A2.3. The three amino acids with the highest contents, Glu, Asp and Asn were significant increases in Glu and Asn in A2.3. Cys concentration was increased ten-fold and Trp, Tyr, Gln and Lys were also significantly higher in line G1.4 compared to the non-transgenic control.

## 4.3.4 Lipid fractions and fatty acid composition

Total lipid content was not significantly different between plant lines (data not shown). Therefore, fatty acid composition of the lipid fractions triacylglycerols (TAG), phospholipids (PL), free fatty acids (FFA) and total lipids (TL) were compared between the NT control and both SUT-OE lines. The fatty acids were first broadly classified as saturates, monounsaturated FA (MUFA) and polyunsaturated FA (PUFA) (Fig. 4.4). In the TAG lipid fraction, lines G1.4 and A2.3 had lower contents of saturates but higher PUFA content compared to the NT control (Fig. 4.4 A). Likewise in the PL fraction, line G1.4 had lower saturates and the proportion of fatty acids in MUFA and PUFA was not changed in either G1.4 or A2.3 (Fig. 4.4 B). In the FFA fraction, there was no difference

#### Table 4.2 Free amino acid content in polished rice flour analysed by LC-MS

Amino acid contents are arranged from highest to lowest and expressed as mg/100g dry weight basis. Values displayed are means (n=3). Statistically significant differences according to One way ANOVAs are, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

		unpolished		polished				
	NT	G1.4	A2.3	NT	G1.4	A2.3		
Glutamic acid	24.9	20.7	24.1	0.4	1.1***	0.9***		
Aspartic acid	19.1	18.7	21.2	0.3	0.8***	0.6*		
<u>As</u> paragi <u>n</u> e	7.2	19.7	7.3	0.3	0.6*	0.7***		
<u>Arg</u> inine	11.8	5.5	10.5	0.1	0.1	0.1		
<u>Pro</u> line	3.9	1.6	4.6	0.1	0.2	0.1		
<u>Ala</u> nine	3.3	3.3	3.9	0.1	0.2	0.2		
<u>Ser</u> ine	4.2	2.9	4.8	0.1	0.3	0.2		
<u>Cys</u> teine	0.3	1.7	0.4	0.1	0.5**	0.2		
<u>Gly</u> cine	1.7	1.4	2.1	0.04	0.03	0.11		
<u>Tryp</u> tophan	0.9	0.7	1.9***	0.06	0.11***	0.04***		
<u>Thr</u> eonine	1.2	0.6	1.1	0.03	0.05	0.03		
<u>Tyr</u> osine	1.6	0.9	1.6	0.02	0.06***	0.04		
<u>Gl</u> utami <u>n</u> e	0.8	0.7	1.1	0.02	0.04*	0.03		
<u>Val</u> ine	1.1	0.6	0.9	0.02	0.04	0.03		
<u>Lys</u> ine	0.6	0.4	0.6	0.02	0.04*	0.03		
Methionine	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.02	0.03	0.02		
<u>Leu</u> cine	0.7	0.4	0.7	0.02	0.03	0.02		
<u>Phe</u> nylalanine	0.9	0.5	0.7	0.02	0.03	0.02		
<u>I</u> so <u>le</u> ucine	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.01	0.02	0.01		
Totals	85.0	80.8	88.4	1.7	4.2*	2.8		



#### Figure 4.4 Comparison of broad classes of fatty acids distributed into each lipid fraction

Fatty acid compositions are presented for each lipid class; triacylglycerols TAG (A), phospholipids PL (B), free fatty acids FFA (C) and total lipids TL (D). Fatty acids have been divided into classes that relate to their nutritional value to humans, namely saturates, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA). Differences according to two way ANOVAs are significant as follows; \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

in FA profiles amongst the three plant lines (Fig. 4.4 C). The decrease in saturated fatty acids observed in the TAG fraction was responsible for the overall decrease in saturates in the total lipids of G1.4 and A2.3 (Fig. 4.4 D). Notably, the proportion of MUFA was increased in G1.4 in total lipids, even though there was no obvious increase in each lipid fraction. Cumulatively, the slight increases in MUFA in G1.4 of each lipid fraction led to a significant increase when combined.

FA distribution was then further analysed by looking at the proportions of the separate major FA that make up the saturates, MUFA (omega-7 and 9) and PUFA (omega-3 and 6) classes (Table 4.3). The dominant FA in the saturates is palmitic (16:0), followed by much lower contents of myristic (14:0) and stearic (18:0) acids (Table 4.3). Amongst the lipid fractions, the polar lipids (PL) generally had more saturated FA content than the neutral (TAG) and insoluble (FFA) lipids. There was significantly less palmitic acid in both G1.4 and A2.3 in the TAG fraction. The comparatively lower contents of myristic and stearic acids in the three lipid fractions were not different between the three plant lines. Oleic acid (18:1n-9) was the dominant MUFA in all the plant lines, although the proportion of oleic acid in the TAG fraction was higher than in either the PL or FFA fractions. Oleic acid content was similar across all lipid fractions for all plant lines. Eicosenoic acid (20:1n-9) was only detected in the TAG fraction and did not differ between lines. Vaccenic (18:1n-7) and palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7) content was consistently low between plant lines in each lipid fraction.  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3n-3) content was similarly low between all three lipid fractions and between plant lines, ranging from 0.8 to 2.2% of total weight. In contrast, linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6) made up the highest proportion of fatty acids in TAG and FFA, and the second highest in PL and showed the greatest change in the two transgenic lines G1.4 and A2.3. Linoleic acid content was significantly increased in the TAG fraction for both lines compared to NT.

## 4.3.5 Correlations between storage sinks and minerals in polished rice grains

Scatterplots that show the relationship between phytate and P, Fe and Zn in polished rice between plant lines are presented in Fig. 4.5. Correlation coefficients (Pearson's r) for each plant line were computed to determine the strength and direction of the relationships between the variables. Unsurprisingly, there was a very strong positive correlation between phytate and P in all three plant lines (Fig 4.5 A). However, while phytate and Fe was positively correlated in G1.4 and A2.3, there was no correlation between phytate and Fe in the NT control (Fig. 4.5 B). There was also no

#### Table 4.3 Fatty acid composition of lipid classes TAG, PL and FFA

Individual fatty acid composition of the saturates, MUFA and PUFA in each lipid fraction compared between plant lines. Values are means (n=4). Statistically significant differences according to One way ANOVAs are, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. TAG, triacylglycerols; PL, phospholipids; FFA, free FA; MUFA, monounsaturated FA; PUFA, polyunsaturated FA. Fatty acids are myristic (14:0), palmitic (16:0), stearic (18:0), oleic acid (18:1n-9), eicosenoic acid (20:1n-9), palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7), vaccenic (18:1n-7),  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3n-3) and linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6).

			Fatty	tty acid composition of each plant line (weight % of total acids)							
		TAG			PL			FFA			
Fatty acid	NT	G1.4	A2.3	NT	G1.4	A2.3	NT	G1.4	A2.3		
Saturates											
14:0	2.1	1.2	1.0	5.4	4.7	6.3	2.1	2.1	1.9		
16:0	24.7	20.7**	20.0***	43.9	42.6	43.3	17.0	16.7	16.8		
18:0	3.8	2.7	2.6	2.4	2.4	1.9	1.4	1.5	1.2		
MUFA											
18:1n-9	24.8	27.5	28.0	9.4	9.5	8.5	8.0	7.1	6.8		
20:1n-9	0.3	0.4	0.4	-	-	-	-	-	-		
16:1n-7	0.6^	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2		
18:1n-7	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.5	0.5		
PUFA											
18:3n-3	1.4	1.1	1.2	0.8	0.8	0.8	2.2	2.2	2.2		
18:2n-6	35.8	42.1**	43.9**	36.0	37.8	37.2	65.3	65.7	69.1		

^ mean value is skewed by one outlier. Removal of the outlier gives a mean value of 0.2 which is similar to

the other values





Scatterplots were generated to examine the relationships between phytate and P, Fe and Zn concentrations in polished rice grain. Plant lines are represented by symbols as follows; NT (white circles), G1.4 (black circles) and A2.3 (white triangles) for n=9. Statistically significant correlations according to Pearson's r correlation coefficient are \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

correlation between phytate and Zn in any of the plant lines (Fig. 4.5 C). A statistically significant strong positive correlation between P and Fe was found in NT (r=88, p<0.01), G1.4 (r=82, P<0.01) and A2.3 (r=96, p<0.001). (Fig. 4.5 D).

The relationship between crude protein content and S, Zn and Fe concentration was also examined for each plant line. The strong positive correlation between protein content and S concentration in rice endosperm of NT and A2.3 was not observed in line G1.4 (Fig. 4.6 A). Moreover, protein and Zn was positively correlated in NT and A2.3, but not in G1.4 (Fig. 4.6 B). There was no correlation between protein and Fe in any of the plant lines investigated (Fig. 4.6 C). However, there were significant positive correlations between S and Zn concentration in NT (r=83, p<0.01), G1.4 (r=77, P<0.05) and A2.3 (r=94, p<0.001) (Fig. 4.6 D).

### 4.3.6 Phytate and mineral bioavailability

The phytate concentration of both transgenic lines, G1.4 and A2.3 was significantly higher than the control NT line (Table 4.4). Similarly, the P concentrations determined by ICP-OES were also higher in the transgenic lines, but P concentrations were lower than corresponding phytate concentrations in both transgenic lines. As determined previously (Chapter 3), there was no change in Zn and Fe concentrations between the plant lines. In addition, Ca concentration was the same in NT, G1.4 and A2.3 plant lines.

Higher phytate concentrations in polished rice of G1.4 and A2.3 compared to NT are reflected in the corresponding phytate:Zn and phyate:Ca ratios for these two lines. While the phyate:Zn ratios were higher in G1.4 and A2.3, the ratios for all three lines were below the critical level (<18). The phytate:Ca ratios on the other hand were much higher than the critical level (<0.24) in all three lines. The phytate x Ca/Zn molar ratios for all three lines were below the critical value (<200), even though the transgenic lines G1.4 and A2.3 were higher than NT. In contrast, phytate:Fe ratios for NT, G1.4 and A2.3 were 93.3, 73.2 and 128.9 respectively, which are much higher than the desirable limit of <1. It is noteworthy that the phytate:Fe molar ratio in line G1.4 was not significantly different from the NT line despite the higher phytate concentrations and lack of measurable change in Fe concentrations between these two lines.

### 4.3.7 Growth and yield comparisons

To analyse the multi-generational effects of *HvSUT1* overexpression on rice plants, seedling growth parameters were monitored from germination to 30 days DAT. All plant lines displayed approximately 100% germination and healthy seedlings were able to be transferred to soil 7 days after germination. Shoot and root dry weight was

CHAPTER 4





Scatterplots were generated to examine the relationships between protein content and S, Zn and Fe concentrations in polished rice grain. Plant lines are represented by symbols as follows; NT (white circles), G1.4 (black circles) and A2.3 (white triangles) for n=9. Statistically significant correlations according to Pearson's r correlation coefficient are \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

#### Table 4.4 Nutrient content and bioavailability estimated by phytate:mineral ratios

Phytate and mineral contents in polished rice and phytate:mineral molar ratios as indirect estimates of micronutrient bioavailability. Values are means  $\pm$  SD (n=9). Statistically significant differences according to One way ANOVAs are, \* p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. Desirable limits of phytate:mineral ratios obtained from Fordyce *et al.* (1987), Ma *et al.*(2007) and Gibson *et al.* (2010).

	Nutrient content (mg/100g dry weight)								
	NT	G1.4	A2.3						
Phytate	85.3 ± 14.43	157.3 ± 27.82***	188.4 ± 40.2***						
Р	88.4 ± 6.39	104.8 ± 8.14**	114.9 ± 10.80***						
Zn	2.6 ± 0.38	2.9 ± 0.22	2.9 ± 0.35						
Fe	0.1 ± 0.01	0.2 ± 0.13	0.1 ± 0.06						
Са	6.2 ± 0.79	6.2 ± 0.68	6.3 ± 0.47						
	Phytate:mineral molar ratio								
	NT	G1.4	A2.3						
Phytate:Zn (<18)	$3.2 \pm 0.48$	5.4 ± 0.87***	6.4 ± 1.21***						
Phytate:Fe (<1.0)	93.3 ± 10.81	73.2 ± 31.53	128.9 ± 28.13*						
Phytate:Ca (<0.24)	0.9 ± 0.21	1.5 ± 0.24***	1.9 ± 0.45***						
Phytate x Ca:Zn (<200)	$0.5 \pm 0.08$	0.8 ± 0.18***	1.0 ± 0.15***						





Destructive analysis of seedling dry weights of shoots (A) and roots (B) and root length (C) was carried out at 7, 14 and 21 days after transplant (DAT). Seedling height (D) was also recorded from 0 to 30 DAT. Bars represent means + SD (n=4) and height values are means (n=16). Significant differences according to two way ANOVAs are, \*\*p<0.01

indistinguishable at 7 DAT between all three lines (Fig. 4.7). Shoot dry weight of seedlings measured at 7, 15 and 21 DAT was not significantly different between non-transgenic NT and transgenic G1.4 and A2.3 lines. Line G1.4, however, showed a trend toward higher shoot dry weight at 15 DAT, while line A2.3 was lower than NT (Fig 4.7 A). Root dry weight was not different between the three lines at 7 or 15 DAT, however, at 21 DAT, root dry weight was significantly higher in G1.4 (Fig. 4.7 B). There was no significant difference in root length at 7, 15 or 21 DAT. Seedling height was similar between all three lines from transplant to soil until 30 DAT (Fig. 4.7 C).

Under greenhouse conditions, plants from the different lines showed no significant differences in the number of days to reach anthesis or maturity (Table 4.5). Although there was a trend for decreased plant height at the end of the vegetative stage and higher final straw weight in A2.3, the differences were not significant when compared to the non-transgenic NT or G1.4 lines. There were more panicles per plant in the transgenic lines A2.3 and G1.4 than the non-transgenic NT line, however the panicle length was decreased in A2.3. There was also highly significant decreases in the number of filled grains and the percentage grain fill of panicles from line A2.3. As a consequence, grain yield per plant was significantly lower in this line. There was no change in the number or percentage of filled grains between NT and G1.4. Compared with the non-transgenic line, grain yield per plant was higher in line G1.4, however the increase was not statistically significant. In contrast, 100 grain weight was significantly decreased in line G1.4 and A2.3.

#### 4.4 Discussion

Changes in the protein profile, amino acid and fatty acid composition of *HvSUT1* expressing rice would have potential impacts on the nutritional quality of the rice grains. These nutritional changes could have implications for human health if such a rice variety were to be developed for human consumption. Sucrose is the primary assimilate transported to rice grains and a substrate for the synthesis of a range of grain storage products. Hence, it is crucial to examine a range of effects on rice engineered to have changes in sucrose transport. Rice grains overexpressing *HvSUT1* in the present study were shown to exhibit a range of changes in grain storage product content and composition did not appear to affect the growth of the next generation of developing rice seedlings. However, mature plants expressing *HvSUT1* showed a range of unexpected changes in yield parameters that were different between the constitutive

#### Table 4.5. Comparison of growth and yield of plants transformed with HvSUT1 and nontransgenic controls

Growth and yield components of  $T_2$  non-transgenic NT and transgenic G1.4 and A2.3 plants grown in a greenhouse were measured during development and maturity. Values are means ± SD (n=16). Statistically significant differences according to One way ANOVAs are, \* p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

Variable				Plan	e (T <sub>2</sub> )				
-	NT			G1.4			A2.3		
Days to anthesis	55.4	±	2.48	54.4	±	2.55	54.4	±	3.18
Days to maturity	60.0	±	2.83	60.6	±	2.90	61.9	±	3.72
Plant height	85.1	±	4.61	82.6	±	4.53	80.4	±	5.33
Straw weight (g)	9.8	±	1.50	9.9	±	1.23	10.7	±	1.26
Panicle number	9.6	±	1.75	11.7	±	1.35**	11.3	±	3.03*
Panicle length (cm)	16.6	±	0.93	16.9	±	0.96	15.3	±	1.2**
No. filled grains	56.5	±	9.88	53.4	±	5.99	38.5	±	9.99***
Grain fill (%)	87.8	±	7.47	83.2	±	5.61	72.9	±	8.41***
100 grain weight (g)	2.19	±	0.10	2.06	±	0.09***	2.12	±	0.08*
Yield per plant (g)	11.7	±	2.43	12.8	±	2.17	9.2	±	2.45**

and endosperm driven lines, which implies that the changes may be attributable to the temporal and spatial differences in sucrose transport.

# 4.4.1 Differential changes in storage protein fractions in rice endosperm

Profiles of total rice storage proteins were similar between plant lines when examined on CBB stained gels. However, rice storage protein fractions extracted sequentially from polished rice flour revealed a number of differences in protein profiles between NT and transgenic rice lines. The albumins and globulins were extracted together with a saline solution and there was a more noticeably prominent band at 55 kDa in G1.4. Densitometry confirmed that there was significantly more protein at this molecular weight in G1.4 compared with NT or A2.3, and within this size range peptide mass fingerprinting using MALDI-TOF/TOF detected a number of polypeptides. Surprisingly however, they were identified as members of the glutelin family of proteins, including components of the GluA and GluB subfamilies (Kawakatsu et al., 2008). Specifically, uncleaved immature glutelin precursor protein normally resolves at 55 kDa (Yamagata, 1982). This was puzzling as glutelin proteins are not normally extractable in saline solutions. However, this phenomenon has been observed before by Wakasa et al. (2009). Their results led them to determine that the glutelin precursor is assembled as a trimer made up of GluA and/or GluB subunits and that this saline soluble complex requires further processing in planta to form a more complex mature glutelin protein. Mature acidic and basic subunits of the mature glutelin are held together by the interaction of strong disulphide bonds and require alkaline solutions for solubilisation, and the subunits can only be resolved using a reducing agent such as βME (Wakasa et al., 2009). Hence, proteins extracted sequentially from rice flour with glutelin buffer containing  $\beta$ ME showed the expected bands corresponding to glutelin acidic and basic subunits, and densitometry revealed that there was a decrease in abundance of GluB acidic subunits with no change in basic GluA subunits in G1.4. Taken together, the greater abundance of saline soluble proglutelin and the changes in the proportion of GluB acidic subunits to basic GluA subunits in G1.4 suggests that there is an accumulation of the glutelin precursor, specifically immature GluB, in grains from this line. The changes in glutelin protein observed in G1.4 were not evident in the constitutive *HvSUT1* overexpressing line A2.3. These results suggest that *HvSUT1* expression specifically in rice endosperm affects glutelin protein accumulation in rice, possibly due to disruption of normal processing of the precursor glutelin into its mature subunits and/or the formation of PSVs.

PSVs contain both glutelins and globulins that are synthesized and packaged together (Takahashi *et al.*, 2005). The abundant 26 kDa globulin storage protein was noticeable in the Alb/Glob protein fraction extracted from rice flour and appeared similar in all plant lines when analysed by CBB staining. However, densitometry revealed that the 26kDa globulin was significantly decreased in G1.4 compared with NT and also slightly decreased in A2.3. Since globulins are thought to provide the framework in PSVs (Kawakatsu *et al.*, 2010), it is possible that with less globulin, the processing and inclusion of mature glutelin into PSVs was hindered, resulting in the build-up of immature pro-glutelin and decline in mature basic subunits in G1.4. It has been shown that mis-targeting of globulin RNA dramatically alters the packaging of both globulin and glutelin proteins in the PSV, with small globulin particles irregularly distributed in the cell cytoplasm (Washida *et al.*, 2012). Compared with G1.4, the slight decrease in globulin protein in A2.3 was not associated with a decrease in glutelin, hence it is likely processing and accumulation of mature glutelin into PSV was not affected in the constitutively driven *HvSUT1* line.

Weichert *et al.* (2010) observed increased prolamin accumulation in wheat overexpressing *HvSUT1*. However, they did not separate out the different prolamin polypeptides for analysis. In this study, prolamin was extracted from rice and examined by separating polypeptides on CBB stained gels. The abundance of the 16 kDa prolamin subunit was increased in G1.4 and A2.3 but only significantly in G1.4, while the 10-14 kDa polypeptides were the same between plant lines. Hence, in rice and wheat overexpressing *HvSUT1*, prolamin was increased. However, in rice this is attributed to an increase in the sulphur rich 16 kDa prolamin polypeptide (Mitsukawa *et al.*, 1999). Kawakatsu *et al.* (2010) hypothesized that the content of sulphur containing amino acids highly regulates the proportions of storage proteins in rice because reduced prolamin results in increased globulin and glutelin and conversely rice with less PSV protein (globulin and glutelins) accumulate more prolamin. In transgenic line G1.4, an increase in sulphur rich prolamin is associated with a decrease in sulphur rich globulin (Krishnan *et al.*, 1992) thus the redistribution of sulphur in the grain appears to be in agreement with findings by Kawakatsu *et al.* (2010).

There is a large body of evidence gathered from studying storage protein mutants (Nagamine *et al.*, 2011), or transgenic plants (Kawakatsu *et al.*, 2010), that storage protein composition in cereal grains is in equilibrium such that increases in storage proteins of one type is compensated by decreases in other types. Furthermore, the regulation of protein synthesis may be limited by redistribution of the available amino acids as to maintain the total seed nitrogen.

# 4.4.2 Stimulatory effects of sucrose on amino acid metabolism or transport

Weichert *et al.* (2010) saw strongly up-regulated expression of genes essential in amino acid synthesis at later grain filling in wheat grains transformed with *HvSUT1*. However, while they measured lower levels of Asp and Glu in later stages of grain filling, *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice had the same levels of these AA in mature unpolished rice and accumulated more Glu, Asp, Asn and Gln in mature rice endosperm. These four amino acids are central to the regulation of N metabolism in plants and are involved in multiple processes including carbon/nitrogen partitioning and synthesis of other AA (Tabuchi *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, Glu and Asn are the dominant free AA found in rice phloem sap (Fukumorita and Chino, 1981; Hayashi and Chino, 1990) and are important nitrogen sources remobilised from leaves to grains at maturity (Osaki *et al.*, 1992). Hence, the concurrent increases in these four AA in line G1.4 suggests that the increased sink of rice grains overexpressing *HvSUT1* in endosperm appears to promote the accumulation of amino acids and/or differentially stimulate pathways leading to the synthesis of amino acids derived from this metabolic network (Yamakawa *et al.*, 2010).

Trp and Tyr, both aromatic amino acids, are products of the Shikimate pathway and are in turn, important precursors of secondary plant metabolites such as antioxidants and plant hormones (Tzin and Galili, 2010). Significant increases of both these AA in line G1.4 could be explained in a number of ways. Increased carbon flux could either have stimulated Trp and Tyr synthesis and/or inhibited the downstream processing of these AA into their respective metabolites. In addition, evidence exists that there are numerous feedback loops in the biosynthetic pathways that these aromatic AAs are involved in inhibiting or stimulating (for detailed review of these, see Tzin and Galili, 2010). What is clear is that these effects were only observed in rice endosperm by endosperm specific expression of HvSUT1. In contrast, line A2.3 had much higher Trp in unpolished rice but lower Trp content in polished rice compared with NT controls, which implies that Trp preferentially accumulated in the aleurone and/or the embryo and was removed after polishing. Therefore constitutive expression of *HvSUT1* resulted in a very different pattern of aromatic AA accumulation. Trp is an important precursor for Indole Acetic Acid (IAA), a plant hormone critical for plant growth and development including normal growth of rice embryos (Sazuka et al., 2009). The effects, if any, of the changed distribution of Trp in rice grain on seedling growth of A2.3 will be discussed in section 4.4.6.

Increased free Cys in G1.4, a sulphur rich AA, suggests that there was increased stimulation of Cys synthesis which indirectly implies changes in sulphur reduction and processing in the grain. Weichert *et al.* (2010) suggested that increased sucrose uptake capacity increases sulphate assimilation in wheat. There was no obvious overall decrease in sulphur rich proteins in G1.4, therefore excess Cys was probably not due to a breakdown in storage protein synthesis and could reflect an over-stimulated production of sulphur-rich AA in the grain due to excess carbon or increased Cys uptake into transgenic grains.

Lysine is an essential amino acid that makes up less than 1% of total grain nitrogen in most cereals (Shewry, 2007), and hence is often a target for studies striving to improve the nutritional content of cereal grains. Line G1.4 had significantly higher free Lys content in polished rice grains. Kawakatsu *et al.* (2010) suggested that the glutelin/prolamin protein ratio could be a determinant of higher lysine in seeds, however this is in relation to total amino acid content. Higher content of free Asp in G1.4, a precursor for Lys, along with higher Lys indicates the distinct activation of this particular branch of AA biosynthesis.

Like others have reported (Schaeffer and Sharpe 1997; Shewry, 2007), the free amino acid (AA) content measured in mature polished rice grain was generally very low as most AAs in grain had been incorporated into storage proteins. Together with storage protein content, the free AA in mature grain can give an indirect indication of the nitrogen status of the whole plant at maturity as AAs are translocated from the stem and leaf reserves of nitrogen into grains at senescence (Osaki et al., 1992). The increased free amino acid pool in rice grains and the changes in storage proteins most likely indicate that increased sucrose flux due to *HvSUT1* overexpression resulted in modifications to normal nitrogen metabolism. A large free amino acid pool in cereal grains could also be related to decreased protein content or could indicate a disruption in storage protein synthesis (Schaeffer and Sharpe 1997). For example, Ashida et al. (2006) knocked down globulin protein expression in rice which resulted in an increase in total free amino acid content in the grain. Likewise, maize mutants impaired in zein (analogous to rice prolamin) synthesis, had higher concentrations of AA (Wang and Larkins, 2001). However, in this study there was no clear association between increased free AA content and decreased storage protein content in HvSUT1 overexpressing rice. There was no evidence that there was less storage protein content in either G1.4 or A2.3 or decreased total crude protein (see Chapter 3) in polished rice of transgenic rice grains. However, changes in protein profiles and content of some amino acids suggest that different branches of the amino acid biosynthetic pathways were differentially affected. Therefore, in agreement with Weichert et al. (2010),

increased carbon supply results in changes in metabolic processes in the grains, although the extent and consequences of those changes varies between wheat and rice.

## 4.4.3 Lipid and fatty acid distribution and oil bodies in *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice

The contribution of FA to the total nutritional content of rice is low however interactions between rice lipids and starch can have implications for rice quality and storage and human health (Yoshida *et al.*, 2011; Liu *et al.*, 2013). In Arabidopsis seeds that accumulate more fatty acids than rice, Baud *et al.* (2005) measured a decrease in fatty acids and a change in fatty acid profile of an AtSUC5 mutant that had decreased sucrose transport in the endosperm. Oats also accumulate lipids in the endosperm, which is unusual for a cereal, and can switch carbon partitioning from starch to lipid synthesis during the course of grain development (Banas *et al.*, 2007). These examples provide some points for comparison and insights into the partitioning of sucrose into oils and lipids that could potentially be affected by changing the sucrose uptake capacity in rice.

Lipid extracts are classified according to their fractionation by thin layer chromatography. The three most abundant lipids are TAG, PL and FFA (Yoshida *et al.*, 2011). Proportions of the major lipid classes were divided into broad components for comparison of fatty acid composition of polished rice between the rice lines. An increase in the FFA content of rice is often used to assess improper storage of harvested rice (Yasumatsu and Moritaka, 1964). The consistency of the FFA (insoluble lipid) proportions across all plant lines in the present study indicate that there was no differential change in the deterioration of rice grain lipids between samples. Free fatty acids are thought to associate with the surface of starch granules while bound lipids are located inside starch granules where they are complexed with amylose (Zhou *et al.*, 2003).

Of the bound lipids, there was a decrease in saturated FA concurrent with an increase in PUFA observed in both transgenic lines in the TAG (neutral lipid) fraction. Upon further inspection, the changes were due specifically to a 15 to 20% decrease in palmitic acid (16:0) and a significant increase of 17 to 22% of the proportion of linoleic acid, also known as omega 6 (18:2n-6), in each sample. The proportional decrease in saturated 16:0 and increase in the PUFA 18:2n-6 suggests that particular processes in fatty acid elongation and desaturation has been stimulated. Broadly speaking, fatty acid chains are lengthened by the addition of two carbon groups aided by the activity of the enzymes acetyl-CoA carboxylase and fatty acid synthetase (Rawsthorne, 2002).

Specifically, KASII, a member of the  $\beta$ -ketoacyl-carrier protein (ACP) synthases, controls the conversion of 16:0 to 18:0 in fatty acid biosynthesis (Pidkowich *et al.*, 2006). In addition, PUFAs are synthesized from saturated fatty acids by the activity of desaturases. In soybean, the seed specific *FAD2-1* gene that encodes an  $\omega$ -6 desaturase plays a major role in PUFA conversion in seed development (Heppard *et al.*, 1996). It is possible that similar processes are altered due to increased sucrose supply in HvSUT1 overexpressing rice grains, leading to the changes observed in lipid composition.

In the present study, PL in the endosperm of all the plants analysed was composed mostly of palmitic (~43%), followed by linoleic (~36-37%) and a small proportion of oleic acid (18:1n-9) (8-9%) which is consistent with rice FA reported in Liu *et al.* (2013). There were no significant changes in the proportion of individual fatty acids from the PL fraction between plant lines although the total saturated fatty acids in the PL fraction of G1.4 was slightly decreased. Hence the modest changes in fatty acids composition in the transgenic rice lines was mostly due to changes in the TAG fraction of lipids.

Lipids are present as components of oil bodies in seeds. In oil bodies extracted from seeds from a wide range of plant species, it was found that neutral lipids (TAG) make up approximately 94 to 98% of the oil body structure, along with much lower proportions of proteins, PL and FFA (Tzen et al., 1993). One of the non-lipid components of the oil body is the Oleosin (OLE) protein, that Tzen et al. (1992) suggests is crucial for stabilising the shell of the oil body. They propose that seed oil bodies are filled with TAG and held together by a PL shell associated with embedded OLE proteins in a 80:20 ratio. *HvSUT1* overexpression in wheat was found to alter the expression of a group of genes including storage proteins and oleosin (Weichert et al., **2010**). The promoter regions of the oleosin genes share conserved sequences that are extremely similar to those found in storage protein promoter sequences which suggest similar regulation, perhaps by the same or similar transcription factors that may be expressed at specific time points during rice grain development (Wu et al., 1998). In the present study, an 18 kDa OLE protein was identified from the prolamin storage protein fraction extracted from polished rice grains, and which was considerably more abundant in both transgenic lines, but particularly in G1.4. This was an unexpected finding as oil bodies are generally found in the aleurone and embryo of rice grains, with very little oil distributed in the endosperm (Wu et al., 1998b). However, since the change in protein abundance was clearly visible in the polished rice samples in the CBB stained gel, the increase in OLE abundance was therefore significant. One reason why changes in TAG and OLE are observed together could be because they are assembled together in the seed during seed development (Wu et al., 1998b). Accumulation of TAG

and OLE occurs together in the seed during seed maturation (Tzen *et al.* 1993) and TAG:OLE ratios have been found to affect the size of oil bodies in many plant species (Wu *et al.*, 2010). Tzen *et al.* (1993) also speculate that oil body size is related to the nutritional status of the plant and reliant on the available assimilates for conversion into storage products. Furthermore, evidence from oats suggests that regulation of sucrose partitioning determines final oil composition of grains (Banas *et al.*, 2007). Thus increased sucrose partitioning in rice could potentially stimulate genes or modify downstream processes in FA biosynthesis. Consequently, significant changes in the proportions of fatty acids in the TAG lipid fraction and the increase in OLE, particularly in rice grains overexpressing *HvSUT1*, suggests that oil body distribution and synthesis has been affected by sucrose.

## 4.4.4 Speciation of Fe and Zn in *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice

Phytate is thought to be localized to the aleurone and embryo of cereal grains and therefore removed with polishing (Prom-u-thai et al., 2008). However, although high resolution sub-cellular imaging of the distribution of Fe in cereals has shown that Fe is strongly associated with phytate in the aleurone, phytate also is present as uncharacterised complexes associated with starch grains in endosperm cells (Moore et al., 2012). In addition, Iwai et al. (2012) found OsIPK1 mRNA and OsIPK1 protein, which catalyses the final step of phytic acid synthesis, in endosperm cells. These studies provide convincing evidence that support starchy endosperm cell involvement in phytate synthesis and storage. Furthermore, like other grain storage products, synthesis of InsP6 involves glucose-6-phosphate (Glc-6-P), an intermediate derived from sucrose (Suzuki *et al.*, 2007). In the present study, rice grains were over-polished so that a large proportion of the outer layers were removed ( $\sim 20\%$  of grain weight) to thoroughly remove contaminating aleurone and subaleurone tissues from endosperm. Thus, the increased phytate content in the endosperm of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice seeds could be due to a stimulation of phytate synthesis in response to increased sugar supply.

Relationships between Fe, Zn, phytate and protein in polished rice endosperm were examined in order to compare the speciation of these micronutrients in rice grains transformed with *HvSUT1* with non-transgenic rice. Rice nutrient quality is determined by a number of seed components including S containing storage proteins (Hagan *et al.*, 2002) and phytate, which is the main storage form of P in cereals (Hunt, 2003). S and P have been found to correlate with Zn and Fe in wheat, respectively

(Zhao *et al.*, 2009). There was a very strong positive correlation between P and phytate concentrations in the plant lines in this study. It is known that a range of cations, including Fe and Zn, are strongly associated with phytate, however it is not known whether phytate has a preference for binding particular cations (Iwai *et al.*, 2012). The present study revealed strong positive correlations between phytate and Fe, and showed that there was no correlation between phytate and Zn in the endosperm of grains from the transgenic lines. These results suggest that phytate binds preferentially to Fe, rather than Zn, in the endosperm of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice grains. However, while there was a strong correlation between P and Fe for all three lines, there appeared to be no significant correlation between phytate and Fe in the non-transgenic control. These results were surprising, and given the unlikely conclusion that phytate was not associated with Fe in the controls, a closer examination of the data was undertaken. The scatterplot of phytate and Fe in polished grains (Fig. 4.5 B) shows one particular NT line had a low value for Fe (0.7 mg/kg) which had a significant effect on the correlation coefficient. Other mineral concentrations for this line were consistent with the other NT replicates hence this Fe value was either a true value or an unforeseen experimental error had occurred. Regardless, a repeat of the analysis and/or analysing larger number of replicates would help in resolving this issue.

S is an important component of seed storage proteins from a nutritional aspect and S incorporation into protein in rice seeds has been demonstrated by radioactive labelling of developing rice panicles (Luthe, 1983). Relationships between protein, S and the micronutrients Zn and Fe were explored here to determine the relationships between these grain components. There was no correlation between S and Fe concentration in rice endosperm, which agrees with findings by Hansen et al. (2012) who mapped the differential distribution of these two elements in rice grain. There was very strong correlation between protein content and S concentration in the NT and A2.3 lines, however there was no correlation in G1.4. Protein content and Zn concentration were also strongly positively correlated in NT and A2.3, however there was no correlation in G1.4. There was, however, a strong positive correlation between S and Zn concentration in all three lines. These findings suggest that in line G1.4, a proportion of the S in the endosperm was not associated with proteins and that the Zn was preferentially associating with these non-protein forms of S. There is a complex range of Zn and S-ligand interactions in grain tissues (Perrson *et al.*, 2009). It has been postulated that Zn can be associating with Cys in glutathione (GSH) and metallothioneins (MT) or complexed with nicotianimine (NA) (Haydon and Cobbett, 2007; Tauris et al., 2009; Nishiyama et al., 2012), though this has primarily been
discussed in relation to phloem and long distance transport. In the endosperm, Zn is thought to be bound to phytate and NA (Tauris *et al.*, 2009), although the present study does not support the association of Zn with phytate in rice endosperm. Significantly higher Cys content in line G1.4 could indicate that Zn could be binding to S-rich free Cys, GSH or MT in this line. In NT controls and A2.3 on the other hand, Zn appeared to be associated primarily with protein. There was also no evidence that Fe and protein was associated in the rice endosperm.

In agreement with Persson *et al.* (2009) evidence from the present study suggests that Fe and Zn are differentially associated with phytate and protein respectively in rice grain. However, it is hypothesized that increased sucrose flux into rice endosperm by endosperm specific *HvSUT1* expression, changed the proportion of S-rich ligands in the form of Cys containing metabolites, thereby changing the speciation of Zn. Line A2.3 behaved similarly to NT controls as Cys content was not changed by constitutive expression of *HvSUT1* and Zn was correlated with proteins in both these lines. Iwai *et al.* (2012) found that Zn and phytate were not distributed together in rice grains when examined by  $\mu$ -XRF, which is in agreement with data presented in this study. Colocation of S and Zn together in the endosperm and P and Fe in the aleurone of rice could also explain the strong association between these elements (Hansen *et al.*, 2012).

# 4.4.5 Bioavailability is unchanged in rice transformed with *HvSUT1*

Apart from the critical roles of phytate in seed viability (Raboy *et al.*, 2001), phytate is a strong chelator of mineral ions and is therefore considered an anti-nutrient affecting the absorption of micronutrients in human diets (Lonnerdal *et al.*, 2000; Lott *et al.*, 2000). Conversely, some evidence suggests phytate also has important antioxidant and anti-cancer properties (Graf *et al.*, 1987). Therefore, a balance in the phytate and micronutrients in cereals is required to ensure bioavailability of micronutrients while still retaining adequate phytate favourable for human and plant health. In this context, phytate concentration was measured and calculations of the relative molar ratios of phytate and important micronutrients was undertaken to determine the potential nutritional impact of rice transformed in this study.

The significantly higher phytate (InsP6) in the endosperm of the transgenic lines mirrored the significantly higher P in these two lines. Total phytate contents for the rice reported in this study are consistent with phytate contents of natural rice varieties reported in Ma *et al.* (2007). However, the higher phytate content compared to P in G1.4 and A2.3 implies that phytate content had been overestimated. In other

methods for estimating phytate, overestimation can arise from the measurement of lower inositol phosphates (InsP1 to InsP5). However, the method used in this study is able to distinguish InsP6, and is therefore not likely to contribute to phytate overestimation. There is some evidence that increased fat content of samples can lead to interference with the assay (Talamond *et al.*, 2000). The polished rice flour samples in this study were not defatted prior to extraction, and although the lipid contents were low, it is possible that they could have contributed to overestimation of phytate, particularly in the transgenic rice samples. Despite this, P content was higher in these two lines and P correlates strongly with phytate so it can be concluded that although the values may be a slight overestimation, phytate was higher in the transgenic lines compared with NT.

To determine whether increased phytate in the transgenic lines had consequences for the bioavailability of Fe and Zn, a number of calculations of phytate:mineral molar ratios were used for comparison. The molar ratios of phytate:minerals in rice calculated in this study are similar to those reported in Ma et al. (2007). Although phytate: Zn ratios of lines G1.4 and A2.3 were significantly higher than NT, their values were still below the desirable threshold of 18 proposed by Fordyce et al. (1987) and Gibson et al. (2010). Hence, increased phytate in the transgenic rice is estimated to have little effect on Zn bioavailability. In some cases, it has been found that phytate x Ca:Zn is a better estimate of Zn bioavailability rather than phytate:Zn (Fordyce et al., 1987). Hence the contribution of Ca in reducing Zn absorption was also explored. Again, the significantly higher values calculated for G1.4 and A2.3 did not affect the Zn bioavailability as all values were <200. In contrast, all plant lines exceeded the limits for phytate:Fe and phytate:Ca molar ratios which implies that absorption of Fe and Ca are inhibited at usual levels of phytate and minerals found in rice grain. Therefore, the modest increase in phytate in transgenic rice expressing *HvSUT1* did not affect the already low bioavailability of these minerals. The low bioavailability of Fe and Ca, and high bioavailability of Zn in rice predicted from the present study is corroborated by values calculated from a range of raw and cooked rice products from Malaysia (Norhaizan and Nor Faizadatul, 2009) and China (Ma et al., 2007).

## 4.4.6 Nutrient changes in grains changes yield parameters in transgenic rice plants

In order to determine if increased sucrose capacity and changes in nutrient composition and distribution in transgenic rice grains had any effects on the growth or development of plants overexpressing HvSUT1, growth and yield parameters were measured between the lines. Plant development, as defined by the number of days for plants to reach anthesis and maturity, was not changed in the transgenic lines compared to the non-transgenic line. Plant height and straw weight was highly variable, and therefore the changes in these parameters were not significantly different between plant lines. However, yield parameters did show some interesting changes. In both rice lines overexpressing *HvSUT1* in endosperm and constitutively, there was a significant increase in the number of panicles per plant, which was also observed in a larger scale study on field grown wheat plants overexpressing HvSUT1 (Saalbac et al., 2014). Increased nutrition to the whole plant promoting the growth of more tillers could explain this phenomenon in A2.3. Although HvSUT1 expression should be limited to the endosperm in G1.4, it is possible that there could be leaky expression of the *Glb-1* promoter in vegetative tissues as observed by Wu et al., (1998) and Qu and Takaiwa (2004). Carbohydrate supply and its effects on plant architecture, including tiller number were explored in Lafarge *et al.* (2010). They found that rice plant phenotypes were highly responsive to manipulations in sugar supply and that biomass in early vegetative stages was preferentially allocated to leaf elongation and tiller emergence. Thus, it is possible that increased sucrose flux could have promoted the growth of a greater number of tillers in the transformed rice in this study.

In A2.3, the increase in panicle number is associated with a decrease in panicle length, grain filling and number of filled grains as well as grain weight. Hence, the perceived advantage in the greater number of panicles is not realised due to a decrease in the other yield parameters. Unexpectedly, constitutive expression of *HvSUT1* had negative effects on yield. However, possible negative effects from plant transformation on the constitutive driven line also cannot be ruled out. Further analysis of more generations of plant lines is necessary to determine if these findings are consistent. In G1.4, there was no decrease in panicle length, grain filling and filled grains. In contrast to Saalbac *et al.* (2014) who recorded significant increases in thousand grain weight of wheat expressing endosperm specific *HvSUT1*, transgenic rice in this study had substantially smaller grains. Unlike A2.3 this did not translate to lower plant yields in G1.4 due to the increased number of panicles. Unlike in wheat, grain size in rice is limited by the husk (Yoshida, 1976), therefore it appears that increased sucrose cannot be utilized in grain expansion, and thus changes in sucrose partitioning could explain the wide range of changes observed in storage product composition in G1.4.

Overall, germination, seedling height and root length, did not vary significantly between plant lines. The contribution of grain nutrient stores on seedling growth would be expected to show some difference 7 days after germination, before seedlings were transferred to soil. Seedling height, however, was the same across all lines. Although not all changes were significant, the data for seedling shoot and root dry weight suggests that the grains from G1.4 plants had a growth advantage particularly between 14 and 21 DAT. Line A2.3 on the other hand showed a slight delay in dry weight accumulation, with seedlings at 15 DAT having lower shoot and root dry weights, although the changes were not significant and the dry weights were similar to NT by 21 DAT. Any effect of the transgene on G1.4 seedlings can be attributed to the changes in the nutrient content in the grain whereas in A2.3, constitutive expression of *HvSUT1* could have a more direct effect on seedling growth. Constitutive knockdown of OsSUT1 was shown to reduce rice seed germination and growth (Scofield *et al.*, 2002) while *SUT1* expression in the rice embryo is positively regulated by sugars (Matsukura et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2010). Therefore enhanced germination and seedling growth due to increased sucrose supply to the embryo would be expected for line A2.3. However, there did not appear to be any definitive changes in seedling growth between lines that could be explained by these observations. Indeed, G1.4 showed more potential stimulation of seedling growth, and hence it is more likely that enhanced nutrient content of the grain was a greater factor in enhancing seedling vigour. However, the modest growth advantage in G1.4 does not emphasize the positive effects of increased mineral nutrients and seedling vigour or more long term crop productivity (Graham et al., 1999; Welch and Graham 2002). These effects may not be evident in a pot trial in a greenhouse where environmental conditions are controlled and nutrients are not limiting, hence the need for more trials of this material grown under field conditions, especially in mineral depleted soils. Other traits such as grain growth could also be measured to compare plant lines, and together with evidence from sucrose uptake data (Chapter 3), may provide a clearer picture of the effects of enhanced sucrose supply, not just on plant growth but also grain development.

#### 4.5 Conclusions

A number of striking changes in the storage product content and composition of rice grains transformed with the *HvSUT1* transgene suggests that increasing sucrose flux in rice can modify a range of metabolic processes leading to modifications in storage protein, free amino acid, lipid and fatty acid contents in rice grains. Furthermore, yield impacts of *HvSUT1* expression in plants was explored, however the results were inconclusive. Further investigation is required on larger samples of more independent transgenic lines to explore the complex relationships between seed storage products and seedling growth.

171

In terms of human nutrition, a number of changes in transgenic rice overexpressing *HvSUT1* impacted positively on the nutritional quality of the rice grains. For example, the higher levels of 16kDa prolamin and increased free Cys content in the G1.4 line, both contribute to higher sulphur in the seed. It is thought that Cys peptides can enhance the absorption of non-haem iron in humans (Lucca *et al.*, 2001). In addition, grains from this plant line were also higher in other essential amino acids, namely tyrosine, glutamine and lysine. The increased distribution of polyunsaturated fatty acids in TAG fraction of polished rice in both transgenic lines also has implications for human health. The health benefits of the essential Omega 3 and Omega 6 fatty acids have been widely publicised. Scientifically, a number of studies have attributed positive impacts of Omega 6 on lowering cholesterol and cardiovascular disease (see Simopolous *et al.*, 2002). The phytate content in the endosperm was increased in the transgenic rice, although it does not appear to impact on the inherent bioavailability of micronutrients.

The evidence presented here suggests that manipulating sucrose transport in rice can be one strategy that can be utilised to change grain composition potentially with positive outcomes for human nutrition.

#### **General Discussion**

This aim of this research was to investigate the effect of increasing sucrose transport to grain as a biofortification strategy for altering the nutritional content of polished rice. To study sucrose effects on nutritional components of rice grains, the main objectives of this research were to:

- Generate and fully characterise independent transgenic rice lines overexpressing the barley *HvSUT1* transgene,
- Investigate the effects of potentially increased sucrose transport in transgenic rice on the plant phenotype, and the concentration, content and distribution of nutrients in the rice grain.

#### 5.1 Summary and main findings

To address the first objective, transgenic rice plants overexpressing the barley sucrose transporter HvSUT1 driven by two different promoters; the constitutive Act- $1_{pro}$  and endosperm specific Glb- $1_{pro}$ , were generated by *Agrobacterium* transformation (Chapter 2). Until now, cereal transformation with an exogenous SUT gene had previously only been performed in wheat (Weichert et al., 2010; Saalbach et al., 2014). Tissue specificity of the promoters was verified by GUS staining. A combination of Southern blot and PCR analysis was used to show that a number of transgenic rice lines were generated containing one or more copies of *HvSUT1*. Stable transformation and expression of transgene transcript was demonstrated by RT-PCR. A novel polyclonal antibody raised in rabbits against a synthetic peptide from the putative central loop of HvSUT1 was used to analyse the accumulation of protein in developing rice grains. The endosperm specific rice lines consistently had stronger HvSUT1 protein expression than the constitutive lines and unexpectedly, transgene copy number did not correlate with increased protein expression. The present study is the first to demonstrate specific grain targeted expression of the barley HvSUT1 protein in rice. Unfortunately, the choice of plant lines for further analysis was restricted as there were a limited number of lines that contained only 1 transgene copy. In addition, the restricted physical containment space for growing plants did not allow for a large number of plants to be grown. Therefore, based on the available data, the most suitable lines of independently generated plants were chosen for analyses. Ideally, analysis of more independently transformed plant lines is necessary to support the findings in this study.

To investigate the effects of incorporating the sucrose transporter on mineral nutrients in rice, transgenic rice grains were analysed by sucrose uptake assays and quantification of rice grain carbohydrates and minerals (Chapter 3). Accumulation of mineral nutrients were also analysed during grain filling and distribution of minerals in the mature grain was mapped by LA-ICP-MS. Expression of *HvSUT1* in rice endosperm increased sucrose transport activity specifically at 7 DAA and prolonged active sucrose uptake at later stages of grain filling. This did not appear, however, to affect mineral accumulation in the whole grain during grain filling. Grains from plants constitutively expressing *HvSUT1* were similar to controls with respect to sucrose uptake behaviour at late grain filling. Analysis of minerals in polished rice revealed that there was greater retention of minerals in the endosperm of *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice. In particular, there was increased retention of Fe and Zn in the starchy endosperm. This was supported by distribution maps of elements in the rice grain which showed markedly different distribution of minerals in the transgenic lines. Interestingly, K retention was lower in both transgenic lines which led to the general conclusion that K transport processes are closely linked to sucrose transport in rice grains. This tentative conclusion finds support from studies in dicots and plant vascular tissues (Zhang et al., 1997; Bauer *et al.*, 2000; Deeken *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2002), but has not yet been reported in cereal grains. As the results reported in this study are derived from only two plant lines, one endosperm specific and one constitutive *HvSUT1* overexpressing line, further experiments are necessary to provide more data to support these findings.

Sucrose partitioning into non-starch storage products in the rice grain and the effects of changed nutrient composition on mineral bioavailability was examined in Chapter 4. In addition, possible effects of these changes on seedling growth and plant yield parameters were also examined. Significant changes in storage protein profile and amino acid contents were observed in one representative endosperm specific (G1.4) and one constitutive (A2.3) plant line, but more dramatic changes were observed in G1.4. Fatty acid composition was also noticeably changed in the transgenic lines, particularly in the TAG lipid fraction. In general, phytate and P were correlated with Fe, and protein and S were correlated with Zn, although the results possibly suggest that the speciation of Fe and Zn may be altered in the transgenic lines. The changes in the transgenic grains however did not affect values that estimate mineral bioavailability. There appeared to be no effect on seedling growth from over expression of the HvSUT1 transgene, but mature plants of line A2.3 had a yield disadvantage due to changes in panicle architecture. G1.4 on the other hand had decreased one hundred grain weight but this did not impact on the overall yield in this plant line.

Previous studies that investigated SUT overexpression in plants tended to focus only on carbon partitioning. However, the present study investigated a comprehensive range of effects on the nutritional composition of seed sinks that could be attributed to SUT overexpression. Overall, there were a number of changes in the storage products of rice grains transformed with *HvSUT1*, which were more dramatic in the endosperm specific line G1.4 compared with the modest changes in the constitutive line A2.3. It is unclear whether this difference between endosperm specific and constitutive expression is related to the higher levels of HvSUT1 protein measured in G1.4 compared with A2.3 or the activity of HvSUT1 in other plant tissues, such as leaf and stem, in the constitutive line. Regardless, the findings from this research suggest that HvSUT1 overexpression driven by an endosperm specific promoter results in the redistribution of the available minerals transported into the grain. Furthermore, given the range of changes in storage products observed in rice grains overexpressing *HvSUT1*, the results suggests that a number of metabolic pathways for grain storage product synthesis have been altered. This strategy could thus be exploited to produce more nutrient dense rice grains with altered nutritional composition.

# 5.2 Proposed mechanisms to explain the main outcomes of *HvSUT1* overexpression in rice endosperm

A pictorial representation of a rice grain and cross sections of the tissues involved in assimilate transport are shown in Fig. 5.1. This diagram attempts to explain the re-distribution of Fe and Zn in transgenic compared to non-transgenic rice grains. Fig 5.1 A shows the localization of endogenous SUTs in the plasma membrane of aleurone cells and their role in active sucrose transport from the apoplast into the symplast. Under normal circumstances, the contribution of SUTs to sucrose transport within the endosperm is minimal, and sucrose movement into the inner endosperm is thought to occur primarily by diffusion through plasmodesmata (Oparka and Gates, 1981; Wang *et al.*, 1995).

The proposed positions of SUTs in the plasma membranes of endosperm cells in grains overexpressing *HvSUT1* are shown in Fig 5.1 B. Results suggest that sucrose uptake was modified in the transgenic grains. Hence, for the activity of exogenous SUTs to increase sucrose uptake capacity requires sucrose to be present in the endosperm apoplast. This implies that as well as the primary symplastic pathway for sucrose movement in endosperm proposed by Oparka and Gates (1981), and measured in wheat grains by Wang *et al.* (1995), there must be some sucrose that is transported in the apoplast of endosperm cells. Presumably sucrose could leak out into the apoplast

#### CHAPTER 5



# Figure 5.1 Proposed explanation for redistribution of Zn and Fe in the endosperm of HvSUT1 overexpressing rice grains

Pictorial representation of a rice grain (right) showing the locations of the embryo (Em), nucellus (N), aleurone (AI) and endosperm (Endo). The grey box is a cross section of the grain tissues depicted in the non-transgenic (A) and HvSUT1 overexpressing (B) rice grain.

at numerous points along the transport pathway, such as in the transfer of sucrose from the nucellus to the aleurone and leakage through plasmodesmata. Thus, sucrose that has leaked into the apoplastic space and usually would be transported out of the caryopsis via the pathway proposed for water (Oparka and Gates, 1981) could be recovered through active transporters. Consequently, the exogenous SUTs are proposed to have this role in sucrose retrieval, thus increasing the sucrose uptake capacity of endosperm cells. Mineral ions that are minor components of the solutes transported in phloem are therefore potentially also being transported, along with sucrose, into the inner endosperm. This model explains only the mechanical aspects of sucrose transport into the rice grain and for simplicity does not incorporate the activity of metal transporters that may be involved. As Weichert et al. (2010) reported in wheat, a wide range of genes with differing functions were stimulated by HvSUT1 overexpression, therefore the effects of increased sucrose uptake capacity on the expression of metal transport genes in rice cannot be ruled out. In this study, it is further proposed that in transgenic rice grains with endosperm specific expression of HvSUT1, excess Fe is binding to phytate, while Zn associates with unspecified compounds containing sulphur.

Another key finding from this study was the decreased K concentration and changed K distribution in endosperm cells. Fig. 5.2 A depicts transporters in the plasma membrane and tonoplast involved in sucrose and K uptake and sequestration in the vacuole respectively. Under normal circumstances, SUTs, H+-ATPases and a K transporter such as AKT2/3 work in concert maintaining concentrations of sucrose and ions across both sides of the plasma membrane while also regulating membrane potential. This coupling of sucrose and potassium transport has also been hypothesized to occur in sucrose loading in phloem tissue (Geiger, 2011). A number of ion transporters and channels in the tonoplast along with V-ATPases are involved in ion homeostasis by sequestering ions in the vacuole and also in regulating cell turgor. Fig. 5.2 B attempts to explain the possible effects of increased sucrose transport into endosperm cells on K distribution and transport. When HvSUT1 was expressed in endosperm cells, more sucrose and H+ were taken up into the cytosol from the extracellular space (1). To prevent depolarization of the membrane, the activity of the PM K transporter changed from an inward rectifying to a non-rectifying channel, as demonstrated in computer models by Gajdanowicz *et al.* (2011), to transport K+ back out into the extracellular space (2). A second but related hypothesis involves vacuolar transport processes. Increasing sucrose in the cytosol could stimulate accumulation of sucrose into the vacuole (3). The activities of a number of monovalent ion transporters





#### Figure 5.2 Proposed roles of K in the membrane and vacuole of rice grains

Location of various transporters and channels involved in sucrose and K transport across the plasma membrane (PM) and in the tonoplast of the vacuole of rice endosperm cells. Simplified pictorial representations of proposed differences in transporter activity compared between non-transgenic (A) and transgenic rice grains overexpressing HvSUT1 (B). The numbers in image B are explained in the text.

in the tonoplast along with the V-ATPase could have been modified (4). Although K is the main osmoticum, K+ ions may be limiting due to their role in maintaining the polarity of the PM, hence ions such as Na, Ca and Mg could be compensating for K in maintaining cell pressure by vacuolar sequestration through active transporters (4) or channels (5). Oparka and Gates (1981) suggested that water and assimilates enter the rice grain together, however water then leaves via the apoplast (see Chapter 1, Fig. 1.1) during grain filling. This could provide a pathway for the elimination of extracellular K, along with water, and thus provide an explanation for the decreased K concentration and retention of K in endosperm cells of HvSUT1 expressing rice grains.

Simplified starch, amino acid and lipid biosynthetic pathways in a rice endosperm cell are depicted in Figure 5.3. Only the tentative pathways and components to explain the changes that were observed in transgenic grains have been included. This diagram clearly shows that sucrose supply is integrally linked to the downstream processing pathways in synthesis of many metabolites in the grain. The content of soluble sucrose, but not hexoses, fructose or glucose, was significantly increased in HvSUT1 overexpressing rice grains. This implies that there was increased sucrose uptake, probably through active transporters. The dramatic increase in sucrose content in G1.4 was aligned with a significant decrease in soluble starch content. This could mean that either sucrose hydrolysis was disrupted through alteration of the activities of sucrose synthase (Susy) and/or that starch synthesis was disrupted through altering the activities of ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase (AGPase), granule-bound starch synthase (GBSS), starch synthase (SS) or starch branching enzyme (SBE). It is more likely that downstream enzymatic steps in starch conversion may have been disrupted rather than sucrose hydrolysis because the synthesis of all other rice storage products was not negatively impacted, implying that supply of hexose phosphates was not limiting. Considering the more global changes in grain storage products in the transgenic rice grains, enhanced partitioning of hexose phosphates Glc-6-P and Fru-6-P into biosynthetic pathways for AAs, proteins, lipids and phytate (InsP6) could also perhaps explain the decrease in starch.

Hexose phosphates are also channelled into pathways for the synthesis of amino acids via the intermediate, 3-phosphoglycerate (3PGA) (Fig. 5.3). As well as Cys, 3PGA is also involved in biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids via phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) and the Shikimate pathway. Cys, Tyr and Trp contents were increased with endosperm specific expression of *HvSUT1*, which suggests increased carbon flux into these metabolic pathways. The process of lipid synthesis also involves the metabolism of sugars through PEP into Acetyl CoA. Downstream, the total lipid contents were not



## Figure 5.3 Summary of storage product biosynthetic pathways in rice endosperm cells

Simplified metabolic pathways for storage product synthesis from sucrose in endosperm cells. Only pathways relevant to changes observed in *HvSUT1* overexpressing rice grains have been included. Note that turnover of some substrates and bi-directional reactions have been omitted and there is no distinction made between reactions occurring in subcellular compartments, such as the cytosol and amyloplast. Solid arrows represent stages in the metabolic pathways and dashed arrows link amino acids to storage protein synthesis. Abbreviations are explained in the text.

increased in transgenic grains, but lipid composition was altered. This suggests that lipid content in rice grains is tightly regulated so that carbon partitioning into fatty acids may alter biosynthetic pathways to change composition but not content. Acetyl CoA is also involved in synthesis of the amino acids Glu, Gln, Asp, Asn, and Lys via the TCA cycle. The increased contents of all of these amino acids in rice grains expressing HvSUT1 specifically in endosperm suggests that there was increased carbon partitioning from Acetyl CoA into the TCA cycle for amino acid biosynthesis. Preferential partitioning of carbon into synthesis of amino acids could also possibly account for the stable lipid content in transgenic rice grains. As well as being synthesized in the grain, there is also possibly some contribution of AA transport from senescing vegetative organs for incorporation into grain storage proteins. The interconnected pathways described above and outlined in Fig. 5.3 clearly indicate that increased sucrose and hexose substrates partitioning into the various biosynthetic pathways could account for the altered storage product composition in HvSUT1 overexpressing rice grains. Gene expression and enzyme activity can also be feedback regulated by substrates, intermediates and products of each biosynthetic pathway. A detailed discussion of these reactions is beyond the scope of this study, however future work could incorporate a transcriptome and metabolome analysis of transgenic grains to further elucidate the details of these regulatory networks.

The substantial changes in storage reserves in rice grains from G1.4 plants may be considered in relation to the temporal transgene expression corresponding with phases of grain development. As well as prolonged grain filling, endosperm specific overexpression of HvSUT1 stimulated increased sucrose transport specifically at 7 DAA and significantly, these grains showed the most dramatic changes in storage product composition. The critical point for grain filling appears to be the switch between grain expansion and storage product synthesis and accumulation which occurs around 7 DAA. Coincidentally, this specific time point has been identified as the time when a crucial switch occurs in grain filling and maturation. Rice grain development has been well studied and a number of specific phases have been identified (Ishimaru et al., 2005). The pre-storage phase (1 to 4 DAA) is characterised by lengthening of the grain but there is no deposition of storage products. The early storage phase (4 to 8 DAA) encompasses the period when cellularization of rice endosperm is complete (Li et al., 2008) followed by periods of rapid storage product synthesis and accumulation and hence is a critical phase that determines the sink strength (Liang *et al.*, 2001; Tang *et* al., 2009). Dramatically increased sucrose uptake at 7 DAA in rice transformed with *Glb-1*<sub>pro</sub> driving *HvSUT1* coincides with endogenous globulin protein synthesis at 5 to 6 DAA and deposition in protein bodies at 7 DAA (Yamagata *et al.*, 1982). Rapid accumulation of starch in rice grains also occurs between 4 and 9 DAA (Teo *et al.*, 2011). Accumulation of TAGs and oleosins in rice seed also commences one week after flowering (Wu et al., 1998b). The endosperm is primarily liquid at this point and the rate of increase in grain fresh weight between 5 and 7 DAA can be attributed foremost to assimilate flux driving storage product synthesis (Iwai et al., 2012). Thus, although there was no overall measurable change in sucrose transport at most stages of grain filling in rice grains expressing *HvSUT1*, enhanced sucrose uptake at the point of storage product accumulation could explain the wide ranging changes in the grain composition of rice specifically expressing HvSUT1 in the endosperm.

#### 5.3 **Recommendations for future work**

It will be necessary to conduct further examination of other independent transgenic lines generated in this study to provide support for the hypotheses proposed to explain changes in grain storage products due to *HvSUT1* overexpression. Although the findings presented here with limited transgenic lines clearly demonstrate that manipulating sucrose transport in rice has wide ranging effects on the nutritional composition of rice grains, the mechanisms that control those changes remain to be investigated.

HvSUT1 protein was shown to accumulate in rice grains driven by both the *Glb-1* and *Act-1* promoters. However, the question remains to be confirmed as to whether the *Glb-1* promoter drives *HvSUT1* expression only in the endosperm of transgenic rice grains and/or whether the *Act-1* promoter drives expression in all plant tissues. Immunolocalisation of HvSUT1 protein in rice tissues, using the anti-HvSUT1 produced in this study would provide support for the tissue specificity of both promoters. In addition, sucrose uptake assays using other tissues such as stem, leaf and roots could determine if constitutive expression of HvSUT1 protein results in functional changes in sucrose transport in plant organs other than the grain. These analyses would identify tissue expression and possible functionality of the transgene in rice tissue, enabling the effects between endosperm specific versus constitutive expression of HvSUT1 to be more clearly distinguished. In addition to the experiments looking at nutrient loading into grains, *Act-1* SUT-OE lines generated in this study could be used to investigate the as yet undetermined mechanisms of phloem loading in rice source tissues.

Elemental maps generated by LA-ICP-MS showed the differential distribution of micronutrients in transgenic rice grains. The association of these mineral elements with other storage products such as proteins or phytate were inferred from the data in

this study, but results were not definitive. The storage protein composition of grains overexpressing HvSUT1 in the endosperm was changed, however it is not known whether this affected the packaging of proteins into PSV. There were also changes in fatty acid composition that could affect oil body structure in the grain. To resolve these issues, microscopic imaging of the grain cellular structure could determine whether there had been modifications and redistribution of storage products in the endosperm. Moreover, high resolution sub cellular elemental distribution could then be linked back to the images of grain cellular structure to elucidate Fe and Zn speciation.

One of the most intriguing findings from this study was the change in K distribution in the transgenic rice grains. Further investigation of the role of K in ion homeostasis and cell turgor in the transgenic lines would first involve the isolation of protoplasts from both non transgenic and transgenic endosperm cells. The differential responses of the plasma membranes from the different plant lines could be explored *in vitro* by modifying the conditions in the protoplast extracellular media. Subsequent effects on the membrane potential and cell turgor could be measured to test the hypothesis that K transport is modified to prevent the depolarization of the plasma membrane in HvSUT1 overexpressing rice grains.

Despite a higher retention of minerals in mature grain and changes in the distribution of elements in the grain endosperm, patterns of mineral accumulation during grain filling in developing rice grains were not significantly different in the transgenic plant lines. Mineral accumulation from 5 to 25 DAA was analysed only in unpolished grains, however, while mineral content was measured in both unpolished and polished mature rice grains. Significant changes in nutrients in mature rice grains were identified in the endosperm, therefore tracing mineral accumulation specifically in the endosperm of transgenic rice grains could highlight important time points for peak mineral nutrient loading. Measuring mineral contents in the endosperm of developing grains is possible by dissecting grains and collecting endosperm cells for mineral analysis. The sample volume would be very small, but robust methods have recently been developed to quantify mineral concentrations from nanolitre volumes (Palmer *et al.*, 2014).

Samples of developing endosperm tissue could also be used to analyse gene expression profiles in the transgenic lines. Further insights could be gained from metabolite profiling of endosperm tissue. In particular, measuring gene expression and metabolite levels for intermediates in carbon metabolism and amino acid and lipid synthesis at critical points in grain filling could establish the mechanisms that potentially control nutrient deposition in the transgenic rice grains. Furthermore, there are possible links between sucrose and expression of genes related to metal transport that could be identified by gene profiling. Together, these experiments would enable a more comprehensive picture of the overall effects of increased assimilate uptake on the regulation of storage product synthesis and accumulation of minerals in rice grains.

One of the major constraints in this study was the space restrictions and inability to test the transgenic plant lines under field conditions due to the strict laws governing the growth of transgenic plants in South Australia. Ideally, testing for transgene effects on seed quality characteristics would be conducted in field conditions, in various locations with differing soil characteristics. In addition, several years of growth associated with natural seasonal variation is required to test the stability of the transgene effects. Future work could involve collaborations with international research labs where the testing of transgenic plants under field conditions could be undertaken. Additional plant lines could also be generated from further rounds of plant transformation with the plasmids that were generated in this research. This would provide more single copy homozygous plant lines for investigation. From a human nutrition and biosafety regulation viewpoint, production of marker-free transgenic lines could also be a target for future work. Furthermore, gene stacking *HvSUT1* with genes that are involved in metal transport, such as *NAS2* could be a dual approach to increasing both the concentration and retention of micronutrient in rice endosperm.

PCR 1			Conc.
Glb1Fv2	GGAGAACTAGTGGCGCCTGGAGGGA		0.5µM
Glb1R	GAGAGGCGCGCCTGATGATCAATCA G	GACAATCACTA	0.5µM
HF buffer (Finzymmes)	5x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Phusion polymerase	2 U/µl		0.02U/µl
gDNA template	15ng/ μl		60ng
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	98°C	30sec	1
Denaturation	98°C	10sec	
Annealing	66°C	30sec	30
Extension	72°C	30sec	]
Final extension	72°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

## Appendix A PCR primers, components and conditions

PCR 2			Conc.
HvSUT1F	CTCGGCAGGCTCATCCTC		0.5µM
HvSUT3R	GTACAGGATGAACGGGAACC		0.5µM
Thermopol buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Vent polymerase	2 U/µl		0.02U/µl
E.coli colony template	5 μl of colony resuspended in	20µl milliQ	
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	20sec	1
Denaturation	95°C	20sec	
Annealing	55°C	20sec	25
Extension	72°C	50sec	
Final extension	72°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

PCR 3			Conc.
attB1 HvSUTF	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCA	GGCTTCAGGG	0.5µM
	CGGCCTCCCTGCGA		
attB2 HvSUTR	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCT	GGGTCCTCTAG	0.5μΜ
	CGGAAGTCGGCCGCTC		
HF buffer (Finzymmes)	5x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Phusion polymerase	2 U/µl		0.02U/µl
HOSUT plasmid	5ng/μl stock		5ng
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	98°C	30sec	1
Denaturation	98°C	5sec	
Annealing	72°C	10sec	35
Extension	72°C	60sec	
Final extension	72°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

PCR 4			Conc.
HvSUT3F	GGTTCTGGGGTTTAGCTCGT		0.5µM
NosTR	AAGACCGGCAACAGGATTC		0.5µM
Thermopol buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Vent	2 U/μl		0.02U/µl
E.coli colony template	2μl of colony resuspended in 20μl	nilliQ	
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	30sec	1
Denaturation	95°C	20sec	
Annealing	54°C	20sec	30
Extension	72°C	1min	
Final extension	72°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	$\infty$	

PCR 5			Conc.
GUSF	CAGCCAAAAGCCAGACAG		0.5µM
GUSR	GGCACAGCACATCAAAGA		0.5µM
Thermopol buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Vent polymerase	2 U/µl		0.02U/µl
Plasmid DNA	2ng/µl stock		2ng
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	30sec	1
Denaturation	95°C	15sec	
Annealing	49°C	15sec	25
Extension	72°C	40sec	
Final extension	72°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

PCR 6			Conc.
HvSUT4F	ACTGACTGACCTGAGCATG	G	0.5µM
NosTR	AAGACCGGCAACAGGATTC		0.5µM
Standard buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Taq polymerase	2 U/μl		0.02U/µl
Plasmid DNA	2ng/μl stock		2ng
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	30sec	1
Denaturation	95°C	30sec	
Annealing	50°C	30sec	30
Extension	68°C	30sec	
Final extension	68°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

PCR 7			Conc.
eEf1a F	TTTCACTCTTGGTGTGAAG	GCAGAT	0.5µM
eEf1α R	GACTTCCTTCACGATTTCA	TCGTAA	0.5µM
Standard buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Taq polymerase	2 U/μl		0.02U/µl
cDNA	2μl of RT rxn (500ng RNA)		
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	2min	1
Denaturation	95°C	15sec	
Annealing	51°C	30sec	26
Extension	68°C	45sec	
Final extension	68°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

PCR 8			Conc.
OsSUT F	CCTCTTTGCGTTTCTTGGAG		0.5µM
OsSUT R	CCACCTCACCCCTTCCTAA		0.5µM
Standard buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Taq polymerase	2 U/µl		0.02U/µl
cDNA	2µl of RT rxn (500ng RNA)		
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	2min	1
Denaturation	95°C	15sec	
Annealing	53°C	30sec	26
Extension	68°C	45sec	
Final extension	68°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	$\infty$	

PCR 9			Conc.
HvSUT F	ACTGACTGACCTGAGCA	ATGG	0.5µM
HvSUT R	GCTGCTGAAATTTCAC	CATCCATTC	0.5µM
Standard buffer (NEB)	10x stock		1x
dNTPs	10mM stock		200µM
Taq polymerase	2 U/μl		0.02U/µl
cDNA	2μl of RT rxn (500ng RNA)		
	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturation	95°C	2min	1
Denaturation	95°C	15sec	
Annealing	56°C	30sec	26
Extension	68°C	45sec	
Final extension	68°C	5min	1
Hold	4°C	8	

Sequencing primers		Tm (°C)
HvSUT1 1F	CTCGGCAGGCTCATCCTC	55
HvSUT1 2F	CCAGTGCTGCAAATTCAATC	50
HvSUT1 3F	GGTTCTGGGGTTTAGCTCGT	54
HvSUT1 4F	ACTGACTGACCTGAGCATGG	54
HvSUT1 2R	AGGCCCATGATAGAGACTGC	54
HvSUT1 3R	GTACAGGATGAACGGGAACC	54
HvSUT1 4R	ATCACCTGCGGTATCACGA	51

Antibiotic stocks	Rifampicin stock Spectinomycin Hygromycin stoc Kanamycin stock Timentin stock	(200mg/ml) ck (50mg/ml)
LB	Bacto-Tryptone Yeast extract Sodium Chloride Add milliQ to 1L o	0
<u>LB preparations</u>	2	20 μg/ml rif for AGL1 25μg/ml spec for pIPKb 20μg/ml rif + 25μg/ml spec for AGL1+pIPKb
Sucrose stock solution (120g/L)	Sucrose milliQ to <i>Autoclave</i>	
Sucrose (120g/L) + Glucose (40g/L	) stock solution	
	Glucose Sucrose milliQ to <i>Autoclave</i>	
Sucrose (120g/L) + Sorbitol stock s	solution (120g/L) s	tock solution
	Sorbitol Sucrose milliQ to <i>Autoclave</i>	
Phytohormone/Phytochemical st	ocks	
<u>2, 4-D Stock (2 mg/ ml)</u>	2,4-D 1N KOH milliQ to <i>Filter ste</i> 20 ℃	20 mg a few drops to dissolve 10 ml rilize and store 1ml aliquots at
<u>Kinetin Stock (2 mg/ ml)</u>	Kinetin 1N KOH milliQ to <i>Filter ste</i> 20 °C	20 mg a few drops to dissolve 10 ml <i>rilize and store 1ml aliquots at</i>

Appendix B Stock solutions and media used in rice transformation

<u>Napthaleneacetic acid NAA Stock (1 m</u>	ng/ml) NAA 10 mg 1N KOH a few drops to dissolve milliQ to 10 ml <i>Filter sterilize and store 1ml aliquots at</i> -20 °C
<u>Acetosyringone stock AS 20mg/</u> mL	AS 200mg DMSO to 10ml Store as 1ml aliquots at -20°C (short term storage)
YM Media	Mannitol10gYeast extract $0.4g$ K2HPO4 (10% w/v stock)1mlKH2PO4 (10% w/v stock)4mlNaCl (10% w/v stock)1mlMgSO4.7H2O(10% w/v stock)2mlTop up ddH <sub>2</sub> O to 1L pH 6.8Agar 15g/L15gAutoclave
<u>YM plates</u>	YM + rif (20 $\mu$ g/ml) +spec(15 $\mu$ g/ml)
N6D medium	Chu's Basal Salt Mixture w/vitamins $3.99g$ Casamino acid (or Casein hydrolysate)300mgmyo-inositol $100mg$ L proline $2.88g$ Add 450ml ddH <sub>2</sub> O and adjust pH 5.8 by 1N KOHAdd (0.4% final volume) 4g GelriteTop up ddH <sub>2</sub> O to 749mlAutoclaveAddSucrose stock solution $250mL$
	2,4-D (2mg/ml) 1ml
<u>N6D</u> preparations	N6D plates only (1L makes $\sim$ 30 plates) N6D plates + hyg (50 µg/ml) + tim(150µg/ml)
2N6-AS medium	Chu's Basal Salt Mixture w/vitamins 3.99g Casamino acid (or Casein hydrolysate) 300mg myo-inositol 100mg Add some ddH <sub>2</sub> O and adjust pH 5.2 by 1N KOH Add ddH <sub>2</sub> O to 498mL and divide into two equal volumes

Add Autoclave both and add to each: Sucrose + Glucose stock 2,4-D(2mg/ml) Acetosyringone (20mg/mL) <u>2N6-AS preparations</u>	Bottle 1 2g Gelrite 250ml 0.5ml 0.5ml Bottle 1 - 2N6-AS plates only Bottle 2 - 2N6-AS broth	<i>Bottle 2</i> - 250ml 0.5ml 0.5ml (with 0.4% Gelrite)
RE III Medium	MS Basal media Casamino acid (or Casein hy MS vitamins 1000x Add some ddH <sub>2</sub> O and pH 5.8 by Add ddH <sub>2</sub> O to 498mL Gelrite (0.4% final conc.) 4g Autoclave Add Sucrose + Sorbitol stock NAA (1mg/ml stock) Kinetin (2mg/ml stock)	1mL
<b><u>REIII preparations</u></b>	in plant tissue culture plates REIII media + hyg(50 μg/ml)	+tim(150µg/ml)
HF medium	MS Basal media MS vitamins 1000 x Add some ddH <sub>2</sub> O and pH 5.8 by Add ddH <sub>2</sub> O to 750ml and 4g Ge conc.) Autoclave Add Sucrose stock 250mL	
HF preparations	in clear polypropylene tubes lid	with ventilation in
	HF media + hyg (50 μg/ml) +	tim (150 µg/ml)

### Other chemicals/reagents

- 1N KOH (5.611g in 100ml ddH<sub>2</sub>0)
- 1M sterilized  $MgSO_4$ -7H<sub>2</sub>O (24.6g in 100ml ddH<sub>2</sub>O; filter)
- 70% ethanol
- 100% ethanol
- 33-50% commercial bleach (or 2.5% hypochlorite)
- Sterile ddH<sub>2</sub>O
- Tween 20

#### **Plant material**

• Rice seed "Nipponbare" WT



Appendix C Adapter Ligation PCR to determine transgene integration site

Protocol for mapping the location site of inserted T-DNA strands in plant genomic DNA by adapter ligation-mediated PCR (AL-PCR) developed by O'Malley et al. (2007). In summary (a) gDNA from transgenic lines is digested and ligated to long and short adapter sequences that create overhanging, asymmetric flanking sequences either side of the cut gDNA. Only amplification of the complementary long adapter sequence (by PCR with a T-DNA specific primer) will create a binding site for the Adapter primer (b). These T-DNA-gDNA-Adapter sequences will then be amplified selectively and can be prepared for sequencing.

Table C.1	Summary of flanking sequence results derived from AL-PCR of rice gDNA. Colour codes of
sequences a	are as follows: Orange, Adapter sequence; Blue, gene in vector; Green, rice chromosome; Pink,
vector seque	ences; Red, restriction site; Black, unknown sequences.

Plant	T-DNA	Sequence	Flanking DNA		
line	Border		ID/Position		
		GGACCGGAACACGGATCAAACACTGATAGTTTAAACCGAAGGCGGGA			
		AACGACAATCTGATCGGGTACCGGGCCCAAGATCTGGCCCTTAAGGC			
		CTATTTAAATACTAGTGGCGCCTGGAGGGAGGAGAGGGGAGAGAGA			
		GTGAGAGAGGAGGAAGAAGAGGAGGGGGTGACAATGATATGTGGGGC			
		CATGTGGGCCCCACCATTTTTTAATTCATTCTTTTGTTGAAACTGACAT			
		GTGGGTCCCATGAGATTTATTATTTTTCGGATCGAATTGCCACGTAAG			
		CGCTACGTCAATGCTACGTCAGATGAAGACCGAGTCAAATTAGCCAC			
		GTAAGCGCCACGTCAGCCAAAACCACCATCCAAACCGCCGAGGGAC			
		CTCATCTGCACTGGTTTTGATAGTTGAGGGACCCGTTGTATCTGGTTT			
G1.1	Left	TTCGATTGAAGGACGAAAATCAAATTTGTTGACAAGTTAAGGGACCTT	O. sativa Chr 5		
01.1	Len	AAATGAACTTATTCCATTTCAAAATATTCTGTGAGCCATATATACCGTG	O. Saliva Oni S		
		GGCTTCCAATCCTCCTCAAATTAAAGGGCCTTTTTAAAATAGATAATTG			
		CCTTCTTTCAGTCACCCATAAAAGTACAAAACTACTACCAACAAGCAA			
		CATGCGCAGTTACACACATTTTCTGCACATTTCCACCACGTCACAAAG			
		AGCTAAGAGTTATCCCTAGGACAATCTCATTAGTGTAGATACATCCAT			
	1	TAATCTTTTATCAGAGGCAAACGTAAAGCCGCTCTTTATGACAAAAAT			
	1	AGGTGACACAAAAGTGTTATCTGCCACATACATAACTTCAGAAATTAC			
		CCAACACCAAGAGAAAATAAAAAAAAATCTTTTTGCAAGCTCCAAATC			
		TTGAAACCTTTTTCACTCTTTGCAGCATTGTACTCTTGCTCTTTTCCAA			
		CCGATCCATGTCACCCTCAAGCTGCACCCGG			
		ATTACTCTTTCTTTTTCTCCATATTGACCATCATACTCATTGCTGATCAT			
		TTTATAATAACGATCTGGTGTCTTGCTGTTCCATGAGAAATATGCCTAT			
		CGATCGATTTCTATTTGGTTTCTTAATTATGTCGCTCGATGGAGCCGC			
		TTGATTGCTACAGTGTATTTGCTAAATTAACCTAACTAGCAGGAGCAT			
		GGAGGAGACGAAAAAAAAAAAGCAGTGTATGCGCTTGGTTTCACGGAT			
		TGGGGTCGATTTATATGAAGGTTTAACAATAATTTGAGAGAAATCAAG			
		CTAGCCACCACATGCAAAAACTCCTACAATGCACTTATATAAAGATAG			
		GCAGATCATAATTAAATGCAGTTTGAAGATGGACTTACTT			
		GATCCGGGCTCTGGTGATCCATGATTATACTCAATGTACAGTTTTTT			
		TTTTTTTGAGGGATACTCAATGTACAGTTAAAACGGTATTTGGCTAACA			
G3.1	Left	AAATTAGTTTAAGCGAGCACGGGATTGGGGGGCGATTTATATGCATCTT	O. sativa Chr 6		
		CTTCACTGGACAATTAACGTGAGGGAATCGGAATCGTTACCGTGTTCT			
		GAACAAATTACTGTATGCGTAGTACTCCCTCCATCCTTAAAAAGGCCC			
		AACCGAACCTAAAGGAGCAATCCCTATTTTCATATCTAATTGTGATTTT			
	1	ACCTCTGCTATTTAGGTTTTTTTGGCCCCTGCTTTTTTTT			
		TGAATCGATTACACCTGTTTTTGACGGAAGCAAGTGGACCCGGAATTT			
		GTTAAGGGAAAAAAAAAAAAAGGGATTTTGCAAAATCTTGTGTTACCCTTCT			
		ATTCCGGCAAGGTCACTCCGTGCTTACTGGAATAGCATTATACTCGTA			
		TGTCTTGCTCTTGGAGCCATGGTGCTCAACGCCCTCAACGCAGCGC			
	1	TGGGCTCCGGCTAGAATAGTACTAGCTC			
	+	GGGAATGAAGTACATTTTGATCGGGTAATGACTGGGCTGTTAGTGTA			
G4.1	Right	CCTGTGGGCAGGGTTTTCAATTTCAAAATTAGTATTTTTGCGTTGGGG	O. sativa Chr 6		
0	, agint	GGTGCGAAATTTTGAAAATTTCGAATTGCAGCCCGGGCCGTCGACCA			
	+	GTGTTTGAGCCTGCGCGACGGACGCACTGACGGTGTCGTCCATCAC			
		AGTTTGCCAGTGATACACATGGGGATCAGCAATCGCGCATATGAAAAT			
C5 4	Dicht		Hpt <sup>R</sup>		
G5.1	Right	AACCCGCTCGTCTGGCTAAGATCGGCCGCAGCGATCGCATCCATGG	прі		
		CCTCCGCGACCGGCTGCAGAACAGCGGGCAGTTCGGTTTCAGGCAG			
		GTCTTGCAACGTGACACCCTGTGCACGGCGGGGGGAGATGCAATAGGTC			
	+	AGGCTCTCGCT <u>GAATT</u> GCAGCCCGGGCCGTCGACCA			
	1	CTCTTTCTTTTTCTCCATATTGACCATCATACTCATTGCTGATCCATGT			
A1.1	Left	ACATTTCCCGGACATGAAGCGTCCCGGCATCGGCCGTTTTCTCTACC			
		GCCTGGCACGCCGCGCCGCAGGCAAGGCAGAAGCCAGATGGTTGTT			
		CAAGACGATCTACGAACGCAGTGGCAGCGCCGGAGAGTTCAAGAAG			

		TTCTGTTTCACCGTGCGCAAGCTGATCGGGTCAAATGACCTGCCGGA		
		GTACGATTTGAAGGAGGAGGAGGCGGGGGCAGGCTGGCCCGATCCTAGTC		
		ATGCGCTACCGCAACCTGATCGAGGGCGAAGCATCCGCCGGTTCCT		
		AATGTACGGAGCAGATGCTAGGGCAAATTGCCCTAGCAGGGGAAAAA	pVS1 ori,	
		GGTCGAAAAGGTCTCTTTCCTGTGGATAGCACGTACATTGGGAACCC	recombinase	
		AAAGCCGTACATTGGGAACCGGAACCCGTACATTGGGAACCCAAAGC	(Agrobacterium str.	
		CGTACATTGGGAACCGGTCACACATGTAAGTGACTGATATAAAAGAG	<u>C58)</u>	
		AAAAAAGGCGATTTTTCCGCCTAAAACTCTTTAAAACTTATTAAAACTC	<u>0007</u>	
		TTAAAACCCGCCTGGCCTGTGCATAACTGTCTGGCCAGCGCACAGCC		
		GAAGAGCTGCAAAAAGCGCCTACCCTTCGGTCGCTGCGCTCCCTAC		
		GCCCCGCCGCTTCGCGTCGGCCTATCGCGGCCGACAGCCTTCTGCG		
		ACAGACCGACGAGATCTGCTCCCTGATCACCCGCCTGCCAAGGCCG		
		CCCAAATCCGCAGGCCAGCGCTTTTCCGCGCCCTATCTGACCGTGAT		
		GGACTGGGGACACGACGAGCGCGATTATGCAGCTGGTCATTCCGAC		
		AGAGCGCCGCGGCTCGATGACGCCGCGTGGGCCGGCATGATGAAC		
		AACATACGGGCCATATCCGAGCTTGCCCGCGACAAATATGGTGTTCG		
		TGCCACCATTCATCCGCATGCCGGTGGCTA		
		<b>GTTTG</b> AATTGCAGTGCCGTTAGGGACATACACGGGCAGCACGTTCTG		
		ACAAATCTGCATATATATATATATATATAGATATATAGATATATAT		
		CTTCCTCCTGAATATTCTTTATAGTCTACAAATTCTTAATTAA		
A1.1	Right	GCAGATCATGAGCATGTGATTTCTTCTCTTAAAAGTGCCTTACAGATC	O. sativa Chr 1	
		AATCGTTACATGTTATCATTTCTTCCGCCGGGCTAATCATTATATTATA		
		ТАТТӨТСАӨААТСӨААТААСАААААТАААСТӨТӨАТСТТААТССААААТ		
		C <u>AAGCT</u> GCAGCCCGGGCC		
		GGACATGAAGCCATTTACAATTGAATGCATATCTGTATTTGAGTCGGG		
A4.1	Left	TTTTAAGTTCGTTTGCTTTTGTAAATACAGAGGGATTTGTATAAGAAAT	Act1	
74.1	Len	ATCTTTAAAAAAACCCATATGCTAATTTGACATAATTTTTGAGAAAAAT	AULI	
		ATATATTCAGGC <u>GAATT</u> GCAGCCCGGGCCGTCAACCA		
		AACGACAATCTGATCGGGTACCGGGCCCAAGATCTGGCCCTTAAGGC		
		CTTACTAGTGGATCCCCCGGGACTAGTGGCTCGTGGTCATTCAT		
		CTTGAGAAGAGAGTCGGGATAGTCCAAAATAAAACAAAGGTAAGATTA		
		CCTGGTCAAAAGTGAAAACATCAGTTAAAAGGTGGTATAAAGTAAAAT		
A6.1*	Left	ATCGGTAATAAAAGGTGGCCCAAAGTGAAATTTACTCTTTTCTACTATT	vector	
A0.1		ATAAAAATTGAGGATGTTTTTGTCGGTACTTTGATACGTCATTTTGTA	Vector	
		TGAATTGGTTTTTAAGTTTATTCGCTTTTGGAAATGCATATCTGTATTT		
		GAGTCGGGTTTTAAGTTCGTTTGCTTTTGTAAATACAGAGGGATTTGT		
		ATAAGAAATATCTTTAAAAAAACCCATATGCTAATTTGACATAATTTTG		
		AGAAAAATATATATTCAGGC <u>GAATT</u> GCAGCCCGGGCCGTCGACCA		
* AL-PCR yielded two bands, however only the high molecular weight band gave readable sequence				

Reliable sequence data of the T-DNA junction obtained by gel purification of bands obtained from AL-PCR (O'Malley et al., 2007) of genomic DNA from T<sub>1</sub> transgenic rice lines, and Sanger sequencing (Australian Genome Research Facility, Adelaide) followed by BLAST searches in NCBI rice genomic database gave results which are summarised in Table C.1.

Analysis of many plant lines either did not yield specific bands on a gel or readable sequences to be analysed. Only a few samples gave any readable sequence relating to the possible location of the T-DNA in the rice genome. Other samples resulted in sequences that implied either that unintended sequences from the plasmid were integrated into the genome or gave unreliable sequence data that could not be interpreted. Multiple insertions in the plant line would yield unreadable sequence using this method as the sequencing primer is the Left Border primer that primes to all ligated Left Border adapters in the sample, and hence the sequences overlapped.



Appendix D Pilot test to determine number of cycles for exponential amplification of target genes for semi quantitative RT-PCR

A pilot test was conducted to determine the number of cycles required for exponential amplification of the target RNA for semi quantitative densitometric analysis. Housekeeping gene *eEf1* $\alpha$  has been used as a standard to calculate relative ratios of the transgenic *HvSUT1* and endogenous *OsSUT1*. The graph plots the intensities of bands from PCR cycles 25 to 37 of the same cDNA on 1% agarose gels. The bands were quantified using Image Lab software (Biorad). Based on these results, 26 RT-PCR cycles were used for *eEF1* $\alpha$  and *HvSUT1* and 33 for *OsSUT1* (*OsSUT1* consistently gave relatively inconsistent amplification even between technical replicates).





**A**: Dot blot of the various fractions eluted from the affinity column (elutions 1 to 5) plus the flow through (FT), in triplicate, showed the presence of IgGs in all fractions.

**B**: Dilution series of peptide on nitrocellulose (100pg to  $1\mu g$ ) was detected with each elution (1 to 5) from affinity purification (1:1000 in blotto) to select elution with the highest activity (elution 2).



**C**: Specificity and optimum dilution for use in immunoblotting was determined for elution 2 against dilution series of peptide on nitrocellulose. Pre immune serum was used as a negative control and the unpurified immune serum was also used to show the increased activity of affinity purified antibody and the specificity of the antibody for the peptide. Final dilution for use in immunoblotting was 1:500 to decrease background.

Appendix F	Copy number analyses of transgenic rice plants transformed using
Agrobacteriu	im to overexpress barley HvSUT1

T1 Germination			Seg.	Leaf assay		1		
Transgenic line designation	Total	Hyg <sup>R</sup>	Hyg <sup>s</sup>	ratio	Hyg <sup>R</sup> :Hyg <sup>S</sup>	Southern Blot	A/L PCR	Possible no. of loci
G1.1	26	13	13	1:1		1	2	
G1.2	27	11	16	1:1			3	
G1.3	30	18	12	1:1		3 - 4	4	
G1.4	29	25	4	3:1	3:1	1-2	1	1
G1.5	25	13	12	1:1			4	
G1.6	29	13	16	1:1				
G1.7	30	12	18	1:1				
G2.1	13	10	3	3:1 <sup>⁺</sup>			4	
G2.2	29	29	0	1:0	1:0	3 - 4		
G2.3	29	29	0	1:0 <sup>+</sup>		3		
G3.1	32	24	8	3:1	3:1	2	2	1 - 2
G3.2	15	9	6	1:1				
G4.1	14	11	3	3:1			>5	
G4.2	28	26	2	1:0	1:0	4 - 5		
G5.1	_^						1	
G5.2	_^							
G6.1	30	23	7	3:1		2	1	
G6.2	29	22	7	1:1	1:1	2		
G6.3	29	$24^+$	5	3:1 <sup>+</sup>		2		
G6.4	15	10 <sup>+</sup>	5	3:1 <sup>+</sup>				
A1.1	-				3:1 <sup>&amp;</sup>	3	1	
A2.1	29	25*	4	3:1*		1	>2	
A2.2	28	13	15	1:1				
A2.3	29	21	8	3:1	3:1	1		1
A3.1	30	23	7	3:1	3:1	1		
A3.2	-						1	
A3.3	-							
A4.1	-				1:1	2 - 3	>3	
A4.2	32	25	7	3:1				
A5.1	29	19	10	3:1	3:1	1		1
A6.1	30	25	5	3:1		>4	>2	

nd not determined

\*some seedlings variegated

<sup>†</sup> some seedlings albino

<sup>8</sup> mature plants gave unusual grain phenotype and not enough seed for analysis

^ plants from these lines did not produce viable seed



Appendix G LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of minerals in longitudinal sections of rice grain

#### A LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of macronutrients in longitudinal cross sections of rice grain

Distribution of Mg in NT (A), G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C), K in NT (D), G1.4 (E) and A2.3 (F), and P in NT (G), G1.4 (H) and A2.3 (I) derived from longitudinal sections of rice grain. Normalized counts per second for each element are scaled from dark blue (lowest) to highest (yellow). Grains are oriented with the ventral and dorsal side of the grain on the left and right respectively. Al, aleurone; Endo, endosperm; Em, embryo.



#### B LA-ICP-MS elemental maps of micronutrients in longitudinal cross sections of rice grain

Distribution of Fe in NT (A), G1.4 (B) and A2.3 (C), Mn in NT (D), G1.4 (E) and A2.3 (F), and Zn in NT (G), G1.4 (H) and A2.3 (I) derived from longitudinal sections of rice grain. Normalized counts per second for each element are scaled from dark blue (lowest) to highest (yellow). Grains are oriented with the ventral and dorsal side of the grain on the left and right respectively. Al, aleurone; Endo, endosperm; Em, embryo.

- Abe, T., & Futsuhara, Y. (1986). Genotypic variability for callus formation and plant regeneration in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 72(1), 3-10.
- Aldemita, R. R., & Hodges, T. K. (1996). *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated transformation of japonica and indica rice varieties. *Planta*, *199*(4), 612-617.
- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., & Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *215*(3), 403-410.
- Aoki, K., Suzui, N., Fujimaki, S., Dohmae, N., Yonekura-Sakakibara, K., Fujiwara, T., & Sakakibara, H. (2005). Destination-Selective Long-Distance Movement of Phloem Proteins. *Plant Cell*, *17*(6), 1801-1814.
- Aoki, N., Hirose, T., & Furbank, R. T. (2012). Sucrose Transport in Higher Plants: From Source to Sink. Photosynthesis. In J. J. Eaton-Rye, B. C. Tripathy & T. D. Sharkey (Eds.), (Vol. 34, pp. 703-729): Springer Netherlands.
- Aoki, N., Hirose, T., Scofield, G. N., Whitfeld, P. R., & Furbank, R. T. (2003). The Sucrose Transporter Gene Family in Rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *44*(3), 223-232.
- Aoki, N., Scofield, G., Wang, X.-D., Patrick, J., Offler, C., & Furbank, R. (2004). Expression and localisation analysis of the wheat sucrose transporter TaSUT1 in vegetative tissues. *Planta*, 219(1), 176-184.
- Aoki, N., Whitfield, P., Hoeren, F., Scofield, G., Newell, K., Patrick, J., & Furbank, R. T. (2002). Three sucrose transporter genes are expressed in the developing grain of hexaploid wheat. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *50*(3), 453-462.
- Ashida, K., Iida, S., & Yasui, T. (2006). Lack of 26kDa globulin accompanies increased free amino acid content in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) grains. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 43(3), 387-392.
- Asli, D. E., Eghdami, A., & Houshmandfar, A. (2011). Evaluation of sink and source relationship in different rice(*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. *Advances in Environmental Biology*, 5(5), 912-919.
- Atkins, C., Smith, P., & Rodriguez-Medina, C. (2011). Macromolecules in phloem exudates a review. *Protoplasma*, *248*(1), 165-172.
- Ausubel, F. (1995). Preparation of plant DNA using CTAB. *Ausubel FM et al., John Wiley & Sons Inc, eds. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology, 2,* 3-2.3.
- Ayre, B. G. (2011). Membrane-Transport Systems for Sucrose in Relation to Whole-Plant Carbon Partitioning. *Molecular Plant*, *4*(3), 377-394.
- Bagnall, N., Wang, X.-D., Scofield, G. N., Furbank, R. T., Offler, C. E., & Patrick, J. W. (2000). Sucrose transport-related genes are expressed in both maternal and filial tissues of developing wheat grains. *Functional Plant Biology*, 27(11), 1009-1020.
- Bajaj, S., & Rajam, M. (1995). Efficient plant regeneration from long-term callus cultures of rice by spermidine. *Plant Cell Reports*, *14*(11), 717-720.
- Banaś, A., Debski, H., Banaś, W., Heneen, W. K., Dahlqvist, A., Bafor, M., & Carlsson, A. S. (2007). Lipids in grain tissues of oat (*Avena sativa*): differences in content, time of deposition, and fatty acid composition. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(10), 2463-2470.

- Bashir, K., Takahashi, R., Nakanishi, H., & Nishizawa, N. K. (2013). The road to micronutrient biofortification of rice: Progress and prospects. [Review]. *Frontiers in plant science*, 4:15 10.3389/fpls.2013.00015
- Battraw, M. J., & Hall, T. C. (1990). Histochemical analysis of *CaMV 35S* promoter-betaglucuronidase gene expression in transgenic rice plants. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *15*(4), 527.
- Baud, S., Wuillème, S., Lemoine, R., Kronenberger, J., Caboche, M., Lepiniec, L., & Rochat, C. (2005). The *AtSUC5* sucrose transporter specifically expressed in the endosperm is involved in early seed development in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal*, 43(6), 824-836.
- Benoist, B. D., McLean, E., Egll, I., & Cogswell, M. (2008). Worldwide prevalence of anaemia 1993-2005: *WHO global database on anaemia*: World Health Organization.
- Bevan, M. (1984). Binary Agrobacterium vectors for plant transformation. Nucleic acids research, 12(22), 8711-8721.
- Bieleski, R. L. (1969). Phosphorus Compounds in Translocating Phloem. *Plant Physiology*, *44*(4), 497-502.
- Biswas, A. K., & Mondal, S. K. (1986). Regulation by kinetin and abcisic acid of correlative senescence in relation to grain maturation, source-sink relationship and yield of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant growth regulation*, *4*(3), 239-245.
- Blum, A. (1998). Improving wheat grain filling under stress by stem reserve mobilisation. *Euphytica*, *100*(1-3), 77-83.
- Borg, S., Brinch-Pedersen, H., Tauris, B., & Holm, P. (2009). Iron transport, deposition and bioavailability in the wheat and barley grain. *Plant and Soil*, *325*(1), 15-24.
- Borisjuk, L., Rolletschek, H., Radchuk, R., Weschke, W., Wobus, U., & Weber, H. (2004). Seed Development and Differentiation: A Role for Metabolic Regulation. *Plant Biology*, 6(04), 375-386.
- Botha, C., & Cross, R. (1997). Plasmodesmatal frequency in relation to short distance transport and phloem loading in leaves of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*). Phloem is not loaded directly from the symplast. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *99*(3), 355-362.
- Botha, C. E. J., Cross, R. H. M., van Bel, A. J. E., & Peter, C. (2000). Phloem loading in the sucrose-export-defective (*SXD-1*) mutant maize is limited by callose deposition at plasmodesmata in bundle sheath—vascular parenchyma interface. *Protoplasma*, 214(1), 65-72.
- Bouis, H. E., Chassy, B. M., & Ochanda, J. O. (2003). Genetically modified food crops and their contribution to human nutrition and food quality. *Trends in Food Science Technology*, 14(5-8), 191-209.
- Braun, D. M., & Slewinski, T. L. (2009). Genetic Control of Carbon Partitioning in Grasses: Roles of Sucrose Transporters and Tie-dyed Loci in Phloem Loading. *Plant Physiology*, 149(1), 71-81.
- Brinch-Pedersen, H., Borg, S., Tauris, B., & Holm, P. B. (2007). Molecular genetic approaches to increasing mineral availability and vitamin content of cereals. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *46*(3), 308-326.
- Bush, D. R. (1989). Proton-coupled sucrose transport in plasmalemma vesicles isolated from sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L. cv Great Western) leaves. *Plant Physiology*, *89*(4), 1318.
- Bush, D. R. (1990). Electrogenicity, pH-dependence, and stoichiometry of the protonsucrose symport. *Plant Physiology*, *93*(4), 1590.
- Bush, D. R. (1993a). Proton-coupled sugar and amino acid transporters in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*, 44, 513-542.
- Butaye, K. M. J., Cammue, B. P. A., Delaure, S. L., & De Bolle, M. F. C. (2005). Approaches to minimize variation of transgene expression in plants. *Molecular Breeding*, 16(1), 79-91.
- Cakmak, I., Kalayci, M., Kaya, Y., Torun, A. A., Aydin, N., Wang, Y., & Horst, W. J. (2010). Biofortification and Localization of Zinc in Wheat Grain. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *58*(16), 9092-9102.
- Calatayud, P. A., Nardon, C., & Rahbé, Y. (1996). A new technique to immobilize an aphid or a mealybug on plants using a high-frequency microcautery unit. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 80(1), 239-241.
- Cao, J., Duan, X., McEiroy, D., & Wu, R. (1992). Regeneration of herbicide resistant transgenic rice plants following microprojectile-mediated transformation of suspension culture cells. *Plant Cell Reports*, 11(11), 586-591.
- Carpaneto, A., Geiger, D., Bamberg, E., Sauer, N., Fromm, J., & Hedrich, R. (2005). Phloemlocalized, proton-coupled sucrose carrier ZmSUT1 mediates sucrose efflux under the control of the sucrose gradient and the proton motive force. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(22), 21437-21443.
- Chen, J.-Y., Liu, S.-L., Siao, W., & Wang, S.-J. (2010). Hormone and sugar effects on rice sucrose transporter *OsSUT1* expression in germinating embryos. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, *32*(4), 749-756.
- Chen, L.-Q., Qu, X.-Q., Hou, B.-H., Sosso, D., Osorio, S., Fernie, A. R., & Frommer, W. B. (2012a). Sucrose efflux mediated by SWEET proteins as a key step for phloem transport. *Science*, *335*(6065), 207-211.
- Chen, Y., Wang, M., & Ouwerkerk, P. B. F. (2012b). Molecular and environmental factors determining grain quality in rice. *Food and Energy Security*, *1*(2), 111-132.
- Cheng, M., Lowe, B., Spencer, T., Ye, X., & Armstrong, C. (2004). Factors influencing *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of monocotyledonous species. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology Plant*, 40(1), 31-45.
- Chiou, T. J., & Bush, D. R. (1998). Sucrose is a signal molecule in assimilate partitioning. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(8), 4784.
- Choi, E. Y., Graham, R., & Stangoulis, J. (2007). Semi-quantitative analysis for selecting Feand Zn-dense genotypes of staple food crops. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 20*(6), 496-505.
- Choi, H. W., Lemaux, P. G., & Cho, M. J. (2003). Long-term stability of transgene expression driven by barley endosperm-specific hordein promoters in transgenic barley. *Plant Cell Reports*, *21*(11), 1108-1120.
- Choudhury, N. H., & Juliano, B. O. (1980). Lipids in developing and mature rice grain. *Phytochemistry*, *19*(6), 1063-1069.

- Christensen, A. H., & Quail, P. H. (1996). Ubiquitin promoter-based vectors for high-level expression of selectable and/or screenable marker genes in monocotyledonous plants. *Transgenic Research*, *5*(3), 213-218.
- Clarke, B., Liang, R., Morell, M., Bird, A., Jenkins, C., & Li, Z. (2008). Gene expression in a *starch synthase IIa* mutant of barley: changes in the level of gene transcription and grain composition. *Functional & integrative genomics*, *8*(3), 211-221.
- Colangelo, E. P., & Guerinot, M. L. (2006). Put the metal to the petal: metal uptake and transport throughout plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, *9*(3), 322-330.
- Cornejo, M.-J., Luth, D., Blankenship, K. M., Anderson, O. D., & Blechl, A. E. (1993). Activity of a maize ubiquitin promoter in transgenic rice. *Plant Molecular Biology, 23*(3), 567-581.
- Curie, C., Cassin, G., Couch, D., Divol, F., Higuchi, K., Le Jean, M., & Mari, S. (2009). Metal movement within the plant: contribution of nicotianamine and yellow stripe 1-like transporters. *Annals of Botany*, *103*(1), 1-11.
- Dai, S., Zheng, P., Marmey, P., Zhang, S., Tian, W., Chen, S., & Fauquet, C. (2001). Comparative analysis of transgenic rice plants obtained by *Agrobacterium*mediated transformation and particle bombardment. *Molecular Breeding*, 7(1), 25-33.
- Datta, K., Vasquez, A., Tu, J., Torrizo, L., Alam, M., Oliva, N., & Datta, S. (1998). Constitutive and tissue-specific differential expression of the *cryIA* (*b*) gene in transgenic rice plants conferring resistance to rice insect pest. *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, *97*(1), 20-30.
- Davies, C., Wolf, T., & Robinson, S. (1999). Three putative sucrose transporters are differentially expressed in grapevine tissues. *Plant Science*, *147*, 93-100.
- Del Rosario, A., Briones, V. P., Vidal, A. J., & Juliano, B. (1968). Composition and endosperm structure of developing and mature rice kernel. *Cereal chemistry*, *45*(3), 225-235.
- de Ruijter, N. C. A., Verhees, J., van Leeuwen, W., & van der Krol, A. R. (2003). Evaluation and Comparison of the GUS, LUC and GFP Reporter System for Gene Expression Studies in Plants. *Plant Biology*, *5*(2), 103-115.
- Doehlert, D. (1993). Sink strength: dynamic with source strength. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 16*(9), 1027-1028.
- Doering-Saad, C., Newbury, H. J., Bale, J. S., & Pritchard, J. (2002). Use of aphid stylectomy and RT-PCR for the detection of transporter mRNAs in sieve elements. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *53*(369), 631-637.
- Drakakaki, G., Marcel, S., Glahn, R., Lund, E., Pariagh, S., Fischer, R., & Stoger, E. (2005). Endosperm-Specific Co-Expression of Recombinant Soybean Ferritin and *Aspergillus* Phytase in Maize Results in Significant Increases in the Levels of Bioavailable Iron. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *59*(6), 869-880.
- Earley, K. W., Haag, J. R., Pontes, O., Opper, K., Juehne, T., Song, K., & Pikaard, C. S. (2006). Gateway-compatible vectors for plant functional genomics and proteomics. *The Plant Journal*, *45*(4), 616-629.
- Eckardt, N. A. (2003). The Function of SUT2/SUC3 Sucrose Transporters: The Debate Continues. *The Plant Cell Online*, *15*(6), 1259-1262.

- Egli, D. B., & Bruening, W. P. (2004). Water stress, photosynthesis, seed sucrose levels and seed growth in soybean. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, *142*, 1-8.
- Ekman, Å., Hayden, D. M., Dehesh, K., Bülow, L., & Stymne, S. (2008). Carbon partitioning between oil and carbohydrates in developing oat (*Avena sativa* L.) seeds. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 59(15), 4247-4257.
- Endler, A., Meyer, S., Schelbert, S., Schneider, T., Weschke, W., Peters, S. W., & Schmidt, U. G. (2006). Identification of a Vacuolar Sucrose Transporter in Barley and Arabidopsis Mesophyll Cells by a Tonoplast Proteomic Approach. *Plant Physiology*, 141(1), 196-207.
- Eom, J.-S., Cho, J.-I., Reinders, A., Lee, S.-W., Yoo, Y., Tuan, P. Q., & Jeon, J.-S. (2011). Impaired function of the tonoplast-localized sucrose transporter in rice (*Oryza sativa*), OsSUT2, limits the transport of vacuolar reserve sucrose and affects plant growth. *Plant Physiology*, 157, 109-119.
- Erenoglu, E. B., Kutman, U. B., Ceylan, Y., Yildiz, B., & Cakmak, I. (2011). Improved nitrogen nutrition enhances root uptake, root-to-shoot translocation and remobilization of zinc (65Zn) in wheat. *New Phytologist*, *189*(2), 438-448.
- Evans, L., & Bhatt, G. (1977). Influence of seed size, protein content and cultivar on early seedling vigor in wheat. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, *57*(3), 929-935.
- Fernandes, J., Morrow, D., Casati, P., & Walbot, V. (2008). Distinctive transcriptome responses to adverse environmental conditions in *Zea mays* L. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 6, 782 - 798.
- Fisher, D. B., & Gifford, R. M. (1986). Accumulation and Conversion of Sugars by Developing Wheat Grains : VI. Gradients Along the Transport Pathway from the Peduncle to the Endosperm Cavity during Grain Filling. *Plant Physiology*, 82(4), 1024-1030.
- Fordyce, E. J., Forbes, R. M., Robbins, K. R., & Erdman, J. W. (1987). Phytate× calcium/zinc molar ratios: are they predictive of zinc bioavailability? *Journal of food science*, *52*(2), 440-444.
- Frank Baker, R., Leach, K. A., & Braun, D. M. (2012). SWEET as Sugar: New Sucrose Effluxers in Plants. *Molecular Plant*. 5, 766-768.
- Fujita, N., Yoshida, M., Asakura, N., Ohdan, T., Miyao, A., Hirochika, H., & Nakamura, Y. (2006). Function and Characterization of *Starch Synthase I* Using Mutants in Rice. *Plant Physiology*, 140(3), 1070-1084.
- Fukumorita, T., & Chino, M. (1982). Sugar, Amino Acid and Inorganic Contents in Rice Phloem Sap. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *23*(2), 273-283.
- Furbank, R. T., Scofield, G. N., Hirose, T., Wang, X.-D., Patrick, J. W., & Offler, C. E. (2001). Cellular localisation and function of a sucrose transporter *OsSUT1* in developing rice grains. *Functional Plant Biology*, 28(12), 1187-1196.
- Furtado, A., Henry, R. J., & Takaiwa, F. (2008). Comparison of promoters in transgenic rice. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 6(7), 679-693.
- Gamalei, Y. (1989). Structure and function of leaf minor veins in trees and herbs. *Trees*-*Structure and Function*, *3*(2), 96-110.
- Gaxiola, R. A., Palmgren, M. G., & Schumacher, K. (2007). Plant proton pumps. *FEBS Letters*, *581*(12), 2204-2214.

- Geiger, D. (2011). Plant sucrose transporters from a biophysical point of view. *Molecular Plant*. 4, 395-406.
- Geiger, D., & Shieh, W. J. (1993). Sink strength: Learning to measure, measuring to learn. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 16*(9), 1017-1018.
- Ghandilyan, A., Vreugdenhil, D., & Aarts, M. G. M. (2006). Progress in the genetic understanding of plant iron and zinc nutrition. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *126*(3), 407-417.
- Gheysen, G., Montagu, M. V., & Zambryski, P. (1987). Integration of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* transfer DNA (T-DNA) involves rearrangements of target plant DNA sequences. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *84*(17), 6169-6173.
- Gheysen, G., Villarroel, R., & Van Montagu, M. (1991). Illegitimate recombination in plants: a model for T-DNA integration. *Genes & Development*, *5*(2), 287-297.
- Giaquinta, R. (1977). Possible role of pH gradient and membrane ATPase in the loading of sucrose into the sieve tubes. *Annual Reviews in Plant Physiology*, 34, 347-387.
- Gibson, R. S., Bailey, K. B., Gibbs, M., & Ferguson, E. L. (2010). A review of phytate, iron, zinc, and calcium concentrations in plant-based complementary foods used in lowincome countries and implications for bioavailability. *Food & Nutrition Bulletin*, 31(Supplement 2), 134-146.
- Gifford, R. M., & Evans, L. T. (1981). Photosynthesis, carbon partitioning and yield. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology, 32*, 485-509.
- Goto, F., Yoshihara, T., Shigemoto, N., Toki, S., & Takaiwa, F. (1999). Iron fortification of rice seed by the soybean *ferritin* gene. *Nature Biotechnology*, *17*(3), 282-286.
- Graf, E., Empson, K. L., & Eaton, J. W. (1987). Phytic acid. A natural antioxidant. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *262*(24), 11647-11650.
- Graham, R., Senadhira, D., Beebe, S., Iglesias, C., & Monasterio, I. (1999). Breeding for micronutrient density in edible portions of staple food crops: conventional approaches. *Field Crops Research*, *60*(1), 57-80.
- Groos, C. G., Robert, N. R., Bervas, E. B., & Charmet, G. C. (2003). Genetic analysis of grain protein-content, grain yield and thousand-kernel weight in bread wheat. *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, *106*(6), 1032-1040.
- Guerinot, M. (2010). Iron. Cell Biology of Metals and Nutrients. In R. Hell & R.-R. Mendel (Eds.), (Vol. 17, pp. 75-94): Springer Berlin / Heidelberg.
- Hackel, A., Schauer, N., Carrari, F., Fernie, A. R., Grimm, B., & Kühn, C. (2006). Sucrose transporter *LeSUT1* and *LeSUT2* inhibition affects tomato fruit development in different ways. *The Plant Journal*, *45*(2), 180-192.
- Hagan, N., Upadhyaya, N., Tabe, L., & Higgins, T. (2003). The redistribution of protein sulfur in transgenic rice expressing a gene for a foreign, sulfur-rich protein. *The Plant Journal*, *34*(1), 1-11.
- Hansen, T. H., Lombi, E., Fitzgerald, M., Laursen, K. H., Frydenvang, J., Husted, S., & Schjoerring, J. K. (2012). Losses of essential mineral nutrients by polishing of rice differ among genotypes due to contrasting grain hardness and mineral distribution. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 56(2), 307-315.
- Hayashi, H., & Chino, M. (1985). Nitrate and Other Anions in the Rice Phloem Sap. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *26*(2), 325-330.

- Hayashi, H., & Chino, M. (1990). Chemical Composition of Phloem Sap from the Uppermost Internode of the Rice Plant. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *31*(2), 247-251.
- Haydon, M. J., & Cobbett, C. S. (2007). Transporters of ligands for essential metal ions in plants. *New Phytologist*, *174*(3), 499-506.
- He, D., Han, C., Yao, J., Shen, S., & Yang, P. (2011). Constructing the metabolic and regulatory pathways in germinating rice seeds through proteomic approach. *Proteomics*, *11*(13), 2693-2713.
- Hell, R., & Stephan, U. (2003). Iron uptake, trafficking and homeostasis in plants. *Planta*, *216*(4), 541-551.
- Hensel, G., Kastner, C., Oleszczuk, S., Riechen, J., & Kumlehn, J. (2009). *Agrobacterium*mediated gene transfer to cereal crop plants: current protocols for barley, wheat, triticale, and maize. *International Journal of Plant Genomics*. 2009, 835608.
- Heppard, E. P., Kinney, A. J., Stecca, K. L., & Miao, G. H. (1996). Developmental and Growth Temperature Regulation of Two Different Microsomal *[omega]-6 Desaturase* Genes in Soybeans. *Plant Physiology*, *110*(1), 311-319.
- Herbers, K., & Sonnewald, U. (1998). Molecular determinants of sink strength. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 1(3), 207-216.
- Hiei, Y., Komari, T., & Kubo, T. (1997). Transformation of rice mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *35*(1), 205-218.
- Hiei, Y., Ohta, S., Komari, T., & Kumashiro, T. (1994). Efficient transformation of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) mediated by *Agrobacterium* and sequence analysis of the boundaries of the T-DNA. *The Plant Journal*, 6(2), 271-282.
- Himmelbach, A., Zierold, U., Hensel, G., Riechen, J., Douchkov, D., Schweizer, P., & Kumlehn, J. (2007). A Set of Modular Binary Vectors for Transformation of Cereals. *Plant Physiology*, 145(4), 1192-1200.
- Hirose, T., Imaizumi, N., Scofield, G. N., Furbank, R. T., & Ohsugi, R. (1997). cDNA Cloning and Tissue Specific Expression of a Gene for Sucrose Transporter from Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 38(12), 1389-1396.
- Hirose, T., Takano, M., & Terao, T. (2002b). Cell Wall Invertase in Developing Rice Caryopsis: Molecular Cloning of *OscIN1* and Analysis of its Expression in Relation to its Role in Grain Filling. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *43*(4), 452-459.
- Hirose, T., Zhang, Z., Miyao, A., Hirochika, H., Ohsugi, R., & Terao, T. (2010). Disruption of a gene for rice sucrose transporter, *OsSUT1*, impairs pollen function but pollen maturation is unaffected. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *61*(13), 3639-3646.
- Ho, L. C. (1988). Compartmentation of imported sugars in sink organs in relation to sink strength. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 39*, 355-378.
- Ho, L. C., & Gifford, R. M. (1984). Accumulation and Conversion of Sugars by Developing Wheat Grains: V. the endosperm apoplast and apoplastic transport. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 35(1), 58-73.
- Hobbs, S. L. A., Warkentin, T. D., & DeLong, C. M. O. (1993). Transgene copy number can be positively or negatively associated with transgene expression. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 21(1), 17-26.

- House, W. A. (1999). Trace element bioavailability as exemplified by iron and zinc. *Field Crops Research*, *60*(1), 115-141.
- Hunt, J. R. (2003). Bioavailability of iron, zinc, and other trace minerals from vegetarian diets. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *78*(3), 633S-639S.
- Hwang, Yang, McCullar, Wu, Chen, Pham, & Huang. (2002). Analysis of the rice endospermspecific globulin promoter in transformed rice cells. *Plant Cell Reports, 20*(9), 842-847.
- Hwang, Y.-S., McCullar, C., & Huang, N. (2001). Evaluation of expression cassettes in developing rice endosperm using a transient expression assay. *Plant Science*, 161(6), 1107-1116.
- Ibraheem, O., Botha, C., Bradley, G., Dealtry, G., & Roux, S. (2013). Rice sucrose transporter1 (*OsSUT1*) up-regulation in xylem parenchyma is caused by aphid feeding on rice leaf blade vascular bundles. *Plant Biology*. doi:10.1111/plb.12117.
- Ibraheem, O., Botha, C. E. J., & Bradley, G. (2010). *In silico* analysis of *cis*-acting regulatory elements in 5' regulatory regions of sucrose transporter gene families in rice (*Oryza sativa* Japonica) and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Computational Biology and Chemistry*, 34(5-6), 268-283.
- Ishimaru, K., Hirose, T., Aoki, N., Takahashi, S., Ono, K., Yamamoto, S., & Ohsugi, R. (2001). Antisense Expression of a Rice Sucrose Transporter *OsSUT1* in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *42*(10), 1181-1185.
- Ishimaru, T., Hirose, T., Matsuda, T., Goto, A., Takahashi, K., Sasaki, H., & Yamagishi, T. (2005). Expression Patterns of Genes Encoding Carbohydrate-metabolizing Enzymes and their Relationship to Grain Filling in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): Comparison of Caryopses Located at Different Positions in a Panicle. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 46(4), 620-628.
- Ishimaru, Y., Masuda, H., Bashir, K., Inoue, H., Tsukamoto, T., Takahashi, M., & Nishizawa, N. K. (2010). Rice metal-nicotianamine transporter, OsYSL2, is required for the long-distance transport of iron and manganese. *The Plant Journal*, 62(3), 379-390.
- Ishimaru, Y., Masuda, H., Suzuki, M., Bashir, K., Takahashi, M., Nakanishi, H., & Nishizawa, N. K. (2007a). Overexpression of the *OsZIP4* zinc transporter confers disarrangement of zinc distribution in rice plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(11), 2909-2915.
- Ishimaru, Y., Takahashi, R., Bashir, K., Shimo, H., Senoura, T., Sugimoto, K., & Nishizawa, N. K. (2012). Characterizing the role of rice *NRAMP5* in Manganese, Iron and Cadmium Transport. *Scientific Reports*, 2, 286.
- Islam, N., Lonsdale, M., Upadhyaya, N. M., Higgins, T. J., Hirano, H., & Akhurst, R. (2004). Protein extraction from mature rice leaves for two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and its application in proteome analysis. *Proteomics*, *4*, 1903-1908.
- Islam, N., Upadhyaya, N. M., Campbell, P. M., Akhurst, R., Hagan, N., & Higgins, T. J. (2005). Decreased accumulation of glutelin types in rice grains constitutively expressing a sunflower seed albumin gene. *Phytochemistry*, 66(21), 2534-2539.
- Iwai, T., Takahashi, M., Oda, K., Terada, Y., & Yoshida, K. T. (2012). Dynamic Changes in the Distribution of Minerals in Relation to Phytic Acid Accumulation during Rice Seed Development. *Plant Physiology*, 160(4), 2007-2014.

- Jain, M., Nijhawan, A., Tyagi, A., & Khurana, J. (2006). Validation of housekeeping genes as internal control for studying gene expression in rice by quantitative real-time PCR. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 345*, 646-651.
- Jenner, C., Ugalde, T., & Aspinall, D. (1991). The Physiology of Starch and Protein Deposition in the Endosperm of Wheat. *Functional Plant Biology*, *18*(3), 211-226.
- Jenner, C. F., & Rathjen, A. J. (1977). Supply of sucrose and its metabolism in developing grains of wheat. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, *4*, 691-701.
- Johnson, A. A. T., Kyriacou, B., Callahan, D. L., Carruthers, L., Stangoulis, J., Lombi, E., & Tester, M. (2011). Constitutive Overexpression of the OsNAS Gene Family Reveals Single-Gene Strategies for Effective Iron- and Zinc-Biofortification of Rice Endosperm. PLoS ONE, 6(9), e24476.
- Ju, Z., Hettiarachchy, N., & Rath, N. (2001). Extraction, denaturation and hydrophobic properties of rice flour proteins. *Journal of food science*, *66*(2), 229-232.
- Juliano, B. O., & Boulter, D. (1976). Extraction and composition of rice endosperm glutelin. *Phytochemistry*, *15*(11), 1601-1606.
- Kaeppler, S. M., Kaeppler, H. F., & Rhee, Y. (2000). Epigenetic aspects of somaclonal variation in plants. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *43*(2-3), 179-188.
- Karimi, M., Depicker, A., & Hilson, P. (2007). Recombinational Cloning with Plant Gateway Vectors. *Plant Physiology*, *145*(4), 1144-1154.
- Kawabe, S., Fukumorita, T., & Chino, M. (1980). Collection of rice phloem sap from stylets of homopterous insects severed by YAG laser. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 21(7), 1319-1327.
- Kawakatsu, T., Hirose, S., Yasuda, H., & Takaiwa, F. (2010). Reducing Rice Seed Storage Protein Accumulation Leads to Changes in Nutrient Quality and Storage Organelle Formation. *Plant Physiology*, 154(4), 1842-1854.
- Kawakatsu, T., Yamamoto, M. P., Hirose, S., Yano, M., & Takaiwa, F. (2008). Characterization of a new rice glutelin gene *GluD-1* expressed in the starchy endosperm. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *59*(15), 4233-4245.
- Kennedy, J. S., & Mittler, T. E. (1953). A Method of obtaining Phloem Sap via the Mouthparts of Aphids. *Nature*, *171*(4351), 528-528.
- Khanna, H. K., & Raina, S. K. (1999). *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of indica rice cultivars using binary and superbinary vectors. *Functional Plant Biology*, *26*(4), 311-324.
- Kim, H.-J., Lee, J.-Y., Yoon, U.-H., Lim, S.-H., & Kim, Y.-M. (2013). Effects of Reduced Prolamin on Seed Storage Protein Composition and the Nutritional Quality of Rice. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 14(8), 17073-17084.
- Knop, C., Stadler, R., Sauer, N., & Lohaus, G. (2004). AmSUT1, a Sucrose Transporter in Collection and Transport Phloem of the Putative Symplastic Phloem Loader Alonsoa meridionalis. Plant Physiology, 134(1), 204-214.
- Kobayashi, T., & Nishizawa, N. K. (2008). Regulation of Iron and Zinc Uptake and Translocation in Rice. In H.-Y. Hirano, Y. Sano, A. Hirai & T. Sasaki (Eds.), *Rice Biology in the Genomics Era* (Vol. 62, pp. 321-335): Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Koch, K. (1996). Carbohydrate-modulated gene expression in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, *47*, 509-540.

- Krishnan, H. B., White, J. A., & Pueppke, S. G. (1992). Characterization and localization of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) seed globulins. *Plant Science*, *81*(1), 1-11.
- Krugel, U., Veenhoff, L., Langbein, J., Wiederhold, E., Liesche, J., Friedrich, T., & Kuhn, C. (2008). Transport and sorting of the *Solanum tuberosum* sucrose transporter SUT1 is affected by posttranslational modification. *The Plant Cell 20*, 2497-2513.
- Kühn, C. (2003). A Comparison of the Sucrose Transporter Systems of Different Plant Species. *Plant Biology*, *5*(3), 215-232.
- Kuhn, C., Franceshi, V. R., Schulz, A., Lemoine, R., & Frommer, W. B. (1997). Macromolecular trafficking indicated by localization and turnover of sucrose transporters in enucleate sieve elements. *Science*, 275, 1298-1300.
- Kühn, C., & Grof, C. P. L. (2010). Sucrose transporters of higher plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, *13*(3), 287-297.
- Kühn, C., Hajirezaei, M.-R., Fernie, A. R., Roessner-Tunali, U., Czechowski, T., Hirner, B., & Frommer, W. B. (2003). The Sucrose Transporter *StSUT1* Localizes to Sieve Elements in Potato Tuber Phloem and Influences Tuber Physiology and Development. *Plant Physiology*, *131*(1), 102-113.
- Kuhn, C., Quick, W. P., Schulz, A., Riesmeier, J. W., Sonnewald, U., & Frommer, W. B. (1996). Companion cell-specific inhibition of the potato sucrose transporter SUT1. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 19*(10), 1115-1123.
- Kuo, T. M., VanMiddlesworth, J. F., & Wolf, W. J. (1988). Content of raffinose oligosaccharides and sucrose in various plant seeds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 36(1), 32-36.
- Kutman, U. B., Yildiz, B., & Cakmak, I. (2011). Improved nitrogen status enhances zinc and iron concentrations both in the whole grain and the endosperm fraction of wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *53*(1), 118-125.
- Kuzuhara, Y., Isobe, A., Awazuhara, M., Fujiwara, T., & Hayashi, H. (2000). Glutathione levels in phloem sap of rice plants under sulfur deficient conditions. *Soil science and plant nutrition*, *46*(1), 265-270.
- Kyriacou, B., Moore, K., Paterson, D., de Jonge, M., Howard, D., Stangoulis, J., & Johnson, A. (2014). Localization of iron in rice grain using synchrotron X-ray fluorescence microscopy and high resolution secondary ion mass spectrometry. *Journal of Cereal Science*. 59, 173-180.
- Lafarge, T., Seassau, C., Martin, M., Bueno, C., Clement-Vidal, A., Schreck, E., & Luquet, D. (2010). Regulation and recovery of sink strength in rice plants grown under changes in light intensity. *Functional plant biology*, *37*(5), 413-428.
- Laloi, M., Delrot, S., & M'Batchi, B. (1993). Characterization of sugar efflux from sugar beet leaf plasma membrane vesicles. *Plant physiology and biochemistry*, *31*(5), 731-741.
- Lalonde, S., Boles, E., Hellmann, H., Barker, L., Patrick, J. W., Frommer, W. B., & Ward, J. M. (1999). The Dual Function of Sugar Carriers: Transport and Sugar Sensing. *The Plant Cell Online*, *11*(4), 707-726.
- Lalonde, S., Wipf, D., & Frommer, W. B. (2004). Transport mechanisms for organic forms of carbon and nitrogen between source and sink. *Annual Reviews in Plant Biology*, 55, 341-372.

- Larkin, M. A., Blackshields, G., Brown, N. P., Chenna, R., McGettigan, P. A., McWilliam, H., & Higgins, D. G. (2007). Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics*, *23*(21), 2947-2948.
- Lazo, G. R., Stein, P. A., & Ludwig, R. A. (1991). A DNA Transformation-Competent *Arabidopsis* Genomic Library in *Agrobacterium*. *Nature Biotechnology*, 9(10), 963-967.
- Lee, S., Jeon, U. S., Lee, S. J., Kim, Y.-K., Persson, D. P., Husted, S., & Nishizawa, N. K. (2009). Iron fortification of rice seeds through activation of the *nicotianamine synthase* gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *106*(51), 22014-22019.
- Lemoine, R. (2000). Sucrose transporters in plants: update on function and structure. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes, 1465*(1-2), 246-262.
- Li, C., Shi, J., Weiss, D., & Goldshmidt, E. (2003). Sugars regulate sucrose transporter gene expression in citrus. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 306*, 402-407.
- Li, G., Nallamilli, B. R. R., Tan, F., & Peng, Z. (2008). Removal of high-abundance proteins for nuclear subproteome studies in rice (*Oryza sativa*) endosperm. *Electrophoresis*, 29(3), 604-617.
- Li, J., Baroja-Fernández, E., Bahaji, A., Muñoz, F. J., Ovecka, M., Montero, M., & Pozueta-Romero, J. (2013). Enhancing sucrose synthase activity results in increased levels of starch and ADP-glucose in maize (*Zea mays* L.) seed endosperms. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 54, 282-294.
- Liang, J., Zhang, J., & Cao, X. (2001). Grain sink strength may be related to the poor grain filling of indica-japonica rice (*Oryza sativa*) hybrids. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 112(4), 470-477.
- Lim, J. D., Cho, J.-I., Park, Y.-I., Hahn, T.-R., Choi, S.-B., & Jeon, J.-S. (2006). Sucrose transport from source to sink seeds in rice. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *126*(4), 572-584.
- Lin, C.-J., Li, C.-Y., Lin, S.-K., Yang, F.-H., Huang, J.-J., Liu, Y.-H., & Lur, H.-S. (2010). Influence of high temperature during grain filling on the accumulation of storage proteins and grain quality in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(19), 10545-10552.
- Liu, C., Moon, K., Honda, H., & Kobayashi, T. (2001). Enhanced regeneration of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) embryogenic callus by light irradiation in growth phase. *Journal of bioscience and bioengineering*, 91(3), 319-321.
- Liu, L., Waters, D. L., Rose, T. J., Bao, J., & King, G. J. (2013). Phospholipids in rice: significance in grain quality and health benefits: a review. *Food Chemistry*, *139*(1), 1133-1145.
- Lombi, E., Scheckel, K., Pallon, J., Carey, A., Zhu, Y. G., & Meharg, A. A. (2009). Speciation and distribution of arsenic and localization of nutrients in rice grains. *New Phytologist*, 184(1), 193-201.
- Lombi, E., Scheckel, K. G., & Kempson, I. M. (2011). "*In situ*" analysis of metal(loid)s in plants: State of the art and artefacts. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 72(1), 3-17.
- Lönnerdal, B. (2000). Dietary Factors Influencing Zinc Absorption. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *130*(5), 1378S-1383S.

- Loreti, E., Bellis, L. D., Alpi, A., & Perata, P. (2001). Why and How Do Plant Cells Sense Sugars? *Annals of Botany*, *88*(5), 803-812.
- Lu, J. M.-Y., & Bush, D. R. (1998). His-65 in the proton–sucrose symporter is an essential amino acid whose modification with site-directed mutagenesis increases transport activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(15), 9025-9030.
- Lucca, P., Hurrell, R., & Potrykus, I. (2001). Genetic engineering approaches to improve the bioavailability and the level of iron in rice grains. *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, *102*(2), 392-397.
- Luthe, D. S. (1983). Storage protein accumulation in developing rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) seeds. *Plant Science Letters*, *32*(1–2), 147-158.
- Ma, G., Jin, Y., Piao, J., Kok, F., Guusje, B., & Jacobsen, E. (2005). Phytate, calcium, iron, and zinc contents and their molar ratios in foods commonly consumed in China. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *53*(26), 10285-10290.
- Makrides, M., Neumann, M., & Gibson, R. (1996). Effect of maternal docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) supplementation on breast milk composition. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, *50*(6), 352-357.
- Marcelis, L. (1996). Sink strength as a determinant of dry matter partitioning in the whole plant. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *47*(Special Issue), 1281.
- Masuda, H., Usuda, K., Kobayashi, T., Ishimaru, Y., Kakei, Y., Takahashi, M., & Nishizawa, N.
  K. (2009). Overexpression of the barley nicotianamine synthase gene *HvNAS1* increases iron and zinc concentrations in rice grains. *Rice*, *2*(4), 155-166.
- Masuda, H., Ishimaru, Y., Aung, M. S., Kobayashi, T., Kakei, Y., Takahashi, M., & Nishizawa, N.
   K. (2012). Iron biofortification in rice by the introduction of multiple genes involved in iron nutrition. *Scientific Reports, 2*. 543.
- Matsukura, C.-a., Saitoh, T., Hirose, T., Ohsugi, R., Perata, P., & Yamaguchi, J. (2000). Sugar Uptake and Transport in Rice Embryo. Expression of Companion Cell-Specific Sucrose Transporter (*OsSUT1*) Induced by Sugar and Light. *Plant Physiology*, 124(1), 85-94.
- Matzke, M. A., & Matzke, A. J. M. (1995). How and why do plants inactivate homologous (trans) genes? *Plant Physiology*, *107*(3), 679.
- Mayerhofer, R., Koncz-Kalman, Z., Nawrath, C., Bakkeren, G., Crameri, A., Angelis, K., & Koncz, C. (1991). T-DNA integration: a mode of illegitimate recombination in plants. *The EMBO journal*, *10*(3), 697.
- McElroy, D., Blowers, A. D., Jenes, B., & Wu, R. (1991). Construction of expression vectors based on the rice actin 1 (*Act1*) 5' region for use in monocot transformation. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG*, 231(1), 150-160.
- McElroy, D., & Brettell, R. I. S. (1994). Foreign gene expression in transgenic cereals. *Trends in Biotechnology*, *12*(2), 62-68.
- McElroy, D., Zhang, W., Cao, J., & Wu, R. (1990). Isolation of an efficient actin promoter for use in rice transformation. *The Plant Cell Online*, *2*(2), 163-171.
- Meharg, A. A., Lombi, E., Williams, P. N., Scheckel, K. G., Feldmann, J., Raab, A., & Islam, R. (2008). Speciation and localization of arsenic in white and brown rice grains. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(4), 1051-1057.

- Mitsukawa, N., Konishi, R., Uchiki, M., Masumura, T., & Tanaka, K. (1999). Molecular cloning and characterization of a cysteine-rich 16.6-kDa prolamin in rice seeds. *Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 63*(11), 1851-1858.
- Miyao, A., Nakagome, M., Ohnuma, T., Yamagata, H., Kanamori, H., Katayose, Y., & Hirochika, H. (2012). Molecular spectrum of somaclonal variation in regenerated rice revealed by whole-genome sequencing. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *53*(1), 256-264.
- Moore, K. L., Schröder, M., Lombi, E., Zhao, F.-J., McGrath, S. P., Hawkesford, M. J., & Grovenor, C. R. M. (2010). NanoSIMS analysis of arsenic and selenium in cereal grain. *New Phytologist*, *185*(2), 434-445.
- Moore, K. L., Zhao, F.-J., Gritsch, C. S., Tosi, P., Hawkesford, M. J., McGrath, S. P., & Grovenor, C. R. M. (2012). Localisation of iron in wheat grain using high resolution secondary ion mass spectrometry. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 55(2), 183-187.
- Morsomme, P., & Boutry, M. (2000). The plant plasma membrane H+ATPase: structure, function and regulation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes,* 1465(1), 1-16.
- Müller, E., Brown, P. T. H., Hartke, S., & Lörz, H. (1990). DNA variation in tissue-culturederived rice plants. *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, *80*(5), 673-679.
- Münch, E. (1930). Die Stoffbewegungen in der Pflanze. Jena. *Verlag von Gustav Fischer, Jena, 234*.
- Murchie, E. H., Yang, J., Hubbart, S., Horton, P., & Peng, S. (2002). Are there associations between grain filling rate and photosynthesis in the flag leaves of field grown rice? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *53*(378), 2217.
- Murgia, I., Arosio, P., Tarantino, D., & Soave, C. (2012). Biofortification for combating 'hidden hunger' for iron. *Trends in Plant Science*, *17*(1), 47-55.
- Nagai, Y. S., Sakulsingharoj, C., Edwards, G. E., Satoh, H., Greene, T. W., Blakeslee, B., & Okita, T. W. (2009). Control of Starch Synthesis in Cereals: Metabolite Analysis of Transgenic Rice Expressing an Up-Regulated Cytoplasmic ADP-Glucose Pyrophosphorylase in Developing Seeds. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *50*(3), 635-643.
- Nagamine, A., Matsusaka, H., Ushijima, T., Kawagoe, Y., Ogawa, M., Okita, T. W., & Kumamaru, T. (2011). A Role for the Cysteine-Rich 10 kDa Prolamin in Protein Body I Formation in Rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *52*(6), 1003-1016.
- Nakamura, Y., Yuki, K., Park, S.-Y., & Ohya, T. (1989). Carbohydrate Metabolism in the Developing Endosperm of Rice Grains. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *30*(6), 833-839.
- Nakano, H., Makino, A., & Mae, T. (1995). Effects of panicle removal on the photosynthetic characteristics of the flag leaf of rice plants during the ripening stage. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *36*(4), 653-659.
- Nakase, M., Hotta, H., Adachi, T., Aoki, N., Nakamura, R., Masumura, T., & Matsuda, T. (1996). Cloning of the rice seed [alpha]-globulin-encoding gene: sequence similarity of the 5'-flanking region to those of the genes encoding wheat highmolecular-weight glutenin and barley D hordein. *Gene, 170*(2), 223-226.
- Niittyla, T., Fugslang, A., Palmgren, M., Frommer, W. B., & Schulze, W. (2007). Temporal analysis of sucrose-induced phosphorylation changes in plasma membrane proteins of *Arabidopsis*. *Molecular and Cellular Proteomics*, *6*(10), 1711-1726.

- Nishiyama, R., Kato, M., Nagata, S., Yanagisawa, S., & Yoneyama, T. (2012). Identification of Zn-nicotianamine and Fe-2'-deoxymugineic Acid in the Phloem Saps from Rice Plants (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 53, 381-390.
- Norhaizan, M., & Nor Faizadatul Ain, A. (2009). Determination of Phytate, Iron, Zinc, Calcium Contents and Their Molar Ratios in Commonly Consumed Raw and Prepared Food in Malaysia. *Malaysian Journal of Nutrition*, *15*(2), 213-222.
- Ogawa, M., Tanaka, K., & Kasai, Z. (1979). Accumulation of phosphorus, magnesium and potassium in developing rice grains: followed by electron microprobe X-ray analysis focusing on the aleurone layer. *Plant and Cell Physiology, 20*(1), 19-27.
- Ogiyama, S., Tagami, K., & Uchida, S. (2008). The concentration and distribution of essential elements in brown rice associated with the polishing rate: Use of ICP-AES and Micro-PIXE. *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms, 266*(16), 3625-3632.
- Ohnishi, T., Yoshino, M., Yamakawa, H., & Kinoshita, T. (2011). The Biotron Breeding System: A Rapid and Reliable Procedure for Genetic Studies and Breeding in Rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *52*(7), 1249-1257.
- O'Malley, R. C., Alonso, J. M., Kim, C. J., Leisse, T. J., & Ecker, J. R. (2007). An adapter ligationmediated PCR method for high-throughput mapping of T-DNA inserts in the *Arabidopsis* genome. *Nature protocols*, *2*(11), 2910-2917.
- Oono, K. (1985). Putative homozygous mutations in regenerated plants of rice. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG, 198*(3), 377-384.
- Oparka, K., & Gates, P. (1982). Ultrastructure of the developing pigment strand of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) in relation to its role in solute transport. *Protoplasma*, *113*(1), 33-43.
- Oparka, K., & Gates, P. (1984). Sink anatomy in relation to solute movement in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): A summary of findings. *Plant growth regulation*, *2*(4), 297-307.
- Oparka, K. J., & Gates, P. (1981). Transport of assimilates in the developing caryopsis of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Planta*, *152*(5), 388-396.
- Osaki, M., Koyanagi, A., & Tadano, T. (1992). Behavior of carbon from sucrose and asparagine after introduction to flag leaf of rice plant during ripening. *Soil science and plant nutrition, 38*(3), 527-535.
- Ozturk, L., Yazici, M. A., Yucel, C., Torun, A., Cekic, C., Bagci, A., & Cakmak, I. (2006). Concentration and localization of zinc during seed development and germination in wheat. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *128*(1), 144-152.
- Palmer, L. J., Palmer, L. T., Rutzke, M. A., Graham, R. D., & Stangoulis, J. C. (2014). Nutrient variability in phloem: examining changes in K, Mg, Zn and Fe concentration during grain loading in common wheat (Triticum aestivum). *Physiologia Plantarum*. doi:10.1111/ppl.12211
- Pao, S. S., Paulsen, I. T., & Saier Jr, M. H. (1998). Major facilitator superfamily. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, *62*(1), 1.
- Parry, M. L., Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Livermore, M., & Fischer, G. (2004). Effects of climate change on global food production under SRES emissions and socioeconomic scenarios. *Global Environmental Change*, 14(1), 53-67.

- Patrick, J. W. (1997). Phloem Unloading: Sieve Element Unloading and Post-Sieve Element Transport. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*, 48(1), 191-222.
- Patrick, J. W., & Offler, C. E. (1995). Post-sieve element transport of sucrose in developing seeds. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, *22*, 681-702.
- Patrick, J. W., & Offler, C. E. (2001). Compartmentation of transport and transfer events in developing seeds. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *52*(356), 551-564.
- Paul, M., & Driscoll, S. (1997). Sugar repression of photosynthesis: the role of carbohydrates in signalling nitrogen deficiency through source:sink imbalance. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 20*, 110-116.
- Pearson, J. N., Jenner, C. F., Rengel, Z., & Graham, R. D. (1996b). Differential transport of Zn, Mn and sucrose along the longitudinal axis of developing wheat grains. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 97(2), 332-338.
- Pearson, J. N., & Rengel, Z. (1994). Distribution and remobilization of Zn and Mn during grain development in wheat. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *45*(12), 1829-1835.
- Peleg, Z., Saranga, Y., Yazici, A., Fahima, T., Ozturk, L., & Cakmak, I. (2008). Grain zinc, iron and protein concentrations and zinc-efficiency in wild emmer wheat under contrasting irrigation regimes. *Plant and Soil*, 306(1), 57-67.
- Perez, C. M., Perdon, A. A., Resurreccion, A. P., Villareal, R. M., & Juliano, B. O. (1975). Enzymes of carbohydrate metabolism in the developing rice grain. *Plant Physiology*, *56*(5), 579-583.
- Persson, D. P., Hansen, T. H., Laursen, K. H., Schjoerring, J. K., & Husted, S. A. R. (2009). Simultaneous iron, zinc, sulfur and phosphorus speciation analysis of barley grain tissues using SEC-ICP-MS and IP-ICP-MS. *Metallomics*, 1(5), 418-426.
- Pidkowich, M. S., Nguyen, H. T., Heilmann, I., Ischebeck, T., & Shanklin, J. (2007). Modulating seed β-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase II level converts the composition of a temperate seed oil to that of a palm-like tropical oil. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(11), 4742-4747.
- Portillo, F. (2000). Regulation of plasma membrane H+-ATPase in fungi and plants. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Biomembranes, 1469*(1), 31-42.
- I. R. G. S. P. (2005). The map-based sequence of the rice genome. *Nature, 436*(7052), 793-800.
- Prom-u-thai, C., Huang, L., Rerkasem, B., Thomson, G., Kuo, J., Saunders, M., & Dell, B. (2008). Distribution of protein bodies and phytate-rich inclusions in grain tissues of low and high iron rice genotypes. *Cereal chemistry*, *85*(2), 257-265.
- Qu, L., Yoshihara, T., Ooyama, A., Goto, F., & Takaiwa, F. (2005). Iron accumulation does not parallel the high expression level of ferritin in transgenic rice seeds. *Planta*, 222(2), 225-233.
- Qu, L. Q., & Takaiwa, F. (2004). Evaluation of tissue specificity and expression strength of rice seed component gene promoters in transgenic rice. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 2(2), 113-125.
- Raboy, V., Young, K. A., Dorsch, J. A., & Cook, A. (2001). Genetics and breeding of seed phosphorus and phytic acid. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *158*(4), 489-497.

- Rawsthorne, S. (2002). Carbon flux and fatty acid synthesis in plants. *Progress in lipid research*, *41*(2), 182-196.
- Rengel, Z. (2002). Xylem and phloem transport of micronutrients. In W. J. Horst, M. K. Schenk, A. Bürkert, N. Claassen, H. Flessa, W. B. Frommer, H. Goldbach, H. W. Olfs, V. Römheld, B. Sattelmacher, U. Schmidhalter, S. Schubert, N. Wirén & L. Wittenmayer (Eds.), *Plant Nutrition* (Vol. 92, pp. 628-629): Springer Netherlands.
- Rengel, Z., & Graham, R. D. (1995). Importance of seed Zn content for wheat growth on Zndeficient soil. *Plant and Soil, 173*(2), 259-266.
- Riens, B., Lohaus, G., Heineke, D., & Heldt, H. W. (1991). Amino Acid and Sucrose Content Determined in the Cytosolic, Chloroplastic, and Vacuolar Compartments and in the Phloem Sap of Spinach Leaves. *Plant Physiology*, 97(1), 227-233.
- Ries, S. K., & Everson, E. H. (1973). Protein Content and Seed Size Relationships with Seedling Vigor of Wheat Cultivars. *Agronomy Journal*, *65*(6), 884-886.
- Riesmeier, J. W., Willmitzer, L., & Frommer, W. B. (1992). Isolation and characterization of a sucrose carrier cDNA from spinach by functional expression in yeast. *The EMBO journal*, *11*(13), 4705.
- Roitsch, T. (1999). Source-sink regulation by sugar and stress. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, *2*, 198 206.
- Rosche, E., Blackmore, D., Tegeder, M., Richardson, T., Schroeder, H., Higgins, T. J. V., & Patrick, J. W. (2002). Seed-specific overexpression of a potato sucrose transporter increases sucrose uptake and growth rates of developing pea cotyledons. *The Plant Journal*, 30(2), 165-175.
- Rude, R. K. (1989). Physiology of magnesium metabolism and the important role of magnesium in potassium deficiency. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 63(14), G31-G34.
- Rueb, S., Leneman, M., Schilperoort, R., & Hensgens, L. (1994). Efficient plant regeneration through somatic embryogenesis from callus induced on mature rice embryos (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant cell, tissue and organ culture, 36*(2), 259-264.
- Russell, C., Pittman, J., Darrall, N., Williams, L., & Hall, J. (1999). Effects of air pollutants on proton sucrose transport at the plasma membrane of *Ricinus communis*. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 22*, 221-227.
- Saalbach, I., Mora-Ramírez, I., Weichert, N., Andersch, F., Guild, G., Wieser, H., & Weber, H. (2014). Increased grain yield and micronutrient concentration in transgenic winter wheat by ectopic expression of a barley sucrose transporter. *Journal of Cereal Science*. 60(1), 75-81.
- Sabelli, P. A., & Larkins, B. A. (2009). The Development of Endosperm in Grasses. *Plant Physiology*, 149(1), 14-26.
- Saito, K. (2000). Regulation of sulfate transport and synthesis of sulfur-containing amino acids. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, *3*(3), 188-195.
- Sallaud, C., Meynard, D., van Boxtel, J., Gay, C., Bès, M., Brizard, J. P., & Guiderdoni, E. (2003).
   Highly efficient production and characterization of T-DNA plants for rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) functional genomics. *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106(8), 1396-1408.

- Samonte, S. O. P. B., Wilson, L. T., Medley, J. C., Pinson, S. R. M., McClung, A. M., & Lales, J. S. (2006). Nitrogen utilization efficiency: relationships with grain yield, grain protein, and yield-related traits in rice. *Agronomy Journal*, 98, 168-176.
- Sasaki, H., Edo, E., Uehara, N., Ishimaru, T., Kawamitsu, Y., Suganuma, S., & Ohsugi, R. (2005). Effect of sucrose on activity of starch synthesis enzymes in rice ears in culture. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 124(3), 301-310.
- Sasaki, T., Chino, M., Hayashi, H., & Fujiwara, T. (1998). Detection of Several mRNA Species in Rice Phloem Sap. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *39*(8), 895-897.
- Sauer, N. (2007). Molecular physiology of higher plant sucrose transporters. *FEBS Letters*, *581*, 2309-2317.
- Sauer, N., & Stolz, J. (1994). SUC1 and SUC2: two sucrose transporters from *Arabidopsis thaliana*; expression and characterization in baker's yeast and identification of the histidine-tagged protein. *The Plant Journal*, *6*(1), 67-77.
- Sazuka, T., Kamiya, N., Nishimura, T., Ohmae, K., Sato, Y., Imamura, K., & Ashikari, M. (2009). A rice tryptophan deficient dwarf mutant, *tdd1*, contains a reduced level of indole acetic acid and develops abnormal flowers and organless embryos. *The Plant Journal*, *60*(2), 227-241.
- Schaeffer, G. W., & Sharpe, F. T. (1997). Free and bound amino acids and proteins in developing grains of rice with enhanced lysine/proteins. *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 94(6), 878-881.
- Schmitt, B., Tsadler, R., & Sauer, N. (2008). Immunolocalization of solanaceous SUT1 proteins in companion cells and xylem parenchyma: new perspectives for phloem loading and transport. *Plant Physiology*, 148, 187-199.
- Schulze, W., Weise, A., Frommer, W. B., & Ward, J. M. (2000). Function of the cytosolic Nterminus of sucrose transporter AtSUT2 in substrate affinity. *FEBS Letters*, 485(2-3), 189-194.
- Scofield, G. N., Aoki, N., Hirose, T., Takano, M., Jenkins, C. L., & Furbank, R. T. (2007b). The role of the sucrose transporter, *OsSUT1*, in germination and early seedling growth and development of rice plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *58*(3), 483-495.
- Scofield, G. N., Hirose, T., Aoki, N., & Furbank, R. T. (2007a). Involvement of the sucrose transporter, *OsSUT1*, in the long-distance pathway for assimilate transport in rice. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(12), 3155-3169.
- Scofield, G. N., Hirose, T., Gaudron, J. A., Upadhyaya, N. M., Ohsugi, R., & Furbank, R. T. (2002). Antisense suppression of the rice sucrose transporter gene, *OsSUT1*, leads to impaired grain filling and germination but does not affect photosynthesis. *Functional Plant Biology*, 29(7), 815-826.
- Seneweera, S. P., & Conroy, J. P. (1997). Growth, grain yield and quality of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) in response to elevated CO2 and phosphorus nutrition *Plant Nutrition for Sustainable Food Production and Environment* (pp. 873-878): Springer.
- Shakya, R., & Sturm, A. (1998). Characterization of source- and sink-specific sucrose/H+ symporters from carrot. *Plant Physiology*, *118*, 1473-1480.
- Shewry, P. R. (2007). Improving the protein content and composition of cereal grain. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 46(3), 239-250.

- Shewry, P. R., & Halford, N. G. (2002). Cereal seed storage proteins: structures, properties and role in grain utilization. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *53*(370), 947-958.
- Shimada, H., Koishihara, H., Saito, Y., Arashima, Y., Furukawa, T., & Hayashi, H. (2004). A rice antisense *SPK* transformant that lacks the accumulation of seed storage substances shows no correlation between sucrose concentration in phloem sap and demand for carbon sources in the sink organs. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *45*(8), 1105.
- Shiratake, K. (2007). Genetics of Sucrose Transporter in Plants. *Genes, Genomes and Genomics*, 1(1), 73-80.
- Shrawat, A. K., & Good, A. G. (2011). *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-Mediated Genetic Transformation of Cereals Using Immature Embryos. In T. A. Thorpe & E. C. Yeung (Eds.), *Plant Embryo Culture* (Vol. 710, pp. 355-372): Humana Press.
- Shyur, L. F., Zia, K. K., & Chen, C. S. (1988). Purification and some properties of storage proteins in japonica rice. *Botanical Bulletin Academia Sinica*, *29*, 113-122.
- Simopoulos, A. P. (2002). The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy*, *56*(8), 365-379.
- Sivitz, A. B., Reinders, A., & Ward, J. M. (2005). Analysis of the Transport Activity of Barley Sucrose Transporter HvSUT1. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *46*(10), 1666-1673.
- Slewinski, T. L., Meeley, R., & Braun, D. M. (2009). Sucrose transporter1 functions in phloem loading in maize leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *60*(3), 881-892.
- Smith, F. W., Mudge, S. R., Rae, A. L., & Glassop, D. (2003). Phosphate transport in plants. *Plant and Soil*, *248*(1-2), 71-83.
- Smyth, D. A., & Prescott Jr, H. E. (1989), Sugar content and activity of sucrose metabolism enzymes in milled rice grain. *Plant Physiology*, *89*(3), 893-896.
- Southern, E. M. (1975). Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *98*(3), 503-517.
- Sperotto, R., Ricachenevsky, F., Waldow, V. d. A., Müller, A., Dressler, V., & Fett, J. (2013). Rice grain Fe, Mn and Zn accumulation: how important are flag leaves and seed number. *Plant Soil Environment*, *59*, 262-266.
- Stahl, R., Horvath, H., Van Fleet, J., Voetz, M., von Wettstein, D., & Wolf, N. (2002). T-DNA integration into the barley genome from single and double cassette vectors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *99*(4), 2146-2151.
- Stomph, T. J., Choi, E. Y., & Stangoulis, J. C. R. (2011). Temporal dynamics in wheat grain zinc distribution: is sink limitation the key? *Annals of Botany*, 107(6), 927-937.
- Sultana, N., Ikeda, T., & Itoh, R. (1999). Effect of NaCl salinity on photosynthesis and dry matter accumulation in developing rice grains. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *42*(3), 211-220.
- Sun, A., Dai, Y., Zhang, X., Li, C., Meng, K., Xu, H., & Zhu, Z. (2011). A Transgenic Study on Affecting Potato Tuber Yield by Expressing the Rice Sucrose Transporter Genes *OsSUT5Z* and *OsSUT2M. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, *53*(7), 586-595.
- Sun, Y., Lin, Z., Reinders, A., & Ward, J. M. (2012). Functionally Important Amino Acids in Rice Sucrose Transporter OsSUT1. *Biochemistry*, *51*(15), 3284-3291.

- Sun, Y., Reinders, A., LaFleur, K. R., Mori, T., & Ward, J. M. (2010). Transport Activity of Rice Sucrose Transporters OsSUT1 and OsSUT5. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *51*(1), 114-122.
- Sun, Y., & Ward, J. M. (2012). Arg188 in rice sucrose transporter OsSUT1 is crucial for substrate transport. *BMC biochemistry*, *13*(1), 26.
- Suzuki, M., Tanaka, K., Kuwano, M., & Yoshida, K. T. (2007). Expression pattern of inositol phosphate-related enzymes in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): Implications for the phytic acid biosynthetic pathway. *Gene*, *405*(1–2), 55-64.
- Tabuchi, M., Abiko, T., & Yamaya, T. (2007). Assimilation of ammonium ions and reutilization of nitrogen in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *58*(9), 2319-2327.
- Takahashi, H., Saito, Y., Kitagawa, T., Morita, S., Masumura, T., & Tanaka, K. (2005). A Novel Vesicle Derived Directly from Endoplasmic Reticulum is Involved in the Transport of Vacuolar Storage Proteins in Rice Endosperm. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 46(1), 245-249.
- Takahashi, M., Nozoye, T., Kitajima, N., Fukuda, N., Hokura, A., Terada, Y., & K Nishizawa, N. (2009). *In vivo* analysis of metal distribution and expression of metal transporters in rice seed during germination process by microarray and X-ray Fluorescence Imaging of Fe, Zn, Mn, and Cu. *Plant and Soil*, 325(1), 39-51.
- Takaiwa, F., Yamanouchi, U., Yoshihara, T., Washida, H., Tanabe, F., Kato, A., & Yamada, K. (1996). Characterization of common *cis*-regulatory elements responsible for the endosperm-specific expression of members of the rice glutelin multigene family. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 30(6), 1207-1221.
- Takeda, T., Toyofuku, K., Matsukura, C., & Yamaguchi, J. (2001). Sugar transporters involved in flowering and grain development of rice. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *158*(4), 465-470.
- Takimoto, I., Christensen, A. H., Quail, P. H., Uchimiya, H., & Toki, S. (1994). Non-systemic expression of a stress-responsive maize polyubiquitin gene (*Ubi-1*) in transgenic rice plants. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *26*(3), 1007-1012.
- Talamond, P., Doulbeau, S., Rochette, I., Guyot, J.-P., & Treche, S. (2000). Anion-exchange high-performance liquid chromatography with conductivity detection for the analysis of phytic acid in food. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 871(1), 7-12.
- Tang, T., Xie, H., Wang, Y., Lü, B., & Liang, J. (2009). The effect of sucrose and abscisic acid interaction on sucrose synthase and its relationship to grain filling of rice (*Oryza* sativa L.). Journal of Experimental Botany, 60(9), 2641-2652.
- Tashiro, T., & Wardlaw, I. (1991). The effect of high temperature on the accumulation of dry matter, carbon and nitrogen in the kernel of rice. *Functional Plant Biology*, *18*(3), 259-265.
- Tauris, B., Borg, S., Gregersen, P. L., & Holm, P. B. (2009). A roadmap for zinc trafficking in the developing barley grain based on laser capture microdissection and gene expression profiling. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *60*(4), 1333-1347.
- Tegeder, M., Wang, X.-D., Frommer, W. B., Offler, C., & Patrick, J. W. (1999). Sucrose transport into developing seeds of *Pisum Sativum* L. *The Plant Journal*, 18(2), 151-161.

- Teo, C.-J., Vinh Thuc, L., Yeoh, K.-A., Chan, W.-S., Chivukula, S., Namasivayam, P., & Ho, C.-L. (2011). Profiling the differentially expressed genes in two rice varieties during rapid grain-filling stages. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 33, 2259-2268.
- Terada, R., & Shimamoto, K. (1990). Expression of *CaMV35S-GUS* gene in transgenic rice plants. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG, 220*(3), 389-392.
- Thomas, B., & Rodriguez, R. (1994). Metabolite signals regulate gene expression and source/sink relations in cereal seedlings. *Plant Physiology*, *106*, 1235-1239.
- Thomine, S., & Lanquar, V. (2011). Iron Transport and Signaling in Plants: Transporters and Pumps in Plant Signaling. In M. Geisler & K. Venema (Eds.), (Vol. 7, pp. 99-131): Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Thompson, R. D., Hueros, G., Becker, H.-A., & Maitz, M. (2001). Development and functions of seed transfer cells. *Plant Science*, *160*(5), 775-783.
- Thorne, J. H. (1985). Phloem unloading of C and N assimiliates in developing seeds. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology, 36,* 317-343.
- Tingay, S., McElroy, D., Kalla, R., Fieg, S., Wang, M., Thornton, S., & Brettell, R. (1997). *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated barley transformation. *The Plant Journal*, *11*(6), 1369-1376.
- Toki, S. (1997). Rapid and efficient *Agrobacterium* -mediated transformation in rice. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter*, *15*(1), 16-21.
- Toki, S., Hara, N., Ono, K., Onodera, H., Tagiri, A., Oka, S., & Tanaka, H. (2006). Early infection of scutellum tissue with *Agrobacterium* allows high-speed transformation of rice. *The Plant Journal*, *47*(6), 969-976.
- Truernit, E. (2001). Plant physiology: The importance of sucrose transporters. *Current Biology*, *11*(5), R169-R171.
- Tsukahara, M., & Hirosawa, T. (1992). Simple dehydration treatment promotes plantlet regeneration of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) callus. *Plant Cell Reports*, *11*(11), 550-553.
- Tzen, J., & Huang, A. (1992). Surface structure and properties of plant seed oil bodies. *The Journal of cell biology*, *117*(2), 327-335.
- Tzen, J. T., Cao, Y., Laurent, P., Ratnayake, C., & Huang, A. H. (1993). Lipids, proteins, and structure of seed oil bodies from diverse species. *Plant Physiology*, *101*(1), 267-276.
- Tzin, V., & Galili, G. (2010). New insights into the shikimate and aromatic amino acids biosynthesis pathways in plants. *Molecular Plant*, *3*(6), 956-972.
- Uauy, C., Distelfeld, A., Fahima, T., Blechl, A., & Dubcovsky, J. (2006b). A NAC Gene Regulating Senescence Improves Grain Protein, Zinc, and Iron Content in Wheat. *Science*, 314(5803), 1298-1301.
- Upadhyaya, N. M., Surin, B., Ramm, K., Gaudron, J., Schunmann, P. H. D., Taylor, W., & Wang, M.-B. (2000). *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of Australian rice cultivars Jarrah and Amaroo using modified promoters and selectable markers. *Functional Plant Biology*, 27(3), 201-210.
- Vasconcelos, M., Datta, K., Oliva, N., Khalekuzzaman, M., Torrizo, L., Krishnan, S., & Datta, S. K. (2003). Enhanced iron and zinc accumulation in transgenic rice with the *ferritin* gene. *Plant Science*, *164*(3), 371-378.

- Vaughn, M. W., Harrington, G. N., & Bush, D. R. (2002). Sucrose-mediated transcriptional regulation of sucrose symporter activity in the phloem. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(16), 10876-10880.
- Wakasa, Y., Hirano, K., Urisu, A., Matsuda, T., & Takaiwa, F. (2011). Generation of transgenic rice lines with reduced contents of multiple potential allergens using a null mutant in combination with an RNA silencing method. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 52(12), 2190-2199.
- Wakasa, Y., Yang, L., Hirose, S., & Takaiwa, F. (2009). Expression of unprocessed glutelin precursor alters polymerization without affecting trafficking and accumulation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *60*(12), 3503-3511.
- Wang, H. L., Offler, C. E., Patrick, J. W., & Ugalde, T. D. (1994). The cellular pathway of photosynthate transfer in the developing wheat grain. I. Delineation of a potential transfer pathway using fluorescent dyes. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 17*(3), 257-266.
- Wang, K. M., Wu, J. G., Li, G., Zhang, D. P., Yang, Z. W., & Shi, C. H. (2011a). Distribution of phytic acid and mineral elements in three *indica* rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 54(1), 116-121.
- Wang, M., Gruissem, W., & Bhullar, N. K. (2013). *Nicotianamine synthase* overexpression positively modulates iron homeostasis-related genes in high iron rice. *Frontiers in plant science*, 4: 156 10.3389/fpls.2013.00156
- Wang, M.-B., & Waterhouse, P. M. (1997). A Rapid and Simple Method of Assaying Plants Transformed with Hygromycin or PPT Resistance Genes. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter*, 15(3), 209-215.
- Wang, X., & Larkins, B. A. (2001). Genetic Analysis of Amino Acid Accumulation in *opaque-2* Maize Endosperm. *Plant Physiology*, *125*(4), 1766-1777.
- Ward, J. M., Kühn, C., Tegeder, M., & Frommer, W. B. (1998). Sucrose transport in higher plants. *International review of cytology*, *178*, 41-71.
- Washida, H., Sugino, A., Doroshenk, K. A., Satoh-Cruz, M., Nagamine, A., Katsube-Tanaka, T., & Okita, T. W. (2012). RNA targeting to a specific ER sub-domain is required for efficient transport and packaging of α-globulins to the protein storage vacuole in developing rice endosperm. *The Plant Journal, 70*(3), 471-479.
- Waters, B. M., & Sankaran, R. P. (2011). Moving micronutrients from the soil to the seeds: Genes and physiological processes from a biofortification perspective. *Plant Science*, *180*(4), 562-574.
- Weber, H., Borisjuk, L., & Wobus, U. (1997). Sugar import and metabolism during seed development. *Trends in Plant Science*, *2*(5), 169-174.
- Weichert, N., Saalbach, I., Weichert, H., Kohl, S., Erban, A., Kopka, J., & Weber, H. (2010). Increasing Sucrose Uptake Capacity of Wheat Grains Stimulates Storage Protein Synthesis. *Plant Physiology*, 152(2), 698-710.
- Welch, R. (1977). Seedling vigour and grain yield of cereals grown from seeds of varying protein contents. *The Journal of Agricultural Science, 88*(01), 119-125.
- Welch, R. M., & Graham, R. D. (2002). Breeding crops for enhanced micronutrient content. *Plant and Soil*, *245*(1), 205-214.
- Weschke, W., Panitz, R., Sauer, N., Wang, Q., Neubohn, B., Weber, H., & Wobus, U. (2000). Sucrose transport into barley seeds: molecular characterization of two

transporters and implications for seed development and starch accumulation. *The Plant Journal, 21*(5), 455-467.

- Wessells, K. R., & Brown, K. H. (2012). Estimating the global prevalence of zinc deficiency: results based on zinc availability in national food supplies and the prevalence of stunting. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(11), e50568.
- White, P. J., & Broadley, M. R. (2009). Biofortification of crops with seven mineral elements often lacking in human diets iron, zinc, copper, calcium, magnesium, selenium and iodine. *New Phytologist*, *182*(1), 49-84.
- Wienk, K., Marx, J., & Beynen, A. (1999). The concept of iron bioavailability and its assessment. *European Journal of Nutrition*, *38*(2), 51-75.
- Williams, L., Lemoine, R., & Sauer, N. (2000). Sugar transporters in higher plants a diversity of roles and complex regulation. *Trends in Plant Science*, *5*(7), 283-290.
- Winter, H., Lohaus, G., & Heldt, H. W. (1992). Phloem Transport of Amino Acids in Relation to their Cytosolic Levels in Barley Leaves. *Plant Physiology*, *99*(3), 996-1004.
- Wirth, J., Poletti, S., Aeschlimann, B., Yakandawala, N., Drosse, B., Osorio, S., & Sautter, C. (2009). Rice endosperm iron biofortification by targeted and synergistic action of nicotianamine synthase and ferritin. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 7(7), 631-644.
- World Health Organization (2004). Vitamin and mineral requirements in human nutrition, second edition. In: *Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation, Bangkok, Thailand*. Switzerland: World Health Organization, pp. 194-216.
- Wu, B., Andersch, F., Weschke, W., Weber, H., & Becker, J. S. (2013). Diverse accumulation and distribution of nutrient elements in developing wheat grain studied by laser ablation inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry imaging. *Metallomics*, 5(9), 1276-1284.
- Wu, C.-Y., Adachi, T., Hatano, T., Washida, H., Suzuki, A., & Takaiwa, F. (1998a). Promoters of rice seed storage protein genes direct endosperm-specific gene expression in transgenic rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 39(8), 885-889.
- Wu, C.-y., Lu, L.-l., Yang, X.-e., Feng, Y., Wei, Y.-y., Hao, H.-l., & He, Z.-l. (2010). Uptake, Translocation, and Remobilization of Zinc Absorbed at Different Growth Stages by Rice Genotypes of Different Zn Densities. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(11), 6767-6773.
- Wu, H., Doherty, A., & Jones, H. (2008). Efficient and rapid Agrobacterium- mediated genetic transformation of durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. var. durum) using additional virulence genes. *Transgenic Research*, 17(3), 425-436.
- Wu, L. S., Wang, L.-D., Chen, P.-W., Chen, L.-J., & Tzen, J. T. (1998b). Genomic cloning of 18 kDa oleosin and detection of triacylglycerols and oleosin isoforms in maturing rice and postgerminative seedlings. *Journal of biochemistry*, 123(3), 386-391.
- Wu, Y.-Y., Chou, Y.-R., Wang, C.-S., Tseng, T.-H., Chen, L.-J., & Tzen, J. T. C. (2010). Different effects on triacylglycerol packaging to oil bodies in transgenic rice seeds by specifically eliminating one of their two oleosin isoforms. *Plant physiology and biochemistry*, 48(2–3), 81-89.
- Yamagata, H., Sugimoto, T., Tanaka, K., & Kasai, Z. (1982). Biosynthesis of Storage Proteins in Developing Rice Seeds. *Plant Physiology*, *70*(4), 1094-1100.

- Yamakawa, H., & Hakata, M. (2010). Atlas of rice grain filling-related metabolism under high temperature: joint analysis of metabolome and transcriptome demonstrated inhibition of starch accumulation and induction of amino acid accumulation. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *51*(5), 795-809.
- Yamakawa, H., Hirose, T., Kuroda, M., & Yamaguchi, T. (2007). Comprehensive Expression Profiling of Rice Grain Filling-Related Genes under High Temperature Using DNA Microarray. *Plant Physiology*, 144(1), 258-277.
- Yang, J., Zhang, J., Liu, L., Wang, Z., & Zhu, Q. (2002). Carbon remobilization and grain filling in Japonica/Indica hybrid rice subjected to postanthesis water deficits. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(1), 102-109.
- Yang, J., Zhang, J., Wang, Z., Liu, K., & Wang, P. (2006a). Post-anthesis development of inferior and superior spikelets in rice in relation to abscisic acid and ethylene. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57(1), 149-160.
- Yang, J., Zhang, J., Wang, Z., Zhu, Q., & Wang, W. (2001). Hormonal changes in the grains of rice subjected to water stress during grain filling. *Plant Physiology*, *127*(1), 315.
- Yasumatsu, K., & Moritaka, S. (1964). Fatty acid compositions of rice lipid and their changes during storage. *Agricultural and biological chemistry*, *28*(5), 257-264.
- Yoneyama, T., Gosho, T., Kato, M., Goto, S., & Hayashi, H. (2010). Xylem and phloem transport of Cd, Zn and Fe into the grains of rice plants (*Oryza sativa* L.) grown in continuously flooded Cd-contaminated soil. *Soil Science & Plant Nutrition*, 56(3), 445-453.
- Yoshida, H., Tanigawa, T., Kuriyama, I., Yoshida, N., Tomiyama, Y., & Mizushina, Y. (2011). Variation in fatty acid distribution of different acyl lipids in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) brans. *Nutrients*, *3*(4), 505-514.
- Yoshida, S., & Coronel, V. (1976). Nitrogen nutrition, leaf resistance, and leaf photosynthetic rate of the rice plant. *Soil science and plant nutrition, 22*(2), 207-211.
- Zee, S. (1971). Vascular tissue and transfer cell distribution in the rice spikelet. *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences, 25*(2), 411-414.
- Zhang, J., Wu, L., & Wang, M. (2008). Can iron and zinc in rice grains (*Oryza sativa* L.) be biofortified with nitrogen fertilisation under pot conditions? *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 88*(7), 1172-1177.
- Zhang, M.-Z., Fang, J.-H., Yan, X., Liu, J., Bao, J.-S., Fransson, G., & Sun, C. (2012). Molecular insights into how a deficiency of amylose affects carbon allocation–carbohydrate and oil analyses and gene expression profiling in the seeds of a rice waxy mutant. *BMC Plant Biology*, 12(1), 230.
- Zhang, W., McElroy, D., & Wu, R. (1991). Analysis of Rice *Act1* 5 [prime] Region Activity in Transgenic Rice Plants. *The Plant Cell Online*, *3*(11), 1155-1165.
- Zhang, W. H., Zhou, Y., Dibley, K. E., Tyerman, S. D., Furbank, R. T., & Patrick, J. W. (2007). Nutrient loading of developing seeds. *Functional Plant Biology*, *34*(4), 314-331.
- Zhang, Y., Shi, R., Rezaul, K. M., Zhang, F., & Zou, C. (2010). Iron and Zinc Concentrations in Grain and Flour of Winter Wheat As Affected by Foliar Application. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *58*(23), 12268-12274.

- Zhang, Y., Xu, Y. H., Yi, H. Y., & Gong, J. M. (2012). Vacuolar membrane transporters OsVIT1 and OsVIT2 modulate iron translocation between flag leaves and seeds in rice. *The Plant Journal*, *72*(3), 400-410.
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, Y., Liu, N., Su, D., Xue, Q., Stewart, B. A., & Wang, Z. (2012a). Effect of source–sink manipulation on accumulation of micronutrients and protein in wheat grains. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 175, 622-629.
- Zhao, B.-H., Wang, P., Zhang, H.-X., Zhu, Q.-S., & Yang, J.-C. (2006). Source-Sink and Grain-Filling Characteristics of Two-Line Hybrid Rice Yangliangyou 6. *Rice Science*, *13*(1), 34-42.
- Zhao, F. J., Su, Y. H., Dunham, S. J., Rakszegi, M., Bedo, Z., McGrath, S. P., & Shewry, P. R. (2009). Variation in mineral micronutrient concentrations in grain of wheat lines of diverse origin. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 49(2), 290-295.
- Zhao, F.-J., Moore, K. L., Lombi, E., & Zhu, Y.-G. (2014). Imaging element distribution and speciation in plant cells. *Trends in Plant Science*, 19(3), 183-192.
- Zhou, Y., Qu, H., Dibley, K. E., Offler, C. E., & Patrick, J. W. (2007). A suite of sucrose transporters expressed in coats of developing legume seeds includes novel pH-independent facilitators. *The Plant Journal*, *49*(4), 750-764.
- Zhou, Y., Liu, L., Huang, W., Yuan, M., Zhou, F., Li, X., & Lin, Y. (2014). Overexpression of OsSWEET5 in Rice Causes Growth Retardation and Precocious Senescence. PLoS ONE, 9(4), e94210.
- Zhou, Z., Blanchard, C., Helliwell, S., & Robards, K. (2003). Fatty acid composition of three rice varieties following storage. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *37*(3), 327-335.
- Zhu, T., Budworth, P., Chen, W., Provart, N., Chang, H. S., Guimil, S., & Wang, X. (2003). Transcriptional control of nutrient partitioning during rice grain filling. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 1(1), 59-70.
- Zong-Xiu, S., Cheng-Zhang, Z., Kang-Le, Z., Xiu-Fang, Q., & Ya-ping, F. (1983). Somaclonal genetics of rice, *Oryza sativa* L. *Theoretical and applied genetics*, *67*(1), 67-73.